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As The American Dream
(GGrows, So Do We.
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In this year’s annual report,
Fannie Mae’s CEO answers
important questions

about our mission, our
business, and the future of
homeownership in America.



At Fannie Mae, we are in the American
Dream business. Our Mission is to tear
down barriers, lower costs, and increase
the opportunities for homeownership and
affordable rental housing for all Americans.
Because having a safe place to call home
strengthens families, communities, and
our nation as a whole.
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Financial Highlights

Dollars in millions, except per common share amounts 2002 2001 % Change
For the Year
NEtINCOME . . oottt t ettt ettt e et e $ 4,619 $ 5,894 (22)
Diluted earnings per commonshare. . ......... ..o, 4.53 5.72 21
Dividends per commonshare . ........... ... i 1.32 1.20 10
Mortgage purchases ...........uiiiii e 370,641 270,584 37
MBS issues acquired by others . ......... ... i 478,260 344,739 39
At December 31,
Mortgage portfolio, NEt. . . .. oottt $797,693 $705,324 13
TOtal ASSEES .« o ettt 887,515 799,948 11
Stockholders’ equity .. .....v vttt 16,288 18,118 (10)
Corecapital . ... oovn 28,079 25,182 12
Excess of core capital over minimum capital. . . .......... .. oo L 877 1,000 (12)
Outstanding MBS ... .. 1,029,456 858,867 20
Year Ended December 31,
Other Statistics 2002 2001 % Change
Core business €arnings? ... .......ouueutuu ettt $ 6,394 $ 5,367 19
Core taxable-equivalent revenues? . . .. ... ...ttt 11,896 10,187 17
Netinterest MarginZ . .. ... o.vuu ettt ettt 1.15% 1.11% 4
Average effective guaranty feerate . ........... .. o oo oL 191 .190 1
CreditlosSS Tatio . « ..ottt e .005 .006 (17)
Administrative eXpense ratio. . . . ....oouiuttiit e .072 .071 1
Efficiencyratio ...... ... ... 10.2 10.0 2
Return on average realized common equity? ... .........ooiiiiiiiiii.. 26.1 254 3

1 Includes MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and beld by investors other than Fannie Mae.

These measures are non-GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles) measures management uses to track and analyze our financial performance. Core business earnings is presented on a net of tax basis and excludes the
transition adjustment from the adoption of FAS 133 and unrealized gains and losses on purchased options recorded under FAS 133, and includes purchased options premiums amortized on a straight-line basis over the original
estimated life of the option. See “Selected Financial Information: 1998-2002” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Core Business Earnings and Business Segment
Results” for additional discussion of these measures, including reconciliation to our GAAP results.

Dividends per Common Share Core Business Earnings Stock Price per Common Share
In billions December 31,
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Franklin D. Raines
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Letter to Shareholders

To Our Shareholders: In a challenging year for corporate America and
the U.S. economy, the nation’s housing sector continued to be robust
as the building, buying, and financing of homes produced another
record year for the industry, especially for the chief source of funds
for American families to buy homes, Fannie Mae.

I want to tell you about our exceptional performance in
2002 for our mission and business of expanding home-
ownership in America. However, I also recognize the
need for companies and their chief executive officers

to help restore and strengthen shareholder trust and
confidence in corporate America. Certainly, Fannie Mae
is no exception. Indeed, investor trust in our company is
crucial to our business and mission as we raise capital
from investors to finance homes.

Fannie Mae aspires to be a model company that
inspires the confidence of our shareholders. As I describe
our corporate performance for 2002, I also want to share
with you Fannie Mae’s cutting-edge corporate governance
practices that exemplify our values. It is our exceptional
values that make our exceptional performance as a
company possible.

Fannie Mae’s 2002 financial performance:

among our best years in history

Fannie Mae’s core business results for 2002 were among
the best in the company’s history.

* Total business volume grew by 38 percent for a new
record of nearly $850 billion.

e Total book of business grew by over 16 percent.

* Mortgage portfolio grew by nearly 12 percent.

*  Outstanding mortgage-backed securities grew
by nearly 20 percent.

* Core taxable-equivalent revenue grew to $12 billion,
nearly 17 percent growth.

e Core business earnings per share (formerly, operating

earnings per share) grew by over 21 percent.

Fannie Mae produced this record year in spite of a weak

economy and volatile markets for a very simple reason:

Our business is structured and managed to maintain disci-
plined growth and to keep expanding homeownership in
America throughout all economic conditions, both good
and challenging.

What does “disciplined growth” mean at Fannie Mae?

For Fannie Mae, growth means that our core business
earnings have grown faster than the Standard & Poor’s
500 index and the Nasdaq over the past 16 years.

For the past 16 years, Fannie Mae has produced double-
digit increases in core business earnings per share,
putting us among the best of the S&P 500 companies.

Fannie Mae’s strong, steady growth is based on the
strong, steady growth of our market, which is the
stock of outstanding mortgages to be managed. That is
why we say, “As the American Dream grows, so do we.”

During this decade, Fannie Mae’s market is projected
to grow by 8-10 percent per year, which is faster than
the 7 percent annual growth of the 1990s, and faster
than most “growth” industries. Already our market
grew by over 10 percent in 2001 and over 12 percent in
2002. Moreover, Fannie Mae has grown faster than the
market because we specialize in funding and managing
the most popular, consumer friendly mortgage —
the long-term, fixed-rate mortgage.

Fannie Mae’s growth, however, is “disciplined,”
meaning that we put a premium on stable financial
performance and consistent return to investors under all
economic conditions. The result has been extraordinarily
low volatility and high stability in core business earnings
growth for 16 years in a row. The fact that 2002 was an
exceptional year for Fannie Mae in spite of the slow economy
and unusually volatile interest rates is a testament to our

disciplined growth model.
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Fannie Mae produced this record year
in spite of a weak economy and volatile
markets for a very simple reason:
Our business is structured and managed
to maintain disciplined growth and
to keep expanding homeownership in
America throughout all economic
conditions, both good and challenging.

Performance for Fannie Mae shareholders

is crucial to our mission

Fannie Mae’s performance for you, our shareholders, is
crucial to our company. Your ownership makes possible
our mission and business of expanding homeownership
in this country, offering every family regardless of their
means a better chance to achieve the American Dream.
By growing our earnings and providing you with a good
return, we can grow our capital. By growing our capital,
we can grow our business. As Fannie Mae’s business
grows, so do the benefits we provide — lower-cost
mortgage funds — to more and more families in America.

For example, our disciplined business growth has
steadily increased our core business earnings from 39
cents a share in 1987 to $6.31 in 2002, and we just
increased the dividend on our common stock by 18 percent,
which reflects our confidence in our earnings going forward.

At the same time, our disciplined growth also lowers
conventional conforming mortgage rates. You can see
this result in the mortgage rate charts published every
Saturday in the real estate section of most newspapers.
The mortgages Fannie Mae finances are always cheaper
than the jumbo loans listed there, and much cheaper
than subprime loans; we save home buyers anywhere
from $11,000 to as much as $200,000 over the life of
their loans. Furthermore, since 1987, the maximum loan
amount eligible for Fannie Mae’s financing has more
than doubled from around $150,000 to over $300,000,
which means more homeowners can benefit from
our service.

Thus, Fannie Mae’s disciplined growth brings the
interests of shareholders and the interests of home buyers
into perfect alignment. Our mission and our business
complement each other. Your ownership of Fannie Mae

makes more homeownership possible for more Americans.

Daniel H. Mudd
Vice Chairman and
Chief Operating Officer
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Fannie Mae’s governance principles: openness,
integrity, responsibility, accountability

What fuels the success of our mission and business are the
principles that underly our approach to corporate governance
and management: Openness. Integrity. Responsibility.
Accountability. Fannie Mae puts a premium on upholding
these simple, core principles in our corporate mission,
business, and culture for an important reason: Trust is
uniquely crucial to our company.

Fannie Mae’s mission is to raise private capital from
investors in America and all over the world so that home
buyers across our nation have a steady source of low-cost
funds to finance homes. So we must earn and ensure the
trust of investors, shareholders, and other stakeholders
every day.

To earn and ensure that trust, Fannie Mae operates

by the following principles of corporate governance:

Openness. Fannie Mae’s standard is to maintain
best-in-class financial disclosures.

Our goal is to provide investors, shareholders, and other
stakeholders with the clear, comprehensive information they
need to understand and have confidence in Fannie Mae and
make our financial disclosures easy to obtain and use. In our
financial disclosures, we strive to provide more than is
required, and anticipate and address fundamental questions
about our company and business.

Our focus on transparency is not a new phenomenon
for Fannie Mae.

In 2000, we revealed the 14 decision factors of our auto-
mated mortgage underwriting system, Desktop Underwriter,
so that lenders and borrowers could better understand
our loan decision process and remedy any issues that arise
with a loan application. We even started using our own

credit assessment model so we could reveal those factors too.
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Jamie S. Gorelick
Vice Chair

Also in 2000, Fannie Mae adopted six voluntary initiatives
to make us even more transparent and responsive to the

market. We volunteered to:

1. Issue subordinated debt, which is a useful gauge
of market confidence in the company;

2. Ensure we have at least three months’ worth of
liquidity in case our access to the public debt
markets were to be disrupted;

3. TTake a risk-based capital stress test every quarter
and report the results;

4. Every quarter we give our books a credit risk shock
test and report the results;

5. Every month we give our books three interest rate
shock tests and report the results; and

6. We have obtained independent ratings of our
financial strength and risk to the government,
and those ratings are monitored continuously.

In 2002, we quickly adopted the leading new initiatives
to strengthen financial disclosure and accountability.
Fannie Mae was one of the first companies to begin
disclosing our insider stock trades in real time and to
announce it would begin expensing stock options.

Also in 2002, Fannie Mae volunteered to register our
common stock with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission and come under the SEC’s disclosure regime
permanently. Fannie Mae’s financial reports now appear
on the SEC’s EDGAR Web site.

In February 2003, Fannie Mae volunteered to add
six new disclosures to the mortgage-backed securities we
issue, providing investors with further details about the
mortgages backing our securities.

In addition to providing cutting-edge disclosures, we

try to make our financial disclosures easy to obtain and

Timothy Howard
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

easy to understand. We do not believe shareholders
should have to dig through dense financial reports to get
the information they need. And we don’t think they
should have to puzzle out what our disclosures mean.

So we constantly are improving our Investor
Relations Web site to make the information shareholders
need easy to find and use. When we issue our monthly
financial reports, we highlight what is most important
about them.

We also believe it is important to give shareholders
a straight answer to questions they might have, and
it is even better if the answer comes straight from the
CEO. So Fannie Mae has launched a new section of
our corporate Web site called “Answers from the CEO,”
where I personally address and answer the toughest

questions we get.

Integrity. To ensure trust in Fannie Mae,
Fannie Mae must be trustworthy.
Every individual at Fannie Mae — from our Board of
Directors to the Chairman and CEO to senior
management to every employee — is held to the highest
standards of honesty and integrity.

Integrity is woven into the Fannie Mae culture. As CEO,
I strive to establish the highest standards of integrity by
policy and by example. Our highly independent Board
of Directors holds me, as CEQO, as well as senior
management and the entire company, accountable for our
high standards of integrity. The Board of Directors and
each employee sign explicit Codes of Conduct, which
are available on our corporate Web site, fanniemae.com.
Fannie Mae’s corporate justice system and a range of
checks and balances provide three-dimensional protection
of our integrity.
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Fannie Mae puts a premium on upholding our
core principles of openness, integrity, responsibility,
and accountability in our corporate mission,
business, and culture for an important reason:
Trust is uniquely crucial to our company.

Responsibility. The Chairman and CEO is responsible
for Fannie Mae, its management and employees, and

to sharebolders and other stakebolders.

As Chairman and CEO, I am personally responsible for
ensuring that Fannie Mae operates in an effective, ethical
manner that produces long-term value for shareholders.

I must not put my personal interests ahead of — or

in conflict with — the interest of the company or
shareholders. Also, it is my duty to ensure that I know
how Fannie Mae earns income and the risks we are
undertaking in the course of business. Indeed, before it
was required of us, Fannie Mae announced that our
CEO and Chief Financial Officer would sign and certify
as to the honesty and accuracy of our financial statements,
and we have a rigorous review process to ensure that.

As a CEQO, one of the most offensive things about the
corporate scandals that emerged recently was to hear
CEOs claim that they did not know, they could not
know, and they could not be expected to know about the

activities that brought down their companies.

Accountability. Fannie Mae bas a bighly independent
Board of Directors that selects and oversees the CEO.
On behalf of shareholders, the Board of Directors
holds the CEO and senior management responsible for
ensuring that Fannie Mae is operating effectively and
with openness, integrity, responsibility, and accountability.

At Fannie Mae, the vast majority of our Board of
Directors is independent from management. Board
members are chosen for their experience, knowledge,
and willingness to be active, engaged, and equipped to
challenge the CEO and management on the competent
and ethical operation of the company.

The Board and its Audit Committee ensure that
management produces financial statements that are clear,
complete, timely, and accurate. The Audit Committee,
consisting of independent directors, has the sole
authority to retain the independent auditor. The Audit
Committee undertakes substantial due diligence to
ensure that our auditors are independent, experienced,
and well-qualified.

The Fannie Mae Board of Directors also includes a
Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee that are completely independent
from management, which ensure that compensation and
management choices and our corporate governance
principles fully represent the interests of shareholders.

These core principles — openness, integrity,
responsibility, and accountability — are the cornerstones
of Fannie Mae’s corporate governance practices, which
we make available on our new Corporate Governance

Web site on fanniemae.com.

Standard & Poor’s praises Fannie Mae’s
corporate governance
To provide independent verification of our corporate
governance and financial disclosures, Fannie Mae asked
the independent ratings agency Standard & Poor’s
to examine and rate our standards. The report gave
Fannie Mae an exceptional score of 9.0 on a 10-point
scale, noting that, “Fannie Mae’s corporate governance
practices are judged ... to be at a very strong level on a
global basis of comparison.”

The Standard & Poor’s report stated, “in recent
years, a combination of voluntary initiatives and specifics
of [its regulatory] oversight have resulted in disclosure
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Fannie Mae’s strong, stable, consistent performance
for shareholders and homeowners is built on the
character and conscience of our 4,700 employees

and the Board of Directors that oversees and
holds us accountable to you.

about Fannie Mae’s financial health that is unavailable
from other, similar financial institutions.”

The report affirmed that the structure of our Board
of Directors meets or exceeds the latest rules on board
composition proposed by the New York Stock Exchange,
and that our board has a clear and substantial majority
of independent, non-executive directors and the right
independent board committees.

As the Standard & Poor’s report states, Fannie Mae’s
Board of Directors “combines a good mix of new and
longer-serving directors, directors of high caliber and
with a diversity of skills and a strong voice of independence
and engagement. ... [TThe board appears to be an effective
leader of the company and monitor of management. ...
[Dlirectors appear to be engaged and show a desire
to demonstrate leadership in board effectiveness and
governance. ... Fannie Mae’s audit committee demonstrates
a commitment to the independence of the audit process.
Its members are actively engaged with both the internal
audit team and the outside auditors.”

Character and conscience
In its report on our corporate governance, Standard & Poor’s
stated, “By being the first U.S. company to publish
its governance score from Standard & Poor’s,
Fannie Mae is not only demonstrating its own strong
governance practices, but is also showing leadership
in the United States with regard to providing greater
openness and disclosure about its corporate governance
standards.”

Fannie Mae is proud of our leadership in corporate
governance, but never satistied with the status quo.
We also recognize that earning the trust and confidence

of shareholders and the public we serve requires more

than cutting-edge corporate governance and financial

disclosure policies. As the scholar Michael Novak has

noted, corporate responsibility ultimately requires

two essential qualities: personal character and conscience.
Fannie Mae’s strong, stable, consistent performance

for shareholders and homeowners is built on the

character and conscience of our 4,700 employees and

the Board of Directors that oversees and holds us

accountable to you. Thank you for believing in us.

e—

Franklin D. Raines
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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As The American Dream Grows,

Fannie Mae’s Market Has Grown Faster than the Economy
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Some people wonder how Fannie Mae has delivered such a
long record of strong financial performance. For the past 16
years in a row, Fannie Mae has produced double-digit growth
in core business earnings per share. Our record of growth
exceeds the S&P 500 and most other companies in America.

How does Fannie Mae perform so well? There is no
mystery to it.

Most American families dream about owning a home.
We make homeownership a top priority in our lives, our
financial planning, and our futures. What fuels this
dream? Possibility: Nowhere in the world is it easier for
average families of modest income and savings to obtain
an affordable mortgage. As our country and the demand
for homeownership have grown, Fannie Mae has helped
to make it faster, easier, and cheaper for consumers to
obtain a mortgage from their lender and buy a home.

Driven by this relentless growth in demand for
homeownership, Fannie Mae’s market — the stock of
outstanding mortgages — has grown every year since at
least the Truman Administration, and usually faster than
the economy. In the past 16 years alone, our market grew
by over 8 percent a year, on average. Today, our market
is worth nearly $7 trillion. In this decade, our market is
expected to grow by 8-10 percent per year for a total
value of $11 trillion to $14 trillion by 2010.

Expanding market, expanding mission,

expanding business

Fannie Mae plays a central role in this large and constantly
growing market. We raise billions of dollars in capital
from investors all over the world and supply it to mortgage
lenders all over America so they have a constant source of
low-cost funds to lend. But we do much more than that for
the housing market.

Fannie Mae’s mission is to “tear down barriers, lower
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So Does Fannie Mae.

costs, and increase the opportunities for homeownership
and affordable rental housing for all Americans.” We
harness advanced technology and other means to help
lenders — from the largest commercial banks to the
smallest community thrifts — to give home buyers a faster,
easier, cheaper mortgage process. We focus especially on
helping lenders reach and serve underserved families

and communities.

By achieving our mission for a growing number of
Americans, Fannie Mae achieves the business results that
produce growing returns for our shareholders. Indeed, over
these past 16 years, as Fannie Mae helped to create 30
million more homeowners in America, we increased our
core business earnings per share in the double digits every
year, rising from 39 cents in 1987 to $6.31 a share in 2002.

Stable, steady performance in volatile times

What makes Fannie Mae’s 16 years of strong, steady growth
particularly extraordinary is we delivered this steady
performance in a volatile time. Since 1987, our country
has seen war and peace, recession and prosperity, bull
and bear markets and a myriad of shocks to our system

— political, social, economic, financial, and global.

Amid this volatile period, one thing remained steady:
The American Dream continued to grow steadily — faster
than the economy. So did Fannie Mae’s service to home-
owners and shareholders, year after year. Indeed,

Fannie Mae’s growth since 1987 has been more stable
— more dependable — than the S&P 500 and most
other Fortune 500 companies. How? Our business
operates through a strategy we call “disciplined growth.”

Disciplined growth
Given a world where change is a constant and the only

certainty is uncertainty, Fannie Mae has made a deliberate,

conscious decision — and created a business model with
multiple shock absorbers — to provide stable, dependable
performance.

Essentially, Fannie Mae purchases home mortgages
from banks and other loan makers so they can replenish
their funds to lend. We obtain the money to buy the
mortgages by selling debt securities to investors. Then
we earn a profit from the difference — the “spread” —
between the interest rate we receive from holding the
mortgages, and the interest rate we pay to our debt
investors. We run a “matched” portfolio. That is, we
choose to fund long-term mortgages with long-term
funding. We also earn fees for helping lenders package
home loans into mortgage-backed securities that have
our guarantee of credit quality.

These businesses require Fannie Mae to adjust to
changes in the economy and interest rates that affect
mortgage performance, yields, and funding costs. We
employ a wide array of technology tools and financial
instruments to make those adjustments.

Most of all, Fannie Mae does not try to manage a
wide range of investments of varying risk. We focus on
the home loans of middle America (our average mortgage
acquired last year was about $145,000), which are one of
the best performing investments in the world. Our focus
on mortgages also makes Fannie Mae one of the best
performing companies in America.

Fannie Mae’s long record of steady, stable performance
makes sense. As the American Dream grows, our market
grows, Fannie Mae grows, and our return to shareholders
grows as our disciplined approach to managing mortgages
ensures our bottom line grows every year. Fannie Mae’s
performance is as enduring as the homes we help to finance.
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Franklin D. Raines, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, answers
questions about Fannie Mae and
the American Dream business.



“Aren’t you
worried we’re
in a ‘housing

bubble’?”

The U.S. housing sector
remains stubbornly

robust. The building,
buying, and financing of
homes, and the growth
in home values, has
continued to be so
strong that housing not
only has endured the
weakness in the U.S.
economy — housing
helped the economy to
sustain and recover.

However, after the technology
sector collapsed and the stock market
fell back, some observers have begun
to worry whether housing could
be next. Their concern is that the
housing market is in a “bubble.”

A “bubble” in a market generally
means the price of an asset has
grown so much that it has outstripped
the asset’s fundamental worth, usually
because speculation that prices will
increase drives prices even higher
until they reach an unsustainable
level and collapse.

Housing is not experiencing bubble

conditions for several reasons.

®  Home prices remain relatively
affordable. Even though prices
have grown, the affordability
of housing — the link between

incomes and home costs — remains



high by historical standards
nationwide, thanks in part to
historically low mortgage rates
and the fact that for many years,
incomes grew faster than home
prices. Home prices remain
within the average family’s reach
— the average home in America
costs $200,000 and the average
mortgage costs $1,000 a month.
Moreover, technology-driven
efficiency, underwriting precision,
and other advances in mortgage
finance all have significantly
reduced the cost of financing a home
and the funds required up front.
Housing inventories remain near
record lows. One key sign of a
housing “bubble” would be a
growing stock of unsold homes
on the market as speculative
production outpaced demand and
affordability. The opposite is
occurring. Demand for homes
continues to grow in large degree
because of strong growth in
population, immigration, and
household formation. Meanwhile,
the supply of homes is held in check
by land use and environmental
curbs, available developable land,
and homebuilder inventory controls.
These supply-demand factors —
not price speculation — have
helped to push home price
growth above the inflation rate.
Nationwide housing bubbles are
hard to create. The U.S. housing
market has never displayed the
“boom-bust” cycles in prices

we have seen in securities and
commodities markets. Indeed,
home prices have not declined
nationwide — and certainly not

collapsed — since the Great could all of a sudden slip.” He went
Depression. While home pricesin  on to say, “We are effectively not
some regions have been volatile building up a glut of excess housing.
on occasion, that is due mostly to Under those conditions, one would
volatility in the local economy, presume that even though we have
not price speculation. On a been having some fairly strong gains
nationwide basis, Federal Reserve  in home prices, it is our conclusion
Chairman Alan Greenspan noted, ... that it is unlikely that we are

it is difficult to generate bubble confronting a housing bubble.”

conditions in housing. “Certainly
the analogy to stock market
bubbles is inappropriate,” he said,
noting that the transaction costs
and process prevent the type of
speculative housing demand that
leads to bubbles.

Chairman Greenspan said, “When
you measure the level of new (housing)
construction ... what you find is that
it is barely in excess of the aggregate
increase in occupied households or
household formation.” The current
data, he said, “suggest that we don’t
have a demand for housing which
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“Aren’t big
mortgage

holders like

Fannie Mae
sensitive to
changes in
interest rates:”

Many large financial
companies are often
considered an “interest
rate play” — their
performance and
earnings can be sensitive
to changes in interest
rates. But Fannie Mae is
different for two reasons.

First, Fannie Mae’s business does
not rise or fall based on how changes
in interest rates affect consumers’
decision to finance or refinance a
home. That is because Fannie Mae,
unlike commercial banks for example,
does not make home loans —
“originate” mortgages — directly
with consumers. Instead, we help
to manage the existing stock of
outstanding mortgages on the homes
in this country, a market called
“mortgage debt outstanding.”

This market has grown every year,
under all interest rates, for as
long as it has been measured, and
usually faster than the economy

as a whole.

Second, Fannie Mae’s business is
less sensitive to interest rates than
most financial companies because
we have deliberately chosen a
“disciplined growth” model for our
business. Our job is to keep a steady
supply of mortgage funds flowing to
lenders across the country in all
interest rate environments.



The result of our disciplined
growth model is 16 years of strong,
steady growth in our portfolio and
net interest income, and a relatively
stable return on equity, even as
interest rates have gone up and down
over the years, and even when interest
rates are most volatile.

Our disciplined growth strategy
has four key elements:

*  We run a “matched” portfolio.
That is, we choose to fund
long-term mortgages with long-
term funding. Many other
investors fund long-term
mortgages with short-term
funding. While their returns
may be greater, so is their risk
of not obtaining those returns
or even suffering losses if
short-term interest rates change.
“Matched” funding reduces
Fannie Mae’s variability, even
when interest rates move.

*  We add “optionality” to our
portfolio funding. That is, we
issue debt securities to purchase
mortgages, half of which are
“callable” and help us maintain
our matched portfolio if interest
rates fall and homeowners “call,”
or refinance, their mortgages.

*  We maintain and watch sensitive
interest risk gauges. That is, we
watch our duration gap, which is
a snapshot of how well the life of
our assets and liabilities remains
matched as interest rates move.
We also watch a measure called
“net interest income at risk,”
which shocks our portfolio to see
what would happen if interest
rates spiked or the slope of the

yield curve changed suddenly.

Both tell us when rebalancing
actions are desired.

*  We take rebalancing actions.
We have several means to re-match
our assets and liabilities if needed.
For example, we can purchase
new mortgages, which have
longer durations. We can issue
more funding that has shorter or
longer terms. Or we can cancel
or add options or swaps that
adjust the duration of our funding.

The benefits of our disciplined
growth strategy were particularly
apparent in 2002, when interest
rates were exceptionally volatile. In
September, interest rates plunged to
a 40-year low, and moved 100 basis
points in just 60 days. This caused
a record amount of refinancing that
took mortgages off our books,
producing a wider gap between
our asset and liability match.

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

Even though we took actions to
rebalance our portfolio, the actions
were routine — largely purchasing
more mortgages at optimal spreads
— and had no material impact

on our business or core business
earnings. In fact, our core business
earnings per share increased by

21 percent during 2002.
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“Fannie Mae
is big—how

can you keep

growing:”

Fannie Mae can keep
growing because our
market keeps growing.
We like to say that as
the American Dream
grows, so do we. In
fact, our challenge will
be to keep up with the
American Dream,
because for the current
decade and beyond, the
demand for homes to
buy and rent will grow
faster than ever.

Fannie Mae’s growth is determined
chiefly by growth in our market.
Our market is called “mortgage debt
outstanding.” This is the total stock
of outstanding mortgage debt in
America. And mortgage debt out-
standing has been — and will remain
— one of the strongest growth
markets in the economy.

In fact, our market typically grows
faster than the economy. Our market
has grown every year since the
Federal Reserve began tracking it
in the early 1950s.

During the 1990s, our market
grew by about 7 percent annually.
During this decade, the demand for
mortgage capital is expected to grow
at a stronger pace of 8-10 percent
per year. An important driver is
strong growth in population and



immigration, which is expected to
create 13-15 million new households.

Already our market has grown
by over 10 percent in 2001 and over
12 percent in 2002. If our market
grows as expected throughout the
decade, it will more than double in
size, going from $5.6 trillion in 2000
to $11-$14 trillion by 2010. So you
see, if Fannie Mae merely grew at the
pace of our market, we could grow by
8-10 percent per year for the rest of
the decade — a rate that is faster than
GDP growth, and thus faster than
most of the S&P 500.

But we have grown faster than
our market for many years, largely
because we specialize in the most
popular mortgage in the fastest-
growing segment of our market, the
long-term, fixed-rate mortgage.

By the way, as big as Fannie Mae
is, our share of the market is relatively
small. We own only 11 percent
of mortgages in the market, and
guarantee the credit on another 15
percent. That gives us plenty of room
to grow within our growing market.

Now, given that we are a financial
company, some people think
Fannie Mae’s growth potential goes
up and down, driven by market cycles.
That’s not the case.

For instance, some believe
Fannie Mae’s growth is based on the
level of mortgage originations —
the number of home purchase and
refinancing loans that lenders make
with borrowers. Origination levels
can change with ups and downs in
the economy and interest rates. But
Fannie Mae’s growth is not tied to
the ups and downs in originations.

We don’t originate mortgages —

lenders do. We help to manage

the stock of outstanding mortgages
that lenders have originated.

So originations affect us to the extent
they increase the stock of mortgage
debt outstanding. That is why,

over the past 16 years, as mortgage
originations have gone up and down,
we’ve still grown each year.

Some also say Fannie Mae’s growth
is determined by interest rates. But
we deliberately manage our business
to minimize the impact of changing
interest rates. For example, when we
purchase long-term mortgages
from lenders, we generally fund the
purchase by selling long-term debt
securities, and we add options to the
securities that allow us to adjust the
term if interest rates move. That way,
we can maintain a relative match
between the interest rate we receive
from holding the mortgage, and the
interest rate we pay the investor for
funding the mortgage. In fact, over
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the past 16 years, interest rates have

gone up and down and we’ve still
grown.

Finally, some believe our growth
is driven by the health of the economy.
But in fact, because of our underwriting
precision, geographic distribution,
equity in the home, and use of credit
enhancements, mortgage delinquencies
have gone up and down over the past
16 years and we’ve still grown.

The important thing to remember
is that Fannie Mae can keep growing
— in all business cycles and economic
conditions — because our market
keeps growing.
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“How do you
balance business
egrowth with

your mission

of increasing
homeownership?”

Balancing our mission
and our business is
what we mean by the
statement, “As the
American Dream grows,
so do we.”

Fannie Mae’s mission is to expand
homeownership, focusing especially
on families that historically have
been overlooked, underserved, or
overcharged by the financial system,
such as minorities and new
Americans.

To focus and fuel this goal,
Fannie Mae launched our American
Dream Commitment in 2000, a
pledge to provide $2 trillion by the
end of this decade to help 18 million
underserved families to own or rent
a home. By the end of 2002 — thanks
to one of the strongest years ever for
the mortgage industry — we already
had provided $1.3 trillion for
nearly 12 million families under
our Commitment.

Our American Dream Commitment
is an enormous challenge and stretch
goal for our company, notwithstanding
our great progress so far. Fannie Mae
does not lend directly to consumers.
We provide the capital for mortgage
lenders to lend. So we must rely on
mortgage lenders to help bring our
$2 trillion in capital to our target
families, and we do so by providing
lenders with advanced underwriting

technology, affordable, flexible



mortgage options, and other tools
and services.

How does our American Dream
Commitment help our business to
grow? For Fannie Mae, focusing on
underserved Americans is more than
just the right thing to do, or some-
thing we do on the side. It is the
center of our business, and a secret
to our long record of steady business
growth — and double-digit increase
in core business earnings per share
— for the past 16 years. Focusing
on underserved families will help to
ensure our business will grow because
they represent a large, untapped,
and fast-growing housing market
in America.

Consider these facts:

e While 68 percent of Americans
own their homes, and 74 percent
of white families do, less than 50
percent of minority families are
homeowners. In 2002, President
George W. Bush challenged the
private sector to help create 5
million new minority homeowners
before the decade is over. In
response, Fannie Mae pledged to
provide $700 billion specifically
for minority families, and to lead
the market in serving African
American and Hispanic families.

e In 2001, an estimated 1.3 million
American home buyers — many
of them families of modest means
with blemished or non-traditional
credit histories — financed the
purchase of their home through
higher cost subprime mortgage
loans. Many of these families could
qualify for one of Fannie Mae’s

cheaper conventional rate

mortgages and potentially save
hundreds of dollars a month in
mortgage payments on the same
home. Our Expanded Approval
mortgage options offer lower-
income families a much better
deal on their mortgage, even if
they have imperfect credit.

Over this decade, the projected
surge in immigration and
population is expected to create
13-15 million new households in
this country. Millions of families
who came to this country during
the 1990s will become homeowners
during this decade. Our initiative
to help immigrant families
attain homeownership includes,
for example, culturally sensitive
mortgage options and bilingual

For more answers from Franklin D. Raines about our mission, our business, and

marketing materials to help
lenders address the needs of

immigrant borrowers.

Thanks in large part to such strong
projected growth in the untapped,
underserved segments, Fannie Mae’s
business outlook is very strong.

At Fannie Mae, our business
growth rests on a simple proposition:
As we achieve our mission of
expanding homeownership, we grow
our business. As our business grows,
we can deliver better returns to our
shareholders. In that way, our mission
and business are not merely balanced
— they are in perfect alignment.

the future of homeownership in America, please visit “Answers from the CEO”

at www.fanniemae.com/CEQOanswers
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Selected Financial Information: 1998 — 2002

The following selected financial data have been summarized or derived from our audited financial statements. This financial
information should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes, included elsewhere in this report.

Dollars and shares in millions, except per common share amounts

Year Ended December 31,
Income Statement Data: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Interestincome . .........uiuiii i $ 50,853 $ 49,170 $ 42,781 $ 35,495 $ 29,995
TOLETESE EXPENISE -+« e e e e e e e e e e (40,287) (41,080) (37,107) (30,601) (25,885)
NELINEIEStINCOME -+« v v e eeeees e e e e e 10,566 8,090 5,674 4,894 4110
Guaranty feeincome ............ ... oo 1,816 1,482 1,351 1,282 1,229
Fee and other income (expense), net .................coouo... 232 151 “4) 191 275
Provision forlosses . ...t (128) 94) (122) (151) (245)
Foreclosed property income (expense) ....................... 36 16 28 24 (16)
Administrative eXpenses . .. ........uiiitiii s 1,219) (1,017) (905) (800) (708)
Special contribution ......... o o oo — (300) — — —
Purchased options expensel .............. ... ... oo L (4,545) 37) — — —
Debt extinguishments,net ..., (710) (524) 49 (14) (40)
Income before federal income taxes and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle ...................... 6,048 7,767 6,031 5,426 4,605
Provision for federal income taxes . ... (1,429) (2,041) (1,583) (1,514) (1,187)
Income before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ... o o oo 4,619 5,726 4,448 3,912 3,418
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
netoftaxeffect? ...... ... ... i — 168 — — —
NEtINCOMmE . oo vttt ettt $ 4,619 $ 5,894 $ 4,448 $ 3,912 $ 3,418
Preferred stock dividends ............ ... . . oo ool 99) (138) (121) (78) (66)
Net income available to common stockholders . ................ $ 4,520 $ 5,756 $ 4,327 $ 3,834 $ 3,352
Basic earnings per common share:
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle .. ... L o oo $ 456 $§ 558 § 431 $ 375 $ 326
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ......... — 17 — — —
NeEt €aTTINGS «« e vv ettt e et e et $ 456 $§ 575 § 431 $ 375 $  3.26
Diluted earnings per common share:
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle . ... $ 453 $ 555 $ 429 $ 372 $ 323
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . ........ — 17 — — —
NEt €ATNINGS .+ et e et et ete et et ettt $ 453 § 572 $ 429 $ 372 $ 323
Cash dividends per commonshare . . .............. ... ... ... $ 132 $ 120 $ 112 $ 1.08 $ .96
December 31,
Balance Sheet Data: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Mortgage portfolio,net ........ ... i $797,693 $705,324 $607,551 $522,921 $415,355
Liquid assets . ... ..vone i 61,554 76,072 55,585 41,850 59,258
TOtal ASSETS + .+ e e e 887,515 799,948 675,224 575,308 485,146
Borrowings:
Duewithinoneyear ....... ..., 382,412 343,492 280,322 226,582 205,413
Dueafteroneyear . ... 468,570 419,975 362,360 321,037 254,878
Total BADIIEES - -« v v e vve e e e e e e e 871,227 781,830 654,386 557,679 469,693
Preferredstock . ... 2,678 2,303 2,278 1,300 1,150
Stockholders €qUItY - . ... .v oo 16,288 18,118 20,838 17,629 15,453

1 Represents the change in the fair value of the time value of purchased options under FAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (FAS 133).

2 Represents the after-tax effect on income of the adoption of FAS 133 on January 1, 2001.

(Continued on page 22)
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Selected Financial Information: 1998 — 2002 (continued)

Dollars and shares in millions, except per common share amounts

. . Year Ended December 31,
Core Business Earnings Data’: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Core business earnings* ......... ... ... oo oo $ 6,394 $ 5,367 $ 4,448 $ 3912 $ 3,418
Total taxable-equivalent revenues’ 11,896 10,187 7,825 6,975 6,272
Netinterestmargin ......................... i 1.15% 1.11% 1.01% 1.01% 1.03%
Return on average assetss ......... ... ... oo .76 71 71 .73 .78
Return on average realized common equity” ................. 26.1 25.4 25.2 25.0 25.2
December 31,

Other Data: 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Average effective guaranty feerate .......... ... ... ... ... 191% .190% 195% 193% 202%
Creditlossratiod ........... ... ... i .. .005 .006 .007 011 .027
Administrative expense ratio? ..o 072 071 .072 071 074
Efficiency ratiol0 . ... ... . 10.2 10.0 11.6 11.5 11.3
Dividend payoutratio .............. ... ... i 29.0 20.9 26.0 28.8 29.5
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and

preferred stock dividends!! .. ... o Lol 1.15:1 1.19:1 1.16:1 1.17:1 1.17:1
Mortgage purchases . . ... $ 370,641 $270,584 $154,231 $195,210 $188,448
MBS issues acquired by others!2 . .......... ... ... o oL 478,260 344,739 105,407 174,850 220,723
Outstanding MBS .. ... oo o 1,029,456 858,867 706,684 679,169 637,143
Weighted-average diluted common shares outstanding . ........ 997 1,006 1,009 1,031 1,037
Return on averageassets ............................. . 55% 78% 1% 73% 78%
Average equity tO aVerage assets . ... .........iiiiiiieiia. 2.1 23 3.1 3.1 3.3
Return on commonequity ............. ... ... ... ... 30.2 39.8 25.6 25.2 25.2
Core capitall® .. ..o $ 28,079 $ 25,182 $ 20,827 $ 17,876 $ 15,465
Total capital’s ... ... 28,871 25,976 21,634 18,677 16,257

3 Core business earnings data are non-GAAP (generally accepted accounting principles) measures management uses to track and analyze our financial performance. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Core Business Earnings and Business Segment Results” for additional discussion of these measures.

* Core business earnings is a non-GAAP measure developed by management, in conjunction with the adoption of FAS 133, to evaluate and assess the quality of Fannie Mae’s earnings from its principal business activities
on a consistent basis. Core business earnings is presented on a net of tax basis and excludes the transition adjustment from the adoption of FAS 133 and unrealized gains and losses on purchased options recorded under
FAS 133, and includes purchased options premiums amortized on a straight-line basis over the original estimated life of the option.

5 Includes revenues et of operating losses on low-income housing tax credit limited partnerships (accounted for using the equity method of accounting) and amortization expense of purchased options premiums, plus taxable-
equivalent adjustments for tax-exempt income and investment tax credits using the applicable federal income tax rate. This is a non-GAAP measure.

6 Core business earnin, g5 less preferred stock dividends divided by average assets. This is a non-GAAP measure.
/

7 Core business earnings less preferred stock dividends divided by average realized common stockholders’ equity (commuon stockholders’ equity excluding acc
measure.

8 Charge-offs, net of recoveries, and foreclosed property income (expense) as a percentage of average mortgage portfolio (on an amortized cost basis) and average outstanding MBS.

9 Administrative expenses as a percentage of average net mortgage portfolio and average outstanding MBS.

10 Administrative expenses as a percentage of taxable-equivalent revenues.

d other comprebensive income). This is a non-GAAP

11 “Egrnin 1gs” consist of (a) income before federal income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting changes and (b) fixed charges. Fixed charges represent interest expense.

12 Includes MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae.

13 Includes MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and held by investors other than Fannie Mae.

14 The sum of (a) the stated value of common stock, (b) the stated value of outstanding noncumulative perpetual preferred stock, (¢c) paid-in capital, and (d) retained earnings, less treasury stock. Core capital represents a
regulatory measure of capital. Refer to Note 11 of the financial statements, “Dividend Restrictions and Regulatory Capital Ratios,” for a discussion of core capital.

15 The sum of (a) core capital and (b) the total allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability for MBS, less (c) the specific loss allowance. Total capital represents a regulatory measure of capital. Specific loss allowances
totaled $19 million, $13 million, $2 million, $3 million, and $10 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively. Refer to Note 11 of the financial statements, “Dividend
Restrictions and Regulatory Capital Ratios,” for a discussion of total capital.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ORGANIZATION OF INFORMATION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides a
narrative on Fannie Mae’s financial performance and
condition that should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying financial statements. It includes the following
sections:

* 2002 Overview

* About Fannie Mae

* Results of Operations

* Core Business Earnings and Business Segment Results
e Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

* Application of Critical Accounting Policies

* Risk Management

¢ Liquidity and Capital Resources

¢ Performance Outlook

* New Accounting Standards

2002 OVERVIEW

2002 was a year of notable achievements for Fannie Mae.
We produced strong financial results and made continued
progress on our key strategic initiatives in an uncertain
economic environment marked by significant interest rate
volatility and more intense competition for mortgages in the
secondary market. We reported net income of $4.619 billion
and diluted earnings per share (diluted EPS) of $4.53 in 2002,
compared with $5.894 billion and $5.72 in 2001, and

$4.448 billion and $4.29 in 2000. Our reported results are
based on generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP),
which include the effects of our January 1, 2001 adoption

of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133 (FAS 133),
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
FAS 133 generates significant volatility in our reported net
income because it requires that we record in our income
changes in the time value portion of purchased options that
we use to manage interest rate risk, but it does not allow us
to record in earnings changes in the intrinsic value portion
of some of those options or similar changes in the fair value
of options in all of our callable debt or mortgage assets. We
expect purchased options expense to vary, often substantially,
from period to period with changes in interest rates, expected
interest rate volatility, and derivative activity.

The 22 percent decrease in our 2002 net income resulted
primarily from a $4.508 billion increase in purchased options

expense, which occurred due to an increase in the notional
amount of purchased options outstanding and the declining
interest rate environment. We recorded $4.545 billion in
purchased options expense in 2002, compared with

$37 million in 2001. Excluding the impact of purchased
options expense, we experienced solid growth in our business
operations. Taxable-equivalent net interest income increased
29 percent over 2001 because of strong growth in our average
net mortgage portfolio and actions taken during 2002 and
2001 to lower our debt costs. Guaranty fee income increased
23 percent, primarily due to an increase in the volume of
outstanding MBS. These increases were partially offset by
amodest rise in credit-related expenses and higher
administrative expenses and losses on debt extinguishments.

Management also tracks and analyzes Fannie Mae’s financial
results based on a supplemental non-GAAP measure called
“core business earnings” (previously referred to by us as
“operating net income”). While core business earnings is not
a substitute for GAAP net income, we rely on core business
earnings in operating our business because we believe core
business earnings provides our management and investors
with a better measure of our financial results and better
reflects our risk management strategies than our GAAP net
income. We developed core business earnings in conjunction
with our January 1, 2001 adoption of FAS 133 to adjust for
accounting differences between alternative transactions we
use to hedge interest rate risk that produce similar economic
results but require different accounting treatment under

FAS 133. For example, our core business earnings measure
allows management and investors to evaluate the quality of
earnings from Fannie Mae’s principal business activities in a
way that accounts for comparable hedging transactions in a
similar manner. We discuss our core business earnings results
in “MD&A—Core Business Earnings and Business Segment
Results.”

While the overall U.S. economy was weak during 2002, the
U.S. housing market remained strong, with both home sales
and mortgage originations reaching record levels. The
decline in mortgage interest rates during the third quarter of
2002 to the lowest levels since the 1960s sparked a refinance
boom and fueled record refinance as well as purchase
originations. Single-family mortgage originations in 2002
totaled $2.6 trillion, surpassing 2001’s record of $2.0 trillion
by 29 percent. Our market—residential mortgage debt
outstanding—increased 12 percent in 2002 to

This discussion highlights significant factors influencing Fannie Mae’s financial condition and results of operations. It should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes. This discussion (and other

sections of this annual report) includes certain forward-looking based on

 estimates of trends and economic factors in markets in which we are active, as well as our business plans. In light of

securities law developments, including the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, we note that such forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties. Accordingly,
our actual results may differ from those set forth in such statements. Significant changes in economic conditions, regulatory or legislative changes affecting Fannie Mae, our competitors, or the markets in which we are
active, or changes in other factors, may cause future results to vary from what we expected. The “Forward-Looking Information” section in our Form 10-K dated March 31, 2003 discusses certain factors that may cause

such differences to occur: We do not undertake to update any forward-looking in this docu;

nt or that we make from time to time.
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$7.0 trillion as the demand for housing continued to grow, 4. Record Financial Performance: One of our key financial

marking the first two consecutive years of double-digit performance goals, announced in 1999, is a five-year
residential mortgage debt outstanding (MDO) growth since goal to double Fannie Mae’s core business diluted
1988-1989. earnings per share to $6.46 by the end of 2003. With

an increase in core business earnings of nearly
90 percent over the last 4 years, we are on track to
achieve this five-year goal.

During 2002, we made progress on several key strategic
initiatives to support our mission of increasing
homeownership and affordable rental housing for all
Americans. We align our strategies with and measure our 5. Corporate Culture to Enbance Strategy Execution:
performance against six long-term corporate goals. Developing a corporate culture that ensures a
diverse and fully engaged workforce is critical in
executing our key strategic initiatives and fulfilling
Fannie Mae’s mission to help more families achieve
the American Dream of homeownership. In 2002,

1. Acknowledged Leadership in Increasing Access to Affordable
Housing: One of our most significant initiatives to
increase homeownership rates and serve 18 million
targeted American families is our ten-year, $2 trillion
American Dream Commitment. In 2002, we provided
$670 billion for 5.5 million targeted families to own or
rent a home, bringing us almost two-thirds of the way

Fannie Mae received several awards in recognition
of our commitment to being a world-class, diverse
organization.

toward achieving this ten-year goal in three years. 6. E-Commerce Company Infrastructure to Increase
Capabilities and Lower Costs: Our e-commerce strategy
is intended to help us grow our business, while
lowering the cost of mortgages and reducing our

2. Leading Presence in the Secondary Market and Partner of
Choice: Our goal is to be the secondary market partner
of choice for mortgage lenders. We now have alliance
agreements with 17 of the 30 largest lenders, and our
business with smaller lenders has grown by over
150 percent during the past year. We achieved a net
gain in major partnership accounts during 2002.

We have provided increased liquidity to mortgage
markets by owning approximately 11 percent of
mortgage debt outstanding and guaranteeing

15 percent owned by other investors.

underwriting risk. For example, by expanding
utilization of Desktop Underwriter® (DU), our
automated underwriting system, we can help lenders
streamline their processes and enhance further our
credit risk management effectiveness. Today,
approximately 60 percent of our total single-family
business is processed through DU. In addition, we
committed significant resources in 2002 to upgrading
our core technology infrastructure to enhance the

3. Optimal Risk Management: Our financial success acquisition of mortgages through multiple channels,
depends on the ability of our two core lines of business facilitate new products, and generate cost reductions
to effectively manage interest rate risk and credit risk for our customers.

on home mortgages. By taking an active, highly
disciplined approach in managing these risks, we have
honed our risk management tools over the years to

Because of Fannie Mae’s critical role in the housing finance
system, one of our core commitments is to maintain the

; ; highest standard of transparency in our financial disclosures.
reduce our risk exposure, expand our service to

American home buyers, and deliver double-digit core
business earnings growth for the last 16 years through
all kinds of economic scenarios.

In our ongoing efforts to enhance Fannie Mae’s transparency,
we announced in 2002 our voluntary initiative to register
Fannie Mae’s common stock with the Securities and
Exchange Commission under Section 12(g) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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ABOUT FANNIE MAE

Fannie Mae’s purpose is to facilitate the flow of low-cost
mortgage capital to increase the availability and affordability
of homeownership for low-, moderate-, and middle-income
Americans. We operate under a federal charter, and our
primary regulator is the Office of Federal Housing
Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO). However, we are a private,
shareholder-owned company. The U.S. government does not
guarantee, directly or indirectly, Fannie Mae’s debt securities
or other obligations.

As the nation’s largest source of funds for mortgage lenders
and investors, Fannie Mae provides resources for our
customers to make additional mortgage loans or investments
in mortgage-related securities. We provide liquidity to the
mortgage market for the benefit of borrowers; however, we
do notlend money directly to consumers. We operate
exclusively in the secondary mortgage market by purchasing
mortgages and mortgage-related securities, including
Fannie Mae MBS, from primary market institutions, such as
commercial banks, savings and loan associations, mortgage
companies, securities dealers, and other investors. We
provide additional liquidity in the secondary market by
issuing and guaranteeing mortgage-related securities.

We have two lines of business that generate revenue. These
business lines also focus on managing our key business risks.
We measure the results of our lines of business based on core
business earnings. We evaluate the results of our business
lines as though each were a stand-alone business. Hence, we
allocate certain income and expenses to each line of business
for purposes of business segment reporting. We eliminate
certain inter-segment allocations in our consolidated core
business earnings results (see “MD&A—Core Business
Earnings and Business Segment Results”).

Portfolio Investment Business: The Portfolio Investment
business has two principal components: a mortgage portfolio
and a liquid investment portfolio (LIP). The mortgage
portfolio purchases mortgage loans, mortgage-related
securities, and other investments from lenders, securities
dealers, investors, and other market participants. The LIP
serves as an alternative source of funds to meet our cash flow
needs by investing in high quality, short-term investments
that provide an ongoing supply of funds. We can use these
funds as necessary for liquidity purposes or to reinvest in
readily marketable, high credit quality securities that can be
sold to raise cash. We fund the purchase of the assets in our

Portfolio Investment business from our equity capital and by
issuing debt in the global capital markets. The Portfolio
Investment business generates profits by ensuring that the
interest income from the mortgages, MBS, mortgage-related
securities, and liquid investments we purchase is greater than
our borrowing costs. A primary measure of profitability for
the Portfolio Investment business is our net interest margin.
Our netinterest margin reflects the difference between
taxable-equivalent income on our mortgage assets and non-
mortgage investments and our borrowing expense divided by
average interest earning assets.

Our Portfolio Investment business focuses on managing
Fannie Mae’s interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the risk
that changes in interest rates could change cash flows on our
mortgage assets and debt in a way that adversely affects
Fannie Mae’s earnings or long-term value.

Credit Guaranty Business: Our Credit Guaranty business
has primary responsibility for managing all of our mortgage
credit risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss to future earnings and
future cash flows that may result from the failure of a
borrower or counterparty to fulfill its contractual obligation
to Fannie Mae. The Credit Guaranty business primarily
generates income from guaranty fees for guaranteeing the
timely payment of scheduled principal and interest on
mortgage-related securities we guarantee that are not owned
by the Portfolio Investment business. The primary source of
income for the Credit Guaranty business is the difference
between the guaranty fees earned and the costs of providing
this service. Income is also allocated to the Credit Guaranty
business for the following activities:

®  Managing the credit risk on mortgage-related assets held by
the Portfolio Investment business. The Portfolio
Investment business compensates the Credit Guaranty
business through a guaranty fee comparable to an
MBS guaranty fee. These fees are recognized as
guaranty fee income by the Credit Guaranty business.
Similarly, all credit expenses, including credit losses
on loans and on MBS and other mortgage-related
securities held in Fannie Mae’s mortgage portfolio, are
allocated to the Credit Guaranty business for business
segment reporting purposes. Net interest income for
the Credit Guaranty business is net of charges paid to
the Portfolio Investment business for forgone interest
on delinquent loans.
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*  Providing capital to the Portfolio Investment business.
The Portfolio Investment business also compensates
the Credit Guaranty business for the temporary use of
capital generated by the Credit Guaranty business,
which the Portfolio Investment business uses to fund
investments. This compensation is classified as net
interest income.

o Temporarily investing principal and interest payments on
loans underlying MBS and other mortgage-related
securities prior to remittance to investors. Interest income
on the temporary investment of these funds is
allocated to the Credit Guaranty business.

Our Credit Guaranty business manages Fannie Mae’s
mortgage credit risk by managing the profile and quality of
mortgages in the mortgage credit book of business, using
credit enhancements to reduce our losses, assessing the
sensitivity of credit losses to changes in economic conditions,
and aggressively managing problem assets to mitigate losses.

Revenue growth in our business lines is driven fundamentally
by growth in residential mortgage debt outstanding (MDO).
"This market has usually been one of the strongest growth
markets in the U.S. economy, typically growing faster than
the gross domestic product (GDP). During the 1990s,
mortgage debt outstanding grew 7 percent annually.

Since 2000, MDO has grown at an average annual rate of
11.3 percent. Our economic projections indicate an average
annual growth rate of 8 to 10 percent during the current
decade due to four fundamental demographic and economic
drivers: (1) projected growth in immigration, population, and
household formation; (2) increased rates of homeownership
particularly by minorities, whose homeownership rates lag
the average by 20 percentage points; (3) continued growth
in property values as the average home grows larger, demand
remains strong, and supply remains constrained because of
land shortages and growth restrictions; and (4) projected
growth in debt-to-value ratios as consumers increasingly use
the equity in their homes as a financial investment option.

In addition, our business has typically grown faster than our
market because of our efficiency, innovation, and low costs,
which have helped make Fannie Mae a preferred source of
liquidity for fixed-rate mortgages.

The expenses related to our lines of business stem largely
from costs incurred to manage our two primary business
risks—interest rate risk and credit risk. We have highly
skilled teams of experienced risk management professionals

who take an active, highly disciplined approach in managing
these risks to meet our objective of delivering consistent
earnings growth and target returns on capital in a wide range
of economic environments. They have been successful in
dispersing Fannie Mae’s risk and loss exposure over the years
within the global financial system by developing various
mortgage risk management tools that increase our level of
expertise and efficiency in managing mortgage prepayment
and credit risk.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our results of operations is
based on Fannie Mae’s reported results. We have reclassified
certain amounts in our prior years’ reported results to
conform to our current presentation. We provide a separate
discussion of our core business earnings and business
segment results in “MD&A—Core Business Earnings

and Business Segment Results.”

Net Interest Income

Reported net interest income is the difference between interest income
and interest expense. Net interest income represents a principal source of
earnings for Fannie Mae and is affected by net volume, asset yield, and
the cost of debt and certain derivatives. Reported net interest income
subsequent to our adoption of FAS 133 only includes a portion of the

cost associated with using purchased options to hedge the borrowers’
prepayment option in mortgages. Prior to the adoption of FAS 133, we
amortized purchased options premiums on a straight-line basis and
reflected the cost in our net interest income as a component of our interest
expense. With the adoption of FAS 133, we now report the change in the
fair value of the time value of purchased options in a separate income
statement category “purchased options expense.” We also present net
interest income and the related net interest yield on a taxable-equivalent
basis to consistently reflect income from taxable and tax-exempt
investments based on a 35 percent marginal tax rate.

Table 1 presents Fannie Mae’s net interest yield based on

our reported net interest income adjusted for tax-exempt
investments and average balances of mortgage assets,
nonmortgage investments, and debt. The netinterest yield
calculation subsequent to our adoption of FAS 133 does not
fully reflect the cost of our purchased options (see “MD&A—
Core Business Earnings and Business Segment Results—
Core Net Interest Income” for a discussion of our
supplemental non-GAAP measures, core net interest

income and net interest margin).
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TABLE 1: TAXABLE-EQUIVALENT NET INTEREST INCOME AND AVERAGE BALANCES

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Interest income:

Mortgage portfolio ... ...ttt $ 49,265 $ 46,478 $ 39,403

Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents ................. ... ... .. ... . ..., 1,588 2,692 3,378

Total INtEreStINCOME . .\ v vttt et ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ettt 50,853 49,170 42,781
Interest expense!:

Short-termdebt . . ... 2,978 5,897 4,204

Long-termdebt . ... o 37,309 35,183 32,903

Total INtErest eXPEnse ... ... ..ottt 40,287 41,080 37,107
NEt INTErESTINCOMIE &+ o v o vttt ettt ettt et ettt ettt e et ettt ee e eens 10,566 8,090 5,674

Taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt investments? ........................... 502 470 414
Taxable-equivalent net interestinCome . .............ouiiuuiiuuiinneiiaiti i $ 11,068 $ 8,560 $ 6,088
Average balances?:
Interest-earning assets*:

Mortgage Portfolio, MEE . ..o vttt ettt e e $735,943 $658,195 $553,531

Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents . . ........... ... ... ... ... ... 68,658 58,811 51,490
Total INterest-earning aSSELS .. ... ... totuut ettt 804,601 717,006 605,021

Interest-free funds’ .. ... ... (23,992) (23,630) (20,595)
Total interest-earning assets funded by debt ....... ... ... . o i $780,609 $693,376 $584,426
Interest-bearing liabilities!:

Short-termdebt . ... . $141,727 $137,078 $ 73,351

Long-termdebt . ... o 638,882 556,298 511,075
Total interest-bearing liabilities .. ........ ... .. . $780,609 $693,376 $584,426
Average interest rates? 3:
Interest-earning assets:

Mortgage portfolio,net ........ ... .. 6.73% 7.11% 7.16%

Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents . . ......... ... .. ... ... i 2.34 4.63 6.60

Total interest-earning asSets . . ... ... uuuttt ittt e 6.35 6.90 7.11

Interest-free returnd ... ... ... .18 21 25
Total interest-earning assets funded by debt ........ ... ... .. o oo il 6.53 7.11 7.36
Interest-bearing liabilities!:

Short-termdebt . ... ... 1.90 4.16 5.70

Long-termdebt . ... 5.88 6.35 6.44

Total interest-bearing liabilities ......... ... ... ... ... . i i 5.15 5.92 6.35
Netinterestyield . ..... ... . 1.38% 1.19% 1.01%

1 Classification of interest expense and interest-bearing liabilities as short-term or long-term is based on effective maturity or repricing date, taking into consideration the effect of derivative financial instruments.
2 Reflects non-GAAP adjustments to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets based on a 35 percent marginal tax rate.

3 Averages have been calculated on a monthly basis based on amortized cost.

* Includes average balance of nonaccrual loans of $4.6 billion in 2002, $2.6 billion in 2001, and $2.1 billion in 2000.
> Interest-free funds represent the portion of our investment portfolio funded by equity and non-interest bearing liabilities.

"Taxable-equivalent net interest income totaled

$11.068 billion in 2002, compared with $8.560 billion

in 2001 and $6.088 billion in 2000. The increase of

$2.508 billion, or 29 percent, in taxable-equivalent net
interest income was due primarily to 12 percent growth in
our average net mortgage portfolio and a higher net interest
yield, which was favorably affected by the low interest rate
environment and unusually steep yield curve. As mortgage
interest rates fell to the lowest level in 40 years and fixed-rate
mortgage originations reached record levels, we took
advantage of opportunities to grow our mortgage portfolio

atattractive spreads relative to our debt costs. Our net
interest yield continued to benefit and remained elevated
during 2002 because of actions we took during 2002 and
2001 to lower our debt costs by calling or retiring higher-
cost debt and temporarily replacing it with shorter-term,
lower-cost debt.

During 2001, taxable-equivalent net interest income
increased $2.472 billion or 41 percent over 2000, partially
due to the effect of the change in accounting for our
purchased options under FAS 133. Our taxable-equivalent
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net interest income in 2001 does not include all of the cost
of purchased options. However, our taxable-equivalent net
interest income in 2000 includes $231 million of expense
related to the amortization of purchased options premiums
on a straight-line basis. Prior to the adoption of FAS 133, we
recorded purchased options premiums as interest expense in
our reported net interest income. FAS 133 changed our
accounting for purchased options, requiring that we report
changes in the fair value of the time value of purchased
options instead of expensing purchased options premiums
on a straight-line basis. We report changes in the fair value of
the time value of our purchased options in a separate income
statement category “purchased options expense.” Our

taxable-equivalent net interest income in 2001 also benefited
from 19 percent growth in our average net mortgage
portfolio and a significant decrease in our debt costs that
elevated our net interest yield. A reduction in intermediate-
term rates during 2001 boosted mortgage refinancings and
originations, fueling an increase in the supply of mortgage
assets in the secondary market and attractive mortgage-to-

debt spreads.

"Table 2 shows the changes in our reported and taxable-
equivalent net interest income between 2002 and 2001 and
2001 and 2000 attributable to changes in rates and volume
on our mortgage assets, nonmortgage investments, and debt.

TABLE 2: RATE/VOLUME ANALYSIS OF REPORTED NET INTEREST INCOME

Attributable to Changes in!

Increase
Dollars in millions (Decrease) Volume Rate
2002 vs. 2001
Interest income:
Mortgage POrtfolio . .. ..o vttt $ 2,787 $5,292 $(2,505)
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents .............. ... ... ... ... ........ (1,104) 394 (1,498)
Total INtEreStinCOME . . oo v vttt ettt et e e e e e e e 1,683 5,686 (4,003)
Interest expense2:
SROTE-EFI AEDE -+« o+ oo e e e (2,919) 194 (3,113)
Long-termdebt ... ... 2,126 4,959 (2,833)
Total Interest eXpense . ... ... ... (793) 5,153 (5,946)
Change in NEtINTEreStINCOMIE « .« . v vttt ettt et et et et e et et e e $ 2,476 $ 533 $ 1,943
Change in taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt investments’ .................... 32
Change in taxable-equivalent netinterestincome ............. ... ... ... ... . $ 2,508
2001 vs. 2000
Interest income:
Mortgage Portfolio .. ..ot $ 7,075 $7,393 $ (318)
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents ............ .. ... ... ... o ... (686) 434 (1,120)
TOtal INCETESTINCOIMIE .+ o v vttt et ettt e e e e ettt e e e ettt e e e e 6,389 7,827 (1,438)
Interest expense2:
Short-term debt . .. ... 1,693 2,945 (1,252)
Long-termdebt ... ... 2,280 2,868 (588)
Total Interest eXpense . ... ... ... 3,973 5,813 (1,840)
Change in Net iNtereStinCoOMmME . .. ...ttt ittt ettt et e e e $ 2,416 $2,014 $ 402
Change in taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt investments® ..................... 56
Change in taxable-equivalent netinterestincome . ............. ... ... ... .. $ 2,472

I Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to the rate and volume variances based on their relative size.

2 Classification of interest expense and interest-bearing liabilities as short-term or long-term is based on effective maturity or repricing date, taking into consideration the effect of derivative financial instruments.
3 Reflects non-GAAP adjustments to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets based on a 35 percent marginal tax rate.

Guaranty Fee Income

Guaranty fee income reported in our total corporate results and our
average guaranty fee rate primarily include guaranty fees we receive on
mortgage-related securities we issue that are beld by other investors. We
classify guaranty fees on Fannie Mae mortgage-related securities beld in
our portfolio as net interest income. The guaranty fee income allocated
for line of business reporting purposes to the Credit Guaranty business

on mortgage-velated securities beld in our portfolio is eliminated by an
equal and offsetting allocation of guaranty expense to the Portfolio
Investment business. We exclude the administrative costs of managing
outstanding MBS and other mortgage-related securities from guaranty
fee income.

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT



Guaranty fee income increased 23 percent or $334 million
in 2002 to $1.816 billion and 10 percent in 2001 to

$1.482 billion. The increases were driven primarily by a

22 percent increase in average outstanding MBS (MBS and
other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae
and held by investors other than Fannie Mae) during 2002
and a 12 percent increase during 2001.

Our average guaranty fee rate on outstanding MBS during
2002 increased slightly to 19.1 basis points from 19.0 basis
points in 2001. During the last half of 2002, our average
effective guaranty fee rate rose as a result of higher fee rates
on new business and the faster amortization of deferred fees
as we adjusted our prepayment amortization rates to reflect
the acceleration of mortgage prepayments in the heavy
refinance environment. Our average effective guaranty fee
rate declined by .5 basis points between 2000 and 2001,
primarily due to increased competition and general market
conditions. Recently, rates on new credit guaranty products
have been higher because of our efforts to better align our
pricing with the relative underlying risks of loans we
guarantee and expansion into market segments that demand
higher guaranty fees. As a result of these trends, we anticipate
a modest increase in our average effective guaranty fee rates
in the future. Table 3 presents our average effective guaranty
fee rate for the past three years.

TABLE 3: GUARANTY FEE DATA

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Guaranty fee income . . .... ... $ 1,816 $ 1,482 $ 1,351
Average balance of
outstanding MBS! ... .. .. 950,232 779,647 694,165
Average effective guaranty
fee rate (basis points) ... ... 19.1 19.0 19.5

T “Outstanding MBS refers to MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae
and held by investors other than Fannie Mae. If an MBS has been resecuritized into another MBS, we
only include the principal amount once in the outstanding balance.

Guaranty Fee Income
Dollars In Millions

$1,816

$1,482
$1,351
$1,282
$1,229 |

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Fee and Other Income (Expense), Net

Fee and other income (expense), net consists of transaction fees,
technology fees, multifamily fees, and other miscellaneous items and is
net of costs associated with the purchase of additional mortgage insurance
to protect against credit losses (“credit enbancement expense”) and
operating losses from certain tax-advantaged investments in affordable
housing projects. These tax-advantaged investments represent equity
interests in limited partnerships that own rental housing and generate
tax credits, which reduce Fannie Mae’s effective federal income tax rate.
We account for the majority of these investments using the equity metbod.
We do not guarantee any obligations of these partnerships, and our
exposure is limited to the amount of our investments. We record the tax
benefit related to these investments as a reduction in the provision for
federal income taxes and as an increase in taxable-equivalent revenues.

We recorded $232 million of fee and other income in 2002,
up from $151 million of income in 2001. The $81 million
increase in fee and other income was driven by a $114 million
increase in transaction and technology fees resulting
primarily from increased REMIC transaction volumes and

a $69 million increase in net gains from the sale of securities.
These increases were offset partially by a $78 million increase
in credit enhancement expenses and a $61 million increase in
impairment write-downs on a variety of investments. The
increase in credit enhancement expenses was attributable

to an increase in the volume of business covered by credit
enhancements purchased directly by Fannie Mae, stemming
from our expansion into new products and markets.

Fee and other income totaled $151 million for 2001, up

$195 million over expense of $44 million recorded in 2000
primarily because of a $146 million increase in technology
and transaction fees. The increase in technology and
transaction fees resulted largely from greater use of

Fannie Mae’s Desktop Underwriter and Desktop Originator®
systems and higher structured transaction fees, such as
REMIC fees, attributable to record mortgage business
volumes. A hedging loss on an anticipated Benchmark Notes
issuance that occurred in April 2000 also contributed to the

®

year-over-year increase in fee and other income in 2001.

Credit-Related Expenses

Credit-related expenses include foreclosed property expenses (income)

and the provision for losses. In 2002, we reclassified recoveries in excess of
charged-off amounts on foreclosed properties from “charge-off recoveries”
to “foreclosed property expense (income).” In addition, with the rescission
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
Statement of Position 92-3, “Accounting for Foreclosed Assets” (SOP 92-3)
in the fourth quarter of 2002, we now include estimated selling costs in the
determination of our initial charge-off when we foreclose on a loan. We
adjusted our provision for losses to reflect a charge equal to the net change
in charge-offs. We bave also retroactively reclassified any excess recoveries
in previous periods for comparability purposes.
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Credit-related expenses increased $14 million over 2001

to $92 million, primarily due to an increase in multifamily
credit-related losses stemming from two properties. We
recorded a provision for losses of $128 million in 2002, an
increase of $34 million over 2001. The increase in our
provision was partially offset by $20 million in additional
foreclosed property income primarily due to gains on
foreclosed property dispositions. Foreclosed property
income totaled $36 million in 2002, compared with

$16 million in 2001. The 2002 increase in credit-related
expenses follows a $16 million decline in 2001 that was
largely due to a reduction in our provision for losses.

Our provision for losses decreased $28 million in 2001

to $94 million. We also had forgone interest on
nonperforming assets that reduced our net interest income
by $148 million in 2002, $70 million in 2001, and $43 million
in 2000. Although foreclosed single-family property
acquisitions increased in 2002 to 19,500 from 14,486 in 2001
and 14,351 in 2000, average severities declined due to strong
home prices and credit enhancement proceeds.

We previously recorded gains from the sale of foreclosed
properties and related mortgage insurance claims against
our allowance for losses as a recovery of charge-offs. During
2002, we reclassified these gains to foreclosed property
expense (income). Additionally, the AICPA rescinded

SOP 92-3 during the fourth quarter of 2002. Under

SOP 92-3, we recorded selling costs related to the disposition
of foreclosed properties in our income statement under
foreclosed property expense (income). We now include
selling costs in our initial charge-off estimate. All prior
periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation. The reclassified amounts result in equal and
offsetting changes to our provision for losses and foreclosed
property expense (income) line items within our previously
reported income statements. These reclassifications have

no impact on previously reported net income, total credit-
related expenses, total credit-related losses, or the combined
balance of the allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability.

Despite significant growth in our book of business and
overall weaker economic conditions during 2002 and 2001,
credit losses as a percentage of Fannie Mae’s average book

of business have steadily declined to .5 basis points in 2002,
from .6 basis points in 2001, and .7 basis points in 2000.

Our book of business includes mortgages and MBS in our
mortgage portfolio and outstanding MBS held by other
investors. Credit losses include charge-offs (net of recoveries)
and foreclosed property income. The strong appreciation in
home prices during 2002 and 2001 helped in strengthening
the credit risk profile of our book of business. In addition, we
have been able to effectively manage credit risk by using

credit enhancements to minimize our credit losses during
the economic slowdown, monitoring and assessing the
sensitivity of our credit risk to changes in the economic
environment, and taking an aggressive approach to problem
asset management.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses include those costs incurred to run our daily
operations, such as personnel costs and technology expenses.

Administrative expenses increased 20 percent to

$1.219 billion in 2002. The above average growth in
administrative expenses was due primarily to costs incurred
on a multi-year project initiated in 2001 to re-engineer our
core infrastructure systems and expenses associated with
relocating our primary data center. In addition,
compensation expense increased 13 percent to $683 million
in 2002, resulting primarily from a 5 percent increase in the
number of employees and annual salary increases.

Administrative expenses grew 12 percent to $1.017 billion in
2001 from $905 million in 2000, primarily due to increased
compensation expense related to 8 percent growth in the
number of employees and annual salary increases, increased
costs related to the multi-year core infrastructure project,
and a contribution of $10 million in 2001 to support victims
and families of victims affected by the September 11 tragedy.

We evaluate growth in administrative expenses based on
growth in taxable-equivalent revenues and our average book
of business. Taxable-equivalent revenues is a supplemental
non-GAAP measure discussed further in “MD &A—Core
Business Earnings and Business Segment Results.” While
administrative expenses have grown in the past two years,
the ratio of administrative expenses to taxable-equivalent
revenues, which we refer to as our efficiency ratio, has
increased only modestly to 10.2 percent from 10.0 percent in
2001. Our efficiency ratio for 2002 and 2001 remained fairly
steady and improved over the 11.6 percent level of 2000
primarily due to strong growth in net interest income during
both years. The ratio of administrative expenses to our
average book of business has also remained relatively stable
at.072 percent in 2002, compared with .071 percentin 2001,
and .072 percent in 2000.

Special Contribution

Special contribution expense reflects a contribution we made to the
Fannie Mae Foundation.

We committed during the fourth quarter of 2001 to
contribute $300 million of our common stock to the
Fannie Mae Foundation. The Fannie Mae Foundation
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creates affordable homeownership and housing opportunities
through innovative partnerships and initiatives that build
healthy, vibrant communities across the United States. Itis

a separate, private, nonprofit organization that we do not
consolidate, butis supported solely by Fannie Mae. We
expect the 2001 contribution to the Fannie Mae Foundation
to reduce the Foundation’s need for contributions over the
next several years. We acquired the shares through open
market purchases and contributed them to the Foundation

in the first quarter of 2002.

Purchased Options Expense

Purchased options expense includes the change in the fair value of the
time value of purchased options in accordance with FAS 133. The change
in the fair value of the time value of purchased options will vary from
period to period with changes in interest rates, market pricing of options,
and our derivative activity.

Our reported income results for 2002 were unfavorably
affected by $4.545 billion in purchased options expense
related to changes in the time value of purchased options,
significantly more than the $37 million expense recorded in
2001. The substantial increase in expense during 2002 was
caused by an increase in the average notional balance of caps
and swaptions, two types of purchased options we commonly
use to manage interest rate risk, to $287 billion in 2002 from
$154 billion in 2001, coupled with a sharp decline in interest
rates that resulted in a decrease in time value. Under FAS
133, we are not allowed to recognize in earnings changes

in the intrinsic value of some of these options, which, in
combination with the fair value of options in our mortgage
assets and callable debt, would have more than offset the
decrease in the time value of these options during 2002. Prior
to the adoption of FAS 133 on January 1, 2001, we amortized
premiums on purchased options into interest expense on a
straight-line basis. In 2000, we recorded $231 million in
purchased options amortization expense that is included

as a component of net interest income.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we refined our
methodology for estimating the initial time value of interest
rate caps at the date of purchase and prospectively adopted
a preferred method that resulted in a $282 million pre-tax
reduction in purchased options expense and increased our
diluted EPS for 2002 by $.18. Under our previous valuation
method, we treated the entire premium paid on purchased
“at-the-money” caps as time value with no allocation to
intrinsic value. Our new methodology allocates the initial
purchase price to reflect the value of individual caplets, some
of which are above the strike rate of the cap, which results in
a higher intrinsic value and corresponding lower time value
at the date of purchase. This approach is more consistent

with our estimation of time value subsequent to the initial
purchase date. This change does not affect the total expense
that will be recorded in our income statement over the life of
our caps and has no effect on our non-GAAP core business
earnings measure.

Debt Extinguishments

Fannie Mae strategically repurchases or calls debt securities and related
interest rate swaps on a regular basis as part of our interest vate risk
management efforts and to reduce future debt costs. We record gains
and losses on debt extinguishments in this category.

We recognized a pre-tax loss of $710 million in 2002 from
the call and repurchase of debt, compared with a pre-tax loss
of $524 million in 2001. Market conditions during 2002 and
2001 made it advantageous for us to repurchase $8 billion
and $9 billion, respectively, of debt securities that were
trading at historically wide spreads to other fixed-income
securities. We also called over $174 billion of high-coupon
debt securities and notional principal of interest rate swaps in
2002 and $173 billion in 2001. The weighted-average cost of
redeemed debt and interest rate swaps in 2002 and 2001 was
5.36 percent and 6.23 percent, respectively. During 2000,

we repurchased or called $18 billion in debt securities and
notional principal of interest rate swaps carrying a weighted-
average cost of 7.10 percent and recognized a gain of

$49 million.

During the second quarter of 2002, we adopted Financial
Accounting Standard No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements
No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections (FAS 145). This standard eliminates the
extraordinary treatment of the gains and losses on our debt
repurchases because debt extinguishment is a normal and
recurring component of our interest rate risk management
strategy. For comparative purposes, we have reclassified all
prior periods to conform to the current presentation.

Income Taxes

The provision for federal income taxes, including tax related
to the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
decreased to $1.429 billion in 2002 from $2.131 billion in
2001. The 2002 decrease in tax expense was primarily related
to the tax benefit recorded on the increased purchased
options expense. Our tax provision totaled $1.583 billion in
2000. The combined effect of our low-income housing tax
credits and the reduction in our 2002 pre-tax income from
purchased options expense caused our effective tax rate on
reported net income to decline to 24 percent from 27 percent
in 2001 and 26 percent in 2000. Our effective tax rate based
on our core business earnings, which is adjusted for the
impact of FAS 133 on our purchased options, was 27 percent
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in 2002 and 26 percent in 2001 and 2000. See “MD &A—
Core Business Earnings and Business Segment Results.”

Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting Principle
Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted FAS 133, as amended
by Financial Accounting Standard No. 138, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities—an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133. Our adoption of

FAS 133 on January 1, 2001, resulted in a cumulative after-tax
increase to income of $168 million ($258 million pre-tax) in
2001. The cumulative effect on earnings from the change in
accounting principle was primarily attributable to recording
the fair value of the time value of purchased options, which
are used as a substitute for callable debt securities.

CORE BUSINESS EARNINGS AND BUSINESS
SEGMENT RESULTS

Management relies primarily on core business earnings, a
supplemental non-GAAP measure developed in conjunction
with our January 1, 2001 adoption of FAS 133, to evaluate
Fannie Mae’s financial performance. While core business
earnings is not a substitute for GAAP net income, we rely on
core business earnings in operating our business because we
believe core business earnings provides our management and
investors with a better measure of our financial results and
better reflects our risk management strategies than our
GAAP netincome. Core business earnings excludes the
unpredictable volatility in the time value of purchased
options because we generally intend to hold these options

to maturity, and we do not believe the period-to-period
variability in our reported net income from changes in the
time value of our purchased options accurately reflects the
underlying risks or economics of our hedging strategy. Core
business earnings includes amortization of purchased options
premiums on a straight-line basis over the original expected
life of the options. The net amount of purchased options
amortization expense recorded under our core business
earnings measure will equal the net amount of purchased
options expense ultimately recorded under FAS 133 in our
reported net income over the life of our options. However,
our amortization treatment is more consistent with the
accounting for embedded options in our callable debt and
more accurately reflects the underlying economics of our
use of purchased options as a substitute for issuing callable
debt—two alternate hedging strategies that are economically
very similar but require different accounting under FAS 133.

Management also relies on several other non-GAAP
performance measures related to core business earnings to
evaluate Fannie Mae’s performance. These key performance
measures include taxable-equivalent revenues, core net
interest income, and net interest margin. We discuss these

measures further in this section and provide a discussion of
our business segments, which we also evaluate based on core
business earnings. Our core business earnings measures are
not defined terms within GAAP and may not be comparable
to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

Core Business Earnings

We delivered record core business earnings in 2002 for the
16th consecutive year. Core business earnings increased

19 percent over 2001 to $6.394 billion due primarily to
strong mortgage portfolio and net interest margin growth.
Our core business earnings in 2001 grew 21 percent over
2000 to $5.367 billion, also due to strong portfolio and

netinterest margin growth.

2002 financial bighlights include:
o 17 percent increase in total taxable-equivalent revenues
® 12 percent growth in the average net mortgage portfolio
® 16 percent increase in the total book of business
o 4 basis point increase in the net interest margin

® Decline in our credit loss ratio to .5 basis points from
.6 basis points in 2001

While our core business earnings measures should not be
construed by investors as an alternative to net income and
other measures determined in accordance with GAAP, they
are critical performance indicators for Fannie Mae’s
management. Core business earnings is the primary financial
performance measure used by Fannie Mae’s management not
only in developing the financial plans of our lines of business
and tracking results, but also in establishing corporate
performance targets and determining incentive
compensation. In addition, the investment analyst
community has traditionally relied on our core business
earnings measures to evaluate Fannie Mae’s earnings
performance and to issue earnings guidance. We believe
these measures also can serve as valuable assessment tools

for investors to judge the quality of our earnings because
they provide more consistent accounting and reporting for
economically similar interest rate risk hedging transactions,
which allows investors to more readily identify sustainable
trends and gauge potential future earnings trends.

"Table 4 shows our line of business and consolidated core
business earnings results for 2002, 2001, and 2000. We have
reclassified certain amounts in our prior years’ results to
conform to our current presentation. The only difference in
core business earnings and reported net income relates to the
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FAS 133 accounting treatment for purchased options, which affects our Portfolio Investment business. The FAS 133 related
reconciling items between our core business earnings and reported results have no effect on our Credit Guaranty business.

TABLE 4: RECONCILIATION OF CORE BUSINESS EARNINGS TO REPORTED RESULTS

20021
Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Items Related to Reported
Dollars in millions Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
Net INtErest iNCOME .« . v v v v ettt ettt et ettt et ettt ee et $ 9,869 $ 697 $10,566 $ — $10,566
Purchased options amortization €Xpense . ................oooeeoa.... (1,814) — (1,814) 1,814@ —
Core Netinterest iNCOME . . ..ttt vut ettt et e e et ee e 8,055 697 8,752 1,814 10,566
Guaranty fee INCOmMe (EXPENSE) . . . oo vttt et 1,374) 3,190 1,816 — 1,816
Fee and other income (expense), net ...............oooiiiiuueeann.. 348 (116) 232 — 232
Credit-related eXpenses? .. ...........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiaaiaaaaaa... — 92) 92) — 92)
Administrative eXPenses . .. ... 357) (862) (1,219) — (1,219)
Purchased options expenseunder FAS 133 ... ... o o o oo — — — (4,545)® (4,545)
Debt extinguishments, net ............ ... (710) — (710) — (710)
Income before federal income taxes .............coiiiiiieiinen... 5,962 2,817 8,779 2,731) 6,048
Provision for federal inCOME taxes . ... .....vueuiieiieieeennneena... (1,747) (638) (2,385) 956 (1,429)
NEEIICOME + + v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 4,215 $2,179 $ 6,394 $(1,775)  $ 4,619
20011
Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Items Related to Reported
Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
NEt INEreSt INCOME .« o v\t ettt e e e ettt e e ettt e e e e e e iieeee s $ 7,369 $ 721 $ 8,090 $ — $ 8,090
Purchased options amortization expense . ........................... (590) — (590) 590@ —
Core NetintereSt iNCOME . . ..ot vttt ettt e e et 6,779 721 7,500 590 8,090
Guaranty fee INCOME (EXPENSE) . . ..o v vvev ittt (1,109) 2,591 1,482 — 1,482
Fee and other income (expense),net ................ooiiiiion.. 211 (60) 151 — 151
Credit-related expenses? . ..., — (78) (78) — (78)
Administrative EXPEnSeS . . . ..o ..vtt ettt (302) (715) (1,017) — (1,017)
Special contribution .. ... ... L oo (192) (108) (300) — (300)
Purchased options expenseunder FAS 133 ......... ... ... ... ... — — — 37)® 37)
Debt extinguishments, net ............ ... i (524) — (524) — (524)
Income before federal income taxes and effect of accounting change . ... ... 4,863 2,351 7,214 553 7,767
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxeffect ................ — — 168 168
Provision for federal income taxes . .............veiiiiiiiii... (1,374) (473) (1,847) (194 (2,041)
NELINCOME .+ o vttt $ 3,489 $1,878 $ 5,367 $ 527 $ 5,894
2000
Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Ttems Related to Reported
Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
Net INterestinComE . . ..o vvuttt ittt ittt $ 5,055 $ 619 $ 5,674 $ — $ 5,674
Purchased options amortization expense . ........................... — — — — —
CoOre NELINTErESTINCOIME & v\ vt vttt et e et ettt e e e ieeenenns 5,055 619 5,674 — 5,674
Guaranty fee income (EXPense) . .. ........ouutiniiii i (1,079) 2,430 1,351 — 1,351
Fee and other income (expense), net .............oouiiiiiiiiaaann.. 27 (71) 44 — 44
Credit-related expenses? ........... ... i — 94) 94) — 94)
Administrative eXpenses . . . ... ..ottt (254) (651) (905) — (905)
Debt extinguishments, net ............ ..., 49 — 49 — 49
Income before federal incometaxes ............covveiiiiiinneennnn.. 3,798 2,233 6,031 — 6,031
Provision for federal income taxes . .........c.oviieeiiiiine . (1,053) (530) (1,583) — (1,583)
NEtINCOmME .ottt $ 2,745 $1,703 $ 4448 S $ 4,448

1 Reported net income for 2002 and 2001 includes the effect of EAS 133, which was adopted on January 1, 2001.
2 Credit-related expenses include the income statement line items “Provision for losses” and “ Foreclosed property expense (income).”
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While the reconciling items to derive our core business
earnings are significant components in understanding and
assessing our reported results and financial performance,
investors may not be able to directly discern the underlying
economic impact of our interest rate risk management
strategies without our core business results. We believe
our core business earnings measures help to improve
transparency and enhance investors’ understanding of

our operations, as well as facilitate trend analysis.

The specific FAS 133 related adjustments affecting
our Portfolio Investment business that we identify in

Table 4 include:

(@) Purchased options amortization expense: This amount
represents the straight-line amortization of
purchased options premiums over the original
expected life of the options that we include in our
core net interest income. We include this amount in
core business earnings instead of recording changes
in the time value of purchased options because it is
more consistent with the accounting for the
embedded options in our callable debt and the vast
majority of our mortgages.

(b

Nl

Purchased options expense: This amount, which is
recorded in our income statement under purchased
options expense, represents changes in the fair value
of the time value of purchased options recorded in
accordance with FAS 133. We exclude this amount
from our core business earnings measure because the
period-to-period fluctuations in the time value
portion of our options does not reflect the economics
of our current risk management strategy, which
generally is to hold our purchased options to maturity
or exercise date. Consequently, we do not expect to
realize the period-to-period fluctuations in time
value.

(¢) Cumulative after-tax gain upon adoption of FAS 133:
This non-recurring amount represents the one-time
transition recorded upon the adoption of FAS 133 on
January 1, 2001. We exclude the transition gain from
core business earnings because it relates to unrealized
gains on purchased options that were recorded when
we adopted FAS 133.

d

N

Provision for federal income taxes adjustment: Represents
the net federal income tax effect of core business
earnings adjustments based on the applicable federal
income tax rate of 35 percent.

Core business earnings does not exclude any other
accounting effects related to the application of FAS 133 or
any other non-FAS 133 related adjustments. The guaranty
fee income that we allocate to the Credit Guaranty business
for managing the credit risk on mortgage-related assets held
by the Portfolio Investment business is offset by a
corresponding guaranty fee expense allocation to the
Portfolio Investment business in our line of business results.
Thus, there is no inter-segment elimination adjustment
between our total line of business guaranty fee income and
our reported guaranty fee income. We allocate transaction
fees received for structuring and facilitating securities
transactions for our customers primarily to our Portfolio
Investment business. We allocate technology-related fees
received for providing Desktop Underwriter and other
online services and fees received for providing credit
enhancement alternatives to our customers primarily

to our Credit Guaranty business.

As discussed in “MD &A—Risk Management—Interest Rate
Risk—Derivative Instruments,” we use various funding
alternatives, including option-based derivative instruments,
that produce similar economic results to manage interest rate
risk and protect against the prepayment option in mortgages.
The adjustments made to our Portfolio Investment business
to derive core business earnings provide consistent
accounting treatment for purchased options and the
embedded option in callable debt securities—economically
equivalent funding transactions—by allocating the cost of
purchased options on a straight-line basis over the original
expected life of the option in a manner similar to our
accounting for options in callable debt. We calculate the
original expected life of “European” options based on the
exercise date. We calculate the original expected life of
“American” options based on the expected life at the time
the option is purchased. There is a difference in the original
expected lives of European and American options because
European options are exercisable only on one specific date in
the future, while American options are exercisable any time
after a specific future date. The actual life of an American
option may differ from our original expected life because of
movements in interest rates subsequent to the exercise date
that may affect the value and benefit of exercising the option
ata given time.

We can protect our net interest margin against changes

in interest rates by either issuing callable debt to fund the
purchase of mortgages or using a combination of callable
debt, purchased options, and noncallable debt. We generally
use the method that helps us achieve our desired funding
flexibility and lowest cost. If interest rates fall and our
mortgages prepay, we have the option of retiring callable
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debt and issuing debt at a lower rate to preserve our interest
spread on new mortgage purchases. If interest rates fall and
we have instead used a combination of noncallable debt and
purchased options—such as a swaption that would allow us to
enter into a pay-variable interest rate swap—we can exercise
our option to allow us to pay a variable or lower interest rate
and receive a fixed rate of interest. The fixed rate of interest
that we receive would offset the cost of our noncallable,
fixed-rate debt. This hedging strategy would lower our
funding costs and preserve our net interest margin as interest
rates fall in a manner very similar to retiring callable debt
and issuing new, lower cost debt. However, because the
accounting for this hedging strategy is different under

FAS 133, the cost of the purchased option would not be
reflected in our reported net interest yield. We would be
required to record the change in the fair value of the time
value of the purchased option as a separate amount in our
income statement. On the other hand, if interest rates
increase, we would not exercise the option to call debt since
the cost of issuing new debt would be higher. Similarly, we
would not exercise the option provided by a purchased
swaption to enter a pay-variable swap because under a higher
interest rate environment, we could enter into a similar
transaction with more favorable terms. See “MD&A—Risk
Management—Interest Rate Risk Management—Derivative
Instruments” for further discussion on how we use purchased
options to simulate callable debt.

If we issue noncallable debt and purchased options to fund
the purchase of mortgages and protect against the
prepayment option in mortgages, we are required under
FAS 133 to record the unrealized period-to-period
fluctuations in the changes in time value of the purchased
options in earnings. If instead, we issue callable debt to fund
the purchase of the same mortgages, the expense related to
the option in our callable debt would be recognized ratably
over the option period as part of interest expense. Although
the two transactions produce similar economic results,
GAAP requires different accounting treatment. Under our
core business earnings measure, the accounting treatment for
purchased options is consistent and also comparable to the
accounting treatment applied to these items in periods prior
to the adoption of FAS 133.

Taxable-Equivalent Revenues

Taxable-equivalent revenues represent total revenues adjusted to reflect
the benefits of investment tax credits and tax-exempt income based on
applicable federal income tax rates and is net of the straight-line
amortization of purchased options expense that would have been recorded
prior to the adoption of FAS 133. For analytical purposes, we calculate
revenues on a taxable-equivalent basis to measure income from lower
yielding investinents that are tax-exempt or generate tax credits on a
basis comparable to bigher yielding taxable investments.

Table 5 compares taxable-equivalent revenues and the
components for 2002, 2001, and 2000.

TABLE 5: TAXABLE-EQUIVALENT REVENUES

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Netinterestincome . ......... $10,566 $ 8,090 $5,674
Guaranty fee income . . ....... 1,816 1,482 1,351
Fee and other income
(expense), net! ....... 232 151 (44)
Total revenues .......... 12,614 9,723 6,981
Taxable-equivalent adjustments:
Investment tax credits? . . .. 594 584 430
Tax-exempt investments’ . . 502 470 414
Purchased options
amortization expenset . ... .. (1,814) (590) —
Taxable-equivalent revenues ..  $11,896 $10,187 $7,825

1 Includes net losses on certain tax-advantaged investments totaling $225 million, $222 million, and
8188 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

2 Represents non-GAAP taxable-equivalent adjustments for tax credits related to losses on certain
affordable housing tax-ad: d equity inv and other i tax credits using the
applicable federal income tax rate of 35 percent.

3 Reflects non-GAAP adjustments to permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets based
on a 35 percent marginal tax rate.

4 Represents non-GAAP adjustment for straight-line amortization of purchased options premiums that
would have been recorded prior to the adoption of FAS 133 in 2001. This expense is included in net
interest income in 2000.

Taxable-equivalent revenues increased 17 percent to
$11.896 billion in 2002, compared with a 30 percent increase
in 2001 to $10.187 billion. The increase in both years was
primarily attributable to growth in net interest income
resulting from the low rate environment that contributed to
strong mortgage portfolio growth and a reduction in our
average cost of debt relative to our mortgage asset yields.
Tighter mortgage-to-debt spreads reduced mortgage
portfolio growth during the first half of 2002 and slowed the
increase in taxable-equivalent revenues to levels more in line
with our expectations. Our 2001 growth rate was higher than
expected because of the increased supply of mortgages in the
secondary market and attractive mortgage-to-debt spreads.

Core Net Interest Income

Core net interest income and our related net interest margin are
supplemental non-GAAP es that g
Fannie Mae’s performance. Core net interest income includes our
reported net interest income adjusted for the non-GAAP amortization
of purchased options premiums on a straight-line basis over the original
expected life of the options to reflect the cost associated with using
purchased options to bedge the borrowers’ prepayment option in

t uses to evaluate

mortgages. We also calculate corve net interest income on a taxable-
equivalent basis to determine our net interest margin. We believe these
measures are beneficial in understanding and analyzing Fannie Mae’s
performance because they reflect consistent accounting for purchased
options and callable debt, two of the principal instruments we use
interchangeably to hedge the prepayment option in our morigage
investments. These measures also consistently reflect income from
taxable and tax-exempt investments.
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Core Net Interest Income versus Mortgage Rates Table 6 reconciles taxable-equivalent core net interest

Dollars In Millions $8,752

$7.500 income to our reported net interest income and presents an

analysis of our net interest margin based on the average
balances and yields of mortgage assets, nonmortgage
investments, and debt. Our taxable-equivalent core net
interest income and net interest margin are significantly
different than our reported taxable-equivalent net interest

9 $2533 income and net interest yield because our core measures
include the amortization of our purchased options premiums

12% $5,674

11

10

8 on a straight-line basis over the life of the option, which is
not in accordance with GAAP. The graph compares

7 Fannie Mae’s core net interest income to average 30-year

‘ fixed rate mortgage rates over the past ten years.

1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

TABLE 6: TAXABLE-EQUIVALENT CORE NET INTEREST INCOME AND AVERAGE BALANCES

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
NEtINtEreStiNCOME . . oottt t ettt et ettt e e e et e e e et e e et e et $ 10,566 $ 8,090 $ 5,674
Purchased options amortization expensel .......... ... .. i i (1,814) (590) —
COre NELINTEIESTINCOIME . v\ vttt et ettt ettt e ettt et e e e e e e e et e et e eenns 8,752 7,500 5,674
Taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exemptinvestments? . .......................... 502 470 414
Taxable-equivalent core netinterestinCOME .. ............uuuuuuuttnuueneeeenenneeea.n $ 9,254 $ 7,970 $ 6,088

Average balances3:
Interest-earning assets*:

Mortgage portfolio, net ....... ... .. $735,943 $658,195 $553,531

Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents . . ........ ... ... .. ... ... o L 68,658 58,811 51,490
Total INterest-earning aSSELS . .« oo v vttt ettt et e e e e 804,601 717,006 605,021

Interest-free funds’ ... ... . o o (23,992) (23,630) (20,595)
Total interest-earning assets funded by debt .. ...........o i $780,609 $693,376 $584,426

Interest-bearing liabilitiest:

Short-term debt .. ... ..o $141,727 $137,078 $ 73,351
Long-termdebt . ... 638,882 556,298 511,075
Total interest-bearing liabilities . ... ... ..ovu ittt $780,609 $693,376 $584,426

Average interest rates? 3:
Interest-earning assets:

Mortgage portfolio,net ........ ... . 6.73% 7.11% 7.16%
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents . . ........... ... ... ... ... o 2.34 4.63 6.60
Total interest-earning assets . . .. ...ttt 6.35 6.90 7.11
Interest-free return® . ........ ... .. .18 21 25
Total interest-earning assets funded by debt ....... ... ... .. . ool 6.53 7.11 7.36

Interest-bearing liabilitiest:

Short-term debt . .. ..o o 2.15 4.28 5.70

Long-termdebt ... 6.10 6.43 6.44

Total interest-bearing liabilities ......... ... ... ... ... . 5.38 6.00 6.35
Netinterest margin ... ........... oo s 1.15% 1.11% 1.01%

T Reflects non-GAAP adjustment for straight-line amortization of purchased options premiums that would have been recorded prior to the adoption of FAS 133 in 2001.

2 Reflects non-GAAP adjustments to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets based on a 35 percent marginal tax rate.

3 Averages bave been calculated on a montbly basis based on amortized cost.

# Includes average balance of nonaccrual loans of $4.6 billion in 2002, $2.6 billion in 2001, and $2.1 billion in 2000.

3 Interest-free funds represent the portion of our investment portfolio funded by equity and non-interest bearing liabilities.

6 Classification of interest expense and interest-bearing liabilities as short-term or long-term is based on effective maturity or repricing date, taking into consideration the effect of derivative financial instruments. The cost
of debt includes expense for the amortization of purchased options.
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Taxable-equivalent core net interest income totaled

$9.254 billion in 2002, compared with $7.970 billion in 2001
and $6.088 billion in 2000. The $1.284 billion or 16 percent
increase in taxable-equivalent core net interest income
during 2002 was due primarily to a 12 percent increase in our
average net mortgage portfolio and a 4 basis point increase in
the net interest margin to 1.15 percent. During 2001,
taxable-equivalent core net interest income increased

$1.882 billion or 31 percent as the average net mortgage
portfolio grew by 19 percent, and the net interest margin
expanded by 10 basis points to 1.11 percent. Table 7 shows
the changes in taxable-equivalent core net interest income
for 2002 and 2001 attributable to changes in rates and the
volume of our mortgage assets, nonmortgage investments,
and debt and changes in purchased options amortization
expense and taxable-equivalent adjustments.

TABLE 7: RATE/VOLUME ANALYSIS OF CORE NET INTEREST INCOME

Attributable to Changes in!

Increase
Dollars in millions (Decrease) Volume Rate
2002 vs. 2001
Interest income:
Mortgage Portfolio ... ...ttt $ 2,787 $5,292 $(2,505)
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents . ........... .. ... ... ... .. .. L (1,104) 394 (1,498)
TOtal INTEIESEINCOIMIE .« . o ot vttt et ettt e et e e e e et e e e e ettt e e e i 1,683 5,686 (4,003)
Interest expense2:
Short-term debt . . ..o ot (2,919) 194 3,113)
Long-termdebt . ... . 2,126 4,959 (2,833)
Total Interest eXpense ... .........iiiii i (793) 5,153 (5,946)
Change in NetiNterestineome . .. ... ut 'ttt ettt ettt $ 2,476 $ 533 $ 1,943
Change in purchased options amortization expense’ ..................o.ooiiiuee ... (1,224)
Change in core NetintereStinCome . . ... ..ottt ettt 1,252
Change in taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt investments* . . ................ 32
Change in taxable-equivalent core netinterestincome ...................... ..., $ 1,284
2001 vs. 2000
Interest income:
Mortgage portfolio . ... ..o $ 7,075 $7,393 $ (318)
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents .. .......... ... ... ... o L (686) 434 (1,120)
Total INtEreStinCOMmME « .« vt vttt ittt ettt ettt e e e e et 6,389 7,827 (1,438)
Interest expense2:
Short-term debt . . ..ot 1,693 2,945 (1,252)
Long-termdebt . ... . 2,280 2,868 (588)
Total Interest eXpense ... .........oiiii 3,973 5,813 (1,840)
Change in Net iNterestinCome . ... ....uutu ittt ittt $ 2416 $2,014 $ 402
Change in purchased options amortization expense’ ..................c.ooiiiuee ... (590)
Change in core NetinterestinCome . . ... ..ottt ettt 1,826
Change in taxable-equivalent adjustment on tax-exempt investments* . . ................ 56
Change in taxable-equivalent core netinterestincome .....................ooiiiio... $ 1,882

! Combined rate/volume variances, a third element of the calculation, are allocated to the rate and volume variances based on their relative size.

2 Classification of interest expense and interest-bearing liabilities as short-term or long-term is based on effective maturity or repricing date, taking into consideration the effect of derivative financial instruments.
3 Reflects non-GAAP adjustments for straight-line amortization of purchased options premiums that would have been recorded prior to the adoption of EAS 133 in 2001.

# Reflects non-GAAP adjustments to permit comparison of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets based on a 35 percent marginal rate.

Business Segment Results

Portfolio Investment Business

Core business earnings for our Portfolio Investment business
totaled $4.215 billion in 2002, compared with $3.489 billion
in 2001, and $2.745 billion in 2000. Core business earnings
grew 21 percent in 2002, down from 27 percent growth in
2001. Growth in mortgage debt outstanding, combined with
our ability to offer reliable, low-cost mortgage funds, helped

us grow our average net mortgage portfolio by 12 percent in
2002 despite a record level of liquidations. The Portfolio
Investment business also capitalized on opportunities
presented by the decline in interest rates that began in 2001
to reduce our debt costs and increase the net interest margin
4 basis points to 115 basis points. In 2001, the average net
mortgage portfolio grew 19 percent and the netinterest
margin increased 10 basis points to 111 basis points.
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Low mortgage rates boosted originations of fixed-rate
mortgages in the primary market to record levels in 2002.
However, during the first half of 2002, primary market
lenders retained a higher than traditional level of mortgage
loans in their own portfolios. The demand for mortgage
investments also increased among other secondary market
participants. We believe this occurrence was in response to
equity market volatility and the perceived safety of mortgage-
related investments in a period of significant uncertainty
about the impact of the economy on corporate
creditworthiness. In addition, the steep yield curve lowered
borrowing costs for banks and other primary market
participants, which made it more attractive to hold mortgage
investments. The increased competition for mortgages in
the first half of 2002 resulted in tighter spreads between
mortgage yields and our debt costs (mortgage-to-debt
spreads), which slowed our overall portfolio growth. Our
portfolio growth accelerated in the second half of the year
as a sharp drop in mortgage rates sparked a refinancing wave
that increased the supply of mortgages in the secondary
market and generated wider mortgage-to-debt spreads.

We substantially increased our mortgage commitments in
response to these more attractive spreads. We also
experienced higher portfolio growth in 2001 because of
attractive mortgage-to-debt spreads stemming from an
increased supply of mortgage assets in the secondary market
because of a reduction in intermediate-term rates that
boosted mortgage refinancings and originations.

"The sharp decline in short-term interest rates relative to
long-term interest rates during 2001 resulted in a steeper
yield curve that persisted throughout 2002. Our net interest
margin in 2002 continued to benefit from actions taken
during 2001 in response to opportunities presented by the
unusually steep yield curve and low short-term interest rates.
The Portfolio Investment business was able to replace
significant amounts of called or maturing debtin 2001 with
lower cost, shorter-term debt more quickly than our
mortgage assets matured or prepaid. These actions
temporarily reduced our debt cost relative to asset yield and
elevated our net interest margin in 2001. Our net interest
margin remained elevated in 2002 as the unusually steep yield
curve and low interest rate environment persisted, and we
called or otherwise retired additional high-cost debt.

Primary investing activities for the Portfolio Investment
business include purchasing mortgage loans, mortgage-
related securities, and other investments from lenders,
securities dealers, investors, and other market participants.

The Portfolio Investment business also issues real estate
mortgage investment conduits (REMICs), Megas, and
Stripped MBS (SMBS) as a source of fee income. The
Portfolio Investment business maintains the LIP, which
consists of nonmortgage investments and serves as an
alternative source of liquidity and an investment vehicle for
our surplus capital. Our primary financing activities involve
issuing various debt securities to fund our mortgage
purchases and other business activities.

Mortgage Portfolio

Our mortgage portfolio includes whole loan mortgages,
mortgage-related securities, and other mortgage
investments, including other agency securities purchased
from lenders, securities dealers, investors, and other market
participants. We grew our net mortgage portfolio by

13 percent to $798 billion at December 31, 2002. In
comparison, we expanded our net mortgage portfolio by

16 percentin 2001. We grew our portfolio more selectively
and at a slower pace in 2002 in accordance with our
disciplined approach to growth because of tighter mortgage-
to-debt spreads during the first half of 2002. Table 8 shows
the distribution of Fannie Mae’s mortgage portfolio by
product type.

Mortgage Portfolio Composition

at December 31,

7% 6%

12%

3%\

14%
3% o
78%

2001 2002

. Government insured or guaranteed ’ Long-term, fixed-rate

. ARMs . Intermediate-term, fixed-rate
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TABLE 8: MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION!

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Mortgages
Single-family:
Governmentinsured or guaranteed . ............ ... $ 5,458 $ 5,070 $ 4,762 $ 4472 $ 4,404
Conventional:
Long-term, fiXed-rate .. .........oueeneeeneeeneene.. 103,220 96,417 87,005 86,787 87,739
Intermediate-term, fixed-rate? .......................... 54,503 43,522 39,134 43,878 47,818
Adjustable-rate. . ....... ... o 9,045 10,410 13,243 6,058 7,632
Total conventional single-family ....................... 166,768 150,349 139,382 136,723 143,189
Total single-family. .. ... 172,226 155,419 144,144 141,195 147,593
Multifamily:
Government insured or guaranteed . ........... ... ... . ... 1,353 1,551 1,814 2,347 2,594
Conventional . . ... 12,218 8,987 6,547 5,564 5,591
Total mulfamily . ... ..o 13,571 10,538 8,361 7,911 8,185
Total mortgages . .. ...t $185,797 $165,957 $152,505 $149,106 $155,778
Mortgage-related securities
Single-family:
Government insured or guaranteed . ......... ..., $ 33,293 $37,111 $ 39,404 $ 36,557 $ 17,401
Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate ........ ... ... ... .. .. . 510,435 456,046 367,344 298,534 209,367
Intermediate-term, fixed-rate? ............ ... ... ... .. ... 39,409 25,890 27,965 25,317 23,948
Adjustable-rate. . ... ... L oo o 13,946 10,355 13,892 8,049 4,241
Total conventional single-family ....................... 563,790 492,291 409,201 331,900 237,556
Total single-family. ... ... . o 597,083 529,402 448,605 368,457 254,957
Multifamily:
Government insured or guaranteed . ........... ... ... ... 7,370 6,481 5,370 4,392 2,765
Conventional .. ....... .t 7,050 5,636 3,642 1,986 1,015
Total multifamily . ... 14,420 12,117 9,012 6,378 3,780
Total mortgage-related securities .............. ... ... .. ... $611,503 $541,519 $457,617 $374,835 $258,737
Mortgage portfolio, net
Single-family:
Government insured or guaranteed . ............ ... .. .. ..., $ 38,751 $ 42,181 $ 44,166 $ 41,029 $ 21,805
Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate . ......... ... ... ... .o oo 613,655 552,463 454,349 385,321 297,106
Intermediate-term, fixed-rate? .......................... 93,912 69,412 67,099 69,195 71,766
Adjustable-rate. . . ..o 22,991 20,765 27,135 14,107 11,873
Total conventional single-family .................... ... 730,558 642,640 548,583 468,623 380,745
Total single-family. ... ... .. .. .. 769,309 684,821 592,749 509,652 402,550
Multifamily:
Government insured or guaranteed . ........... ... ... ... 8,723 8,032 7,184 6,739 5,359
COMVENHONAL « « + « + v e e e e e 19,268 14,623 10,189 7,550 6,606
Total multifamily . ... . o 27,991 22,655 17,373 14,289 11,965
Total mortgage portfolio......... ... ... ... ... oL 797,300 707,476 610,122 523,941 414,515
Unamortized premium (discount) and
deferred price adjustments,net®. .......... .. oo 472 (2,104) (2,520) (964) 919
Allowance forloanlosses* ...... ... ... i i (79) (48) (51) (56) (79)
Mortgage portfolio,net........... .. ..o i $797,693 $705,324 $607,551 $522,921 $415,355

T Amounts presented have been restated to conform to the current year presentation. Data represents unpaid principal balance adjusted to include mark-to-market gains and losses on available-for-sale securities.
2 Intermediate-term, fixed-rate consists of portfolio loans with contractual maturities at purchase equal to or less than 20 years and MBS and other mortgage-related securities held in portfolio with maturities of 15 years

or less at issue date.

3 Includes net unamortized premiums of $135 million, $536 million, and $559 million at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 1998, respectively, and net unamortized discounts of $2,311 million and $586 million at

December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, related to available-for-sale and held-to-maturity mortgage-related securities.

4 Guaranty liability for probable losses on loans underlying Fannie Mae guaranteed MBS is included in “Guaranty liability for MIBS.”
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The average yield on our net mortgage portfolio decreased
to 6.73 percentin 2002, from 7.11 percentin 2001, and
7.16 percent in 2000. The decrease in yield during 2002 and
2001 resulted largely from the general decline in mortgage
rates on loans originated in the primary market and sold
into the secondary market plus an increase in the level of
liquidations of older, higher-rate loans. The liquidation rate
on mortgages in portfolio (excluding sales) increased to

37 percentin 2002 from 25 percentin 2001—more than

TABLE 9: MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO ACTIVITY!

triple the 2000 liquidation rate of 10 percent. Mortgage
liquidations in 2002, 2001, and 2000 totaled $277 billion,
$164 billion, and $57 billion, respectively. Liquidations
increased significantly in 2002 and 2001 largely because
of extensive refinancing in response to falling mortgage
interest rates.

"Table 9 summarizes mortgage portfolio activity on a gross
basis and average yields from 2000 through 2002.

Purchases Sales Repayments?
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Single-family:
Government insured or guaranteed . . . . ... $ 9493 § 6,001 $ 6,940 $ 139 $ — § 521 $ 13,057 $ 8,125 $ 3,423
Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate .............. 280,815 226516 113,444 8,253 7,621 9219 216218 120,787 35,208
Intermediate-term, fixed-rate . ....... 62,102 26,146 11,607 464 442 599 37,544 23,391 13,105
Adjustable-rate ................... 10,739 3,777 17,683 347 228 374 8,806 9,937 4,293
Total conventional single-family ......... 353,656 256,439 142,734 9,064 8,291 10,192 262,568 154,115 52,606
Total single-family ... .............. 363,149 262,440 149,674 9203 8291 10,713 275,625 162,240 56,029
Multifamily ...........o o oo 7,492 8,144 4,557 379 690 269 1,794 2,172 1,204
Total .« $370,641  $270,584  $154231  $9,582  $8,981 $10,982  $277,419 $164412 $57,233
Averagenetyield ........... ... ... L. 5.92% 6.56% 7.62% 6.83% 7.23%  7.18%
Repayments as a percentage of
average mortgage portfolio ............ 37.4 24.7 10.3

1 Excludes premiums, discounts, and other deferred price adjustments.
2 Includes mortgage loan prepayments, scheduled amortization, and foreclosures.

We classify mortgage loans on our balance sheet as either
held-for-investment or held-for-sale. Our mortgage
portfolio also includes MBS and other mortgage-related
securities that we classify as either held-to-maturity or
available-for-sale. On September 13, 2002, concurrent with
the implementation of a new risk-based capital rule issued by
OFHEOQO, we reclassified $124 billion of securities in our
mortgage portfolio from held-to-maturity to available-for-

sale in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard No.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities (FAS 115). At the time of this noncash transfer,
these mortgage-related securities had gross unrealized gains
of $5.364 billion and unrealized losses of $53 million.

Table 10 shows gross unrealized gains and losses on our
MBS and mortgage-related securities at the end of 2002,
2001, and 2000.
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TABLE 10: MORTGAGE-RELATED SECURITIES IN MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO

2002
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Dollars in millions Cost! Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
MBS $286,422 $11,173 $ @ $297,594
REMICs and Stripped MBS ... ... ... o o 110,423 4,339 (87) 114,675
Other mortgage-related securities . . ............ ... ... ... ..... 41,087 2,813 (45) 43,855
Total ... $437,932 $18,325 $ (133) $456,124
Awailable-for-sale:
M B S $116,081 $ 5,425 $ @ $121,505
REMICs and Stripped MBS ... ... ..o o 33,763 678 (369) 34,072
Other mortgage-related securities . ............. ... ... ... ..... 17,358 782 (11) 18,129
Total .o $167,202 $ 6,885 $ (381) $173,706
2001
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost! Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
MBS .o $ 333,896 $ 3,536 $ (54 $ 337,378
REMICs and Stripped MBS .. ... .. oo 127,675 2,432 (579) 129,528
Other mortgage-related securities . ............. ... ... ... ..... 47,584 1,411 (87) 48,908
TOtal « s $ 509,155 $ 7,379 $ (720) $ 515814
Available-for-sale:
MBS .o oo $ 9,119 $ 105 $ @7 $ 9,197
REMICs and Stripped MBS ... ... ... .o 1,083 211 (240) 1,054
Other mortgage-related securities . . ............ ... ... ... ..... 22,236 425 (12) 22,649
TOtal « oo $ 32,438 $ 741 $ (279 $ 32,900
2000
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost! Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
MBS $ 272,829 $ 3,414 $(1,414) $ 274,829
REMICs and Stripped MBS . ... .o\ e oo 114,022 1,736 (652) 115,106
Other mortgage-related securities . ........................... 57,021 760 (178) 57,603
Total ... $ 443,872 $ 5,910 $(2,244) $ 447,538
Available-for-sale:
MBS . oo $ 2,814 $ 18 ) $ 2,825
REMICs and Stripped MBS .. ....... ... ... ... o 220 57 (64) 213
Other mortgage-related securities ... ......................... 8,403 33 (40) 8,396
TOtal « e $ 11,437 $ 108 $ (111 $ 11,434

1 Amortized cost includes unamortized premiums, discounts, and other deferred price adjustments.
2 Excludes REMICs and Stripped MBS.
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Nonmortgage Investments unrealized gains of $139 million and unrealized losses

Nonmortgage investments consist of the LIP and other of $6 million at the time of this noncash transfer.
investments. We classify and account for these investments Nonmortgage investments decreased 20 percent to

as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale according $60 billion at December 31, 2002, from $75 billion at

to FAS 115. Concurrent with the September 13, 2002 December 31, 2001. Our nonmortgage investments totaled
implementation of our new risk-based capital rule, we $55 billion at December 31, 2000. Tables 11 and 12 show
reclassified securities in our nonmortgage investment the composition, weighted-average maturities, and credit
portfolio that had an amortized cost of $11 billion from ratings of our held-to-maturity and available-for-sale
held-to-maturity to available-for-sale in accordance with nonmortgage investments.

FAS 115. These nonmortgage securities had gross

TABLE 11: NONMORTGAGE INVESTMENTS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-TO-MATURITY

2002
Weighted—
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Dollars in millions Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Held-to-maturity:
Repurchase agreements . ...............c.o.o.. $20,732 $ — $— $20,732 .5 100.0
Eurodollar time deposits . ..................... 1,398 — — 1,398 .8 100.0
Auction rate preferred stock .......... ... 0L 402 — — 402 1.0 100.0
Federal funds .............. .. ... ool 150 — — 150 1.9 100.0
Commercial paper ......................... 100 — — 100 7 100.0
Other ..o 268 1 — 269 4.9 100.0
Total oo $23,050 $ 1 $— $23,051 .6 100.0
2001
Weighted-
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Held-to-maturity:
Repurchase agreements .. ..................... $ 9,380 $ — $— $ 9,380 5 100.0
Eurodollar time deposits ...................... 11,185 — — 11,185 3 100.0
Auction rate preferred stock ............. .. ... 2,127 — — 2,127 1.7 100.0
Federalfunds ......... ... ... i 4,904 — — 4,904 4 100.0
Commercial paper .......................... 2,844 1 — 2,845 .6 100.0
Asset-backed securities ......... ... o 6,065 89 (1) 6,153 10.6 100.0
Other ..o 2,166 73 — 2,239 16.7 56.4
Total oo $38,671 $163 $ (1) $ 38,833 3.0 97.5
2000
Weighted—
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Held-to-maturity:
Repurchase agreements .. ..................... $ 2,722 $ — $— § 2,722 5 100.0
Eurodollar time deposits ...................... 4,046 — — 4,046 1.2 100.0
Auction rate preferred stock ............. .. ... 1,812 — — 1,812 1.9 98.6
Federalfunds ............... ... ........... 3,493 — — 3,493 2.1 100.0
Commercial paper .......................... 8,893 2 — 8,895 7 90.1
Asset-backed securities ......... ... . 9,043 30 @) 9,066 22.6 100.0
Other ..o 3,823 40 (11) 3,852 17.6 100.0
Total coveie $33,832 $ 72 $(18) $ 33,886 8.7 97.3
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TABLE 12: NONMORTGAGE INVESTMENTS CLASSIFIED AS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

2002
Weighted-
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Dollars in millions Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Awailable-for-sale:
Asset-backed securities .. ............ ... ..., $22,281 $ 98 $ (68) $22,311 30.0 100.0
Floating—ratenotes! ......................... 11,754 10 (29) 11,735 10.6 87.6
Corporatebonds ................ . ol 1,149 42 — 1,191 12.8 25.2
Taxable auction notes . ..............uiiia.. 949 — — 949 2 100.0
Auction rate preferred stock . .......... ... ... 112 — “) 108 2.5 43.5
Commercial paper ........................... 100 — — 100 2.2 100.0
Other ..o 400 — — 400 1.1 100.0
Total ..o o $36,745 $150 $(101) $36,794 22.0 93.5
2001
Weighted—
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Available-for-sale:
Asset-backed securities ........................ $ 14,876 $ 21 $ (25) $ 14,872 26.2 99.9
Floating—ratenotes! ......................... 12,114 12 (45) 12,081 18.2 84.3
Commercial paper ........................... 8,879 1 — 8,880 9 100.0
Other «.vv i 50 — — 50 9.5 100.0
Total oo $35,919 $ 34 $ (70) $ 35,883 17.2 94.7
2000
Weighted—
Gross Gross Average
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Maturity % Rated A
Cost Gains Losses Value in Months or Better
Available-for-sale:
Asset-backed securities ........................ $ 8,469 $ — $ — $ 8,469 49.6 100.0
Floating—ratenotes! ......................... 12,237 4 (17) 12,224 18.5 99.7
Commercial paper ........................... 443 — — 443 .6 100.0
Other ..o — — — — — —
Total ..o $21,149 $ 4 $ (17) $21,136 30.6 99.8

1 45 of December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, 100 percent of floating-rate notes repriced at intervals of 90 days or less.
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Nonmortgage investments rated below single A totaled $2.4
billion and equaled 8.5 percent of our core capital at
December 31,2002, $2.9 billion and 11.4 percent

of core capital at December 31,2001, and $1 billion and

4.6 percent of core capital at December 31, 2000.

Our nonmortgage investments serve as Fannie Mae’s primary
source of liquidity and an investment vehicle for our surplus
capital. Nonmortgage investments include our early funding
portfolio, which consists primarily of repurchase agreements,
and our LIP. Our LIP consists primarily of high-quality
securities that are short-term or readily marketable and
includes investments in nonmortgage assets, such as federal
funds and time deposits, commercial paper, asset-backed
securities, and corporate floating-rate notes. The majority

of LIP investments classified as held-to-maturity consist of
federal funds and time deposits and auction rate preferred
stock with maturities of three months or less. We obtain
liquidity from our LIP through maturity of short-term
investments or the sale of assets. Investments in our LIP
totaled $39 billion at December 31, 2002, compared with

$65 billion at year-end 2001 and $52 billion at year-end 2000.
At the end 0f 2001, our LIP balance was at the highest level
of the past three years because of delayed settlement of

2001 portfolio purchase commitments, which resulted in
additional temporary capital for short-term investment

in the LIP.

The LIP, combined with our early funding portfolio and cash
and cash equivalents, represent our total liquid investments.
The average yield on liquid investments during 2002, 2001,
and 2000 was 2.34 percent, 4.63 percent, and 6.60 percent,
respectively. The average yield decreased during 2002 and
2001 because of the sharp drop in short-term interest rates.

Debt Securities

As part of our disciplined interest rate risk management
strategy, we issue a variety of noncallable and callable debt
securities in the domestic and global capital markets in a wide
range of maturities to meet our large and consistent funding
needs. We strive to structure debt products that match the
needs of our portfolio with the interests of debt investors.

A description of our principal debt securities follows.

* Benchmark Securities® Program

Our Benchmark Securities program encompasses large,
regularly scheduled issues of noncallable and callable debt
securities designed to provide enhanced liquidity to investors

while reducing the relative cost of debt. By issuing Benchmark
Securities, we have consolidated much of our debt issuances
from a large number of smaller, unscheduled issues to a smaller
number of larger, more liquid scheduled issues.

During 2002, we issued noncallable and callable Benchmark
Securities in every month. Benchmark Bills® served as our
weekly source for three-month and six-month discount debt
issuances during the year. We issued one-year Benchmark
Bills on a biweekly schedule during 2002 and 2001. Our
issuances of Benchmark Bills totaled $420 billion,

$437 billion, and $334 billion in 2002, 2001, and 2000,
respectively. Issuances of Benchmark Bonds® and
Benchmark Notes totaled $89 billion, $100 billion, and

$77 billion, respectively, during the same period. Benchmark
Notes have maturities of one to ten years, and Benchmark
Bonds have maturities of more than ten years. We
reintroduced Fannie Mae’s Callable Benchmark Notes in
June 2001 and issued $22 billion and $10 billion of these
securities during 2002 and 2001, respectively.

¢ Discount Notes and Other Debt Securities

We also issue other debt securities outside Fannie Mae’s
Benchmark Securities program. These debt securities have
various maturities, interest rates, and call provisions. We
issue short-term debt securities called “Discount Notes”
outside of our Benchmark Bills program. We sell discount
notes at a market discount from the principal amount payable
at maturity. They have maturities ranging from overnight
to 360 days from the date of issuance and are available in
minimum amounts of $1,000. We issued $1.107 trillion
and $1.216 trillion of Discount Notes during 2002 and
2001, respectively. Outstanding Discount Notes increased
to $134 billion at year-end 2002 from $93 billion at
year-end 2001.

e Subordinated Debt

As part of our voluntary safety and soundness initiatives
announced in October 2000, we began issuing
Subordinated Benchmark Notes in the first quarter of
2001 on a periodic basis, which created a new class of fixed-
income investments for investors under the Benchmark
Securities program. We issued subordinated debt securities
totaling $3.5 billion and $5.0 billion during 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Outstanding Subordinated Benchmark Notes
totaled $8.5 billion at December 31, 2002, versus

$5.0 billion at the end of 2001.
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Total debt outstanding increased 11 percent to $851 billion a comparison of our debt issuances and repayments for 2002,
at December 31, 2002, from $763 billion at December 31, 2001, and 2000, the total outstanding at the end of each year,
2001. Table 13 summarizes our outstanding debt due within and the average cost.

one year at the end of 2002, 2001, and 2000. Table 14 shows

TABLE 13: OUTSTANDING DEBT DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2002
Maximum
Average Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at December 31 During Year at Any
Dollars in millions Amount Cost! Amount Costl Month-end
ShOIt-termNOtES « . ..o vttt et e s $290,091 1.55% $252,857 1.98% $290,091
Othershort-termdebt . . ............. ... .. .. .. 12,522 1.33 18,512 1.70 28,126
Current portion of borrowings due after one year?:
Universal Standard Debt .................... 41,681 2.25
Universal Benchmark Debt ................... 37,376 4.89
Universal Retail Debt . ........... .. ... 73 9.52
Other ..o 669 3.24
Total due withinoneyear .................. $382,412 1.95%
2001
Maximum
Average Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at December 31 During Year at Any
Amount Cost! Amount Cost! Month-end
Short-termnotes . ..........ouueeeeneennnnnnnn.. $ 256,905 2.58% $ 247,060 431% $265,953
Othershort-termdebt . .. ............ ... ... ... 29,891 1.96 31,479 4.40 43,811
Current portion of borrowings due after one year?:
Universal Standard Debt .................... 34,413 3.67
Universal Benchmark Debt ................... 21,987 531
Universal Retail Debt................ooo oL — —
Other ..o 296 4.96
Total due withinoneyear .................. $ 343,492 2.81%
2000
Maximum
Average Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at December 31 During Year at Any
Amount Cost! Amount Cost! Month-end
ShOIt-termNOtES « . . v oo vttt et e e e $178,292 6.50% $150,242 6.33% $178,292
Othershort-termdebt . . ......... ... ... ... ... 42,157 6.58 37,880 6.36 42,157
Current portion of borrowings due after one year?:
Universal Standard Debt . ................... 51,185 6.02
Universal Benchmark Debt ................... 6,984 5.71
Universal Retail Debt . ........... .. ... 785 6.62
Other ..o 919 6.57
Total due withinoneyear .................. $280,322 6.38%

I Represents weighted-average cost, which includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, issuance costs, hedging results, and the effects of currency and debt swaps. Averages have been calculated on a monthly average
basis.

2 Information on average amount and cost of debt outstanding during the year and maximum amount outstanding at any month-end is not meaningful. See “Tuble 19—Short-Term and Long=Term Debt Activity”
for additional information.
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TABLE 14: SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM
DEBT ACTIVITY

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Issued during the year:
Short-term!:
AMOUNt «+.veeennn .. $1,635919  $1,756,691  $1,143,131
Average cost .......... 1.67% 3.69% 6.27%
Long-term!:
Amount .............. $ 238,467 § 249352 § 110,215
Average cost .......... 3.78% 4.83% 6.92%
Total issued:
Amount .............. $1,874,386  $2,006,043 $1,253,346
Averagecost .......... 2.21% 3.97% 6.34%
Repaid during the year:
Short-term!:
Amount .............. $1,620,644  $1,691,240  $1,106,956
Averagecost .......... 1.84% 4.22% 6.15%
Long-term!:
Amount .............. $ 175809 $ 196,610 $ 50,335
Average cost .......... 4.85% 6.03% 6.33%
Total repaid:
AMOUnt . ............. $1,796,453  $1,887,850  $1,157,291
Average cost .......... 2.34% 4.47% 6.14%
Outstanding at year-end:
Due within one year:
Netamount .......... $ 382,412 $§ 343,492 § 280,322
Cost2 ..o, 1.95% 2.81% 6.40%
Average term in months* . 5 4 5
Due after one year:
Netamount ........... $ 468,570 $ 419,975 $ 362,360
Cost? ... 5.14% 5.52% 6.46%
Average term in months* . 67 70 76
Total debt:
Netamount ........... $ 850,982 § 763,467 $ 642,682
CostB ... 4.81% 5.49% 6.47%
Average term in months* . 58 66 69

1 <Short-term” refers to the face amount of debt issued with an original term of one year or less.
“Long-term” refers to the face amount of debt issued with an original term greater than one year:

2 Cost includes the effects of currency, debt, and amortization of premiums, discounts, issuance costs, and
bedging results.

3 Cost includes the effects of currency, debt, and interest rate swaps and amortization of premiums,
discounts, issuance costs, and hedging results.

# Average term includes the effects of interest rate swaps.

We took advantage of opportunities to repurchase $8 billion
of debtin 2002 and $9 billion of debt in 2001 that was trading
at historically wide spreads to other fixed-income securities.
In addition, we continued to call significant levels of debt in
2002 as a result of the sharp decline in interest rates that
began in 2001. We called $174 billion in debt and interest
rate swaps in 2002 and $173 billion in 2001. We reissued
much of this debt with short-term maturities in anticipation
of the expected increase in mortgage liquidations. Interest

rate swaps lengthened the weighted-average final maturity of
our outstanding debt by 20 months at December 31, 2002,
down from 26 months at December 31, 2001. Table 15 shows
our adjusted effective short- and long-term debt at the end of
2002, 2001, and 2000.

TABLE 15: EFFECTIVE SHORT-TERM AND
LONG-TERM DEBT

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Outstanding at year-end:
Short-term!:
Netamount ............. $192,702 $138,986 $103,852
COSt e 1.52% 2.75% 6.13%
Weighted-average
maturity (in months) . .... 3 5 5
Percent of total debt
outstanding ........... 23% 18% 16%
Long-term?’:
Netamount ............. $651,827 $627,196 $543,964
[0 5.48% 5.96% 6.48%
Weighted-average
maturity (in months) .. ... 75 78 79
Percent of total debt
outstanding ........... 77% 82% 84%
Total:
Netamount® ............ $844,529 $766,182 $647,816
[0 4.81% 5.49% 6.47%
Weighted-average
maturity (in months) .. ... 58 66 69

1 Represents the redemption value of short-term debt adjusted to include the effect of derivative
instruments that replicate short-term, variable-rate debt securities and exclude short-term debt securities
that bave been economically converted into long-term debt funding through interest rate swaps.

2 Represents the redemption value of long-term debt adjusted to include the effect of short-to-long interest
rate swaps that economically convert short-term debt securities into long-term debt securities and exclude
long-term debt securities that have been economically converted into short-term funding through interest
rate swaps.

3 Represents the redemption value of outstanding debt at year-end. Excludes the effect of amortization of
premiums, discounts, issuance costs, and hedging results.

Our asset-liability management strategies, combined with
favorable market conditions for borrowing, had the following
effect on the debt portfolio:

¢ The average cost of outstanding debt during 2002
decreased to 5.38 percent from 6.00 percent in 2001.
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the cost of debt
outstanding was 4.81 percent and 5.49 percent,
respectively.

* Effective long-term debt, which takes into
consideration the effect of derivative instruments on
the maturity of long- and short-term debt, decreased
to 77 percent of total debt outstanding at December
31,2002 from 82 percent at year-end 2001.
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* The weighted-average maturity of effective long-
term, fixed-rate debt outstanding decreased to
75 months at year-end 2002 from 78 months at
year-end 2001.

¢ Effective long-term debt as a percentage of the net
mortgage portfolio decreased to 82 percent at the end
0f 2002 from 89 percent at the end of 2001.

* Option-embedded debt outstanding as a percentage
of the net mortgage portfolio temporarily increased
above historic levels to 75 percent at year-end 2002
versus 54 percent at the end of 2001. Table 16 presents
option-embedded debt instruments as a percentage of
our net mortgage portfolio for the past three years.
Option-based derivative instruments represented
42 percent and callable debt accounted for 58 percent
of the $601 billion in option-embedded debt
outstanding at December 31, 2002. In comparison,
option-based derivative instruments and callable debt
represented 38 percent and 62 percent, respectively, of
the $378 billion in option-embedded debt outstanding
at December 31, 2001.

TABLE 16: OPTION-EMBEDDED DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Dollars in billions 2002 2001 2000
Issued during the year . ......... $384 $286 $ 65
Outstanding atyear-end ........ 601 378 280
Percentage of total

net mortgage portfolio ...... 75% 54% 46%

Credit Guaranty Business

Core business earnings for our Credit Guaranty business
grew 16 percentin 2002 to $2.179 billion and 10 percent in
2001 to $1.878 billion. The increase in 2002 core business
earnings was driven primarily by a 23 percent increase in
guaranty fee income. Guaranty fee income for our Credit
Guaranty business increased largely due to 17 percent
growth in our average book of business and a .9 basis point
increase in the average fee rate to 18.9 basis points. The
average fee rate for our Credit Guaranty business includes
the effect of guaranty fee income allocated to the Credit
Guaranty business for managing the credit risk on mortgage-
related assets held by the Portfolio Investment business.

It therefore differs from our consolidated effective average
guaranty fee rate, which excludes guaranty fees on

Fannie Mae MBS held in our portfolio because these fees
are reported as interest income. Growth in earnings for the
Credit Guaranty business lagged growth in guaranty fee
income primarily due to increases in credit enhancement
expenses, higher administrative expenses, and an increase in
the effective tax rate. Administrative expenses increased

primarily due to higher compensation costs and expenses
related to re-engineering our core infrastructure systems
and relocating our primary data center.

Record expansion of residential mortgage debt outstanding
during 2002 and 2001, combined with our ability to offer
reliable, low-cost mortgage funds, fueled growth in our book
of business. The demand for housing was strong throughout
2002 and 2001, and borrowers also took advantage of the
low interest rate environment to refinance their mortgages
and extract equity from the appreciation in their homes.
Residential mortgage debt outstanding increased

12.4 percentin 2002 to $7.0 trillion, 10.3 percent in 2001

to $6.2 trillion, and 8.9 percent in 2000 to $5.6 trillion.
Refinancings represented 62 percent of total mortgage
originations in 2002 and 57 percent in 2001, compared with
19 percent in 2000. Growth in Fannie Mae’s mortgage credit
book of business outpaced growth in residential mortgage
debt outstanding during 2002, 2001, and 2000.

Earnings growth in 2001 for the Credit Guaranty business
was also driven by an increase in guaranty fees. Guaranty
fees rose 7 percent, stemming from 15 percent growth in

the average book of business that more than offseta 1.4 basis
point drop in the average fee rate to 18.0 basis points.
Despite significant growth in our mortgage credit book of
business and a softer economy, the Credit Guaranty business
was successful in reducing credit losses as a percentage of
Fannie Mae’s average book of business to .5 basis points in
2002, from .6 basis points in 2001 and .7 basis points in 2000.

In the third quarter of 2002, we announced increases in the
upfront price adjustment Fannie Mae charges on cash-out
refinance mortgages with loan-to-value (LT'V) ratios
between 70.01 and 85 percent that we plan to implement

in 2003. As a result of these increases, which will better
compensate us for the higher risk on these loans, the
upfront-price adjustments on cash-out refinance mortgages
we purchase or guarantee with UT'V ratios greater than

70 percent will range from 50 to 75 basis points.

In conjunction with these increases and to better align our
underwriting, pricing policy, and relative risk profile of
refinance transactions, we modified our loan purpose
definitions on refinance transactions. We now define cash-
out refinance transactions as a refinance transaction in which
the funds are used for purposes other than to pay off an
existing first mortgage lien, pay off any permissible
subordinate mortgage liens, and provide limited unrestricted
cash proceeds to the borrower. We expect the increased price
adjustments, which will be allocated to our Credit Guaranty
business, to modestly increase our future guaranty fees.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS

We enter into certain off-balance sheet financial
arrangements to facilitate our statutory purpose of
providing mortgage funds to the secondary market and
reduce Fannie Mae’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
These arrangements, which may involve elements of credit
and interest rate risk in excess of amounts recognized on
Fannie Mae’s balance sheet, primarily include guaranteed
MBS and other mortgage-related securities and
commitments to purchase mortgage assets or issue and
guarantee MBS. Following is an overview of our off-balance
sheet exposure related to these transactions, including a
description of how our MBS are created and our role

in the process.

Guaranteed MBS and Other Mortgage-Related
Securities

We issue MBS that are backed by mortgage loans from a
single lender or from multiple lenders, or that are transferred
from our held-for-sale mortgage portfolio. Single-lender
MBS are typically issued through lender swap transactions
whereby a lender exchanges pools of mortgages for MBS.
Multiple-lender MBS allow several lenders to pool
mortgages and receive, in return, MBS (referred to as
“Fannie Majors”) representing a proportionate share of a
larger pool. Lenders may retain the MBS or sell them to
other investors. When we issue MBS, we assume trustee
responsibilities. The loans underlying MBS are not our
assets. Therefore, we do not record them on our balance
sheet except when acquired and held in our mortgage
portfolio for investment purposes, nor do we record them
as liabilities. In some instances we buy mortgage loans or
mortgage-related securities and concurrently enter into

a forward sale commitment. We designate these loans as
held-for-sale when acquired, and we sell them from the
mortgage portfolio as MBS.

The Credit Guaranty business receives a guaranty fee for
assuming the credit risk and guaranteeing timely payment
of scheduled principal and interest to MBS investors and
investors in other mortgage-related securities. The guaranty
fee varies, depending on factors such as the risk profile of the

loans securitized as well as the level of credit risk we assume.
We are ultimately responsible for guaranteeing timely
payment of scheduled principal and interest to investors
whether or not we share primary default risk on loans
underlying outstanding MBS. We accrue a liability on

our balance sheet for our guaranty obligation based on the
probability that mortgages underlying the $1.029 trillion
of outstanding MBS will not perform according to
contractual terms. At December 31, 2002, we have accrued
a liability of $471 million for estimated losses on our
guaranty of outstanding MBS, compared with $598 million
at December 31, 2001. These amounts are a component of
the “Guaranty liability for MBS” on our balance sheet.

We issue REMICs backed by single-class MBS, SMBS,
Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae)
mortgage-related securities, other REMIC securities,

or whole loans that are not owned or guaranteed by

Fannie Mae. The Portfolio Investment business receives
transaction fees for structuring REMICs backed by MBS,
SMBS, Ginnie Mae securities, or existing Fannie Mae
REMIC classes. When we issue REMICs, we assume trustee
responsibilities. REMICs backed by guaranteed MBS do not
subject us to any additional mortgage credit risk. We are only
subject to additional credit risk if Fannie Mae guarantees
REMICs backed by whole loans owned by other entities or
private label securities. REMICs are not our assets except
when acquired and held in our mortgage portfolio for
investment purposes, nor do we record them as liabilities.

‘Table 17 summarizes issued and outstanding amounts for
guaranteed MBS and other mortgage-related securities,
including REMIC:s, for the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000.

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT



TABLE 17: GUARANTEED MBS AND OTHER MORTGAGE-RELATED SECURITIES!

Outstanding Issues
Held by Acquired Total
Dollars in millions Other Investors Total? by Others Issued?
2002 $1,029,456 $1,538,287 $478,260 $723,299
2000 o 858,867 1,290,351 344,739 525,321
2000 706,684 1,057,750 105,407 210,311

1 MBS may be resecuritized to back Fannie Megas, SMBS, or REMICs. With respect to those MBS, the amounts shown only include the principal amount of the MBS once. Amounts also include REMICs created from

whole loans not owned or guaranteed by Fannie Mae.

2 Includes $509 billion, $431 billion, and $351 billion at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, of MBS and other mortgage-related securities in Fannie Mae’s mortgage portfolio.
3 Total issued includes $245 billion, $181 billion, and $105 billion of MBS purchased by Fannie Mae in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Total issued excludes $16 billion, $3 billion, and $2 billion of MBS in 2002,

2001, and 2000, respectively, that Fannie Mae issued from loans in our portfolio.

Guaranteed MBS and other mortgage-related securities held
by investors other than Fannie Mae, which we refer to as
outstanding MBS, grew 20 percent to $1.029 trillion at
December 31,2002, from $859 billion at December 31, 2001.
REMIC:s that could subject Fannie Mae to additional credit
exposure totaled $35 billion at December 31, 2002 or

3 percent of outstanding MBS held by investors other than
Fannie Mae. Total MBS, which includes guaranteed MBS
and other mortgage-related securities held in our mortgage
portfolio, grew 19 percent to $1.538 trillion at year-end 2002
from $1.290 trillion at year-end 2001.

MBS issues acquired by investors other than Fannie Mae
increased $134 billion to $478 billion in 2002, while
liquidations of outstanding MBS increased $124 billion to
$324 billion. The increase in MBS issuances and liquidations
in 2002 was attributable to the decline in mortgage interest
rates during the year resulting in higher levels of mortgage
originations, including refinancings. Total MBS issues,
excluding MBS issued from Fannie Mae’s mortgage
portfolio, increased 38 percent to $723 billion in 2002 from
$525 billion in 2001, while total MBS liquidations grew

69 percent to $499 billion from $296 billion in 2001.

Total MBS
Dollars In Billions $1,029
$859
$707
$637 $679
$509
$431
$351
$282
$197
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

. MBS held in mortgage portfolio . Outstanding MBS held by other investors

REMIC issuances totaled $144 billion in 2002, compared
with $124 billion in 2001. Our REMIC issuances rebounded
in 2001 with the rest of the REMIC market and steadily
increased in 2002. The steeper yield curve made the REMIC
market more attractive, resulting in an increased demand for
REMIC:s. In addition, lower interest rates contributed to
higher MBS issuances and increased collateral available for
REMICs. The outstanding balance of REMICs (including
REMIC:s held in Fannie Mae’s portfolio) was $347 billion

at December 31, 2002, compared with $346 billion at
December 31, 2001.

Commitments

Fannie Mae enters into master delivery commitments on
either a mandatory or an optional basis. Under a mandatory
master commitment, a lender must either deliver loans under
an MBS contract at a specified guaranty fee rate or enter into
a mandatory portfolio commitment with the yield established
upon executing the portfolio commitment. We also accept
mandatory or lender-option delivery commitments not
issued pursuant to a master commitment. These
commitments may be for our mortgage portfolio or for
issuances of Fannie Mae MBS. The guaranty fee rate on
MBS lender-option commitments is specified in the contract,
while the yield for portfolio lender-optional commitments

is set at the date of conversion to a mandatory commitment.
We generally hedge the cost of funding future portfolio
purchases upon issuance of, or conversion to, a mandatory
commitment. Therefore, we largely mitigate the interest
rate risk relating to loans purchased pursuant to those
commitments. Our outstanding mandatory portfolio
commitments, excluding commitments under master
agreements, totaled $85 billion and $55 billion at

December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively.
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APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fannie Mae’s financial statements and reported results are
based on GAAP, which requires us in some cases to use
estimates and assumptions that may affect our reported
results and disclosures. We describe our significant
accounting policies in the Notes to Financial Statements
under Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.” Several of our accounting policies involve the use
of accounting estimates we consider to be critical because:
(1) they are likely to change from period to period as they
require significant management judgment and assumptions
about highly complex and uncertain matters; and (2) the use
of a different estimate or a change in estimate could have a
material impact on our reported results of operations or
financial condition. Our critical accounting estimates include
determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses
and guaranty liability for MBS; projecting mortgage
prepayments to calculate the amortization of deferred price
adjustments on mortgages and mortgage-related securities
held in portfolio and guaranteed mortgage-related securities;
and estimating the time value of our purchased options.
Management has specifically discussed the development and
selection of each critical accounting estimate with the Audit
Committee of Fannie Mae’s Board of Directors. Our Audit
Committee has also reviewed our disclosures in this MD&A
regarding Fannie Mae’s critical accounting estimates.

Allowance for Loan Losses and Guaranty Liability

for MBS

We establish an allowance for losses and guaranty liability for
MBS on single-family and multifamily loans in our book of
business. We maintain a separate allowance for loan losses
and guaranty liability for MBS. However, we use the same
methodology to determine the amounts of each because
the risks are the same. The allowance for loan losses is held
against loans in our mortgage portfolio. We also have a
guaranty liability for our guaranty of MBS held by us or by
other investors. Our allowance and guaranty liability for
MBS consist of the following key elements:

e Single-family: We evaluate various risk characteristics
such as product type, original loan-to-value ratio, and
loan age to determine the allowance and guaranty
liability for single-family assets. We estimate defaults
for each risk characteristic based on historical
experience and apply a historical severity to each risk
category in accordance with Financial Accounting

Standard No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies (FAS 5).

Severity refers to the amount of loss suffered on a
default relative to the unpaid principal balance of the
loan. In addition, we apply Financial Accounting
Standard No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for
Impairment of a Loan (FAS 114), to determine the
amount of impairment on specific loans that have been
restructured. We charge-off single-family loans when
we foreclose on the loans.

*  Multifamily: We determine the multifamily allowance
and guaranty liability by separately evaluating loans
that are impaired and all other loans. Impaired loans
consist of loans that are not performing according to
their original contractual terms. For loans that we
consider impaired, we apply FAS 114 to estimate the
amount of impairment. For all other loans, we apply
FAS 5 to establish an allowance and guaranty liability
by rating each loan not individually evaluated for
impairment and segmenting the loan into one of the
main risk categories we use to monitor the multifamily
portfolio. We then apply historical default rates,
adjusted for current conditions, and a corresponding
severity to the loans in each segment to estimate the
probable loss amount at each balance sheet date.

We believe the accounting estimate related to our allowance
for loan losses and guaranty liability for MBS is a “critical
accounting estimate” because it requires us to make
significant judgments about probable future losses in our
book of business as of the balance sheet date based on
assumptions that are uncertain. We may have to increase or
decrease the size of our overall allowance for loan losses and
guaranty liability based on changes in delinquency levels,
loss experience, economic conditions in areas of geographic
concentration, and profile of mortgage characteristics.
Different assumptions about default rates, severity,
counterparty risk, and other factors that we could use in
estimating our allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability
could have a material effect on our results of operations.

We include the allowance for loan losses in the balance sheet
under “Mortgage portfolio, net.” We include the guaranty
liability for estimated losses on MBS held by us or other
investors as a liability under “Guaranty liability for MBS.”
"Table 18 shows the amounts of these components and
summarizes the changes for the years 1998 to 2002.

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT



TABLE 18: ALLOWANCE FOR LOAN LOSSES AND GUARANTY LIABILITY FOR MBS

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Allowance for loan losses!:
Beginning balance ... .......o..ii i $ 48 $ 51 $ 56 $ 79 $131
Provision . ... 44 7 9 (5) (16)
Charge-offs? .. ... (13) (10) (14) (18) (36)
Endingbalance .. .. ....o.iuini i $ 79 $ 48 $ 51 $ 56 $ 79
Guaranty liability for MBS!:
Beginning balance .......... . $755 $755 $745 $720 $668
Provision ... ... 84 87 113 156 261
Charge-offs .. ... .. . (110) 87) (103) (131) (209)
Endingbalance ...... ... .. $729 $755 $755 $745 $720
Combined allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability for MBS?:
Beginningbalance ........ ... . $803 $806 $801 $799 $799
Provision . ... .. 128 94 122 151 245
Charge-offs? ... (123) 97) (117) (149) (245)
Ending balance . ........ouiuiniii e $808 $803 $806 $801 $799
Balance at end of each period attributable to*:
Single-family . ... ... $641 $636 $639 $634 $632
Multifamily ... 167 167 167 167 167
$808 $803 $806 $801 $799
Percent of allowance and guaranty liability in each category
to related total book of business*:
Single-family ... . . .037% 042% 051% .055% .063%
Multifamily ... 211 247 313 359 412
.044% .051% .061% .067% .076%
Charge-offs?:
Single-family .. ... $104 $ 96 $114 $145 $237
Multifamily ... 19 1 3 4 8
$123 $ 97 $117 $149 $245
Charge-offs as a percentage of average book of business ........................... .007% .007% .009% .013% .026%
Credit losses as a percentage of average book of business .......................... .005 .006 .007 011 .027

T In 2002, we reclassified from our “Allowance for loan losses” to a “Guaranty liability for MBS” the amount associated with the guaranty obligation for MBS that we own. Prior period balances, the provision for losses,

and charge-off amounts have been reclassified to reflect the current year’s presentation.

2 Charge-offs exclude $1 million in 2002 and $1 million in 1998 on charge-offs related to foreclosed Federal Housing Administration loans that are reported in the balance sheet under “Acquired property and foreclosure

claims, net.”

3 The total excludes $2 million at year-end 2002 and $3 million at the end of 2001, 2000, 1999, and 1998 related to foreclosed Federal Housing Administration loans that are reported in the balance sheet under

“Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net.”
# Represents ratio of allowance and guaranty liability balance by loan type to book of business by loan type.

Over the past five years, our combined allowance for loan
losses and guaranty liability for MBS has remained relatively
stable although our book of business has expanded. This
trend reflects improvements in the credit performance of
our book of business. Fannie Mae’s allowance and guaranty
liability as a percentage of the book of business has declined
to .04 percentin 2002, from .05 percent in 2001 and

.06 percent in 2000, based on positive credit trends. Over the
last three years, our credit loss ratio has declined in each year
to .5 basis points in 2002, from .6 basis points in 2001, and

.7 basis points in 2000. We recorded a provision for losses of
$128 million, $94 million, and $122 million, respectively, in

2002, 2001, and 2000. Our provision represented between

1 and 2 percent of our pre-tax reported income and core
business earnings in each of the past three years.
Management believes the combined balance of our allowance
for loan losses and guaranty liability for MBS are adequate to
absorb losses inherent in Fannie Mae’s book of business.

Deferred Price Adjustments

When Fannie Mae buys MBS, loans, or mortgage-related
securities, we may not pay the seller the exact amount of the
unpaid principal balance (UPB). If we pay more than the
UPB and purchase the mortgage assets at a premium, the
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premium reduces the yield we recognize on the assets below to our guaranty fees affects guaranty fee income, which
the coupon amount. If we pay less than the UPB and affects the results of our Credit Guaranty business.
purchase the mortgage assets at a discount, the discount
increases the yield above the coupon amount. In addition,

we may charge an upfront payment in lieu of a higher
guaranty fee for certain loan types that have higher credit
risk. To facilitate the pooling of mortgages into a Fannie Mae
MBS, we also may adjust the monthly MBS guaranty fee rate

We apply the interest method to amortize the premiums,
discounts, and other purchase price adjustments into income.
We estimate future mortgage prepayments to calculate the
constant effective yield necessary to apply the interest
method. We believe the accounting estimates related to
. . . deferred premium/discount and deferred guaranty fees are

that we receive by either negotiating an upfront cash o 3 ) N -

. « ” critical accounting estimates” because they require us to
disbursement to the lender (a “buy-up”) or an upfront cash

receipt from the lender (a “buydown”) when the MBS is make significant judgments and assumptions about borrower

prepayment patterns in various interest rate environments
that involve a significant degree of uncertainty. On a periodic
basis, we evaluate whether we should change the estimated
prepayment rates used in the amortization calculation. We

formed. The upfront payment results in an adjustment to the
monthly guaranty fee so that the coupons on MBS are always
in increments of whole or half interest rates, which are more

easily traded. . .

reassess our estimate of the sensitivity of prepayments to
We recognize the impact of premiums, discounts, and other changes in interest rates and compare actual prepayments
purchase price adjustments over the estimated life of the versus anticipated prepayments. If changes are necessary, we
purchased assets as an adjustment to income in accordance recalculate the constant effective yield and adjust net interest
with Financial Accounting Standard No. 91, Accounting for income or guaranty fee income for the amount of premiums,
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or discounts, and other purchase price adjustments that would
Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases (FAS 91). have been recorded if we had applied the new effective yield
We amortize deferred premium and discount into interest since acquisition of the mortgage assets or inception of a
income, which affects the results of our Portfolio Investment guaranty. Table 19 presents an analysis of the effect of our

business. Amortization of deferred price adjustments relating deferred price adjustments in 2002, 2001, and 2000.

TABLE 19: DEFERRED PRICE ADJUSTMENTS

2002 2001 2000
Deferred Deferred Deferred
Premium/ Deferred Premium/ Deferred Premium/ Deferred

Dollars in millions (Discount) Guaranty Fees (Discount) Guaranty Fees (Discount) Guaranty Fees
Unamortized premium (discount) and deferred price

adjustments, netl ... $472 $(1,454) $(2,104) $(382) $(2,520) $305
Increase (decrease) in net interest income/guaranty fee income

from net amortization? . ... ..........eeeeeeeieeeeeaan.. 71 104 358 (87) 207 (22)
Percentage effect on reported netincome’ ............... ... ... 1% 1% 4% 1% 3% —%
Percentage effect on net interest income/guaranty fee income of 4:

100 basis point increase in netinterestrates . . ............... (.3) — — 1 — 8

50 basis point increase in net interest rates ................... — — — — — —
Percentage effect on net interest income/guaranty fee income of :

50 basis point decrease in net interestrates . . ................ 1.0 .8 3 (.3) 1.0 6.1)

100 basis point decrease in netinterestrates .................. 2.4 3.1 2.2 2.7) 1.9 9.9)
T Includes unamortized premium (discount) and deferred price adj for available-for-sale and held-t urity mortgage-related securities and loans held-for-investment .

2 Amortization of premium/discount amounts is recorded in net interest income, while amortization of deferred price adjustments related to guaranty fees is recorded in guaranty fee income.
3 Reflects after-tax effects on reported net income from the change in net amortization based on the applicable federal income tax rate of 35 percent.

# Calculated based on i change in interest rates.

Deferred Premium/Discount on a higher than average proportion of our mortgage

As shown in Table 19, Fannie Mae moved to a net premium purchases during the year. Net interest income recognized
position of $472 million in our mortgage portfolio at the end from the amortization of deferred price adjustments related to
0f 2002 from a net discount position of $2.104 billion at year- our mortgage portfolio increased our reported net income by
end 2001 and $2.520 billion at year-end 2000. Because of 1 percent in 2002, 4 percent in 2001, and 3 percent in 2000.

declining interest rates throughout 2002, we paid premiums
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Table 19 discloses the estimated adjustments that we would
have to make to our net interest income based on 50 and
100 basis point instantaneous changes in interest rates at
year-end beyond the levels assumed in our base prepayment
rate models. Our prepayment sensitivity analysis indicates
thata 100 basis point instantaneous increase in interest rates
beyond the levels assumed in base prepayment rate models
would have resulted in less than a .4 percent decrease in net
interest income in 2002, 2001, and 2000. We estimate that
a 100 basis point decrease in interest rates at December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000 would have increased our net interest
income in each of those years by approximately 2 percent.

The effect of declines in interest rates has a larger impact
on netinterest income than interest rate increases because
declines in interest rates result in prepayments that lower
the weighted-average coupon of our mortgage assets more
significantly than instantaneous increases in interest rates
raise the weighted-average coupon of our mortgage assets.
As a result, the adjustment of net interest income from a
downward shift in interest rates would be larger than the
adjustment of net interest income from a rising shift in
interest rates. Despite being in a net premium position at
year-end 2002, an instantaneous decrease in interest rates
would have a positive impact on 2002 net interest income
largely because those mortgage assets in a net premium
position have a lower average coupon than those mortgage
assets in a net discount position. Consequently, the estimated
downward adjustment of 2002 net interest income for the
amortization of the premium after an instantaneous decline
in interest rates would be lower than the estimated upward
adjustment of 2002 net interest income for the amortization
of the discount.

"This sensitivity analysis is only one component of

Fannie Mae’s overall net interest income at risk assessment.
It does not include the effect of new business or the impact
of changes in interest rates on our debt costs or net cash flows
related to our derivatives contracts. A comprehensive analysis
of the impact of interest rate changes on projected net
interest income is presented in “MD&A—Risk
Management—Interest Rate Risk Management—Net
Interest Income at Risk.”

Deferred Guaranty Fees

Our net discount position on deferred guaranty fee price
adjustments increased to $1.454 billion at year-end 2002
from a net discount position of $382 million at year-end 2001
and a net premium position of $305 million at year-end 2000.
A net discount position reflects that the combined up-front
payments we collect in lieu of higher guaranty fees on more
risky loans and the up-front payments we receive from

lenders in exchange for a lower guaranty fee rate over time
exceed the up-front payments we make to lenders in
exchange for a higher guaranty fee rate over time. A net
premium position indicates that our upfront payments to
lenders exceed the upfront fees collected from lenders. The
significant increase in our net discount position on deferred
guaranty fees in 2002 was largely attributable to an increase
in up-front payments collected on loans with higher credit
risk.

Amortization of deferred guaranty fee adjustments increased
guaranty fee income by $104 million in 2002 (1 percent of
reported net income) and reduced guaranty fee income by
$87 million in 2001 (1 percent of reported net income) and
$22 million in 2000 (less than 1 percent of reported net
income). The upward adjustment to guaranty fee income in
2002 was primarily related to accelerating the recognition of
discount during the second half of 2002 as interest rates fell
to historically low levels and prepayments accelerated. In
addition, we made enhancements in 2002 to better reflect the
impact of interest rates on prepayment behavior and
guaranty fee income that accelerated the recognition of
discount.

Our prepayment sensitivity analysis at the end of each year
for deferred guaranty fees indicates thata 100 basis point
instantaneous increase in interest rates beyond the levels
assumed in base prepayment rate models at year-end would
have less than a 1 percent upward effect on guaranty fee
income in 2002, 2001, and 2000. A 100 basis point
instantaneous decrease in interest rates at year-end would
have increased our guaranty fee income by approximately

3 percent in 2002 and reduced our guaranty fee income by
approximately 3 percent and 10 percentin 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The growth and age of the net discount position
in 2002 is the primary driver of the positive impact on
guaranty fee income from an instantaneous 100 basis point
decrease in interest rates.

Time Value of Purchased Options

Fannie Mae issues various types of debt to finance the
acquisition of mortgages. We typically use derivative
instruments to supplement our issuance of debt in the capital
markets and hedge against the effect of fluctuations in
interest rates on our debt costs to preserve our net interest
margin. With the adoption of FAS 133, we began recording
all derivatives on our balance sheet at estimated fair value.
We record changes in the fair value of derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges in accumulated other comprehensive
income (AOCI). We recognize in our reported earnings
changes in the fair value of the time value associated with
purchased options and changes in the fair value of derivatives
designated as fair value hedges.
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Fannie Mae’s purchased options portfolio currently includes
swaptions and caps, which are discussed in more detail under
“MD&A—Risk Management—Interest Rate Risk
Management—Derivative Instruments.” The total fair value
for purchased options consists of the time value plus the
intrinsic value. Under FAS 133, the mark-to-market on the
time value component of our purchased options flows
through our reported earnings. The time value of purchased
options will vary from period to period with changes in
interest rates, expected interest rate volatility, and derivative
activity. However, the total expense included in earnings over
the original expected life of an option will generally equal the
initial option premium paid. Since adopting FAS 133, we
have reported significant fluctuations in our reported net
income because of unrealized fluctuations in the estimated
time value of purchased options. As a result of the declining
interest rate environment in 2002 and the increase in the
notional value of our purchased options, we recorded

$4.545 billion in purchased options expense in 2002,
compared with $37 million in 2001.

Our methodology for valuing purchased options is based
on commonly used market conventions and assumptions.
We obtain quoted market prices for a benchmark set of
interest rate options, which include caps and swaptions.
Based on these quoted market prices, we apply our valuation
model, which effectively utilizes these prices to estimate the
fair value of our purchased options. We then allocate the
fair value of our purchased options into the time value

and intrinsic value components. Because the benchmark
securities are only a subset of the purchased options that we
hold, the estimation of time value is not exact and can vary
depending on the market source and methodology used.
"This variation could have a material effect on our reported
netincome. Hence, we believe our estimate of the time
value component of purchased options is a “critical
accounting estimate.”

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we refined our
methodology for estimating the initial time value of interest
rate caps at the date of purchase. Under our previous
valuation method, we treated the entire premium paid on
purchased “at-the-money” caps as time value with no
allocation to intrinsic value. We now allocate the purchase
price to reflect the value of individual caplets, some of which
are above the strike rate of the cap. This approach, which is
more consistent with our estimation of time value subsequent
to the initial purchase date, results in a higher intrinsic value
and lower time value at the date of purchase. We adopted this
preferred valuation method prospectively on caps purchased
after third quarter 2002, which resulted in a $282 million
pre-tax reduction in our 2002 purchased options expense.
The change has no effect on the total expense that will be
recorded in our income statement over the life of our caps
and no effect on our core business earnings.

"To gauge the potential sensitivity of changes in the estimated
time value of our purchased options, we recalculated our
estimates based on plus and minus changes of 5 percent and
10 percent in the time value portion of our outstanding
purchased options at December 31, 2002 and 2001. An
increase in the estimated time value of our purchased options
would reduce our purchased options expense and increase
our reported net income and stockholders’ equity, while

a decrease in the estimated time value would increase
purchased options expense and reduce our reported net
income and stockholders’ equity. These changes are
generally greater than changes we have observed historically
in our valuation process. Table 20 shows the potential effect
on our 2002 and 2001 reported results from these changes in
time value. There would be no effect on our 2000 results as

we adopted FAS 133 on January 1, 2001.

TABLE 20: IMPACT OF CHANGES IN THE TIME VALUE OF PURCHASED OPTIONS

Change in Fair Value Adjustment

Percentage of
Reported Net Income!

Percentage of Total
Stockholders’ Equity

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
10% change in time value ........... $543 $493 NA 8% 5% NA 2% 2% NA
5% change in time value ............ 271 246 NA 4 3 NA 1 1 NA

! Reflects after-tax effect of time value adjustment based on applicable federal income tax rate of 35 percent.

Table 20 reveals that a plus or minus change of 10 percent in
the time value portion of our purchased options at December
31,2002 and 2001 would change our reported net income by
8 percentand 5 percent, respectively. A plus or minus
change of 5 percent in the time value portion of our

purchased options at December 31, 2002 and 2001 would
change our reported net income by approximately 4 percent
and 3 percent, respectively. Changing the time value portion
of our purchased options by 10 percent or 5 percent would
change our total stockholders’ equity by approximately
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2 percent or 1 percent, respectively, at December 31,2002
and 2001. Our core business earnings results would not be
affected by these estimates because we amortize purchased
options premiums on a straight-line basis over the original
expected life of the option in measuring core business
earnings and do not include mark-to-market changes in
the fair value of purchased options.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Fannie Mae is subject to three major areas of risk: interest
rate risk, credit risk, and operations risk. Active management
of these risks is an essential part of our operations and a key
determinant of our ability to maintain steady earnings
growth. The following discussion highlights the strategies
we use to manage these three risks.

Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest rate risk is the risk of loss to future earnings or
long-term value that may result from changes in interest
rates. Our interest rate risk is concentrated primarily in our
mortgage portfolio where nearly 90 percent of our mortgages
are intermediate-term or long-term, fixed-rate loans that
borrowers have the option to prepay at any time without
penalty. We are exposed to interest rate risk because the cash
flows of our mortgage assets and the liabilities that fund them
are not perfectly matched through time and across all
possible interest rate scenarios. The cash flows from our
mortgage assets are highly sensitive to changes in interest
rates because of the borrower’s prepayment option. As
interest rates decrease, borrowers are more likely to refinance
fixed-rate mortgages, resulting in increased prepayments and
mortgage cash flows that are received earlier than expected.
Replacing the higher-rate loans that prepay with lower-rate
loans has the potential of reducing our interest spread unless
we are able to also reduce our debt cost. Conversely, an
increase in interest rates may result in slower than expected
prepayments and mortgage cash flows that are received later
than expected. In this case, we have the risk that our debt may
reprice faster than our mortgage assets and at a higher cost,
which could also reduce our interest spread. The objective

of our interest rate risk management process is to maintain
long-term value through a low variability of future earnings
due to changes in interest rates, while preserving stable
earnings growth and a competitive return on equity

over time.

The Board of Directors oversees interest rate risk
management through the adoption of corporate goals and
objectives and the review of regular reports on performance
against them. Senior management is responsible for ensuring
that appropriate long-term strategies are in place to achieve

the goals and objectives. Management establishes reference
points for the key performance measures that we use to signal
material changes in risk and to assist in determining whether
we should adjust portfolio strategy to achieve long-term
objectives. Management regularly reports these measures
and reference points to the Board of Directors.

The Portfolio Investment Committee, which includes our
senior mortgage portfolio managers, meets weekly and
reviews current financial market conditions, portfolio risk
measures, and performance targets. The Committee
develops and monitors near-term strategies and the
portfolio’s standing relative to its long-term objectives.
The results of Portfolio Investment Committee meetings
are reported to the weekly Asset and Liability Management
Committee, which is comprised of senior management and
includes our Chief Executive Officer.

Fannie Mae’s overall objective in managing interest rate risk is to
deliver consistent net interest income growth and target returns on
capital over a wide range of interest rate environments. Central
elements of our approach to managing interest rate risk include: (1)
funding assets by issuing liabilities that bave similar cash flow patterns
through time and in different interest rate environments, (2) regularly
assessing the portfolio’s exposure to changes in interest rates using a
diverse set of analyses and measures, and (3) setting parameters for
rebalancing actions to belp attain corporate objectives.

1. Funding mortgage assets with liabilities that have
similar cash flow patterns through time and in different
interest rate environments.

When we purchase mortgages we attempt to match the
initial estimated life, or duration, of our liabilities to our
assets within a range to achieve a stable and competitive
netinterest margin. We issue a mix of debt securities across
a broad spectrum of final maturities to achieve the desired
liability durations. Because the estimated lives of mortgage
assets change as interest rates change, we frequently issue
callable debt or use derivatives to alter the estimated life of
our liabilities to partially match the expected change in
duration of our mortgage assets. The duration of callable
debt, like that of a mortgage, shortens when interest rates
decrease and lengthens when interest rates increase. If
interest rates decrease, we are likely to call debt that carries
an interest rate higher than the current market. We use
interest rate swaps and other derivatives with embedded
interest rate options to achieve our desired liability
structure and to better match both the duration and
prepayment risk of our mortgage assets. These derivatives,
coupled with appropriate debt securities, are close
substitutes for callable and noncallable debt. Through the
use of these derivatives, we can synthetically create debt
with cash flows similar to our mortgage assets.
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2. Regularly assessing the portfolio’s exposure to changes in
interest rates using a diverse set of analyses and measures.

Interest Rate Risk Measurement

We utilize a wide range of risk measures and analyses to
manage the interest rate risk inherent in the mortgage
portfolio. We categorize these risk measures and analyses
into three types: ongoing business risk measures and
analyses, run-off measures of the existing portfolio, and
stress test scenarios. The combination of ongoing business
and run-off risk measures and analyses present a
comprehensive picture of Fannie Mae’s current risk
position that we use for day-to-day risk management
decisions. Stress test scenarios provide information on
our risk to more extreme but lower probability events.

Our ongoing business risk measures and analyses include
net interest income at risk and repricing gap analyses. We
base net interest income at risk measures on the mortgage
portfolio as of a certain date plus projections of future
business activity. Future business activity includes
projected mortgage purchases and funding actions.
Management believes that ongoing business risk measures
and analyses provide a better perspective on the interest
rate risk we face as a continuing business and a more
comprehensive depiction of our risk profile than run-off
measures. However, they contain more assumption risk
due to the inherent uncertainty in projecting future
business activity.

Run-off measures of interest rate risk include duration,
convexity, and repricing gaps. We base run-oft measures
on the mortgage portfolio as of a certain date without
incorporating future business activity. Run-off measures
provide an assessment of the interest rate risk of the
existing portfolio without the assumption risk inherent in
projecting future business activity. However, we believe it
is important to manage interest rate risk in the context of
ongoing business activity because future business is highly
probable and has a pronounced effect on our interest rate
risk profile.

Stress test scenarios include extreme movements in risk
factors on both ongoing business and run-off measures of
risk. We periodically measure and analyze the effects that
extreme movements in the level of interest rates and the
slope of the yield curve would have on the company’s risk
position. In addition, we evaluate stress scenarios that
include severe changes in expected prepayment speeds and
the level of interest rate volatility. While stress testing is an
integral part of our risk management process, the ongoing
business and run-off measures of risk are the primary
inputs in daily risk management decisions.

Many of our projections of mortgage cash flows in our
interest rate risk measures depend on our proprietary
prepayment models. While we are highly confident in

the quality of these models, we recognize the historical
patterns that serve as input for our models may not
continue in the future. The models contain many
assumptions, including those regarding borrower behavior
in certain interest rate environments and borrower
relocation rates. Other assumptions such as projections of
interest rates, shape of the yield curve, and interest rate
volatility are also critical components to our interest rate
risk measures. We maintain a research program to
constantly evaluate, update, and enhance these
assumptions, models, and analytical tools as appropriate to
reflect management’s best assessment of the environment.

e Net Interest Income at Risk

Netinterest income at risk is our primary ongoing business
measure of interest rate risk. Net interest income at risk
measures the projected impact of changes in the level of
interest rates and the shape of the yield curve on the
mortgage portfolio’s expected or “base” core net interest
income over the immediate future one- and four-year
periods. To determine our base core net interest income,
we estimate core net interest income over a wide range of
interest rate environments using stochastic interest rate
simulations. Stochastic interest rate simulations are a
widely used statistical method to estimate the path and
pattern of interest rates. Our stochastic simulations
produce probability distributions of future interest rates
based on expected interest rate volatility and are based on
proprietary interest rate models. We generate several
hundred interest rate paths distributed around the current
Fannie Mae yield curve from these simulations. The
Fannie Mae yield curve represents market assumptions
regarding our expected cost of funds over a variety of
maturities and takes into account the risk premium on our
debtrelative to benchmark interest rates. We project core
net interest income for four years along each path based on
the characteristics of the current mortgage portfolio and
projected future business activity. The expected or “base”
core net interest income is calculated based on the average
core net interest income across all simulation paths and
serves as the basis for determining our interest rate risk
profile. Our projections of future business activity used

in these simulations are reported to senior management
and our Board of Directors and provide the basis for
Fannie Mae’s current earnings forecasts.

We determine the amount of net interest income at risk by
assuming a sudden change or shock to the current yield
curve and repeating the simulation. We regularly evaluate
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a wide range of instantaneous shocks to both the level and
shape of the yield curve and create the net interest income
atrisk profile by comparing the percentage change in core
netinterest income between each shocked simulation and
the base simulation. Our net interest income at risk
disclosures, which we report to the public on a monthly
basis, represent the extent to which our core net interest
income over the next one-year and four-year periods is at
risk due to a plus or minus 50 basis point parallel change
in the current Fannie Mae yield curve and from a 25 basis
point change in the slope of Fannie Mae’s yield curve.

We selected these shocks for our monthly disclosure
because they capture approximately 95 percent of
historical changes in interest rates over a one-month
reporting period.

® Duration Gap

"The portfolio duration gap is a run-off measure of interest
rate risk. The duration gap is the difference between the
estimated durations of portfolio assets and liabilities.
Duration gap summarizes the extent to which estimated
cash flows for assets and liabilities are matched, on average,
over time and across interest rate scenarios. A positive
duration gap signals a greater exposure to rising interest
rates because it indicates that the duration of our assets
exceeds the duration of our liabilities. A negative duration
gap signals a greater exposure to declining interest rates
because the duration of our assets is less than the duration
of our liabilities. We apply the same interest rate process,
prepayment models, and volatility assumptions used in our
net interest income at risk measure to generate the
portfolio duration gap. The duration gap reflects the
current mortgage portfolio, including priced asset and
debt commitments. We do not incorporate projected
future business activity or nonmortgage investments

into our duration gap measure.

We regularly evaluate the sensitivity of the duration gap
over a wide range of instantaneous changes to both the
level and shape of the yield curve. The duration gap
provides a relatively concise and simple measure of the
interest rate risk inherent in the existing mortgage
portfolio, butitis not directly linked to expected future
earnings performance. Future business activity, which is
not reflected in the duration gap, can have a significant
effect even over a very short horizon. We disclose on a
monthly basis our duration gap at the end of each month
along with our net interest income at risk, which together
we believe provide a more informative profile of our overall
interest rate risk position than either measure alone.

3. Setting the parameters for rebalancing actions to
belp attain corporate objectives.

Management develops rebalancing actions based on a
number of factors that include the relative standing of
both net interest income at risk and duration gap, as well
as analyses based on additional risk measures and current
market activities and conditions. We establish internal
reference points, or indicators, for our risk measures to
signal when we should re-examine the risk profile of our
assets. Our reference points are set by Fannie Mae’s
management, not by any external or regulatory
requirement, to provide a tool for determining when and
to what extent we should consider rebalancing actions.
These reference points do not represent absolute risk
limits. They are generally consistent with levels of interest
rate risk that we project will not result in significant
variability in future earnings and long-term value.

As these risk measures begin to move beyond our
internally established reference points, we consider actions
to bring them within our preferred ranges in a manner that
is consistent with achieving Fannie Mae’s earnings
objectives. As a risk measure moves further outside our
preferred range, we place significantly greater emphasis on
reducing our risk exposure and less emphasis on earnings
objectives. We have not established a specific time horizon
over which rebalancing actions must take place.

Risk Management Results

2002 was a year of significant interest rate movements
coupled with unprecedented levels of interest rate volatility.
Fannie Mae’s disciplined risk management process was
critical to successfully meeting the company’s interest rate
risk objectives throughout this challenging environment.
During the first half of 2002, our interest rate risk measures
were within our reference points, and no significant
rebalancing actions were considered necessary. Between June
and September 2002, interest rates declined significantly and
our primary risk measures began to move outside of our
preferred range. As these risk measures approached our
internally established reference points, we developed
strategies to moderately rebalance the portfolio. As rates
continued to fall, we increased the pace of rebalancing
significantly. After our interest rate risk measures reached
peak levels in August 2002, we continued to aggressively
rebalance to bring our risk measures within our established
reference points. We utilized a wide range of tools to execute
this rebalancing, including increased mortgage purchases,
reduced fixed-rate debtissuances, debt repurchases, and
derivative transactions.
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e NetInterest Income at Risk

At December 31, 2002, our one-year and four-year net
interest income at risk measures for a 50 basis point change
across the Fannie Mae yield curve were .6 percent and

1.6 percent, respectively, compared with 5.1 percent and
4.5 percent, respectively, at December 31, 2001. The one-
year and four-year net interest income at risk measures for
a 25 basis point change in the slope of the Fannie Mae yield
curve were 4.7 percent and 6.6 percent, respectively,
compared with 2.4 percent and 4.3 percent, respectively,

at December 31, 2001.

The following graphs show the monthly net interest income
atrisk for each of the last three years under both a 50 basis
point change across the Fannie Mae yield curve and a 25 basis
point change in the slope of the Fannie Mae yield curve.
Compared to 2001 and 2000, the net interest income at risk
was at somewhat higher levels and more variable during
2002. The results for 2002 reflect the extreme low level of
interest rates as well as unprecedented levels of interest rate
volatility related to uncertainty about the economic outlook.

Mortgage Portfolio Net Interest Income at Risk — 50 Basis Point Level Shock
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Table 21 presents our net interest income at risk based on an
instantaneous 100 basis point increase and a 50 basis point
decrease in interest rates. The risk measure is an extension of
our voluntary monthly net interest income at risk disclosure,
and we use the same data, assumptions, and methodology.
We consider our net interest income at risk at December 31,
2002 to be low as our exposure to a 100 basis point
instantaneous increase in interest rates was estimated not to
exceed 4 percent and 6 percent over a 1-year and 4-year
horizon, respectively, and our exposure to a 50 basis point
instantaneous decrease in rates was estimated not to exceed
more than 1 percent over a 1-year and 4-year horizon. In

TABLE 21: NET INTEREST INCOME AT RISK

comparison, we had what we consider to be a moderate level
of risk exposure at December 31, 2001 to increasing rates and
a benefit from decreasing rates. The changes in the profile of
net interest income at risk from December 31, 2001 to
December 31, 2002 were driven by changes in the level of
interest rates and shape of the yield curve, changes in the
composition of the portfolio, and changes in forecast
assumptions. Actual portfolio net interest income may

differ from these estimates because of specific interest rate
movements, changing business conditions, changing
prepayments, and management actions.

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001

1-Year Portfolio 4-Year Portfolio 1-Year Portfolio 4-Year Portfolio
Net Interest NetInterest NetInterest NetInterest
Income at Risk Income at Risk IncomeatRisk IncomeatRisk
Assuming a 100 basis point increase in interestrates ................ 4% 6% 10% 10%
Assuming a 50 basis point decrease in interestrates .. ............. 1 — 4 2)

®  Duration Gap

Fannie Mae’s duration gap was minus 5 months at December
31,2002, versus plus 5 months at December 31, 2001. The
negative shift in our duration gap during 2002 was primarily
the result of historically low interest rates that resulted in a
surge in expected refinancings. The significant increase in
our expectation of mortgage prepayments caused the
durations of our mortgages to shorten by more than the
durations of our debt during 2002. Our monthly duration
gap turned sharply negative during the year, falling to minus
14 months at the end of August 2002 before narrowing to
minus 5 months by the end of the year. The movement in
the duration gap during 2002 was not unusual given our
historical experience during previous refinance waves or
periods of significant interest rate volatility. Our duration
gap also moved significantly during each of the prior major
refinancing waves in 2001, 1998, and 1993. Over the past
decade, Fannie Mae’s duration gap has been wider than

plus or minus 6 months approximately one-third of the time.
During 2002, our monthly duration gap was wider than plus
or minus 6 months three times.

Although periods of heavy refinancing are typically
associated with somewhat higher risk levels, these periods
historically have provided positive opportunities for our
portfolio. Through our normal business activities of buying
mortgages and issuing debt, we historically have been able to
bring our duration gap measure within our target range in a
manner and pace that does not put undue demands on the

Duration Gap
In Months

7
| 5

3 3

market. Opportunities to add
new business during the latter
half of 2002 developed at
about the pace we anticipated
in a low rate environment.
The increased business
activity fueled our purchase
of long-term, fixed-rate
mortgages, which helped to
lengthen the duration of our
-5 mortgage assets and offset our
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 negative duration gap. In
addition, we took a number of specific rebalancing actions in
the latter half of 2002 to reduce our negative duration gap,

0

including funding our longer duration mortgage purchases
with shorter-term debt, repurchasing long-term outstanding
debt, terminating certain long-term pay-fixed interest rate
swaps, and entering into option-based derivatives
transactions. If interest rates increase, some of our
rebalancing actions could result in lower portfolio returns
than would have occurred without the rebalancing.
However, our objective is to maintain an interest rate risk
profile that is balanced to protect us against both increases
and decreases in interest rates. Because managing our
duration gap through rebalancing actions is a routine part of
our interest rate risk management strategy, we do not expect
these actions to have a material adverse effect on our future
earnings objectives.
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The graph below shows Fannie Mae’s monthly duration gap compared with the yield on Fannie Mae 10-year debt for the last

three years.

Mortgage Portfolio Duration Gap vs. 10-Year Fannie Mae Debt
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¢ Convexity

Convexity measures are commonly used as a supplement to
duration measures to reflect the degree to which durations
are likely to change in response to movements in interest
rates. Convexity provides us with information on how
quickly and by how much the portfolio’s duration gap may
change in different interest rate environments. Our primary
strategy for managing convexity risk is to either issue callable
debt or purchase interest-rate derivatives with embedded
options. We may also change the mix of assets we purchase to
manage convexity risk. For example, ARMs, shorter-term
fixed rate mortgages, and some seasoned loans have less
prepayment risk relative to new 30-year fixed rate mortgages,
and as a result, reduce convexity risk. Generally, our
preferred option is to issue callable debt or purchase
optionality rather than change the mix of our assets because
we find greater value in investing in longer term, fixed-rate
loans.

During 2002, we continued to take advantage of the
opportunity to reduce our debt costs by redeeming
significant amounts of callable debt in response to the sharp
decline in short-term interest rates that began in 2001. At the
same time, we continued to reduce the portfolio’s convexity
by aggressively increasing the amount of option protection
through the issuance of callable debt or the purchase of
interest-rate derivatives with embedded options. These

Jun 01

Aug 01
Oct 01
Dec 01
Feb 02
Apr 02
Jun 02
Aug 02
Oct 02
Dec 02

e ]0-Year Fannie Mae Debt Cost

instruments give us the option to reduce the duration of our
liabilities to offset potential increases in mortgage
prepayments that usually occur when mortgage rates fall.

By the end of 2002, we had increased our option-embedded
debt, which includes callable debt and option-based
derivatives, as a percentage of our net mortgage portfolio to
75 percent from 54 percent at the end of 2001. As part of our
rebalancing strategy during the last half of 2002, we
increased our use of short-term European options, which
temporarily increased the percentage of our mortgage
portfolio with option-embedded rate protection beyond the
average range of the past 3 years. At December 31, 2002, the
remaining outstanding notional amount of these options
totaled approximately 9 percent of our net mortgage
portfolio. Callable debt and option-based derivative
instruments debt represented 58 percent and 42 percent,
respectively, of the $601 billion in option-embedded debt
outstanding at December 31, 2002. In comparison, callable
debt and option-based derivative instruments represented
62 percentand 38 percent, respectively, of the $378 billion in
option-embedded debt outstanding at December 31, 2001.

* Interest Rate Sensitivity of Net Asset Value

Another indicator of the interest rate exposure of Fannie
Mae’s existing business is the sensitivity of the fair value of
net assets (net asset value) to changes in interest rates.
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Table 22 presents our estimated net asset value as of
December 31,2002 and 2001, and the impact on our

estimated net asset value of a hypothetical plus 100 and minus

50 basis point instantaneous shock in interest rates. Our
analysis is based on these interest rates changes because we
believe they reflect reasonably possible near-term outcomes.

TABLE 22: INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY OF NET ASSET VALUE

2002 2001
Net Percentage of Net Percentage of
Dollars in millions Asset Value NetAsset Value Asset Value NetAsset Value
December 31 ... $22,130 —% $22,675 —%
Assuming a 100 basis point increase in interestrates ................ 22,727 103 18,502 82
Assuming a 50 basis point decrease in interestrates .. ............. 18,819 85 22,215 98

Changes in net asset value incorporate various factors,
including

* estimated changes in the values of all mortgage assets

and the debt funding these assets,

* estimated changes in the value of net guaranty fee
income from off-balance-sheet MBS obligations, and

* estimated changes in the value of interest rate
derivatives.

Asindicated in Table 22, the projected fair value of our net
assets at December 31, 2002 for a 100 basis point
instantaneous increase would increase by approximately

3 percent, while a 50 basis point instantaneous decline in
interest rates would reduce the fair value by approximately
15 percent. The sensitivities at December 31, 2002 reflect
that we have greater risk exposure to a decline in interest
rates, similar to the results generated by our duration gap,
but slightly different than the results of our net interest
income at risk measure due to the effects of the future
business activity included in that measure. The difference in
the risk profile from December 31, 2002 and December 31,
2001 is largely due to lower interest rates and a change in the
mix of the portfolio.

The netasset value at December 31,2002, as presented in
Table 22, is the same as that disclosed in the Notes to
Financial Statements under Note 16, “Disclosures of Fair
Value of Financial Instruments.” We derived the net asset
values for the hypothetical interest rate scenarios in a manner
consistent with the estimation procedures described in

Note 16. The net asset value sensitivities do not necessarily
represent the changes that would actually occur because the
sensitivities are based on liquidating business and do not
include the going-concern effects of adding new business.

Derivative Instruments

Purpose and Benefit of Derivatives

Derivative instruments are important tools that we use to
manage interest rate risk and supplement our issuance of
debtin the capital markets. We are an end-user of derivatives
and do not take speculative positions with derivatives or any
other financial instrument. We use a combination of option-
embedded and non-option-embedded derivatives to better
match the cash flow variability inherent in mortgages. We
also use derivative instruments to hedge against changes in
interest rates prior to debt issuance. Interest rate derivatives
allow us to essentially lock in our funding cost at the time we
commit to purchase mortgages rather than at the time of our
next benchmark debt issuance. In addition, we use currency
derivatives to convert debt issued in foreign currencies to
U.S. dollars to minimize or negate any currency risk.

Fannie Mae primarily uses derivatives as a substitute for notes
and bonds we issue in the debt markets. When we purchase
mortgage assets, we fund the purchases with a combination
of equity and debt. The debt we issue is a mix that typically
consists of short- and long-term, noncallable debt and
callable debt. The varied maturities and flexibility of

these debt combinations help us in reducing the cash

flow mismatch between the performance of our assets

and liabilities.

We can use a mix of debt issuances and derivatives to achieve
the same duration matching that would be achieved by
issuing only debt securities. The following is an example

of funding alternatives that we could use to achieve similar
economic results:
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* Rather than issuing a 10-year noncallable fixed-rate
note, we could issue short-term debt and enter into
a 10-year interest rate swap with a highly rated
counterparty. The derivative counterparty would
pay a floating rate of interest to us on the swap that
we would use to pay the interest expense on the
short-term debt, which we would continue to reissue
periodically. We would pay the counterparty a fixed
rate of interest on the swap, thus achieving the
economics of a 10-year fixed-rate note issue.

e Similarly, instead of issuing a 10-year fixed-rate note
callable after three years, we could issue a 3-year note
and enter into a pay-fixed swaption that would have
the same economics as a 10-year callable note. If we
want to extend the debt beyond three years, the
swaption would give us the option to enter into a swap
agreement where we would pay a fixed rate of interest
to the derivative counterparty over the remaining
7-year period.

The ability to either issue debt securities or modify debt
through the use of derivatives increases our funding
flexibility and potentially reduces our overall funding costs.
‘We may be able to obtain a specific funding structure using
derivatives that we cannot obtain through the issuance of
callable debt. In addition, it can be less expensive to use the
mix of debt securities and derivatives to achieve a given
funding objective. We generally use the method that provides
the lowest funding costs and desired flexibility.

"Table 23 gives an example of equivalent funding alternatives
for a mortgage purchase with funding derived solely from
debt securities versus funding with a blend of debt securities
and derivatives. As illustrated by Table 23, we can achieve
similar economic results by funding our mortgage purchases
with either debt securities or a combination of debt securities
and derivatives.

TABLE 23: EQUIVALENT DEBT AND DERIVATIVE

FUNDING
Fund With:!
Debt Securities Debt Securities and Derivatives

Percentage Type of Debt  Percentage Type of Debt
10% Short-term debt 10% Short-term debt
15 3-year noncallable debt 15 3-year noncallable debt
25 10-year noncallable debt 25 Short-term debt plus
10-year swap
50 10-year callable 50 3-year noncallable debt
in 3 years plus pay-fixed swaption

100% 100%

1 This example indicates the possible funding mix and does not represent how an actual purchase would
necessarily be funded.

Fannie Mae also uses derivatives to hedge against fluctuations in
interest rates on planned debt issuances. The hedging of
anticipated debt issuances enables us to maintain an orderly
and cost-effective debt issuance schedule so we can fund daily
loan purchase commitments without significantly increasing
our interest rate risk or changing the spread of our funding
costs versus other market interest rates. Most of the
mortgages that Fannie Mae commits to purchase are for a
future settlement date, typically two weeks to three months
into the future. Fannie Mae would be exposed to additional
interest rate risk from changes in market rates prior to
settlement if we did not issue debt at the time of the
commitment or did not lock in an interest rate by hedging
the anticipated debt issuance. By hedging anticipated debt
issuance versus issuing debt at the time of commitment, we
are able to issue debt in larger size and on a regular schedule
so that liquidity is enhanced while our relative cost of funds
is reduced.

Fannie Mae uses derivatives to hedge foreign currency exposure.
We occasionally issue debt in a foreign currency. Because
all of our assets are denominated in U.S. dollars, we enter
into currency swaps to effectively convert the foreign-
denominated debtinto U.S. dollar-denominated debt.

By swapping out of foreign currencies completely at the
time of the debtissue, we minimize our exposure to any
currency risk. Our foreign-denominated debt represents
less than one percent of total debt outstanding.

Primary Types of Derivatives Used

Table 24 summarizes the primary derivative instruments
Fannie Mae uses along with the key hedging strategies we
employ to manage our various interest rate risk exposures.
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TABLE 24: PRIMARY TYPES OF DERIVATIVES USED

Derivative Hedging Instrument Hedged Item

Purpose of the Hedge Transaction

Pay-fixed, receive-variable interest-rate Variable-rate debt

swap Anticipated issuance of debt

"To protect against an increase in interest
rates by converting the debt’s variable rate
to a fixed rate.

Receive-fixed, pay-variable interest-rate
swap

Noncallable fixed-rate debt

To protect against a decline in interest rates.
Converts the debt’s fixed rate to a variable
rate.

Basis swap or spread-lock

Variable-rate assets and liabilities

To “lock-in” or preserve the spread between
variable-rate, interest-earning assets and
variable-rate, interest-bearing liabilities.

Pay-fixed swaption Variable-rate debt

"To protect against an increase in interest
rates by having an option to convert
floating-rate debt to a fixed rate.

Caps Variable-rate debt

"To protect against an increase in interest
rates by providing a limit on the interest
cost on our debt in a rising rate
environment.

Receive-fixed swaption

Noncallable fixed-rate debt

To protect against a decline in interest rates
by having an option to convert fixed-rate
debt to floating-rate debt.

Foreign currency swaps

Foreign currency-denominated debt

To protect against fluctuations in exchange
rates on non-U.S. dollar-denominated debt
by converting the interest expense and
principal payment on foreign-denominated
debt to U.S. dollar-denominated debt.

As Table 24 indicates, we use what the marketplace generally
regards as relatively straightforward types of interest rate
derivative instruments, primarily interest-rate swaps, basis
swaps, swaptions, and caps. Swaps provide for the exchange
of fixed and variable interest payments based on contractual
notional principal amounts. These may include callable
swaps (a combination of a swap and swaptions), which gives
counterparties or Fannie Mae the right to terminate interest
rate swaps before their stated maturities. They may also
include foreign currency swaps in which Fannie Mae and
counterparties exchange payments in different types of
currencies. Basis swaps provide for the exchange of variable
payments that have maturities similar to hedged debt, but
have payments based on different interest rate indices.
Swaptions give Fannie Mae the right to enter into a swap at

a future date. Interest rate caps provide ceilings on the
interest rates of variable-rate debt. Purchased options are
another important risk management tool we use to reduce
the cash flow mismatches driven by the prepayment option
in mortgages. American homeowners have “options” to pay
off their mortgages at any time. We use options of our own to
manage this prepayment option risk on the loans we hold in
portfolio. We obtain these options by either issuing callable
debt or purchasing stand-alone options and linking them to
the debt they are hedging.

Summary of Derivative Activity

Table 25 summarizes the notional balances and fair values
of our derivatives by type for the years ended December 31,
2002 and 2001.

TABLE 25: DERIVATIVE NOTIONAL AMOUNT AND NET FAIR VALUES

December 31, 2002 December 31,2001

Notional NetFair Notional Net Fair

Dollars in millions Amounts Values! Amounts Values!
Pay-fixed swaps .. ... i $168,512 $(17,892) $213,680 $(9,792)
Receive-fixed SwWaps ... ..ot 52,370 4,010 39,069 899
Basis SWaps . ... 25,525 4 47,054 1
Caps and SWaptONS ... ..uuuutttttt 397,868 12,834 219,943 6,267
o R 12,320 (987) 13,393 (1,490)
Total ..o $656,595 $ (2,031) $533,139 $(4,115)

1 Based on year-end fair values, estimated by calculating the cost, on a net present value basis, to settle at current market rates all outstanding derivative contracts.
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Table 26 shows the additions and maturities of derivatives by type during 2001 and 2002, along with the expected maturities of

derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2002.

TABLE 26: DERIVATIVE ACTIVITY AND MATURITY DATA

Pay-Fixed/Receive-Variable Swaps?

Receive-Fixed

Pay Receive Pay-Variable Basis Caps and

Dollars in millions Amount Rate? Rate? Swaps Swaps  Swaptions Other* Total

Notional amounts!:

Balance at January 1,2001 ................. $ 153,737 6.74% 6.79% $59,174 $14,559 $ 82,528 $14,742 $ 324,740
Additons . ..... ..o 90,787 5.39 3.95 33,230 46,150 168,350 100 338,617
Maturities’ .. ... o 30,844 6.41 4.20 53,335 13,655 30,935 1,449 130,218

Balance at December 31,2001 .............. 213,680 6.21 247 39,069 47,054 219,943 13,393 533,139
Additions .. ... .. oo 35,117 5.17 1.90 57,949 13,275 239,925 7,889 354,155
Maturities’ . .......... .. .. oo oL 80,285 5.00 1.70 44,648 34,804 62,000 8,962 230,699

Balance on December 31,2002 ........... $168,512 6.07% 1.67% $52,370 $25,525 $397,868 $12,320 $656,595

Future Maturities of Notional Amounts®
2003 .o $ 26,230 5.03% 1.68% $15422 $18,090 $122,718 § —  $182,460
2004 ... 15,330 5.60 1.68 4,875 6,795 39,100 4,147 70,247
2005 Lo 10,600 6.28 1.67 6,355 170 28,200 1,200 46,525
2006 ... 11,450 6.19 1.60 3,650 100 12,350 616 28,166
2007 oo 15,350 545 1.69 6,050 100 23,275 — 44,775
Thereafter ......... ... ... 89,552 6.51 1.66 16,018 270 172,225 6,357 284,422

Total ... . $ 168,512 6.07% 1.67% $52,370 $25,525 $397,868 $12,320 $ 656,595

1 Dollars represent notional amounts that indicate only the amount on which payments are being calculated and do not represent the amount at risk of loss.
2 Notional amounts include callable swaps of $35 billion and $32 billion with weighted-average pay rates of 6.75 percent and 6.72 percent and weighted-average receive rates of 1.68 percent and 2.54 percent

at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively.

3 The weighted-average interest rate payable and receivable is as of the date indicated. The interest rates of the swaps may be variable-rate, so these rates may change as prevailing interest rates change.
* Includes foreign currency swaps, futures contracts, and derivative instruments that provide a bedge against interest rate fluctuations.

5 Include matured, called, exercised, and terminated amounts.

6 Based on stated maturities. Assumes that variable interest rates remain constant at December 31, 2002 levels.

Derivative Counterparty Risk

At December 31, 2002, over 99 percent of the $657 billion
notional amount of our outstanding derivative transactions
were with counterparties rated A or better both by Standard
& Poor’s (S&P) and Moody’s Investors Services (Moody’s).
Our derivative instruments were diversified among 21 and
23 counterparties at year-end 2002 and 2001, respectively,
to reduce our credit risk concentrations. At December 31,
2002, eight counterparties with credit ratings of A or better
represented approximately 76 percent of the total notional
amount of outstanding derivatives transactions. The
outstanding notional amount for each of these eight
counterparties ranged between 5 percent and 15 percent

of our total outstanding notional amount at December 31,
2002. Each of the remaining counterparties accounted for
less than 5 percent of the total outstanding notional amount
at December 31, 2002. In comparison, eight counterparties
with credit ratings of A or better accounted for
approximately 78 percent of the total notional outstanding
amount at December 31, 2001.

The primary credit exposure that we have on a derivative
transaction is that a counterparty might default on payments
due, which could result in having to replace the derivative

with a different counterparty at a higher cost. The exposure
to counterparty default after offsetting arrangements, such as
master netting agreements and the value of related collateral,
is the appropriate measure of the actual credit risk of
derivative contracts.

We believe the risk of loss on Fannie Mae’s derivatives book is low for
three primary reasons:
(1) our stringent counterparty eligibility standards;
(2) our conservative collateral policy, which has provisions requiring
collateral on our derivative contracts in gain positions; and

(3) our intensive exposure

L.n‘g and g

Fannie Mae has never experienced a loss on a derivative
transaction due to credit default by a counterparty. The
credit risk on our derivative transactions is low because our
counterparties are of very high credit quality. Our
counterparties consist of large banks, broker-dealers, and
other financial institutions that have a significant presence

in the derivatives market, most of whom are based in the
United States. We manage derivative counterparty credit risk
by contracting only with experienced counterparties that
have high credit ratings. We initiate derivative contracts only
with counterparties rated A or better. As an additional
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precaution, we have a conservative collateral management

policy with provisions for requiring collateral on our
ativ L ons.

derivative contracts in gain positions

We also monitor credit exposure on our derivatives daily by
valuing them using internal pricing models and dealer quotes.
‘We make collateral calls daily based on the results of our
internal models and dealer quotes. We enter into master
agreements that provide for netting of amounts due to us

and amounts due to counterparties under those agreements.
New York law governs all of our master derivatives agreements.

The estimated total notional balance of the global derivatives
market was $152 trillion at June 30, 2002 based on combined
data from the Bank for International Settlements for over-
the-counter derivatives and published figures for exchange-
traded derivatives. Fannie Mae’s outstanding notional

TABLE 27: DERIVATIVE CREDIT LOSS EXPOSURE!

December 31,2002

principal balance of $657 billion at December 31, 2002
represented less than .5 percent of the total estimated
derivatives market. Although notional principal is a
commonly used measure of volume in the derivatives market,
itis not a meaningful measure of market or credit risk since
the notional amount does not change hands other than in the
case of foreign currency swaps. Counterparties use the
notional amounts of derivative instruments to calculate
contractual cash flows to be exchanged. However, the
notional amount is significantly greater than the potential
market or credit loss that could result from such transactions.
The fair value of derivatives in a gain position is a more
meaningful measure of our current market exposure on
derivatives. Table 27 shows our exposure on derivatives by
maturity at December 31,2002 and 2001 and counterparty
credit ratings based on these maturities.

December 31,2001

Dollars in millions AAA AA A BBB Total AAA AA A BBB Total
Less than 1 year $ — 3 69 $ 6 $— § 75 $ — 8 — S — $— 8 —
1 to 5 years — 486 116 — 602 — 43 43 — 86
Over 5 years 21 1,334 2,328 — 3,683 136 671 826 — 1,633
Subtotal 21 1,889 2,450 — 4,360 136 714 869 — 1,719
Maturity distribution netting? @1 (368 (670) — (1,059 (136) (528) 289) — (953)
Exposure — 1,521 1,780 — 3,301 — 186 580 — 766
Collateral held — 1,382 1,722 — 3,104 — 95 561 — 656
Exposure net of collateral $ — $ 139 $ 58 $ — $§ 197 $ — 8 91 $ 19 §— $ 110
Notional amount $21,045 $316,813 $318,487 $250 $656,595 $71,173 $316,588 $145,128 $250  $533,139
Number of counterparties 2 11 7 1 21 3 16 3 1 23

1 Represents the exposure to credit loss on derivative instruments by credit rating, which is estimated by calculating the cost, on a present value basis, to replace all outstanding derivative contracts in a gain position.
Reported on a net-by-counterparty basis where a legal right of offset exists under an enforceable master settlement agreement. Derivative gains and losses with the same counterparty in the same maturity category

are presented net within the maturity category.

2 Represents impact of netting of derivatives in a gain position and derivatives in a loss position for the same counterparty across maturity categories.

We estimate exposure to credit loss on derivative instruments
by calculating the replacement cost, on a present value basis,
to settle at current market prices all outstanding derivative
contracts in a gain position. Fannie Mae’s exposure on
derivative contracts (taking into account master settlement
agreements that allow for netting of payments and excluding
collateral received) was $3.301 billion at December 31, 2002,
compared with $766 million at December 31, 2001. We
expect the credit exposure on derivative contracts to
fluctuate with both changes in interest rates and implied
volatility. We held $3.104 billion of collateral through
custodians for derivative instruments at December 31, 2002
and $656 million of collateral at December 31, 2001.

Assuming the highly unlikely event that all of our derivative
counterparties to which Fannie Mae was exposed at
December 31, 2002 were to default simultaneously, it would
have cost an estimated $197 million to replace the economic
value of those contracts. This replacement cost represents
approximately 2 percent of our 2002 pre-tax core business
earnings. The replacement cost, or exposure after
consideration of collateral held, was $110 million at
December 31, 2001. Changes in both interest rates and the
type of derivative transactions with specific counterparties
increased our exposure at the end of 2002.
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At December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, 100 percent
of our exposure on derivatives, before consideration of
collateral held, was with counterparties rated A or better by
S&P and Moody’s. Five counterparties with credit ratings of
A or better accounted for approximately 92 percent and

98 percent of our exposure on derivatives before
consideration of collateral held at December 31, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Seventy-one percent of our net exposure
of $197 million at December 31, 2002 was with six
counterparties rated AA or better by S&P and Aa or better
by Moody’s. The percentage of our exposure with these six
counterparties ranged from 2 to 23 percent. In comparison,
five counterparties rated AA or better by S&P and Aa or
better by Moody’s accounted for 83 percent of our net
exposure of $110 million at December 31, 2001. The
percentage of our net exposure with counterparties rated
AA or better by S&P and Aa or better by Moody’s fell during
2002 because of a change in the relative mix of our derivative
products in response to changes in market conditions that
shifted the relative level of activity and exposure between
individual counterparties. We mitigate our net exposure

on derivative transactions through a collateral management
policy, which consists of four primary components: (1)
minimum collateral thresholds; (2) collateral valuation
percentages; (3) overcollateralization based on rating
downgrades; and (4) daily monitoring procedures.

*  Minimum Collateral Thresholds

Derivative counterparties are obligated to post collateral to
Fannie Mae when we are exposed to credit losses exceeding
agreed-upon thresholds that are based on counterparty
credit ratings. We determine the collateral amount that
counterparties are required to post based on their credit
rating and our level of credit exposure. The amount of
collateral generally must equal the excess of Fannie Mae’s
exposure over the threshold amount. Table 28 presents
Fannie Mae’s general ratings-based collateral thresholds.

TABLE 28: FANNIE MAE RATINGS-BASED
COLLATERAL THRESHOLDS

Dollars in millions

Credit Rating Exposure
S&P Moody’s Threshold
AAA Aaa ...l Mutually agreed on
AA+ Aal ... $100
AA Aa2 ...l 50
AA- Aa3 ...l 50
A+ N 25
A A2 o 10

A-orbelow A3orbelow........ 0 (see Table 29)

¢ Collateral Valuation Percentages

We require counterparties to post specific types of collateral
to meet their collateral requirements. The collateral posted
by our counterparties at December 31, 2002 was principally
in the form of cash or U.S. Treasury securities with a small
amount of agency MBS. All of the collateral posted by our
counterparties was in the form of cash or U.S. Treasury
securities at December 31, 2001. We assign each type of
collateral a specific valuation percentage based on its relative
risk. For example, cash receives a 100 percent valuation,
while certain U.S. Treasury instruments may receive only

a 98 percent valuation percentage. In cases where the
valuation percentage for a certain type of collateral is less
than 100 percent, we require counterparties to post an
additional amount of collateral to meet their requirements.

*  Overcollateralization Based on Low Credit Ratings

We further reduce our net exposure on derivatives by
generally requiring overcollateralization from counterparties
whose credit ratings have dropped below predetermined
levels. Counterparties falling below these levels must post
collateral beyond the amounts previously noted to meet their
overall requirements. Table 29 presents Fannie Mae’s
standard valuation percentages for overcollateralization
based on counterparty credit ratings. The percentage of
additional collateral is applied to the initial amount of
collateral required to be posted.

TABLE 29: FANNIE MAE STANDARD COLLATERAL
VALUATION PERCENTAGES

Additional Percentage

Credit Rating of Collateral to be Posted
A/A2o0rabove .. ... 0%
A-/A3to BBB+/Baal .................... 10
BBB/Baa2 orbelow ..................... 25

* Frequent Monitoring Procedures

‘We mark our collateral position daily against exposure

using both internal and external pricing models and compare
these calculations to our counterparties’ valuations. Both
Fannie Mae and our derivative counterparties transfer
collateral within two business days based on the agreed-upon
valuation. Pursuant to Fannie Mae’s collateral agreements we
reserve the right to value exposure and collateral adequacy at
any time. A New York-based third-party custodian holds all
of the collateral posted to Fannie Mae and monitors the value
on a daily basis.
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Credit Risk Management

Credit risk is the risk of loss to future earnings or future cash
flows that may result from the failure of a borrower or
institution to fulfill its contractual obligation to make
payments to Fannie Mae or an institution’s failure to perform
a service for us. We assume and manage mortgage credit risk
and institutional credit risk that arise through a variety of
transactions. We actively manage credit risk to maintain
credit losses within levels that generate attractive profitability
and returns on capital and meet our expectations for
consistent financial performance.

The Chief Credit Officer has primary responsibility for
setting strategies to achieve the credit risk goals and
objectives set by our Board of Directors. The Chief Credit
Officer, who reports to our Chief Financial Officer, chairs
Fannie Mae’s Credit Risk Policy Committee. The Credit
Risk Policy Committee works in concert with the Portfolios
and Capital Committee and the Operations, Transactions
and Investments (O'TT) Committee to provide corporate
governance over Fannie Mae’s credit risk. Fannie Mae’s
business units have primary responsibility for managing our
business activities in conformity with the credit strategies and
requirements set by our committees. Within each business
unit, we have a credit officer who has responsibility for
certain credit risk decisions outlined in a written delegation
of credit authority approved by the Credit Risk Policy
Committee. Our business unit credit officers report directly
to the business unit leaders and indirectly to the Chief
Credit Officer.

In addition, we have corporate credit risk management teams
that report to the Chief Credit Officer and work with the
business units to identify, measure, and manage credit risks.
Our Policy and Standards team establishes and monitors
credit policies, standards, and delegations of credit authority
throughout the organization. Our Credit Research and
Portfolio Management team is responsible for understanding
and managing the aggregate risk exposure, risk sensitivity,
and usage of risk capital. Our Counterparty Risk
Management team is responsible for setting company-wide
policies governing Fannie Mae’s contractual exposures to
institutional counterparties and identifying and measuring
these exposures. Our Credit Management Information
Systems team prepares analysis that monitors and identifies
key credit risk trends in the credit book of business.

Our business units monitor and enforce compliance with
credit risk standards and identify changes in market
conditions that may warrant changes to credit policies and
standards. For example, business units provide quality
control oversight by requiring lenders to maintain a rigorous
quality control process and by maintaining our own quality
assurance process. Our regional offices, which are
responsible for managing customer relationships, also play
an important risk management role. Working with the
business unit leaders, regional customer management teams
ensure that pricing and transaction terms are structured
appropriately to meet the unique needs and risks of

Fannie Mae’s various lender partners. Regional officers
have credit authority to make credit decisions or develop
customized mortgage solutions up to certain thresholds as
outlined in the Credit Risk Policy Committee’s written
delegation of authority. Delegating certain credit authority
and responsibility to our regional offices has allowed us

to work closely with our lender partners, which has been
integral to achieving a track record of effective credit

risk management.

Mortgage Credit Risk

Our mortgage credit risk stems from our mortgage credit
book of business, where we bear the risk that borrowers

fail to make payments required on their mortgages. Our
mortgage credit book of business consists of mortgages

we own, mortgages and MBS we guarantee, and other
contractual arrangements or guarantees. The Credit
Guaranty business manages our mortgage credit risk.

We are exposed to credit risk on our mortgage credit book of
business because we either own the assets or have guaranteed
the timely payment of scheduled principal and interest to
third parties. For example, in the event of the default of a
borrower on a mortgage underlying an MBS, we absorb any
losses, net of the proceeds of any credit enhancements, that
result and pay to the MBS investor all accrued interest and
the full outstanding principal balance of the defaulted loan.

A certain level of credit losses is an inherent consequence
of engaging in the Credit Guaranty business. Our risk
management focus is on controlling the level and volatility of

credit losses that result from changes in economic conditions.

"Table 30 presents the composition of our mortgage credit
book of business for 2002, 2001, and 2000.

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT

67



68

TABLE 30: COMPOSITION OF MORTGAGE CREDIT BOOK OF BUSINESS

December 31, 2002
Single-family Multifamily Total
Dollars in millions Conventional Government  Conventional Government Conventional Government
Mortgage portfolio!:
Mortgageloans . . ... ....oooii $ 166,772 $ 5,458 $12,217 $1,354 $ 178,989 $ 6,812
FannieMae MBS ....... ... ... ... ...... 497,818 2,447 6,765 1,801 504,583 4,248
Agency mortgage securities? . ................ 31,959 16,453 — — 31,959 16,453
Other mortgage-related securities® . ......... 27,833 — 284 — 28,117 —
Mortgage revenuebonds .. ........... ... .. — 14,086 — 5,552 — 19,638
724,382 38,444 19,266 8,707 743,648 47,151
Outstanding MBS* .......... .. ... ... ... 953,729 24,616 50,671 440 1,004,400 25,056
OtherS ..o 360 — 11,479 — 11,839 —
Mortgage credit book of business ................ $1,678,471 $63,060 $81,416 $9,147 $1,759,887 $72,207
December 31,2001
Single-family Multifamily Total
Conventional ~ Government Conventional ~ Government Conventional ~ Government
Mortgage portfolio!:
Mortgageloans . . ..........oiiiiLL. $ 150,350 $ 5,069 $ 8,987 $1,551 $ 159,337 $ 6,620
FannieMae MBS .......... ... ... ....... 420,631 3,438 5,315 2,002 425,946 5,440
Agency mortgage securities? . ................ 42,105 19,607 — — 42,105 19,607
Other mortgage-related securities’ . ......... 29,259 — 321 — 29,580 —
Mortgage revenuebonds . ................. — 13,903 — 4,476 — 18,379
642,345 42,017 14,623 8,029 656,968 50,046
Outstanding MBS* .......... . ... oL 800,411 13,546 44,428 482 844,839 14,028
OtherS ..o 930 — 15,491 — 16,421 —
Mortgage credit book of business ................ $ 1,443,686 $55,563 $ 74,542 $8,511 $ 1,518,228 $ 64,074
December 31,2000
Single-family Multifamily Total
Conventional ~ Government Conventional ~ Government Conventional ~ Government
Mortgage portfolio!:
Mortgageloans . ................. ... ... $ 139,382 $ 4,763 $ 6,547 $1,814 $ 145,929 $ 6,577
FannieMae MBS ......................... 342,299 3,364 3,308 2,057 345,607 5,421
Agency mortgage securities? . ................ 32,987 24,137 — — 32,987 24,137
Other mortgage-related securities’ . ......... 33,931 — 333 — 34,264 —
Mortgage revenuebonds . ............ ... .. 3 11,890 1 3,309 4 15,199
548,602 44,154 10,189 7,180 558,791 51,334
Outstanding MBS* . ......... ... oL 662,621 8,076 35,460 527 698,081 8,603
Others ... 993 — 12,323 — 13,316 —
Mortgage credit book of business ................ $1,212,216 $52,230 $57,972 $7,707 $ 1,270,188 $59,937

1 Excludes mark-to-market gains at December 31, 2002 and 2001 of $6.501 billion and $462 million, respectively. Excludes mark-to-market losses at December 31, 2000 of $3 million.
2 Includes mortgage-related securities issued by Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

3 Includes mortgage-related securities issued by entities other than Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, or Ginnie Mae.

# MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and held by investors other than Fannie Mae. The principal balance on resecuritized MBS is included only once.

e

3 Includes additional single-family and

ily credit enbance

nts not otherwise reflected in the table.
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Fannie Mae’s overall objective in managing mortgage credit risk is
to deliver consistent earnings growth and target returns on capital in
a wide range of ec ic envir ts. Central elements of our
approach include: (1) managing the profile and quality of mortgages
in the mortgage credit book, (2) using credit enhancements to reduce
credit losses, (3) assessing the sensitivity of the profitability of the
mortgage credit book of business to changes in composition and the

ec ic envir t, and (4) managing problem assets to mitigate

credit losses.

Given the important differences in the nature and
management of credit risk between single-family and
multifamily loans, we manage and discuss these two types
of loans separately.

Single-family

The single-family mortgage credit book primarily consists
of loans, MBS in our mortgage portfolio, MBS and other
mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and
held by other investors (outstanding MBS), and other
mortgage-related securities we own backed by loans on
properties that have four or fewer residential units. This
section details our single-family risk management practices,
risk characteristics, and performance. While we manage the
creditrisk on the entire single-family mortgage credit book,
in some cases we may not have certain loan-level information
to report risk characteristics and performance disclosures.
Therefore, unless otherwise noted, the credit statistics on
Fannie Mae’s conventional single-family mortgage credit
book presented in this section will generally include only
mortgage loans in portfolio, MBS in portfolio, and
outstanding MBS where we have more comprehensive,
detailed loan-level transaction information. These loans
represent 96 percent of our single-family mortgage credit
book at the end of 2002. Most of the remaining 4 percent of
our conventional single-family mortgage credit book consists
of mortgage-related securities rated AAA at acquisition,
including mortgage-related securities guaranteed by
Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae.

1. Managing the profile and quality of mortgages in the
single-family mortgage credit book.

Mortgage credit risk on a particular single-family loan is
affected by numerous characteristics, including the type of
loan, the down-payment amount, and the strength of the
borrower’s credit history. These and other factors, such as
home price appreciation, affect both the level of expected
credit loss on a given loan and the sensitivity of that loss to
changes in the economic environment. We attempt to
understand the overall credit risk in our loans, earn an
attractive risk-adjusted return from appropriate guaranty
fee pricing, and mitigate our risks through the use of credit

enhancements and effective asset management. Our risk
mitigating activities reduce the incidence and severity of
loss and minimize the volatility of credit losses, which helps
Fannie Mae in achieving stable earnings growth and a
competitive return on equity over time.

We establish detailed policies and employ various processes
to validate that the characteristics of the loans purchased or
guaranteed comply with key underwriting and eligibility
criteria. We also assess the characteristics and quality of a
lender’s loans and processes through an audit program and
our customer relationship management teams. Mortgage
loans that we buy or guarantee must comply with certain
underwriting and eligibility characteristics to ensure that the
overall risk of the particular loan is within acceptable limits.

Lenders represent and warrant compliance with our asset
acquisition requirements when they sell mortgage loans or
securities to us or seek a guarantee from us. We may require
the lender to repurchase a loan or enforce some other
remedy if we identify any deficiencies. Since 1995, we have
developed and refined DU to assist lenders in underwriting
and complying with our other loan eligibility criteria.

DU consistently and objectively applies risk analytics,
underwriting, and eligibility standards to prospective
mortgage loans. Approximately 60 percent of the single-
family conventional loans we purchased or guaranteed in
2002 were processed through DU, up from 59 percent in
2001 and 56 percentin 2000. We also buy or guarantee
loans underwritten manually or through other automated
underwriting systems, subject to appropriate lender
representations and warranties. In certain circumstances
involving use of automated underwriting, we may relieve
lenders of a limited number of the standard representations
and warranties.

2. Using credit enbancements to veduce credit losses.

Credit enhancements are contracts in which a third party
agrees to pay Fannie Mae if there is a credit event, such as a
loan default. Credit enhancements enable us to transform
the risk and return profile of the mortgage credit book of
business to be consistent with our objectives. Single-family
credit enhancements include primary loan-level mortgage
insurance, pool mortgage insurance, recourse arrangements
with lenders, and other customized risk-sharing contracts.

The majority of our single-family credit enhancement is
primary loan-level mortgage insurance. When we require
primary loan-level mortgage insurance on loans with loan-
to-value ratios above 80 percent, we typically require greater
coverage than the minimum level of credit enhancement
required by our Charter Act if primary mortgage insurance
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is the only source used to meet our credit enhancement
requirement. Subject to our policies and to the Homeowners
Protection Act of 1998, primary loan-level mortgage
insurance can be cancelled either automatically or at the
borrower’s option in certain circumstances where the loan-
to-value ratio has decreased below 80 percent. We also may
require or acquire supplemental credit enhancement on loans
based on risk and pricing. While credit enhancements reduce
our mortgage-related credit losses, they also generate
institutional counterparty risk that we discuss in the
“Institutional Counterparty Credit Risk” section. We focus
credit enhancement coverage on loans in our mortgage credit
book of business with a higher risk profile. The percentage of
our conventional single-family credit book of business with
credit enhancements was 27 percent at December 31, 2002,
down from 32 percent at December 31, 2001. The decrease
in credit enhancement coverage during 2002 was primarily
due to the high level of refinance loans acquisitions with
lower loan-to-value ratios that did not require credit
enhancement. Because of the lower risk profile of these

loans, we elected not to purchase credit enhancement

on these loans.

3. Assessing the sensitivity of the profitability of the single-
family mortgage credit book of business to changes in
composition and the economic environment.

We use analytical tools to measure credit risk exposures,
assess performance of our single-family mortgage credit
book of business, and evaluate risk management alternatives.
We continually refine our methods of measuring credit risk,
setting risk and return targets, and transferring risk to third
parties. We use our analytical models to establish forecasts
and expectations for the credit performance of loans in the
mortgage credit book of business and compare actual
performance to those expectations. Comparison of actual
versus projected performance and changes in other key
trends may signal a change in risk or return profiles and
provide the basis for changing policies, standards, guidelines,
credit enhancements, or guaranty fees.

For example, we use models to project guaranty fee income
and credit losses, including forgone interest on
nonperforming assets, for the single-family mortgage credit
book across a wide range of potential interest rate and home
price environments. We use current data on home values,
borrower payment patterns, nonmortgage consumer credit
history, and management’s economic outlook to assess our
sensitivity to credit losses. We closely examine a range of
potential economic scenarios to monitor the sensitivity of
creditlosses. As part of our voluntary safety and soundness
initiatives, we elected to disclose on a quarterly-lagged basis

the sensitivity of the present value of future single-family
creditlosses to an immediate 5 percent decline in home
prices. Table 31 shows the results at the end of 2002, 2001,
and 2000. Our models indicate that home price movements
are an important predictor of credit performance. We
selected a 5 percent immediate decline in home prices
because it is a stressful scenario. Based on housing data

from OFHEQ, the national average rate of home price
appreciation over the last 20 years has been about

4.7 percent, while the lowest national average growth rate in
any single year has been .2 percent. Historical statistics from
OFHEO’s housing index report indicate that there has never
been a nationwide decline of 5 percent in home prices within
a one-year period since the federal government began
tracking this data in 1975.

TABLE 31: SINGLE-FAMILY CREDIT LOSS SENSITIVITY!

December 31,
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Gross creditloss sensitivity? .... $ 1,838 $ 1,332 § 1,065
Projected credit risk
sharing proceeds ......... 1,242 845 770
Net credit loss sensitivity . . . . . .. $ 596 $ 487 § 295

1 Represents total economic credit losses, which include net charge-offs/recoveries, foreclosed property
expenses, forgone interest, and the cost of carrying foreclosed properties.

2 Measures the gross sensitivity of our expected future economic credit losses to an immediate S percent
decline in home values for all single-family mortgages beld in our single-family mortgage credit book,
followed by an increase in home prices at the rate projected by Fannie Mae’s credit pricing models.

4. Managing problem assets to mitigate credit losses.

We closely manage single-family loans in partnership with
the servicers of our loans to minimize both the frequency

of foreclosure and the severity of loss in the event of
foreclosure. We have developed detailed servicing guidelines
and work closely with the loan servicers to ensure that they
take appropriate loss mitigation steps on our behalf. Our
loan management strategy begins with payment collection
guidelines and work rules designed to minimize the number
of borrowers who fall behind on their obligations and help
borrowers who are delinquent from falling further behind on
their payments. We seek alternative resolutions of problem
loans to reduce the legal and management expenses
associated with foreclosing on a home. Early intervention is
critical to controlling credit expenses. Most of our servicers
use Risk Profiler™, a default prediction model created by
Fannie Mae, to monitor the performance and risk of each
loan and identify loans requiring problem loan management.
Risk Profiler uses credit risk indicators such as mortgage
payment record, updated borrower credit data, current
property values, and mortgage product characteristics to
evaluate the risk of the loan. In 2002, 86 percent of our
conventional single-family loans were scored through

Risk Profiler, up from 82 percentin 2001.
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We may pursue various resolutions of problem loans as an
alternative to foreclosure, including: (1) repayment plans in
which borrowers repay past due principal and interest over

a reasonable period of time (generally no longer than

four months) through a temporarily higher monthly
payment, (2) loan modifications in which past due principal
and interest, net of any borrower contribution, are added to
the loan amount and recovered over the remaining life of the
loan and other terms of the loan may be adjusted, (3) deeds-
in-lieu of foreclosure in which the borrower signs over title
to the property without the added expense of a foreclosure
proceeding, and (4) pre-foreclosure sales in which the
borrower, working with the servicer, sells the home and pays
off all or part of the outstanding loan, accrued interest, and
other expenses with the sale proceeds. We use analytical
models and work rules to determine which alternative
resolution, if any, may be appropriate for each problem loan.
We track the ultimate performance of alternative resolutions
and adjust our models and rules as appropriate. Of the loans
that recover through modification and repayment plans, our
performance experience after at least three years following
the inception of such plans has been that approximately
two-thirds of these loans remain current or pay off in full.

If we acquire the property in the event of default, we seek to
maximize the sales proceeds and ensure we receive all credit
enhancement payments. We maintain a centralized property
disposition unit to manage the foreclosure process to
minimize foreclosure costs. Table 32 presents statistics

on our problem loans for 2002, 2001, and 2000.

TABLE 32: STATISTICS ON CONVENTIONAL
SINGLE-FAMILY PROBLEM LOANS

Number of Loans 2002 2001 2000
Repaymentplans ............ 5,470 4,237 5,320
Modifications ............... 14,552 10,506 9,503
Pre-foreclosuresales . ......... 1,410 1,182 1,572
Properties acquired through

foreclosure! ............. 19,500 14,486 14,351
Total conventional single-family

problem loans ........... 40,932 30,411 30,746
Conventional single-family

loans at December 312 .. ... 14,492,034 13,414,100 12,092,295

T Includes properties acquired via deeds-in-lieu of foreclosure, which totaled 192 in 2002, 163 in 2001,
and 235 in 2000.

2 Represents approximately 96 percent of our conventional single-family mortgage credit book where we
have more compreb detailed loan-level transaction information.

Single-Family Mortgage Credit Book Characteristics and
Performance

Economic conditions and home values strongly affect the
creditrisk profile of our single-family mortgage credit book
and our credit losses and impact the likelihood of default and
the severity of any losses.

e Economic Trends

Beginning in 2001 and extending through early 2002, the
U.S. economy experienced a mild recession. Economic
growth, as measured by the change in GDP, began to slowly
recover in 2002. GDP growth was very robust at 5.0 percent
in the first quarter of 2002, but fell to 1.4 percent during

the fourth quarter. Unemployment, a lagging economic
indicator, peaked at 6.0 percent in April 2002, gradually
declined to 5.6 percent in September 2002, before rising
again to 6.0 percent by year-end. In spite of these trends,
home prices continued to grow at a rate above long-term
historical averages in 2002 although home price growth has
slowed from the record levels attained in the past few years.
Based on OFHEOQ?s fourth quarter 2002 House Price Index
report, average home prices at the national level increased
6.89 percent in 2002. No census region or state experienced
negative home price growth in 2002. Over the last five years,
U.S. home appreciation has averaged 7.66 percent annually.

* Single-Family Loan Risk Characteristics

We monitor an array of risk characteristics to assess the
sensitivity of our credit losses to economic changes. Some of
these risk characteristics are described below and quantified
in Tables 33 and 34. We typically obtain the data for these
statistics from the sellers or servicers of the mortgage loans.
We receive representations and warranties as to the accuracy
of the information from those providing it. Except for quality
assurance efforts, we do not independently verify the
reported information. We generally collect loan-level
statistics only on conventional single-family mortgage

loans held in our portfolio and loans backing Fannie Mae
guaranteed MBS. These loans, collectively, represent the
vast majority of our single-family mortgage credit book

of business.

*  Loan-to-value (L'TV) ratio: TV ratio is the ratio of
UPB to the value of the property that serves as collateral.
Original TV is based on the value reported to
Fannie Mae at acquisition of the loan. Current LTV is
based on current UPB and original value updated for
subsequent changes in home values using Fannie Mae’s
internal home valuation models. LTV ratio is a strong
predictor of credit performance. The likelihood of
default and the gross severity of a loss in the event of
default are lower as the LTV ratio decreases, all other
factors held equal. The estimated average current LTV
ratio on the mortgage credit book of business (which is a
weighted-average based on current UPB) increased
marginally to 62 percent at December 31, 2002 from
60 percent at the end of 2001, largely due to the
substantial volume of new business purchased or

FANNIE MAE 2002 ANNUAL REPORT 71



72

guaranteed in 2002 that has not yet had the opportunity
to experience home price appreciation.

Product type: Product type is defined by the nature of

the interest rate applicable to the mortgage (fixed for the
duration of the loan or adjustable subject to contractual
terms) and by the maturity of the loan. We divide our
business into three categories: long-term, fixed-rate
mortgages with original terms of greater than 20 years;
intermediate-term, fixed-rate mortgages with original
terms of 20 years or less; and adjustable-rate mortgages
(ARMs) of any term. ARMs tend to have higher default
risk than fixed-rate loans, all other factors held equal.
Our single-family mortgage credit book of business
continues to be heavily concentrated in long- and
intermediate-term, fixed-rate products that are generally
regarded as lower risk investments. At December 31,
2002, 93 percent of our single-family book of business
consisted of long-term, fixed-rate, or intermediate-term,
fixed-rate mortgages.

Property type: We classify mortgages secured by housing
with up to four living units as single-family. Mortgages
on one-unit properties tend to have lower credit risk than
mortgages on multiple-unit properties, such as duplexes,
all other factors held equal. The majority of Fannie Mae’s
book of business consists of loans secured by one-unit
properties. The proportion of loans secured by multiple-
unit properties has remained relatively stable over the
past two years.

Occupancy type: Borrowers may purchase a home as a
primary residence, second or vacation home, or
investment rental property. Mortgages on properties
occupied by the borrower as a principal or second
residence tend to have lower credit risk than mortgages
on investment properties, all other factors held equal.
The vast majority of Fannie Mae’s book of business
consists of mortgages on properties occupied by the
borrower as the principal residence. The proportion of
loans secured by investment properties has remained
relatively stable over the past three years.

Credit score: Borrower credit history is a record of the
use and repayment of varying forms of credit by the
borrower. Since this information is typically complex
and voluminous, statistical models are employed to
summarize the information—typically into a single
numeric indicator of borrower credit quality. We use
several internal proprietary models to assess borrower
credit quality at acquisition. Credit score is one measure

often used by the financial services industry, and by
Fannie Mae in some cases, to assess borrower credit
quality. Credit scores are generated by credit repositories
and calculated based on proprietary statistical models that
evaluate many types of information on a borrower’s credit
report and compare this information to the patterns in
other credit reports. One statistical model used widely

in the financial services industry was developed by Fair,
Isaac & Company, Inc. (“Fair Isaac”). This model is used
to create a credit score called the FICO® score. FICO
scores can vary depending on which credit repository is
using the Fair Isaac model to supply the score. FICO
scores, as reported by the credit repositories, may range
from a low of 150 to a high of 950. According to Fair
Isaac, a high FICO score indicates a lesser degree of risk.
A higher credit score is an indicator of lower default risk,
while a lower credit score indicates higher risk, all other
factors held equal. On approximately two-thirds of the
mortgages on which we acquire credit risk through
purchase or guaranty, lenders provide credit scores that
typically reflect the borrower’s credit history just prior to
our acquisition of the loan. For most of the remaining
loans, we obtain credit scores soon after acquisition. For a
small proportion of loans, credit scores are not available.
The credit score of an individual borrower can vary
depending upon several factors, including the timing of
when the score is calculated and the credit repository
from which the score is obtained. Management believes,
however, that the average credit score across our book of
business is a strong indicator of default risk within the
single-family mortgage credit book of business. The
credit quality of borrowers in our book remained high at
December 31,2002, as evidenced by an average credit
score of 714 at the time of loan purchase or guaranty.

Loan purpose: Loan purpose indicates how the borrower
intends to use the funds. We designate the loan purpose
as either purchase, cash-out refinance, or other refinance.
The funds in a purchase transaction are used to acquire a
property. The funds in a cash-out refinance transaction
are used for purposes other than to pay off an existing
first mortgage lien, to pay off any permissible subordinate
mortgage liens, and to provide limited unrestricted cash
proceeds to the borrower. All other refinance
transactions are defined as other refinancings. Cash-out
refinance transactions generally have a higher risk profile
than purchase or other refinance transactions, all other
factors held equal. The significant refinance activity of
the past two years resulted in a substantial shift in the
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proportion of refinance loans in our conventional TABLE 33: CHARACTERISTICS OF CONVENTIONAL
single-family mortgage credit book to 62 percentat SINGLE-FAMILY MORTGAGE CREDIT BOOK
December 31,2002, from 54 percent at the end of 2001.

Percent of Book of Business'

*  Geographic concentration: Local economic conditions 2002 2001 2000
affect borrowers’ ability to repay loans and the value of Original loan-to-value ratio:
the collateral underlying a loan, all other factors held €=60.00% ... 20% 17% 16%

equal. We analyze geographic exposure at a varie 6001% 10 70.00% - 15 1 1
! yz€ geographic expost : ty 70.01% 10 80.00% ... .......... 42 43 42
of levels of geographic aggregation, including at the 80.01% 16 90.00% - . . 13 14 15
regional level. Geographic diversification reduces Greater than 90.00% ............ 10 12 13
mortgage credit risk, and our geographic distributions Total ..ooooiiiiiii 100%  100%  100%
have been consistently well diversified. We have Weighted average .............. 73% 74% 75%
significant business volumes in the West, with 26 percent Current loan-to-value ratio?:
at the end 0f 2002, 2001, and 2000. However, this <=60.00% ...l 41% 47% 45%
exposure is low relative to the distribution of the overall 60.01%t070.00% . ............ 18 19 24
. o 70.01% t080.00% ............. 28 23 20
mortgage market because of our conforming loan limit, 20.01% 10 90.00°% 0 5 o
which restricts us in serving the financing needs of Greater than 90.00% ... 4 4 3
borrowers in higher cost areas such as California. Total - oo 100% 100% 100%
L Weighted average .............. 62% 60% 60%
*  Loan age: We closely track year of origination and loan Average loanamount ........... S111,169 $102,095  $94,360
age, defined as the number of years since origination.
The peak ages for default are from three to seven years Product type':
o ) . Long-term, fixed-rate .......... 70% 74% 73%
after origination. The average age of our portfolio has Intermediate-term, fixed-rate . . .. 23 20 20
decreased in the past year largely due to the high level of Adjustable-rate ................ 7 6 7
refinancings. As of December 31, 2002, approximately Total ...oooii 100% 100% 100%
69 percent of our portfolio was three years old or less Property type:
and only 26 percent of the loans were in the peak default | 96% 96% 97%
years, down from 42 percent at the end of 2001. At 2-4UNitS L. 4 4 3
December 31,2001, 57 percent of the loans were three Toral oo 100%  100%  100%
years old or less. At the end of 2000, 61 percent were Occupancy type:
three years old or less and 48 percent were within Principal residence ............. 93% 94% 94%
their peak default years. Second/vacationhome .......... 3 2 2
Investor ..................... 4 4 4
Table 33 shows our conventional single-family mortgage Toral Lo 100%  100%  100%
credit book of business at December 31, 2002, 2001, and Credit score:
2000, based on these risk characteristics. Table 34 shows <620 . 6% 5% 4%
conventional single-family purchase and guaranty acquisition 6200 <660 ... 1 11 10
volumes for the mortgage credit book of business based on 0600 <700 oo 18 17 16
. . . 700t0<740 ... 22 22 21
these risk characteristics, while Table 35 presents a oe7hO 36 3 30
comparison of conventional single-family loans with some Notavailable ... 5 2 19
level of credit enhancement and loans without any credit Total oo 100%  100%  100%
enhancement based on selected risk characteristics. As we Weighted average .............. 714 713 713
work to expand Fannie Mae’s presence, activities, and Loan purpose:
customer base in underserved markets through products Purchase ..........ccooounn.. 38% 46% 53%
such as Expanded Approval/Timely Payment Rewards™, the Cash-outrefinance ............ 27 22 17
overall credit risk profile of our conventional single-family Other refinance ................ 35 32 30
Total ... 100% 100% 100%

mortgage credit book of business may change.
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TABLE 33: CHARACTERISTICS OF CONVENTIONAL
SINGLE-FAMILY MORTGAGE CREDIT BOOK
(CONTINUED)

TABLE 34: CHARACTERISTICS OF CONVENTIONAL

SINGLE-FAMILY MORTGAGE ACQUISITIONS

Percent of Acquisition Volume'

Percent of Book of Business' 2002 2001 2000
2002 2001 2000 Original loan-to-value ratio?:

Geographic concentration: <=60.00% ... 23% 17% 13%
Midwest ..........iiiiii. 18% 19% 19% 60.01% t070.00% ............. 16 14 11
Northeast ..o 19 18 18 70.01% t080.00% ............. 42 45 45
Southeast . ... 21 21 21 80.01% t090.00% ............. 11 13 15
Southwest ................... 16 16 16 Greater than 90.00% ........... 8 11 16
WESE e 26 26 26 Total ..o 100% __ 100% _ 100%

Total ..ot 100%  100%  100% Weighted average .............. 71% 74% 77%
Average loanamount ........... $145,553 $136,376 $118,776

Origination year:
<=1993 .o 6% 1% 18% Product type’:

1994 o 2 3 4 Long-term, fixed-rate .......... 63% 73% 73%
1995 1 3 4 Intermediate-term, fixed-rate .. ... 27 21 12
1996 .o oo 2 3 6 Adjustable-rate ................ 10 6 15
1997 oo 2 5 7 Total ... 100% 100% 100%
1998 oo 11 18 27 Property type:
1999 o 7 13 20 TUnGt oo 96% 96% 96%
20000 4 ? 14 24N L 4 4 4
2001 27 33 - Total oo 100%  100% _ 100%
2002 o 38 — —

Total ... il 100% 100% 100% Occupancy type:

1 Percentages calculated based on unpaid principal balance at the end of each period. Prindpal I"ESiCFenCC ----------- 92% 93% 1%

2 Excludes loans for which this information is not readily available. Second/vacation home . ... 3 3 3

3 Intermediate-term, fixed-rate includes second mortgage loans. Investor ...l 5 4 6

# Midwest includes IL, IN, IA, M1, MN, NE, ND, OH, SD, and W1. Northeast includes CT, DE, ME, Total ........ ... .o 100% 100% 100%

MA, NH, N7, NY, PA, PR, RI, VT, and V1. Southeast includes AL, DC, FL, GA, KY; MDD, MS, NC,
SC, TN, VA, and WV. Southwest includes AZ, AR, CO, KS, LA, MO, NM, OK, TX, and UT. West Credit score:
includes AK, CA, GU, HI, ID, M'T; NV, OR, WA, and WY.
<620 6% 6% 6%
620t0<660 ... oo 11 12 12
660t0<700 ... .. 18 20 20
700t0<740 ... 23 24 24
S=740 oo 41 37 36
Notavailable .................. 1 1 2
Total ... 100% 100% 100%
Weighted average .............. 717 712 712
Loan purpose:
Purchase .................... 30% 37% 72%
Cash-out refinance ............ 32 30 15
Other refinance ................ 38 33 13
Total o 100% 100% 100%
Geographic concentration*:
Midwest .................... 20% 21% 19%
Northeast ................... 18 17 17
Southeast ................... 20 20 21
Southwest ................... 15 16 17
WeSt v 27 26 26
Total ... 100% 100% 100%

I Percentages calculated based on unpaid principal balance.

2 Excludes loans for which this information is not readily available.
3 Intermediate-term, fixed-rate includes second mortgage loans.

# See Tuble 33 for states included in each geographic region.
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TABLE 35: CONVENTIONAL SINGLE-FAMILY MORTGAGE CREDIT BOOK CHARACTERISTICS

Weighted Average Credit Characteristics Based on UPB!

2002

2001 2000

Credit Non-Credit

Credit Non-Credit Credit Non-Credit

Enhanced Enhanced Total Enhanced  Enhanced Total Enhanced  Enhanced Total
Weighted average original LTV ............ 87% 67%  73% 87% 68%  74% 86% 68% 75%
Weighted average current LTV .......... ... 75 58 71 55 60 72 53 60
Weighted average creditscore .............. 694 721 699 719 713 702 720 713

! Indicates the principal amount of loans that have credit enbancement but does not reflect the level of credit enbancement. Excludes assets for which loan-level data is not available.

* Serious Delinquency

A key measure of credit performance and future defaults

for the single-family mortgage credit book is the serious
delinquency rate, although not all loans that become
seriously delinquent result in a default. A serious delinquency
occurs when a borrower has missed three or more
consecutive monthly payments, and the loan has not yet been
brought current or been extinguished through foreclosure,
payoff, or other resolution. A loan referred to foreclosure
but not yet foreclosed is also considered seriously delinquent.
"The serious delinquency rate is the number of mortgages
thatare seriously delinquent divided by the total number of
loans outstanding. The rate at which new loans become
seriously delinquent and the rate at which existing seriously
delinquent loans are resolved significantly affects the level

of future credit losses.

Effective December 31, 2002, we changed how we report our
single-family serious delinquency rate to be more consistent

with our current business and credit risk management
practices. Traditionally, we reported our single-family serious
delinquency rate for those loans where we have the primary
risk of default. For example, we did not include loans that had
substantial recourse to lenders or were covered by significant
supplemental pool insurance from mortgage insurance
companies in our serious delinquency statistics. A significant
portion of our business represents loans where we bear some
risk, but share a portion of that risk with others. As a result,
we believe it is more meaningful to report our single-family
delinquency rate on all of our conventional loans and
distinguish between loans on which we benefit from credit
enhancement and loans on which we do not benefit from
credit enhancement. We have reclassified prior period
statistics to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Table 36 compares the serious delinquency rates for
conventional single-family loans with credit enhancements
and without credit enhancements.

TABLE 36: CONVENTIONAL SINGLE-FAMILY SERIOUS DELINQUENCY RATES

2002 2001 2000
Book Serious Book Serious Book Serious
Outstanding!  Delinquency Rate? Outstanding! Delinquency Rate? Outstanding! Delinquency Rate?
Creditenhanced ......................... 27% 1.29% 32% 1.05% 38% 7%
Non-creditenhanced ....................... 73 68 33 62 .29
Total conventional loans .. ............... 100% .57% 100% 55% 100% 45%

I Reported based on unpaid principal balance.
2 Reported based on number of loans.

For conventional loans in our single-family mortgage credit
book, our total serious delinquency rate increased modestly
to .57 percent at December 31, 2002, from .55 percent at
December 31, 2001. This increase was primarily due to an
increase in the serious delinquency rate of our credit-
enhanced book. The serious delinquency rate for
conventional loans in our single-family mortgage credit book
without credit enhancement declined to .31 percent at
December 31,2002, from .33 percent at December 31, 2001,

a level more consistent with our delinquency rates prior to
the September 11 terrorist attacks and reflective of the low
risk profile of these loans. The serious delinquency rate for
conventional loans in our single-family mortgage credit
book with credit enhancement increased to 1.29 percent
from 1.05 percentin 2001. These loans have a higher risk
profile and tend to be more sensitive to changes in the
economy than loans without credit enhancement.
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* Nonperforming Single-Family Loans

We stop accruing interest on single-family loans that we
own, including delinquent loans purchased from an MBS
trust pursuant to the terms of the trust indenture, when:

(1) principal and interest on these loans is at least 90 days past
due and (2) collection of principal and interest is doubtful.
These loans are classified as nonperforming. Table 37
provides a summary for each of the past five years of the

TABLE 37: NONPERFORMING SINGLE-FAMILY LOANS

following information on our single-family nonperforming
loans: (1) the amount of nonaccrual loans that we owned
within our single-family mortgage portfolio at the end of
each year, (2) the amount of forgone interest income that we
would have recorded each year if these loans had performed
according to contractual terms during the year, and (3) the
amount of interest income recognized during the year on
the loans when they were performing.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Nonaccrual loansat December 31 ... ... i $5,463 $3,691 $1,931 $2,635 $3,135
Interestincome forgone! . ... ... ... 155 101 91 119 110
Interest income recognized duringyear? .......... ... ... . oo i 245 173 56 87 141
Accruing loans past due 90 days and greater at December 313 .................... 663 560 297 335 395

I Forgone interest income represents the amount of interest income that would have been recorded during the year on nonperforming loans at December 31 had the loans performed according to contractual terms.
2 Represents estimated interest income recognized during the year on loans classified as nonperforming at December 31.
3 Principal balance of loans at December 31 that are 90 days or greater past due and continuing to accrue interest because we believe collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured.

Forgone interest income on non-accrual loans increased
significantly in 2002 because we purchased a higher level of
seriously delinquent loans out of MBS pools and added them
to our portfolio. We take this action pursuant to the terms of
the relevant securities when the cost of advancing interest to
MBS investors at the security coupon rate exceeds the cost of
holding the nonperforming loan in our mortgage portfolio.
Any net interest remitted to MBS investors but not received
from the servicer is included as part of the charge-offs should
the loan be foreclosed. Subsequent to a decision to purchase
the seriously delinquent loan out of the MBS, the cost of
holding the loan in our portfolio is reflected as a reduction
to net interest income. We may recover a portion of forgone
interest income when we liquidate foreclosed properties

and collect credit enhancement proceeds.

¢ Single-Family Credit Losses

The application of various credit risk management strategies
throughout a loan’s life helped minimize single-family credit losses in
2002 despite weak economic conditions.

Single-family credit losses include charge-offs plus
foreclosed property expense (income). Interest forgone
on nonperforming loans and other assets in our mortgage
portfolio, which is presented in Table 37, reduces our net
interest income but is not reflected in our credit loss total.

As shown in Table 38, single-family credit-related losses
decreased $7 million in 2002 to $69 million. The credit
loss ratio (ratio of credit losses to the average mortgage
portfolio and outstanding MBS) on our single-family credit

book of business decreased by .2 basis points in 2002
to .4 basis points despite weaker economic conditions.

TABLE 38: SINGLE-FAMILY CREDIT-LOSS PERFORMANCE

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Charge-offsh? .................. $105 $96 $114
Foreclosed property income ... ... (36) (20) (29)
Credit-related losses ............. $69 $76 $85
Creditloss ratio® ................ 004 % .006% .007%
Charge-off ratio* ............... .007 .007 .010

1 Prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

2 Charge-offs for 2002 include $1 million in charge-offs related to foreclosed Federal Housing
Administration loans that are reported in the balance sheet under “Acquired property and foreclosure
claims, net.”

3 Represents credit losses divided by average conventional single-family book of business.

# Represents charge-offs divided by average conventional single-family book of business.

Strong housing prices helped boost recoveries on foreclosed
properties, which offset the increase in foreclosed property
expense associated with a larger number of foreclosed
properties. The number of properties acquired through
foreclosure increased to 19,500 in 2002 from 14,486 in 2001,
contributing to a $9 million increase in charge-offs. While
the number of acquired properties increased 35 percent in
2002, credit-related losses fell by $7 million as average
severities continued to drop, especially in the Northeast and
West regions where foreclosure costs had been higher in the
recent past. This trend is primarily due to the effect of strong
home prices and proceeds from credit enhancements.
Finally, low interest rates led us to repurchase a higher level
of seriously delinquent loans out of MBS, resulting in an
increased amount of forgone interest income.
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Table 39 shows foreclosed property or REO activity in
Fannie Mae’s single-family mortgage credit book for the last
three years.

TABLE 39: SINGLE-FAMILY FORECLOSED PROPERTY

ACTIVITY
2002 2001 2000
Inventory of foreclosed
properties REO)! ............ 9,975 7,073 6,414
Dispositions of REO ........... 16,598 13,827 15,041
Geographic analysis of
acquisitions’:
Midwest .................. 4,742 2,836 2,138
Northeast ................. 2,053 2,165 2,788
Southeast.................. 5,614 4,061 3,575
Southwest ................. 4,461 2,691 2,333
West ...l 2,630 2,733 3,517
Total properties acquired
through foreclosure ........... 19,500 14,486 14,351

1 Includes deeds-in-lieu of foreclosure.
2 See Tuble 33 for states included in each geographic region.

Multifamily

We also purchase or guarantee loans on multifamily
properties—properties with more than four residential units.
We provide financing either in the form of a single asset loan,
principally through the Delegated Underwriting and
Servicing (DUS) product line, or through a negotiated
transaction involving a pool of multifamily properties.

The principal credit risks of multifamily property financings
involve the following:

* Physical condition and financial performance
of the property

* Market conditions in the geographic location
of the property

* Ability and intent of the borrower to repay the loan
¢ Structure of the financing

1. Managing the profile and quality of morigages in the
multifamily mortgage credit book.

Numerous characteristics impact the mortgage credit risk on
a particular multifamily loan. These characteristics include
the type of mortgage loan, the type and location of the
property, the condition and value of the property,
counterparty strength, and the current and anticipated cash
flows on the property. These and other factors affect both
the amount of expected credit loss on a given loan and the
sensitivity of that loss to changes in the economic

environment. We attempt to understand and control the
overall risk in each loan we purchase or guarantee. Under the
DUS product line, we purchase or securitize mortgages from
approved risk sharing lenders without prior review of the
mortgages if the mortgages are less than $20 million.

Lenders represent and warrant that DUS loans they originate
are consistent with our underwriting requirements.
Approximately 67 percent of our multifamily mortgage credit
book consisted of DUS products or business at December 31,
2002, compared with 62 percentat the end of 2001.

‘We manage multifamily mortgage credit risk throughout the
investment life cycle. The cycle begins with the formulation
of sound underwriting and servicing policies and procedures.
When application of these policies and procedures is
delegated to our lending partners, we actively monitor results
through post-purchase underwriting reviews of loans
delivered to us. We conduct on-site assessments of DUS
lenders’ servicing and their financial condition. We closely
track property condition and financial performance
throughout the life of the assets we finance. We also evaluate
borrower, geographic, and other types of risk concentrations
at the loan and portfolio level.

2. Using credit enbancements to reduce credit losses.

We use credit enhancements to transform the risk and return
profile of multifamily loans that we purchase or guarantee
consistent with our corporate credit risk management
objectives. In most of our business arrangements, lenders

in the DUS product line bear losses on the first 5 percent of
UPB and share in remaining losses up to a prescribed limit.
On structured transactions, we generally have full or partial
recourse to lenders or third parties for loan losses. The
recourse provider may back up its obligation with letters

of credit, investment agreements, or pledged collateral.
Third-party recourse providers for structured and other
transactions include government and private mortgage
insurers. While credit enhancements reduce our mortgage-
related credit losses, they also generate institutional
counterparty risk, which we discuss further in the
Institutional Counterparty Credit Risk section. We seek

to concentrate credit enhancement coverage on the riskier
loans. Table 40 presents our multifamily credit risk sharing
profile at December 31,2002, 2001, and 2000.
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TABLE 40: MULTIFAMILY CREDIT RISK SHARING

PROFILE!
December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Fannie Maerisk ....................... 15% 18% 16%
Sharedrisk? .......... .. ... 66 65 60
Recourse? .. ... ... 19 17 24

100% 100% 100%

1 Prior year numbers have been restated to include Fannie Mae’s credit enbancement of housing bonds
issued by state and local government entities.

2 Includes loans in which the lender initially bears losses of up to 5 percent of UPB and shares any
remaining losses with Fannie Mae up to a prescribed limit.

3 Includes loans not included in “shared risk” that have government mortgage insurance or full or partial
recourse to lenders or third parties.

3. Assessing the sensitivity of the profitability of the
maultifamily mortgage credit book of business to changes
in composition and the economic environment.

We use analytical tools to measure credit risk exposures,
assess performance of our book, and evaluate risk
management alternatives. We combine these analyses with
assessments of any problem loan situations to develop
forecasts of future guaranty fee revenue and credit losses.
We carefully monitor the relevant local market economic
indicators that may signal changing risk or return profiles
in the book and cause a change in risk management policies,
credit enhancements, or guaranty fees. For example, we
closely monitor rental payment trends and vacancy levels in
local markets to identify loans meriting closer attention or
loss mitigation actions.

4. Managing problem assets to mitigate credit losses.

As part of our risk management activities, we perform
detailed loss reviews, address borrower and geographic
concentrations, assess lender qualifications, evaluate
counterparty risk, and track property performance and
contract compliance. The loss mitigation team manages
troubled assets from default through foreclosure and
property disposition, if necessary. Given the size of
multifamily loans, we generally require servicers to submit
periodic operating information and property condition
reviews to monitor the performance of individual loans.
We use this information to evaluate the credit quality of
our book, identify potential problem loans, and initiate
appropriate loss mitigation activities.

Multifamily Mortgage Credit Book Performance

The economic downturn in the U.S. economy had a modest
impact on multifamily credit losses in 2002 because property
values have remained strong. If the economy weakens further
and property values decline, we would anticipate a higher
level of credit losses in 2003 than we have experienced in

the recent past. Multifamily credit-related losses totaled

$19 million in 2002, up $14 million from 2001. The higher
level of credit losses in 2002 was due primarily to two large
properties in the Midwest. Although the level of multifamily
losses increased in 2002, we have had historically low credit
loss ratios of less than 3 basis points over the past three years
as shown in Table 41.

TABLE 41: MULTIFAMILY CREDIT-LOSS PERFORMANCE

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Charge-offs .......................... $19 $1 $ 3
Foreclosed property expense ............ — 4 1
Credit-related losses . .................. $19 $ 5 $ 4
Creditloss ratio! ..................... .025% .008%  .007%
Serious delinquency rate! ............... .05 27 .07
Properties acquired through
foreclosure ........... ... 2 1 3

1 Prior year numtbers have been restated to reflect our mew method of reporting delinquencies and include
Fannie Mae’s credit enbancement of housing bonds issued by state and local government entities.

Multifamily serious delinquencies include loans that are

60 days or more past due. We base the multifamily serious
delinquency rate on the UPB of delinquent loans divided
by the UPB of multifamily loans we own or guarantee. Our
multifamily serious delinquency rate declined to .05 percent
atyear-end 2002 from .27 percent at the end of 2001. At the
end of 2000, our multifamily serious delinquency rate was
.07 percent. The increase in 2001 was due to two seriously
delinquent loans totaling $118 million on properties in
New York City affected by the World Trade Center
disaster. These obligations were restructured or became
current in 2002.

Opver the last three years, multifamily credit losses and
serious delinquencies have been at historically low levels.
Management anticipates that multifamily credit losses,
over time, will return to a level more reflective of the
current economic environment.
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Serious Delinquencies

Conventional Single-Family and Multifamily Loans

S56% 55% 57%
A7% A45%
23% 27%
[
1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

. Single-Family—Percent of loans outstanding

. Multifamily—Percent of dollar amount outstanding

TABLE 42: NONPERFORMING MULTIFAMILY LOANS

We generally stop accruing interest on multifamily loans that
we own when principal and interest on these loans is 90 days
past due and collection of principal and interest is doubtful.
Table 42 summarizes the amount of nonaccrual multifamily
loans at December 31, 1998 through December 31, 2002. In
addition, it identifies the amount of interest income that we
would have recorded during those periods if nonperforming
loans had performed according to contractual terms during
the year, the amount of interest income accrued on those
loans during the portion of the year when they were
performing, and the amount of any interest income

accrued on loans past 90 days due.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Nonaccrual loansat December 31 ... ... o.oiiuiiii i $14 $22 $— $4 $29
Interestincome forgone! ... ... ... . ... 1 — — — 2
Interestincome recognized during year? ........ ... . ... . i — 1 — — —
Accruing loans past due 90 days and greater at December 313 .......... ... ... ..., 10 5 3 9 11

1 Forgone interest income represents the amount of interest income that would bave been recorded during the year on nonperforming loans at December 31 had the loans performed according to contractual terms.
2 Represents estimated interest income recognized during the year on loans classified as nonperforming at December 31.
3 Principal balance of loans at December 31 that are 90 days or greater past due and continuing to accrue interest because we believe collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured.

Equity Financing for Multifamily Properties

We also provide equity financing for multifamily properties.
Equity financing typically takes the form of limited
partnership investments in affordable housing projects that
produce low-income housing tax credits. The tax benefits
we receive from these properties represents our primary
economic return on our equity investments.

Because our equity financings have the same property-
related credit risks as other multifamily financings, we track
property condition and financial performance throughout
the life of these investments. We also evaluate the strength
of our investment sponsors and third party asset managers
through periodic financial and operational assessments.
Approximately 33 percent of our equity investments in
low-income housing tax credit properties have an economic
return guaranteed by an investment-grade counterparty.

Internal Revenue Service requirements govern the
recognition of tax credits. These requirements include
maintaining the properties with a specified level of affordable
housing units over a 15-year period. Failure to meet IRS
requirements can trigger a recapture of tax credits from the
IRS. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and

2000, the amounts of tax credit recapture were not significant.

Institutional Counterparty Credit Risk

A secondary credit risk is the possibility that institutional
counterparties may be unable to fulfill their contractual
obligations to us. For example, our credit losses would
increase if a credit enhancement counterparty were unable to
reimburse us in the event of loss on a covered mortgage loan.
Accepting a certain level of counterparty risk is integral to
our interest rate and credit risk management and liquidity
objectives.

We have a dedicated Counterparty Risk Management
team that quantifies aggregate counterparty risk exposures
across business activities, maintains a corporate credit
policy framework for managing counterparty risk, and
manages the counterparty risk associated with mortgage
insurance companies.
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Our overall objective in managing institutional counterparty credit
risk is to maintain individual counterparty exposures within a range
that allows us to achieve our overall financial performance objective of
stable and predictable earnings. Central elements of our approach to
managing institutional counterparty credit visk include: (1) stringent
counterparty eligibility standards appropriate to each exposure type
and level, (2) collateralization of exposures where appropriate, (3)
policies to ensure our counterparty exposures are diversified to avoid
excessive concentration of visk, and (4) i ive exposure itoring
and management.

1. Maintaining stringent counterparty eligibility
standards appropriate to each exposure type.

We generally require that our counterparties have an
investment-grade credit rating. A rating of BBB- /Baa3/BBB
or higher by S&P, Moody’s , and Fitch, Inc., respectively, is
considered an investment-grade rating. For mortgage
insurance counterparties, we have generally required a
minimum rating of AA-/Aa3. For our risk sharing, recourse,
and mortgage servicing counterparties, we do not always
require an investment-grade credit rating because we believe
the risk of loss is lower. We have ongoing, extensive
mortgage purchase and mortgage servicing relationships
with these counterparties. In some instances, we also have
collateral, letters of credit, or investment agreements to
secure the obligation.

Individual business units maintain policies and procedures
governing the eligibility of counterparties and approval
requirements for accepting exposure to them. For example,
we maintain requirements governing eligibility of insurers
to provide primary loan-level mortgage insurance on
single-family loans we buy or guarantee. We conduct a
comprehensive counterparty analysis before approving a
mortgage insurance company. We review a mortgage
insurer’s business plan, financial statements, insurance
portfolio characteristics, master insurance policies,
reinsurance treaties, and ratings on ability to pay claims.
We monitor approved insurers through a quarterly reporting
and analysis process combined with onsite business reviews.

2. Requiring collateralization of exposures, where
appropriate.

We may require collateral, letters of credit, or investment
agreements as a condition to accepting exposure to a
particular counterparty. We may also require thata
counterparty post collateral in the event of an adverse
event such as a ratings downgrade.

We also have contractual rights that can offset exposure in
the event of a counterparty default. For example, if an insurer
cannot provide mortgage insurance in accordance with our

requirements, most of our mortgages have provisions that
allow us to use borrower-paid mortgage insurance premiums
to obtain substantially equivalent protection. If this insurance
is unavailable at an acceptable cost, we can retain the
premium and use it to obtain other credit enhancement or

as a loss reserve. Similarly, we have the contractual right to
terminate a single-family or multifamily lender’s status as

a servicer in the event the lender fails to fulfill its servicing
obligations or fails to reimburse Fannie Mae for losses that
the lender assumed. In that event, we would either sell the
servicing rights or use the servicing fees to offset any losses
related to the lender’ failure.

3. Establishing policies to ensure diversification of
our exposure.

‘We monitor counterparty exposure in total by industry and
by individual counterparty. In addition, we have established
exposure tolerance levels by counterparty based on our
assessment of each counterparty’s credit strength. These
tolerance thresholds allow us to prioritize our monitoring
activities and avoid excessive concentrations of credit risk.

4. Monitoring and managing exposures intensively within
business lines and across Fannie Mae.

Individual business units are responsible for managing the
counterparty exposures routinely associated with their
activities. The Counterparty Risk Management team reviews
business unit policies, procedures, and approval authorities,
and the Credit Risk Policy Committee approves these
internal controls.

Non-derivative institutional counterparty risk primarily
includes exposure created by mortgage insurance policies,
other credit enhancement arrangements with lenders

and others, mortgage servicing contracts with lenders,
and liquidity investments in corporate obligations or
nonmortgage asset-backed securities.

Lenders with Risk Sharing

The primary risk associated with lenders where we have risk
sharing agreements is that they will fail to reimburse us for
losses as required under these agreements. We had recourse
to lenders for losses on single-family loans totaling an
estimated $44 billion at December 31, 2002 and $42 billion
at December 31,2001. The quality of these counterparties is
high, with investment-grade counterparties accounting for
53 percent and 59 percent of lender recourse obligations at
the end of 2002 and 2001, respectively. We also require some
lenders to pledge collateral to secure their recourse
obligations. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we held

$204 million and $247 million in collateral, respectively,
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to secure single-family lender recourse transactions. In
addition, single-family lenders with recourse obligations
received servicing fees on $1.452 trillion and $1.288 trillion
of mortgages at year-end 2002 and 2001, respectively. A
portion of these servicing fees effectively serves as collateral.

We had recourse to lenders on multifamily loans totaling
$77 billion and $63 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Our multifamily recourse obligations were
secured by reserves held in custodial accounts, insurance
policies, letters of credit from investment-grade
counterparties rated A or better, and investment agreements.
In addition, all multifamily lenders with recourse obligations
received servicing fees, a portion of which effectively serves
as collateral.

Mortgage Servicers

"The primary risk associated with mortgage servicers is that
they will fail to fulfill their servicing obligations. Mortgage
servicers collect mortgage and escrow payments from
borrowers, pay taxes and insurance costs from escrow
accounts, monitor and report delinquencies, and perform
other required activities on our behalf. A servicing contract
breach could result in credit losses for us, or we could incur
the cost of finding a replacement servicer, which could be
substantial for loans that require a specialized servicer. We
mitigate this risk by requiring mortgage servicers to maintain
a minimum reserve servicing fee rate to compensate a
replacement servicer in the event of a servicing contract
breach. We also manage this risk by requiring servicers to
follow specific servicing guidelines and by monitoring each
servicer’s performance using loan-level data. We conduct
on-site reviews of compliance with servicing guidelines and
mortgage servicing performance. We also work on-site with
nearly all of our major servicers to facilitate loan loss
mitigation efforts and improve the default management
process. In addition, we review quarterly financial
information on servicers. Our ten largest single-family
mortgage servicers serviced 63 percent of our single-family
book of business at the end of 2002 and 2001. Fannie Mae’s
15 largest multifamily mortgage servicers serviced 70 percent
of our multifamily book of business at year-end 2002,
compared with 67 percent at year-end 2001.

We have purchased mortgage-related securities secured by
manufactured housing that were issued by entities other than
Fannie Mae both for our portfolio and, to a limited extent,
for securitization into REMIC securities we have issued and
guaranteed. We currently own or guarantee approximately
$10 billion of these securities. Due to weakness in the
manufactured housing sector and the financial condition

of Conseco Finance Corp., which services approximately

70 percent of these securities, the major securities rating

agencies downgraded several of the securities. As of
December 31, 2002, the vast majority of these securities were
rated AA- or better, and the entire $10 billion of securities
either had investment-grade ratings or were insured by
counterparties which had investment-grade ratings.
Management believes that any potential impairment that
might be recorded in the future will not be material to
Fannie Mae’s operating results.

On March 14, 2003, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the
Northern District of Illinois issued a final order approving
the servicing arrangements for the securities serviced

by Conseco Finance Corp. The order, based upon an
agreement reached between Conseco Finance, CFN
Investment Holdings (the new owner and servicer),
Fannie Mae and other certificate holders, provided for
revised servicing fees and an enhanced servicing protocol.
CFN is expected to complete the acquisition in the second
quarter of 2003.

Mortgage Insurers

The primary risk associated with mortgage insurers is that
they will fail to fulfill their obligations to reimburse us for
claims under insurance policies. We were the beneficiary

of primary mortgage insurance coverage on $316 billion

of single-family loans in portfolio or underlying MBS at
December 31,2002 and $314 billion at December 31, 2001.
Seven mortgage insurance companies, all rated AA or higher
by S&P, provided approximately 99 percent of the total
coverage at the end of 2002 and 2001.

Liquid Investments

The primary credit risk associated with our liquid
investments, which includes the LIP, our early funding
portfolio, and cash and cash equivalents, is that issuers will
not repay us in accordance with contractual terms. The level
of credit risk in our liquid investments is low because these
investments are primarily high-quality, short- and medium-
term investments. These investments include our early
funding portfolio, which consists primarily of repurchase
agreements, and other high-quality, short-term investments
in nonmortgage assets, such as federal funds and time
deposits, commercial paper, asset-backed securities,

and corporate floating-rate notes. The majority of our
nonmortgage asset-backed securities are rated AAA by S&P.
Unsecured investments in the portfolio are generally rated A
or higher by S&P. Our LIP, which accounts for the majority
of our liquid investments, totaled $39 billion and $65 billion
at the end of 2002 and 2001, respectively. Approximately

94 percent of our LIP had a credit rating of A or higher

at December 31,2002, compared with 96 percent at
December 31, 2001.
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Operations Risk Management

Operations risk is the risk of potential loss resulting from
a breakdown in, or failure to establish, controls and
procedures. Examples of control breakdowns include
circumvention of internal controls, human error, systems
failure, and fraud. Management has implemented extensive
policies and procedures to both establish and monitor
internal controls to decrease the likelihood of any control
breakdowns. Fannie Mae’s Office of Auditing also
independently tests the adequacy of, and adherence to,
internal controls and related policies and procedures.

We actively manage Fannie Mae’s operations risk through
numerous oversight functions, such as:

* Exception reporting and management oversight of
financial and forecasting information through
verification, reconciliation, and independent testing

* Management questionnaires that identify key risks,
controls in place to mitigate those risks, and control
weaknesses

¢ Key performance indicators (KPIs) that track
operational metrics and potential risk exposure

* Quarterly senior and executive management internal
control certifications

* Internal audit work that substantiates the adequacy
of the internal control environment as well as direct
reporting of this work to the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors

* Comprehensive disaster recovery planning
and testing

Management regularly reconciles financial and accounting
information and model results to source documents to ensure
completeness and accuracy of financial reporting. Financial
forecast model results are regularly reconciled to actual
results and the models are recalibrated as necessary to
mitigate modeling risk. The Office of Auditing also
periodically benchmarks the critical models, evaluates the
reasonableness of the underlying assumptions, and validates
the key algorithms embedded within them.

Control weaknesses are identified as well as the steps being
taken to address them. The Office of Auditing reviews and
validates these assessments for reasonableness and accuracy.

KPIs have been established to monitor primary operational
metrics and to facilitate quick and effective senior
management attention should any adverse trends develop.
KPIs focus on the following operational risks:

* Modeling: Losses due to improperly modeled interest
rate risk and credit risk

* Underwriting Effectiveness: Losses due to the failure
of management or our lender counterparties to apply
appropriate underwriting techniques

¢ Counterparty: Losses due to inadequate monitoring
and risk mitigation resulting in exposure to
counterparties who fail to meet their obligations
to Fannie Mae. These counterparties include
lender/servicers, providers of credit enhancement,
document custodians, derivatives counterparties,
and other service providers.

* Transaction Processing: Losses due to inadequate
transaction processing controls, such as ineffective
management oversight and reconciliation processes.
Examples include erroneous wire transfers or loan
deliveries, fraud, trade failures, or release of inaccurate
securities information.

* Systems Availability: Inability to achieve corporate
goals due to a lack of systems availability, consistent
performance, or capacity to recover from a disaster

* Information Security: Financial loss and incurrence of
additional liability due to unauthorized systems access
and corruption or destruction of critical, proprietary,
or confidential data

* Mission Alignment: Ineffective leadership or
inappropriate business models resulting in litigation,
regulatory sanctions, and reputation damage due to
noncompliance with applicable laws, regulations, and
Charter Act requirements

* Financial Reporting: Economic and reputational loss
or disruption due to erroneous or delayed release of
financial reports

Each KPI is based upon clearly defined and quantifiable
performance thresholds that are monitored by our Office of
Auditing. Senior managers are responsible for evaluating and
monitoring KPT activity as well as implementing prompt
corrective action. The Office of Auditing also tests the
integrity of this process on a periodic basis. The Operations,
"Transactions and Investments Committee, headed by our
Chief Operating Officer, reviews the KPIs and ensures
prompt and effective resolutions.

On a quarterly basis, senior and executive management
certify that internal controls are adequate, questionnaires and
KPIs are accurate, and that all significant issues or control
weaknesses that could have a material impact on the financial
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statements have been disclosed. The Office of Auditing
reviews these certifications for reasonableness. The quarterly
certifications are one of the key inputs for our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer’s written
certifications that our financial statements fairly present
Fannie Mae’s financial condition and results of operations

in all material respects.

In addition to the oversight functions indicated above, the
Office of Auditing assesses risk and the underlying control
environment annually throughout the company and then
implements a comprehensive audit plan to assess risk and
validate key controls.

The Office of Auditing also performs third-party audits as an
important part of assessing counterparty exposure as well as
to further substantiate adequacy of related internal controls.
A primary example is performing audits of entities that sell
loans to Fannie Mae or who service loans for us. In these
audits, we evaluate the financial and operational controls

of these entities by

* reviewing the financial statements and assessing
compliance with our net worth and insurance
coverage requirements to assess eligibility and
capability of doing business with us;

* testing cash and custodial accounting controls to
ensure both Fannie Mae and borrower funds are held
in qualified institutions and that the funds are properly
accounted for, safeguarded and remitted; and

* determining that key controls associated with loan
underwriting, accounting, reporting and servicing are
in place and operating effectively, that activity is
reported to us accurately, and that our mortgage assets
are protected.

Fannie Mae has also developed comprehensive disaster
recovery plans covering both systems and business operations
that are designed to restore critical operations with minimal
interruption. Major elements of this plan are tested annually
at established contingency sites.

Controls and Procedures

Within 90 days prior to the date of this report, we carried
out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective. Disclosure controls and procedures are

controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that
information we disclose in our periodic reports is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the designated
time periods.

In addition, based on this most recent evaluation, we have
concluded that there were no significant changes in our
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to the date of their last
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard

to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Fannie Mae’s statutory mission requires that we provide
ongoing assistance to the secondary market for mortgages.
Odur ability to continually raise low-cost capital is critical to
fulfilling our housing mission of providing liquidity to the
secondary mortgage market and promoting homeownership
to low- and moderate-income families. We primarily rely on
debt to purchase mortgage assets and to supply liquidity to
the secondary market. In 2002, our mortgage asset purchases
totaled $371 billion based on unpaid principal balance. We
issued $1.874 trillion in debt to fund those purchases and

to replace maturing, called, or repurchased debt. We take a
long-term approach to our funding and capital management
strategy because of our continuous requirements for large
amounts of funding. Fannie Mae’s liquidity and capital
position is actively managed to preserve stable, reliable, and
cost-effective sources of cash to meet all current and future
normal operating financial commitments, meet our
regulatory capital requirements, and handle any unforeseen
liquidity crisis.

Liquidity

Fannie Mae’s primary sources of liquidity include proceeds
from the issuance of debt, principal and interest received on
our mortgage portfolio, guaranty fees earned on our MBS,
and principal and interest received on our LIP. Primary
uses of liquidity include the purchase of mortgage assets,
repayment of debt, interest payments, administrative
expenses, taxes, and fulfillment of Fannie Mae’s MBS
guaranty obligations. Our liquid assets totaled $62 billion
at December 31, 2002, compared with $76 billion at
December 31, 2001.

In 2001, we adopted the 14 principles for sound liquidity
management established by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision as part of our voluntary safety and soundness
initiatives. These principles outline the appropriate structure
for managing liquidity and market access, a process for
measuring and monitoring net funding requirements, the
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need for contingency plans, the necessary controls for
liquidity risk management, and the role of public disclosure
and regulatory oversight. We monitor our liquidity position
through a combination of daily, weekly, and monthly reports
to help set strategies and make funding decisions.

Our analyses include
* projected cash flows and funding needs,

* targeted funding terms and various funding
alternatives for achieving those terms,

* costof debt and the most efficient ways to achieve

desired funding, and

* market conditions and upcoming economic indicators
and other factors that could impact the capital markets
and our funding capabilities.

We have historically had ready access to funding for the
following reasons:

*  Ouwr Credit Quality: In February 2001, S&P assigned
Fannie Mae a AA- “risk to the government” rating. In
February 2002, Moody’s assigned us an A- Bank Financial
Strength Rating. The highest possible levels for these
ratings are AAA from S&P and A from Moody’s.

These ratings are continuously monitored by each rating
agency. Additionally, our senior unsecured debt has been
rated AAA, Aaa, and AAA by Fitch, Moody’s, and S&P,
respectively. Fitch, Moody’s, and S&P rated our short-
term debt F1+, Prime-1 or P-1, and A-1+, respectively.

*  Ouwr Standing in the Capital Market: We are an active
participant in the global financial markets and one of the
world’s largest private issuers of debt securities. Our debt
obligations are traded in the “agency securities market.”
The agency securities market includes securities issued
by government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs). While the
U.S. government does not guarantee our debt, directly
or indirectly, securities issued by GSEs are typically
perceived to be of high credit quality.

*  Ouwr Efficiency: We have demonstrated a long-term
commitment to investors in the organized way we bring
debtissues to market and monitor performance in the
secondary market. We have successfully developed new
funding products and markets with a variety of terms and
features to appeal to a wide spectrum of investors. In
addition, we may transform the debt into terms and other
features that better match our funding needs through our
efficient use of derivatives.

Given the importance of debt to our funding strategy, we
have a contingency plan to protect us in the event of a major
market disruption that would prevent us from issuing debt.
As part of our voluntary safety and soundness initiatives,

we maintain contingency plans for handling a liquidity crisis
under an assumption that we cannot access the new-issue
debt markets for a period of at least three months.

Each day we update and analyze cash commitments and
anticipated cash flows for the next 90 days. Our analysis
indicates how we expect to obtain funds during that period in
the event we cannot access the capital markets. In the event
of a market disruption in which we could notissue debt, we
could liquidate our LIP or borrow against our mortgage
portfolio to meet our operational needs:

*  Fannie Mae’s LIP primarily consists of high-quality
securities that are readily marketable or have short-term
maturities and serves as the primary means for ensuring
that we maintain sufficient liquidity. If our access to the
debt capital markets is ever impeded, we first will utilize
assets in our LIP to generate the cash necessary to meet
our liquidity needs. Our initial source of funds would
come from the ongoing maturity of short-term
investments in the portfolio. If additional funds were
needed, we would sell assets from the LIP to generate
these funds. As part of our voluntary commitments, we
have publicly pledged to maintain a portfolio of high-
quality, liquid, nonmortgage-related securities equal to
atleast 5 percent of total on-balance-sheet assets. Our
LIP and other liquid assets together totaled $62 billion
and $76 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The ratio of our liquid assets to total assets
was 6.9 percentand 9.5 percent at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

*  Fannie Mae’s Mortgage Portfolio consists of assets that
could be pledged as collateral for financing in the
repurchase agreement market. We are able to borrow
against Fannie Mae’s mortgage assets in the market for
mortgage repurchase agreements. We test this capability
through periodic issuance. At December 31, 2002
and 2001, we had approximately $410 billion and
$359 billion, respectively, in eligible mortgage securities.

At December 31,2002, we had $85 billion in outstanding
mandatory commitments and $3 billion in outstanding
optional commitments for the purchase and delivery of
mortgages in 2003. At December 31, 2001, Fannie Mae
had $55 billion in outstanding mandatory commitments
and $2 billion in outstanding optional commitments for
the purchase and delivery of mortgages in 2002.
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Capital Resources

Core capital (defined by OFHEO as the stated value of
outstanding common stock, the stated value of outstanding
noncumulative perpetual preferred stock, paid-in capital,
and retained earnings, less treasury stock) grew to

$28.1 billion at December 31, 2002 from $25.2 billion at
December 31, 2001. Core capital excludes accumulated
other comprehensive income because AOCI incorporates
unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives and certain securities,
but not the unrealized losses (gains) on the remaining
mortgages and securities or liabilities used to fund the
purchase of these items. Total capital (defined by OFHEO
as core capital plus the general allowance for losses) grew
to $28.9 billion at year-end 2002 from $26.0 billion at
year-end 2001.

At December 31,2002, AOCI totaled negative $11.8 billion,
compared with a negative balance of $7.1 billion at
December 31, 2001. Upon adoption of FAS 133 on January 1,
2001, we recorded a $3.9 billion reduction in AOCI, which
was primarily attributable to recording derivatives (mostly
pay-fixed interest rate swaps) that qualify as cash flow hedges
on the balance sheet at fair value. The decline in interest rates
during 2002 and 2001 caused a decline in the fair value of
these derivatives and has reduced AOCI since the adoption
of FAS 133. In conjunction with the adoption of FAS 133, we
also, in a non-cash transfer, reclassified investment securities
and MBS with an amortized cost of approximately $20 billion
and unrealized gains and unrealized losses of $164 million
and $32 million, respectively, from held-to-maturity to
available-for-sale. On September 13,2002, concurrent with
the implementation of a new risk-based capital rule issued by
OFHEO, we reclassified $135 billion of securities in our
mortgage and nonmortgage investment portfolios from held-
to-maturity to available-for-sale in accordance with FAS 115.
At the time of this noncash transfer, the securities had gross
unrealized gains of $5.503 billion and losses of $59 million.
Prior to OFHEQO?s risk-based capital rule, Fannie Mae was
notsubject to a risk-based capital standard. OFHEO’s

new risk-based capital rule establishes a risk weight for
Fannie Mae’s assets. FAS 115 specifically identifies “a
significant increase in the risk weights of debt securities

used for regulatory risk-based capital purposes” as a change
in circumstance under which a company may reclassify
securities from held-to-maturity to available-for-sale without
calling into question the intent to hold other securities to
maturity in the future. See “Government Regulation and
Charter Act—Capital Requirements” for additional
information on our risk-based capital rule.

Common shares outstanding, net of shares held in treasury,
totaled approximately 989 million and 997 million at
December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively. During 2002,
Fannie Mae issued 7.0 million common shares from treasury
to fund our 2001 commitment of $300 million to the

Fannie Mae Foundation and for employee and other stock
compensation plans. We issued 4.5 million common shares
from treasury during 2001 for employee and other stock
compensation plans. As part of the continuation of our
capital restructuring program, we repurchased 15.4 million
common shares at a weighted-average cost per share of
$76.01 in 2002 and 6.0 million common shares at a weighted-
average cost per share of $76.95 in 2001. We repurchased the
stock pursuant to our Board of Directors’ approval to
repurchase up to 6 percent of outstanding common shares as
of December 27, 1995 (adjusted for a stock split) and to offset
the dilutive effect of common shares issued in conjunction
with various stock compensation programs.

We raised additional equity of $1 billion in 2002 and

$400 million in 2001 by issuing Non-Cumulative Preferred
Stock. On February 28, 2002, we redeemed all outstanding
shares of our 6.5 percent Non-Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series B at $50.51458 per share, which represents the stated
redemption price of $50.00 per share plus an amount equal
to the dividend for the quarterly dividend period ending
March 31,2002, accrued to, but excluding the redemption
date of February 28,2002. On July 31, 2002, we redeemed
all outstanding shares of our 6.45 percent Non-Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series C at $50.27771 per share, which
represents the stated redemption price of $50.00 per share
plus an amount equal to the dividend for the quarterly
dividend period ending September 30, 2002, accrued to,
but excluding the redemption date of July 31, 2002.
Preferred stock accounted for 9.5 percent of our core
capital at December 31, 2002, versus 9.1 percent at
December 31,2001. On March 18, 2003, we issued 8 million
shares or $400 million of variable rate Non-Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series K.

In January 2003, our Board of Directors approved a quarterly
common stock dividend for 2003 of $.39 per common share.
The quarterly dividend rate per common share was $.33 and
$.30in 2002 and 2001, respectively. Our Board of Directors
also approved preferred stock dividends for the period
commencing December 31, 2002, up to but excluding
March 31, 2003, as identified in Table 43.
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TABLE 43: PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

Shares Issued Stated

Issue and Value Annual Redeemable on

Date Outstanding per Share Dividend Rate or After
SeriesD ..o September 30, 1998 3,000,000 $50 5.250% September 30, 1999
SeriesE ... April 15,1999 3,000,000 50 5.100 April 15,2004
Series F oo March 20, 2000 13,800,000 50 3.540! March 31,20023
SerieSG oot August 8, 2000 5,750,000 50 1.830? September 30, 20023
Series H ..o April 6,2001 8,000,000 50 5.810 April 6,2006
Series] ..ot October 28,2002 6,000,000 50 5.375 October 28,2007
Series] oot November 26,2002 14,000,000 50 3.780% November 26, 2004
TOL e e 53,550,000

! Rate effective March 31, 2002. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the Constant Maturity U.S. Treasury rate minus .16 percent with a cap of 11 percent per year.

2 Rate effective September 30, 2002. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the Constant Maturity U.S. Treasury rate minus .18 percent with a cap of 11 percent per year.

3 Represents initial call date. Redeemable every two years thereafier.

# Initial rate. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the two-year U.S. Dollar Swap Rate plus 1.38 percent with a cap of 8 percent per year.

During 2002, we issued $3.5 billion of subordinated debt
securities that received ratings of AA- from S&P, Aa2 from
Moody’s, and AA by Fitch. We issued $5 billion of
subordinated debt securities that received a rating of AA-
from S&P and Aa2 from Moody’ in 2001. Subordinated debt
serves as a supplement to our equity capital, although it is not
a component of core capital. It provides a risk-absorbing
layer to supplement core capital for the benefit of senior debt
holders and is intended to serve as a consistent and early
market signal of credit risk for investors. By the end of 2003,
we intend to issue sufficient subordinated debt to bring the
sum of total capital and outstanding subordinated debt to at
least 4 percent of on-balance-sheet assets, after providing
adequate capital to support off-balance sheet MBS. "Total
capital and outstanding subordinated debt represented

3.7 percent of on-balance-sheet assets at December 31, 2002,
compared with 3.4 percent at December 31, 2001.

Regulatory Environment

Fannie Mae is subject to capital adequacy standards
established by the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial
Safety and Soundness Act of 1992 (1992 Act) and continuous
examination by OFHEQ, which was established by the

1992 Act. The capital adequacy standards require that our
core capital equal or exceed a minimum capital standard and
a critical capital standard. The Portfolios and Capital
Committee, chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, ensures
compliance with economic and regulatory risk-based capital
requirements. Table 44 shows our core capital and total
capital at year-end 2002 and 2001 compared with the
requirements.

TABLE 44: CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

December 31,

Dollars in millions 2002 2001
Corecapitall . ... $28,079 $25,182
Required minimum capital®® .............. 27,203 24,182
Excess of core capital over minimum capital’. .. $ 877 $ 1,000
Total capital’ . ... ..oovi $28,871 $25,976
Required risk-based capital ................. 17,434 NA
Excess of total capital over required

risk-based capital ......... .. .. ...l $11,437 NA
Required critical capital*S .............. ... $13,880 $12,324
Excess of core capital over required

critical capital® ...... ... o oo i 14,199 12,859

LThe sum of (a) the stated value of common stock; () the stated value of outstanding noncumulative
perpetual preferred stock; (c) paid-in capital; and (d) retained earnings, less treasury stock. Core capital
excludes lated other comprebensive income (AOCI).

2 The sum of (a) 2.50 percent of on-balance sheet assets; (b) .45 percent of outstanding MBS; and
(c) .45 percent of other off-balance sheet obligations, which may be adjusted by the Director of OFHEO
under certain circumstances (See 12 CFR 1750.4 for existing adjustments made by the
Director of OFHEO).

3 The sum of (a) core capital and (b) the total allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability, less (¢) the
specific loss allowance. Specific loss allowances totaled $19 million and $13 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

+ The sum of (@) 1.25 percent of on-balance sheet assets; (b) .25 percent of outstanding MBS; and
(c) .25 percent of other off-balance sheet obligations, which may be adjusted by the Director of OFHEO
under certain circumstances.

5 These amounts do not reflect the reclassification from our “Allowance for loan losses” to a “Guaranty
liability for MBS” the amount associated with the guaranty obligation for MBS that we own that
occurred in 2002. See Note 1 to the Notes to the Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies—Allowance for Loan Losses and Guaranty Liability for MBS.” The reclassification
will not have a material effect on these amounts.

The 1992 Actalso established our risk-based capital
requirements, and it required OFHEO to adopt regulations
establishing a risk-based capital test. OFHEO published
regulations under the 1992 Actin September 2001, as
amended on March 15,2002, establishing a risk-based capital
test to determine the amount of total capital we must hold
under the risk-based capital standard on a quarterly basis.
OFHEO implemented the risk-based capital standard on
September 13, 2002. At December 31, 2002, our risk-based
capital requirement was $17.4 billion. Our total capital was
$28.9 billion at year-end 2002, $11.4 billion higher than the

risk-based capital requirement.
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PERFORMANCE OUTLOOK

We expect Fannie Mae’s core business earnings to continue
to increase in 2003, although at a growth rate below the
above-average trend rates of 2002 and 2001. We project that
our net interest margin will move lower in 2003 as the
benefits from the actions we took during 2002 and 2001 to
lower our debt costs begin to diminish. We anticipate some
increase in our effective average guaranty fee rates because
of recent pricing trends. We also believe that while credit
expenses may move higher in 2003, they will remain at
historically low levels. Should economic conditions
deteriorate, we believe our book of business is well-
positioned to perform better than in prior slowdowns
because of improved loan underwriting through Desktop
Underwriter, lower loan-to-value ratios, more third-party
credit enhancements, and superior credit loss mitigation
efforts. Our administrative expense growth rate should
decline in 2003 but remain above historical levels as we
complete our core infrastructure project and begin to
expense stock-based compensation. See “MD &A—Forward
Looking Information.”

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Accounting for Stock Compensation

We elected to adopt the expense recognition provisions

of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123, Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation (FAS 123), effective January 1,
2003. In accordance with FAS 123, we will recognize the

fair value of stock-based compensation at grant date over the
service period of the employee as an administrative expense
in our income statement. We have elected to apply this
change in accounting prospectively to all awards granted

on January 1, 2003 and thereafter. We will continue to
account for stock-based compensation awarded prior to
January 1, 2003 under Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25).

We estimate that the impact of adopting the expense
recognition provisions of FAS 123 will result in additional
expense of approximately $28 million in 2003.

Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees

In November 2002, FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others (FIN 45). FIN 45 will primarily apply to guaranteed
MBS issued to investors other than Fannie Mae on or after
January 1, 2003 by Fannie Mae as trustee, and it will require
that we recognize the fair value of our guarantee on MBS as
an asset and the fair value of our guaranty obligations as a
liability. Under FIN 45, we will amortize our guaranty asset
and liability amounts equally over the estimated life of the
loans underlying the MBS as an adjustment to guaranty fee
income. There will be no effect on Fannie Mae’s guaranty
fee income or stockholders’ equity from adopting this

accounting rule because the guaranty asset and liability
will be equal under FIN 45.

Special Purpose Entities (SPEs)

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation

No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46).
FIN 46 provides guidance on when a company should
include in its financial statements the assets, liabilities, and
activities of a variable interest entity (VIE). Under FIN 46, a
variable interest entity must be consolidated by a company if
that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from
the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to receive a
majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. We have not
identified any current Fannie Mae arrangements that meet
the VIE consolidation criteria of FIN 46. Therefore, we do
not believe that FIN 46 will have a material impact on
Fannie Mae. Our off-balance sheet MBS activities are outside
the scope of FIN 46 because we conduct those activities
through trusts that are qualifying SPEs. Our investments in
low-income housing tax credit partnerships are also outside
the scope of FIN 46 because they do not meet the definition
of variable interest entities.
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Financial Statements and Reports

Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars and shares in millions, except per common share amounts 2002 2001 2000
Interest income:
Mortgage portfolio . ... ... ...t $49,265 $46,478 $39,403
Nonmortgage investments and cash equivalents ... ............ ... ... .. oo . 1,588 2,692 3,378
TOtal INTETEST INCOMIE &+« .« v v e ettt e e ettt et e e ettt et e e et e e e e e s 50,853 49,170 42,781
Interest expense:
Short-termdebt . . ... .. 2,978 5,897 4,204
Long-term debt ... ... . 37,309 35,183 32,903
Total INTEreSt EXPEIISE . . ettt 40,287 41,080 37,107
Netinterest IMCOIME . ... v vttt ettt et e ettt e i i 10,566 8,090 5,674
Other income:
Guaranty fee INCOME . ... ...ttt e 1,816 1,482 1,351
Fee and other income (expense), Net . ........ ...ttt 232 151 44
Total Other INCOME . . ..ottt ettt et e e ettt e et 2,048 1,633 1,307
Other expenses (income):
Provision forlosses .. ... ... 128 94 122
Foreclosed property inCome . . . ...ttt (36) (16) (28)
AdmiInistrative eXPenses .. ... ...ttt 1,219 1,017 905
Special contribution . .......... — 300 —
Purchased options eXpense . . ... ... 4,545 37 —
Debtextinguishments,net ........... .. . . 710 524 (49)
Total other expenses (INCOME) . .........uuueuii i i 6,566 1,956 950
Income before federal income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. .. 6,048 7,767 6,031
Provision for federal INCOME taXeS .« . ..o oottt ittt ettt et 1,429 2,041 1,583
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............. ... ... ... 4,619 5,726 4,448
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of taxeffect ................ .. ... — 168 —
BN 16 1 LY $ 4,619 $ 5,894 $ 4,448
Preferred stock dividends ........ ... 99 138 121
Net income available to common stockholders ............. ... ... ... .. . i, $ 4,520 $ 5,756 $ 4,327
Basic earnings per common share:
Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .................... $ 456 $ 558 $ 431
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ........... ... ... .. ... .. ... — 17 —
INEEEATTUNES  « + « v e ettt e ettt et e e e e e et e et e e e $ 4.56 $ 575 $ 431
Diluted earnings per common share:
Earnings before camulative effect of change in accounting principle .................... $ 4.53 § 555 $ 429
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ............ .. ... ... ... .. ..... — 17 —
NEEATNINGS .« o o\ v ettt ettt ettt et e et e e e $ 4.53 $ 5.72 $ 429
Cash dividends per commonsshare ......... ... ... .. ... $ 132 $ 1.20 $ 112
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic o o 992 1,000 1,003
Diluted ... 997 1,006 1,009

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheets

December 31,
Dollars in millions, except share stated values 2002 2001
Assets
Mortgage portfolio:
Mortgage-related securities:
Held-t0-Maturity .. ..ottt ettt ettt e e e e et et e e e e $437,932 $509,155
Available-for-sale ... ... 173,706 32,900
LOtal L e 611,638 542,055
Loans held-for-InVestment: . . ... ...ttt et ettt e e e e e e e e 185,652 165,917
Allowance for 1oan 1oSSES . . . .« oottt e (79) (48)
Unamortized premiums (discounts) and deferred price adjustments,net . ......................... 337 (2,640)
Loans held-for-sale ... ... ... 145 40
Mortgage portfolio, NEt ... ... .. 797,693 705,324
Nonmortgage investments:
Held-to-maturity . ....... ... 23,050 38,671
Available-for-sale ... ... ... e 36,794 35,883
Cashand cash equivalents .. ....... .. ... 1,710 1,518
Accrued interest receivable . ... ... . e e 4,915 4,705
Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net ............ .. 1,033 684
Derivatives in @ain POSITIONS . . . . ..ottt ettt ettt e s 3,666 954
[ =S 18,654 12,209
TOTAl ASSEES .+ v v v vt vttt ettt e e e e e e e $887,515 $799,948
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Debentures, notes and bonds, net:
Senior debt:
Due Within ONE Year ... .. ...ttt e e $382,412 $343,492
Due after one year ... 458,600 413,582
Subordinated debt:
Due after one year ... 9,970 6,393
2 Y 850,982 763,467
Accrued interest payable ... ... 8,379 8,529
Derivatives in 1oss POSIHIONS . ... ...ttt 5,697 5,069
Guaranty liability for MBS .. ... 729 755
[T 5,440 4,010
Total Habilities . . . . ..ot 871,227 781,830
Stockholders’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $50 stated value, 100 million shares authorized — 53.6 million shares issued and outstanding in 2002
and 46 million shares issued and outstanding in 2001 . ... .. . 2,678 2,303
Common stock, $.525 stated value, $1.32 of dividends per share paid in 2002 and $1.20 of dividends per share paid
in 2001, no maximum authorization — 1,129 million sharesissued .......... ... ... ... o i ... 593 593
Additional paid-in capital ... ... ... 1,839 1,651
Retained earnings . .. ... ... 29,385 26,175
Accumulated other comprehensive [0Ss . . ... ...t (11,792) (7,065)
22,703 23,657
Less: Treasury stock, at cost, 140 million shares in 2002 and 132 million shares in 2001 ......................... 6,415 5,539
Total stockholders’ equity ... ..... ... ... s 16,288 18,118
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity . .......... ... . .. $887,515 $799,948

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Net Additional Other Total
Common Shares  Preferred  Common Paid-In Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury  Stockholders’
Dollars and shares in millions Outstanding Stock Stock Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Stock Equity
Balance, January 1,2000 ............................... 1,019 $1,300 $593 $1,585 $18417 $§ (246) $(4,020) $17,629
Comprehensive income:
Netincome . ...ttt — — — — 4,448 — — 4,448
Other comprehensive income, net of tax effect:
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities . . . . . . — — — — — 256 — 256
Total comprehensive income ........................ 4,704
DAVIAENdS -+« oot — — — — (1,246 — — (1,246
Sharesrepurchased . ......... ... ... o oo 25) — — — — —  (1,406) (1,406)
Preferred stockissued ....... ... .. . — 978 — (10) — — — 968
Treasury stock issued for stock options and benefit plans ... .. 5 — — 13 — — 176 189
Balance, December 31,2000 ............................ 999 2,278 593 1,588 21,619 10 (5,250) 20,838
Comprehensive income:
NeEtinCome . ..ottt it et — — — — 5,894 — — 5,894
Other comprehensive income, net of tax effect:
Transition adjustment from the adoption
of FAS 133 .. — — — — — (3,972) — (3,972)
Unrealized gain on securities transferred
toavailable-for-sale . ............. ... ... oL — — — — — 86 — 86
Net cash flow hedginglosses .................... — — — — — (3,387) — (3,387)
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities . . . ... — — — — — 198 — 198
Total comprehensiveloss ............. ... .. ... .. (1,181)
DIVIAENdS -+« oo — — — —1,338) — —1,339)
Sharesrepurchased . ........ ... ... ... . oo 6) — — — — — (464) (464)
Preferred stockissued ......... ... . o o ool — 400 — 4) — — — 396
Preferred stockredeemed . ...... ... .o o o oL — 375 — — — — — (375)
Treasury stock issued for stock options and benefit plans . .. .. 4 — — 67 — — 175 242
Balance, December 31,2001 ............................ 997 2,303 593 1,651 26,175 (7,065)  (5,539) 18,118
Comprehensive income:
NetinCome . ...ovuiinii i — — — — 4,619 — — 4,619
Other comprehensive income, net of tax effect:
Net cash flow hedginglosses ..................... — — — — — (8,892) — (8,892)
Reclassification of securities from held-to-maturity
to available-for-sale under FAS 115 ................ — — — — — 3,539 — 3,539
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities . . . ... — — — — — 626 — 626
Total comprehensiveloss . ................. ... . .. (108)
DIVIAENdS -+« o oo — — — — (1,409 — — (1,409
Shares repurchased .............. ... ... .. oo (15) — — — — —  (1,167) (1,167)
Preferred stockissued ........ ... o — 1,000 — ) — — — 991
Preferred stockredeemed ................ .. ... — 625) — — — — — (625)
Treasury stock issued for stock options and benefit plans ... .. 3 — — 61 — — 127 188
Treasury stock issued for special contribution .............. 4 — — 136 — — 164 300
Balance, December 31,2002 ............................ 989  $2,678 $593 $1,839 $29,385  $(11,792) $(6,415) $16,288

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEEIACOME - - e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 4,619 $ 5,894 $ 4448
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Amortization of discount/premium and deferred price adjustments .................. 5,801 11,045 10,278
Provision forlosses ......... .. 128 94 122
Loss (gain) on debt extinguishments ............ ... ... ... .. .. o i 710 524 (49)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, netoftax .................... — (168) —
Purchased options expense ......... ... ..l 4,545 37 —
Deferred iNCOME tAXES .« . v\ttt t ettt ettt e e e et (1,626) (190) 161
Other decreases, MEt .. ..ottt ettt e ettt (2,039) (2,904) (659)
Net cash provided by operating activities .............. .. i 12,138 14,332 14,301
Cash flows from investing activities:
Mortgage portfolio purchases ........... ... ... ... i (373,169) (270,609) (153,837)
Proceeds from sales from mortgage portfolio . . ........ ... ... ... oo 9,691 8,967 10,599
Mortgage portfolio principal repayments ............ .. . oo 274,941 164,408 56,568
Net proceeds from disposition of foreclosed properties ............................ 2,281 1,827 1,962
Purchases of held-to-maturity nonmortgage investments . . ......................... (1,819,326) (1,359,614) (1,184,924)
Maturities of held-to-maturity nonmortgage investments .. ........................ 1,823,915 1,343,328 1,173,546
Purchases of available-for-sale nonmortgage investments .......................... (54,534 (78,632) (13,610)
Maturities of available-for-sale nonmortgage investments . ......................... 58,617 68,269 1,190
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale nonmortgage investments . . ................ 6,158 7,193 8,995
Net cash used in INVeSHNG ACHVITIES « « ... vttt (71,426) (114,863) (99,511)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-termdebt ............ .. ... o ool 238,252 249,454 110,298
Payments to redeem long-termdebt ........... ... ... ... o il (175,809) (196,610) (49,769)
Proceeds from issuance of short-termdebt . . .. ........ ... 1,631,404 1,746,381 1,130,698
Payments to redeem short-termdebt ....... ... ... . oo o oo (1,620,644) (1,690,806) (1,104,694)
Proceeds from zero-couponswapcalls . ........ ... o o o oo 478 203 —
Net payments to purchase or settle hedge instruments .. .......................... (12,119) (5,569) (1,245)
Net payments from stock aCtVITIES ... ..ottt ettt (2,082) (1,621) (1,560)
Net cash provided by financing activities ............ ... ..o i 59,480 101,432 83,728
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ................... ... ... ....... 192 901 (1,482)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ............ ... .. ... ... .o 1,518 617 2,099
Cash and cash equivalentsatend of year ......... ... ... ... .. o i $ 1,710 $ 1,518 $ 617
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
INtErest .. ... $ 40,401 $ 40,361 $ 34863
Income taxes ... ..ot 3,032 2,088 1,595

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fannie Mae is a federally chartered and stockholder-owned
corporation operating in the residential mortgage finance

industry.

We prepare our financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. These principles require us to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

We have reclassified certain amounts in prior years’ financial
statements to conform to the current presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

We regularly invest in qualified low-income housing tax
credit partnerships as a limited partner. In accordance with
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
Statement of Position 78-9, Accounting for Investments in

Real Estate Ventures, we typically do not consolidate these
partnerships because we are a limited partner and do not have
voting rights or control the activities of these partnerships.
We account for these non-consolidated investments using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method
of accounting, we record the amount of our investment as an
asset on our balance sheet. We recognize our share of
partnership income or losses in the income statement line
item “Fee and other income, net” with an offset to the
investment account on our balance sheet. Partnership losses
reduce the size of our asset and partnership income increases
our asset. We account for any cash received from these
partnerships as a return of investment and reduce the asset
balance. These limited partnership investments are qualified
affordable housing projects that are eligible for tax credits.
We record these tax credits as a reduction in our provision for
federal income taxes in the income statement when received.
We regularly evaluate these investments for impairment. If
there is other-than-temporary impairment in the value of
these investments, we recognize the decline in value as an
expense in “Fee and other income, net.” If an investment-
grade third party guarantees the return on these investments,
we account for the investments using the effective yield
method according to Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No.
94-1, Accounting for Tax Benefits Resulting from Investments in
Affordable Housing Projects. Under this method, we recognize
tax credits as they are allocated to us and amortize the initial
cost of the investment to provide a level yield over the period
we are allocated tax credits. We recognize both the tax credits
and the amortization of the investment, net of taxes, in the
provision for federal income taxes.

We also sponsor trusts that facilitate the issuance of

Fannie Mae mortgage-backed securities (MBS). MBS
include real estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICs).
In this capacity, we serve as trustee for the creation and
issuance of these MBS. To create MBS, lenders transfer
loans to us and we immediately transfer these loans into a
trust and deliver certificates to the lender or other purchaser.
These certificates represent beneficial interests in the loans
underlying the MBS that are held in trust. The trust pays us
to guarantee the timely payment of scheduled principal and
interest on MBS to investors. To create REMICs, investors
transfer loans, MBS, or mortgage-related securities to us
and we immediately transfer them into a trust and deliver
certificates to the investor. These REMIC certificates
represent beneficial interests in the underlying collateral
held in trust by us.

The loans underlying MBS and the collateral underlying
REMIC:s are not our assets, and we do not reflect them on
our balance sheet unless our portfolio investment business
buys them. In accordance with Financial Accounting
Standard No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Debt (FAS 140), we

do not consolidate the trusts used to issue MBS because these
trusts meet the definition of a qualifying special purpose
entity. We recognize a guaranty liability for estimated losses
on our guaranty obligation in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standard No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies
(FAS 5). For more information on the accounting for

our guaranty, refer to the sections in this footnote titled
“Guaranteed Mortgage-Related Securities,” “Mortgage-
Related Securities,” and “Allowance for Loan Losses and

Guaranty Liability for MBS.”

Mortgage Portfolio

Loans

Loans are mortgage loans. We classify mortgages that we
have the original intent at the time of purchase to hold for
investment purposes as “held-for-investment.” We measure
these assets at their unpaid principal balance (UPB) adjusted
for unamortized purchase discount or premium and other
deferred price adjustments. We classify mortgages that we
intend to sell as “held-for-sale.” We measure mortgages
held-for-sale at the lower of cost or market, determined on
a portfolio basis, with any unrealized losses included in
current period earnings.

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standard No. 91,
Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with
Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases
(FAS 91), we use actual principal prepayment experience and
estimate future principal prepayments to calculate the
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constant effective yield necessary to apply the interest
method in the amortization of purchase discount or premium
and other deferred price adjustments. We aggregate loans by
similar characteristics such as loan type, acquisition date,
interest rate, and maturity to evaluate prepayments. We use
historical prepayment data and expected prepayment
performance under varying interest rate scenarios to estimate
future prepayments.

We do not accrue interest income on nonperforming loans.
We classify conventional single-family and multifamily loans
as nonperforming and reverse previously accrued interest
against current period income when the loan is 90 days

or more delinquent and we estimate the interest to be
uncollectible. We return loans to accrual status when the
borrower is less than 90 days delinquent because the
probability of default is low and management believes
collections of future payments are reasonably assured.

Pursuant to our guaranty obligation, we are required to
purchase at par a loan underlying MBS pools when the
borrower has not made a payment for 24 consecutive months.
We have the option under the terms of the trust indenture to
purchase the loan out of the pool after the borrower has
missed their fourth consecutive payment. We usually
purchase the loan out of the pool after the fourth consecutive
missed payment. When the loan is purchased out of the pool,
we record the loan atits approximate fair value. When
estimating fair value, we take into account the underlying real
estate collateral, estimated costs to sell, and estimated
receipts from third-party credit enhancements.

Mortgage-Related Securities

We classify mortgage-related securities that we have the
ability and positive intent to hold to maturity as “held-to-
maturity.” We measure these assets at their unpaid principal
balance adjusted for unamortized purchase discount or
premium and other deferred price adjustments. We classify
mortgage-related securities that we intend to hold for an
undetermined period, but not necessarily to maturity, as
“available-for-sale.” We measure available-for-sale
mortgage-related securities at fair value with any valuation
adjustments reported as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (AOCI), net of deferred taxes, in
stockholders’ equity. We use the specific identification
method for determining cost in computing realized gains or
losses on these assets. Realized gains or losses from the sale of
these investments are recognized through the “Fee and other
income, net” line item on the income statement. We classify
and account for these investments as either held-to-maturity
or available-for-sale, according to Financial Accounting

Standard No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities (FAS 115).

We record impairment for mortgage-related securities

held in our mortgage portfolio by determining whether an
other-than-temporary decline in fair value below a security’s
amortized cost basis has occurred. If such a decline has
occurred, the cost basis of the security is written down to fair
value and is accounted for as a realized loss through the “Fee
and other income, net” line item on the income statement.
The new cost basis is not changed for subsequent recoveries
in fair value.

We also provide a guaranty liability on mortgage-related
securities held in the mortgage portfolio that are guaranteed
by Fannie Mae because we have the risk of loss of individual
loans underlying these securities. See “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies—Allowance for Loan Losses
and Guaranty Liability for MBS” for further discussion.

In accordance with FAS 91, we use actual principal
prepayment experience and estimate future principal
prepayments to calculate the constant effective yield
necessary to apply the interest method in the amortization
of purchase discount or premium and other deferred price
adjustments. We aggregate mortgage-related securities by
similar characteristics such as loan type, acquisition date,
interest rate, and maturity to evaluate prepayments. We
use historical prepayment data and expected prepayment
performance under varying interest rate scenarios to
estimate future prepayments.

Nonmortgage Investments

Nonmortgage investments consist of our liquid investment
portfolio (LIP) and other investments. We classify and account
for these investments as either held-to-maturity or available-
for-sale, according to FAS 115. We measure held-to-maturity
securities at historical cost, adjusted for unamortized discount
or premium. We measure available-for-sale securities at fair
value as of the balance sheet date, with any valuation
adjustments reported as a component of AOCI, net of deferred
taxes, in stockholders’ equity. We use the specific identification
method for determining a security’s cost basis in computing
realized gain or loss. We accrue interest income unless the
collection of interest income is considered doubtful. If
collection of interest is doubtful, we recognize interest income
on a cash basis. We regularly evaluate these investments for
impairment. If there is other-than-temporary impairment in
the value of these investments, we recognize the decline in
value as an expense in “Fee and other income, net.”

Guaranteed Mortgage-Related Securities
We charge a guaranty fee in return for guaranteeing the
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timely payment of scheduled principal and interest on

MBS and other mortgage-related securities to investors.

We accrue and collect guaranty fees monthly based on a fixed
rate multiplied by the outstanding balance of the guaranteed
MBS and other mortgage-related securities. We apply the
effective yield method of accounting and amortize any
upfront guaranty fee price adjustments over the estimated life
of the loans underlying the MBS and other mortgage-related
securities. For MBS and other mortgage-related securities
not held in our mortgage portfolio, we record the guaranty
fee in “Guaranty fee income.” For MBS and other mortgage-
related securities held in our mortgage portfolio, we record
the guaranty fee in “Interest income.”

In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 45: Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. We are
required to provide disclosures about guarantees beginning
with our December 31, 2002 financial statements. The
disclosures are located in Footnote 14, “Financial
Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk.” The new
interpretation also will require us to recognize the fair value
of our MBS guaranty fee and other guaranty fees as assets
and the fair value of our MBS guaranty obligation and

other guaranty obligations as liabilities for MBS and other
guarantees issued by us to investors other than Fannie Mae
on or after January 1, 2003. Under this interpretation, we
will record an asset representing the fair value of the guaranty
along with a liability of equal value. We will amortize the
asset and the liability over the estimated life of the loans
underlying the MBS or other guarantees as an adjustment to
guaranty fee income. However, because the asset and liability
will be equal and the amortization rates will be the same,
there will be no net effect on guaranty fee income or

stockholders’ equity.

Allowance for Loan Losses and Guaranty Liability
for MBS

We have an allowance for loan losses for loans in the
mortgage portfolio (excluding loans held-for-sale). The
allowance for loan losses is included in the balance sheet
under “Mortgage portfolio, net.” We also have a guaranty
liability for loans underlying MBS held by us or by other
investors, which is included in the balance sheet under
“Guaranty liability for MBS.”

The allowance for loan losses and the guaranty liability for
MBS represent our estimate of probable credit losses arising
from loans and loans underlying Fannie Mae MBS we own as
well as MBS we guarantee for others as of the balance sheet
date. We perform regular, ongoing reviews to identify

probable losses. We monitor delinquency, default, loss
rates, and other portfolio risk characteristics. These risk
characteristics include geographic concentration,
loan-to-value ratio, mortgage product type, and loan age.

We increase the allowance for loan losses and the guaranty
liability for MBS by recording a provision for losses in the
income statement. Charge-offs reduce the allowance or
guaranty liability and loan recoveries increase the allowance
or guaranty liability. We consider current delinquency levels,
historical loss experience, current economic conditions, and
mortgage characteristics when evaluating the adequacy of our

allowance and guaranty liability.

We determine the adequacy of the allowance and guaranty
liability for single-family assets by evaluating risk
characteristics such as product type, original loan-to-value
ratio, and loan age. We estimate defaults for each risk
characteristic based on historical experience and apply a
historical severity to each risk category, in accordance with
FAS 5. In addition, we apply Financial Accounting Standard
No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan
(FAS 114), to determine the amount of impairment on
specific loans that have been restructured. We charge-off
single-family loans when we foreclose on the loans.

We divide multifamily’s allowance and guaranty liability
into two parts: loans that are impaired and loans that are not
impaired. A loan is impaired when, based on current
information and events, it is probable we will be unable to
collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms
of the loan agreement. We apply FAS 114 to determine

the amount of impairment on specific loans that are not
performing according to contractual terms. We apply FAS 5
to loans that are not individually assessed for impairment and
set up an allowance for loan losses or guaranty liability for
probable losses as of the balance sheet date. We individually
rate loans and segment them into the main risk categories
that we use to monitor the multifamily portfolio. We then
apply historical default rates and a corresponding severity
to the loans in each segment.

In 2002, we reclassified from our “Allowance for loan losses”
to “Guaranty liability for MBS” the amount associated with
the guaranty obligation for MBS that we own. The guaranty
liability for MBS associated with MBS guaranteed for others
has historically been included in the caption “Other
liabilities” on the balance sheet. The balance sheet line item
“Guaranty liability for MBS” now includes the liability
associated with MBS on the balance sheet and MBS
guaranteed for others. Prior period balance amounts have
been restated to reflect this reclassification.
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We previously recorded gains from the sale of foreclosed
properties and related mortgage insurance claims against
our allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability as a
recovery of charge-offs. During 2002, we reclassified these
gains to “Foreclosed property income.” Additionally, the
AICPA rescinded Statement of Position 92-3, Accounting for
Foreclosed Assets (SOP 92-3), during the fourth quarter of
2002. Under SOP 92-3, we recorded selling costs related to
the disposition of foreclosed properties in our income
statement under “Foreclosed property income.” We now
include selling costs in our initial charge-off estimate. All
prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation. The reclassified amounts result in equal
and offsetting changes to our “Provision for losses” and
“Foreclosed property income” line items within our
previously reported income statements. These
reclassifications have no impact on previously reported

net income, total credit-related expenses, or the balance

of the allowance for losses.

Acquired Property

‘We measure foreclosed assets at fair value, less estimated cost
to sell, at the time of foreclosure. Fair value is determined
based on the estimated net proceeds the company will receive
from the disposition of the foreclosed asset. We charge
subsequent changes in the collateral’s fair value as well as
foreclosure, holding, and disposition costs, directly to
earnings through foreclosed property income.

We account for and classify deeds-in-lieu of foreclosure
similar to foreclosures. Our accounting for preforeclosure
sales of properties by the borrower is slightly different
because we do not have title to the underlying properties. In
a preforeclosure situation, the loan remains in the mortgage-
related security or our mortgage portfolio until the borrower
sells the property. At that point, we reduce the carrying
amount of the mortgage loan and create a receivable for the
sale proceeds in the amount of the sales price. We classify the
receivable for the sale proceeds as part of “Acquired property
and foreclosure claims, net” on the balance sheet. If there is
any remaining investment in the mortgage loan, we charge
off the mortgage loan against the allowance for loan losses or
guaranty liability for MBS. If the sale proceeds exceed the
mortgage loan balance, we record it in “Foreclosed property
income” on the income statement.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

On January 1, 2001, we adopted Financial Accounting
Standard No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities (FAS 133), as amended by Financial
Accounting Standard No. 138, Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities.

Under FAS 133, we recognize all derivatives as either assets
or liabilities on the balance sheet at their fair value. Subject to
certain qualifying conditions, we may designate a derivative
as either a hedge of the cash flows of a variable-rate
instrument or anticipated transaction (cash flow hedge) or a
hedge of the fair value of a fixed-rate instrument (fair value
hedge). For a derivative qualifying as a cash flow hedge, we
report fair value gains or losses in a separate component of
AOCI, net of deferred taxes, in stockholders’ equity to the
extent the hedge is effective. We recognize these fair value
gains or losses in earnings during the period(s) in which the
hedged item affects earnings. For a derivative qualifying as

a fair value hedge, we report fair value gains or losses on the
derivative in earnings along with fair value gains or losses on
the hedged item attributable to the risk being hedged. For a
derivative not qualifying as a hedge, or components of a
derivative that are excluded from any hedge effectiveness
assessment, we report fair value gains and losses in earnings.

If a derivative no longer qualifies as a cash flow or fair value
hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively. We
continue to carry the derivative on the balance sheet at fair
value and record fair value gains and losses in earnings until
the derivative is settled. For discontinued cash flow hedges,
we recognize the gains or losses previously deferred in AOCI
in earnings in the same period(s) that the hedged item affects
earnings. For discontinued fair value hedges, we no longer
adjust the carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability for
changes in its fair value. We then amortize previous fair value
adjustments to the carrying amount of the hedged item to
earnings over the remaining life of the hedged item using
the effective yield method.

Our adoption of FAS 133 on January 1, 2001 resulted in a
cumulative after-tax increase in income of $168 million and
an after-tax reduction in AOCI of $3.9 billion. In addition,
we reclassified investment securities and MBS with an
amortized cost of approximately $20 billion from held-to-
maturity to available-for-sale upon the adoption of FAS 133.
At the time of this noncash transfer, we had gross unrealized
gains and losses of $164 million and $32 million, respectively,
on these securities.

We reflect payments to purchase and terminate derivatives
used as hedges of our debt as “net payments to purchase

or settle hedge instruments” in our cash flow statement.
We classify these payments as financing activities because
we use these derivatives as hedges of our funding costs.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we refined our
methodology for estimating the initial time value of interest
rate caps at the date of purchase and prospectively adopted a
preferred method that resulted in a $282 million pre-tax
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reduction in purchased options expense and increased our
diluted earnings per share for 2002 by $.18. Under our
previous valuation method, we treated the entire premium
paid on purchased “at-the-money” caps as time value with no
allocation to intrinsic value. Our new methodology allocates
the initial purchase price to reflect the value of individual
caplets, some of which are above the strike rate of the cap,
which results in a higher intrinsic value and corresponding
lower time value at the date of purchase. This approach is
more consistent with our estimation of time value subsequent
to the initial purchase date. This change does not affect the
total expense that will be recorded in our income statement
over the life of our caps.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investment instruments with

an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. We record cash equivalents at cost. Cost is
representative of fair value for these instruments because
changes in short-term interest rates should have a minimal
impact on the fair value of securities that have an original
term of three months or less.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses include those costs we incur to
run our daily operations. A significant component of
administrative expenses is compensation expense, which
totaled $683 million in 2002, $602 million in 2001, and
$541 million in 2000.

Debt Extinguishments, Net

During the second quarter of 2002, we adopted Financial
Accounting Standard No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements
No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and
Technical Corrections (FAS 145). This standard eliminates the
extraordinary treatment of gains and losses on debt and
related interest rate swaps for us because the early
extinguishment of debt is an ordinary and frequent part of
our business. We reclassified all prior periods to conform
to the new classification.

Income Taxes

We establish deferred federal income tax assets and liabilities
for temporary differences between financial and taxable
income. We measure these deferred amounts using the
current marginal statutory tax rate. We generally recognize
investment and other tax credits when we record these items
on the tax return.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is the change in equity, on a net

of tax basis, resulting from transactions and other events
and circumstances from nonowner sources during a period.
Itincludes all changes in equity during a period, except
those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners.

Special Contribution

‘We made a commitment during the fourth quarter of 2001
to contribute $300 million of Fannie Mae common stock to
the Fannie Mae Foundation. The Fannie Mae Foundation
creates affordable homeownership and housing opportunities
through innovative partnerships and initiatives that build
healthy, vibrant communities across the United States.

Itis a separate, private nonprofit organization thatis not
consolidated by Fannie Mae, but is supported solely by
Fannie Mae. Fannie Mae acquired the shares through open
market purchases and contributed the shares to the
Foundation in the first quarter of 2002.
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Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2002, we had five stock-based
compensation or benefits programs that we describe in
Footnote 8, Stock-Based Compensation Plans. Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation (FAS 123), gives companies the option of either
recording an expense for all stock compensation awards
based on the fair value at grant date or continuing to follow
Accounting Principles Board No. 25 (APB 25). Companies
that follow APB 25 must disclose, in a footnote, pro forma
net income and earnings per share as if they had adopted
the expense recognition provisions of FAS 123. Prior to
January 2003, we elected to apply APB 25 and related
interpretations in accounting for our plans. As a result of
applying APB 25, we did not recognize compensation
expense for nonqualified stock options and the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. We have elected to change our
accounting for stock-based compensation and will record
expense for all future stock compensation awards at fair value
at grant date under FAS 123 beginning on January 1, 2003.
We estimate that the impact of adopting the expense
recognition provisions of FAS 123 will result in additional
expense of approximately $28 million in 2003.

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation— Transition and Disclosure (FAS 148), the
following table summarizes our net income available to
common stockholders and reported basic and diluted
earnings per common share for the years 2000-2002 under
APB 25, as well as pro forma net income available to common
stockholders and basic and diluted earnings per common
share if we had recognized compensation expense according

to FAS 123.

Dollars in millions, except per share amounts 2002 2001 2000

Net income available to common

stockholders, as reported ........... $4,520
Plus: stock-based employee

compensation expense recorded

under APB 25, net of related

taxeffects ........ ... ..o L 25 27 31
Less: stock-based employee

compensation expense determined

under fair value based method, net

$5,756  $4,327

of related taxeffects ................ (105) (96) (80)
Pro forma net income available to
common stockholders ............. $4,440 $5,687 $4,278
Earnings per share:
Basic—asreported ............. ... $ 456 $575 §431
Basic—proforma ................... 4.47 5.69 4.26
Diluted—asreported ................ 4.53 5.72 4.29
Diluted—pro forma ................. 4.45 5.65 4.24

We determined the fair value of our stock-based
compensation using a Black-Scholes pricing model.
The following table summarizes the major assumptions
used in the model.

2002 2001 2000
Risk-free ratel .. ... 3.235-4.995%  3.885-5.155%  5.085-6.815%
Volatility ......... 31-33% 33-34% 29-34%
Dividend?......... $1.32 $1.20 $1.12
Average expected
life ........... 6yrs. 5yrs. 5yrs.

1 The synthetic 6-year zero-coupon U.S. Treasury strip yield formed by interpolating between the
S-year and T-year zero-coupon U.S. Treasury strip yields in 2002.
2 Dividend rate on common stock at date of grant. Dividend rate
the option life.

d to remain constant over

2. Mortgage Portfolio, Net

The mortgage portfolio, net is composed of whole loans and
securities backed by loans. The following presents the
composition of these two components at December 31,
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MORTGAGE PORTFOLIO, NET!

Dollars in millions 2002 2001
Mortgages
Single-family:
Government insured OF UATANTEEd . . . .« .\ttt ettt ettt et e e e e e $ 5,458 $ 5,070
Conventional:
Long-term, fiIXed-rate . ... ... ... 103,220 96,417
Intermediate-term, fiXed-Tate? . . . . . ... . e 54,503 43,522
Adjustable-rate. .. ... 9,045 10,410
Total conventional single-family .. ... ... ... . 166,768 150,349
Total single-family . .. ..o 172,226 155,419
Multifamily:
Government insured or guaranteed . ... ... ... 1,353 1,551
Conventional . . ...ttt e e e e e e 12,218 8,987
Total multifamily . ... 13,571 10,538
Unamortized premium (discount) and deferred price adjustments. . ........... . i 337 (2,640)
Allowance for 10an J0SSES? . . . . ..ottt e e (79) (48)
TOtal MOTTZAZES. « .« oottt et et e $186,055 $163,269
Mortgage-related securities
Single-family:
Governmentinsured or guaranteed . ... ... ... $ 33,293 $37,111
Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate ... ... ... 510,435 456,046
Intermediate-term, fiXed-Tate? . . . . . ... ittt e 39,409 25,890
Adjustable-rate. . ... .. 13,946 10,355
Total conventional single-family ..... ... ... . . 563,790 492,291
Total single-family . . . ..o 597,083 529,402
Multifamily:
Government insured or guaranteed . ... ... ... 7,370 6,481
Conventional . . .. ... e 7,050 5,636
Toral multifamily . ... 14,420 12,117
Unamortized Premitm. . ... ...ttt et e e e 135 536
Total mortgage-related SECUTIHIEs . ... ... ... . $611,638 $542,055
Mortgage portfolio, net
Single-family:
Government insured or guaranteed . ... ... ... $ 38,751 $ 42,181
Conventional:
Long-term, fixed-rate . ... ... ... 613,655 552,463
Intermediate-term, fiXed-Tate? . . . .. ... .. i 93,912 69,412
Adjustable-rate. .. ... 22,991 20,765
Total conventional single-family ...... ... ... . . 730,558 642,640
Total single-family . . . ..o 769,309 684,821
Multifamily:
Governmentinsured or guaranteed . ... ... ... 8,723 8,032
Conventional . . ...ttt e e e e 19,268 14,623
Total multifamily . ... 27,991 22,655
Total mortgage portfolio . ... ... 797,300 707,476
Unamortized premium (discount) and
deferred price adjUStmMEnts, MEt. . . ... ..ottt e 472 (2,104)
Allowance for 10an JoSSEs? . . . ..ottt e (79) (48)
Mortgage POrtfolio, MEE. .« ..ottt e ettt e e e e $797,693 $705,324

! Data represents unpaid principal balance adjusted to include mark-to-market gains and losses on available-for-sale securities.

2 Intermediate-term, fixed-rate consists of portfolio loans with contractual maturities at purchase equal to or less than 20 years and MBS and mortgage-related securities held in portfolio with maturities of 15 years or less

at issue date.
3 Allowance for loan losses does not apply to loans held-for-sale of $145 million and $40 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Nonaccrual loans totaled $5.5 billion and $3.7 billion at
December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively. Accruing loans
past 90 days due totaled $673 million and $565 million at
December 31,2002 and 2001, respectively.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the balance of whole loans
held-for-sale was $145 million and $40 million, respectively.

There were no gross realized gains or losses on sales of whole
loans held-for-sale in 2002, 2001, or 2000.

Within the mortgage portfolio are MBS and other mortgage-
related securities that we classify as either held-to-maturity
or available-for-sale. Below is a table of the securities held in
each of these categories along with their gross unrealized
gains and losses and total fair value for the years ending 2002
and 2001.

December 31,2002
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Dollars in millions Cost! Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
MBS e $286,422 $11,173 $ 1) $297,594
REMICs and Stripped MBS .. .. ..o 110,423 4,339 87) 114,675
Other mortgage-related securities . .. ......................... 41,087 2,813 (45) 43,855
TOtal « e e $437,932 $18,325 $(133) $456,124
Awvailable-for-sale:
MBS e $116,081 $ 5,425 $ 1) $121,505
REMICs and Stripped MBS ... ... . o 33,763 678 (369) 34,072
Other mortgage-related securities . .. ......................... 17,358 782 (11) 18,129
Total © e e $167,202 $ 6,885 $(381) $173,706
December 31,2001
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost! Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
MBS L $ 333,896 $ 3,536 $ (54 $337,378
REMICs and Stripped MBS .. ... .. ... o 127,675 2,432 (579) 129,528
Other mortgage-related securities . .......... ... .. ... ......... 47,584 1,411 (87) 48,908
Total o $ 509,155 $ 7,379 $(720) $ 515,814
Awvailable-for-sale:
MBS e 9,119 $ 105 $ (27) $ 9,197
REMICs and Stripped MBS ... ... .. 1,083 211 (240) 1,054
Other mortgage-related securities . .. ......................... 22,236 425 (12) 22,649
Total « e 32,438 $ 741 $(279) $ 32,900

1 Amortized cost includes unamortized premiums, discounts, and deferred price adjustments.
2 Excludes REMICs and Stripped MBS.

On September 13, 2002, concurrent with the new risk-based
capital rule issued by our regulator, Office of Federal
Housing Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO), we reclassified
$124 billion of securities in our mortgage portfolio from
held-to-maturity to available-for-sale. Prior to September
13,2002, Fannie Mae was not subject to a risk-based capital
standard. OFHEO implemented the risk-based standard
on that date and this standard applied to all assets held by
Fannie Mae. FAS 115 specifically identifies “a significant
increase in the risk weights of debt securities used for
regulatory risk-based capital purposes” as a change in
circumstance under which a company may reclassify

securities from held-to-maturity to available-for-sale without
calling into question the intent to hold other securities to
maturity in the future. At the time of this noncash transfer,
these securities had gross unrealized gains and losses of
$5.364 billion and $53 million, respectively.

"Total gross realized gains and losses on sales of MBS and
other mortgage-related securities in 2002 were $78 million
and $21 million, respectively. Total net realized losses on
sales of MBS and other mortgage-related securities were
$13 million in 2001 and $21 million in 2000.
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REMIC:s and Stripped MBS

Included in the table above are REMICs backed by MBS
and whole loans and Stripped MBS (SMBS) backed by MBS.
REMIC:s represent a beneficial interest in a trust having
multiple classes of securities. The securities of each class
entitle investors to cash flows structured differently from

the payments on the underlying assets. SMBS are created by
“stripping” or separating the principal and interest payments
from the underlying pool of mortgages into two classes of
securities, with each receiving a different proportion of the
principal and interest payments. REMICs and SMBS do

not subject us to additional credit risk if we already guarantee
the underlying MBS. REMICs and SMBS generally have
different interest rate risk than MBS. To estimate fair values
for these securities, we use a stochastic simulation to model
future interest rates and discount factors over a large number
of scenarios. The simulation calibrates the distribution of
interest rates to the current market yield curve and reflects
current option adjusted spreads in its discount factors. To
model prepayments, we use our proprietary prepayment
models to develop an estimated prepayment level for each
point in time along each scenario.

Retained Interests

In some cases, we create REMICs using assets from our
mortgage portfolio and retain an interest in the REMICs.
In these instances, we measure our retained interests by
allocating the carrying amount of the assets we retained
based on their fair value at the transfer date relative to the
assets we sold. We are a passive investor with regard to the
transferred assets, as our continuing involvement is limited
to guaranteeing some of the assets underlying these
REMICs.

"The entire principal balance of REMICs outstanding

at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 was

$55.6 billion and $21.0 billion, respectively. For the years
ended December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, we
recognized a $25.4 million net gain and a $24.4 million net
loss, respectively, on the portion of assets we sold at the time
of securitization, which totaled $3.7 billion and $2.2 billion,
respectively. Cash proceeds received from the sale of these
assets totaled $3.7 billion and $2.2 billion for the years ended
December 31,2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively.
Because these REMIC securities are backed by guaranteed
MBS, the cash flows from purchases of delinquent loans or
foreclosed loans is immaterial. We did not sell any of our
retained interests in either 2002 or 2001. Therefore, we did
not incur any gains or losses on sales of retained interests for
the years then ended. At December 31,2002 and 2001, the
book value of our retained interests was $41.9 billion and
$18.9 billion, respectively. These securities are backed by

MBS guaranteed by Fannie Mae. As a result, the delinquency
and credit loss information associated with these REMIC
securities is immaterial because all principal and interest is

passed through to the REMIC regardless of how the
underlying MBS perform.

Our retained interests are essentially investments of principal
in mortgages because there is only a small amount of original
premium or discount associated with our investment. As a
result, we classify our retained interests as held-to-maturity
because they cannot be prepaid or settled in such a way that
we would not recover substantially all of our investment.

Our retained interests give us the right to receive repayment
of the principal we have invested, and the borrowers’
obligations are secured by the financed properties.

We use an option-adjusted spread (OAS) approach to
measure the fair value of our retained interests, which is the
same approach used to measure the fair value for MBS held
in our portfolio. The OAS is the incremental spread over
our debt rates after taking into account the variability of
mortgage cash flows due to the embedded prepayment
option. Our proprietary interest rate and prepayment models
are key assumptions used in this valuation approach. The
OAS approach starts with quoted market prices for a set of
benchmark securities that are a representative sample of

our portfolio holdings. We use our interest rate model in a
stochastic simulation to generate a large number of scenarios.
Our prepayment model provides estimated prepayment
speeds to determine the cash flows for each time period in
each scenario. After the interest rates (including discount
factors) and cash flows are generated, the model solves for
the OAS associated with the market price of each benchmark
security. These option-adjusted spreads are mapped to
similar securities, including our retained interests, and the
stochastic simulation process is repeated, this time including
the appropriate OAS as part of the discount rate to calculate
the fair value of each security.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the fair value of our
retained interests was $42.7 billion and $18.6 billion,
respectively, with a weighted-average life of 3.7 years and
7.3 years, respectively. The key assumptions used in
measuring the fair value of retained interests at the time of
securitization are as follows:

2002 2001
Weighted-averagelife ..................... 6.0 yrs. 6.0 yrs.
Average lifetime CPR
prepayment speed assumption .. ............. 16.1% 15.8%
Average discount rate assumption ............ 5.2 5.2
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To quantify the sensitivity of the fair values of these retained
interests to changes in valuation assumptions, we adjust the
parameters of the prepayment model in order to change
prepayment speeds and directly change the discount factors.
Changes in prepayment speeds are specified as the effect on
the constant prepayment rate (CPR) over the first 12
months. This is typically the time period where immediate
changes in prepayments will have the most significant effect
on fair value. Changes in discount rate would incorporate

both the debt rate and the OAS.

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should be used with
caution. The effect of a variation in one of these assumptions
on the fair value of our retained interests is calculated
without changing any other assumptions. Changing one
assumption could result in variation in another assumption,
which may increase or decrease the corresponding
sensitivities. These sensitivities only measure changes in

the fair value of our retained interests and do not incorporate
offsetting changes in the values of associated debt funding
the retained interests. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, we
modified the following assumptions to quantify the impact
of immediate 5 percent, 10 percent, and 15 percent adverse
changes in these assumptions on the fair value of our
retained interests.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001

Prepayment speed assumptions:

Impact on year-end fair value from

5 percent adverse change in 12 month

CPR prepaymentspeed . ................. $ (68)
Impact on year-end fair value from

10 percent adverse change in 12 month

CPR prepaymentspeed . ................. (131) (48)
Impact on year-end fair value from

15 percent adverse change in 12 month

CPR prepaymentspeed . ................. (203) (73)

Average 12 month CPR prepayment
speed assumption . ........... .ol

$ 24

49.2% 9.5%

Discount rate assumptions:
Impact on year-end fair value from

5 percentadverse change . ................ $ (358) $307)
Impact on year-end fair value from
10 percentadverse change ................ (711) (609)

Impact on year-end fair value from

15 percentadverse change ................ (1,049) (898)

Average discount rate assumption .. .............. 3.3% 6.4%

3. Allowance for Loan Losses and Guaranty
Liability for MBS

‘We maintain a separate allowance for loan losses for our
mortgage portfolio as well as a guaranty liability for our
guaranty of MBS. Changes for the years 2000 through 2002

are summarized below.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
Allowance for loan losses!:
Beginning balance ................ $48 $51 $56
Provision ......... ... ... ol 44 7 9
Charge-offs? ..................... (13) (10) (14)
Endingbalance ............. ... ... $79 $48 $51
Guaranty liability for MBS!:
Beginning balance ................ $755 $755 $745
Provision ......... .. .. ..o .. 84 87 113
Charge-offs ...................... (110) (87) (103)
Endingbalance ................... $729 $755 $755

Combined allowance for loan losses and

guaranty liability for MBS3:

Beginning balance ................ $803 $806 $801
Provision ...l 128 94 122
Charge-offs? ..................... (123) 97 (117)
Endingbalance ................... $808 $803 $806

1 In 2002, we reclassified from our “Allowance for loan losses” to a “Guaranty liability for MBS” the
amount associated with the guaranty obligation for MBS that we own. Prior period balances, the
provision for losses, and charge-off amounts have been restated to reflect this reclassification.

2 Charge-offs exclude $1 million in 2002 on charge-offs related to foreclosed Federal Housing
Administration loans that are reported in the balance sheet under “Acquired property and foreclosure
claims, net.”

3 The total excludes $2 million at year-end 2002 and $3 million at the end of 2001 and 2000, related
to foreclosed Federal Housing Administration loans that are reported in the balance sheet under
“Acquired property and foreclosure claims, net.”

The following table summarizes the UPB of impaired loans
and corresponding specific loss allowances for the years 2000
through 2002. The majority of our impaired and
restructured loans are multifamily loans. Single-family loans
that have not been restructured are exempt from FAS 114
because they are considered to be a group of homogeneous
loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment. A loan is
impaired when it is probable that all contractual principal
and interest payments will not be collected as scheduled in
the loan agreement based on current information and events.
In the event of impairment, we compare the UPB of
impaired and restructured loans with the fair value of the
underlying collateral to measure any impairment and provide
a specific allowance for estimated losses.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
UPB of impairedloans . ................. $314 $320 $186
UPB of impaired loans with specific

lossallowance ...................... 137 213 67
Specific loss allowance on impaired and

restructured loans . ...... ... ... L 17 13 2
UPB of impaired loans without specific

lossallowance ...................... 177 107 119
Average UPB of impaired loans' .......... 285 204 210
Estimated interest income recognized

while loans were impaired ............ 7 8 3

T Averages have been calculated on a monthly average basis.
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4. Nonmortgage Investments

We classify securities in the LIP and other investments as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. We have presented
below a schedule of available-for-sale nonmortgage investments at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

2002
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Dollars in millions Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
Asset-backed SECUTTHES . . . v $22,281 $ 98 $ (68) $22,311
Floating-rate notes' ........... ... ... ... il 11,754 10 29) 11,735
Corporatebonds . ... 1,149 42 — 1,191
Taxable auCHON NOLES ...t 949 — — 949
Auction rate preferred stock ...... ... . o oo oL 112 — “) 108
Commercial Paper .......... ..o 100 — — 100
Other oo 400 — — 400
Otal ot $36,745 $150 $(101) $36,794
2001
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Available-for-sale:
Asset-backed securities .. ... ... $ 14,876 $ 21 $ (25) $ 14,872
Floating-rate notes' ............ ... ... ... i 12,114 12 45) 12,081
Commercial Paper .......... ..o 8,879 1 — 8,880
Other oo 50 — — 50
Total o $35,919 $ 34 $ (70 $35,883

T As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, 100 percent of floating-rate notes repriced at intervals of 90 days or less.

Total gross realized gains on nonmortgage investments that
were classified as available-for-sale was $4.5 million in 2002,
$9.9 million in 2001, and $6.6 million in 2000. Total gross
realized losses on nonmortgage investments that were
classified as available-for-sale was $1.7 million in 2002, $6.1
million in 2001, and $4.3 million in 2000.

On September 13, 2002, concurrent with the new risk-based
capital rule issued by our regulator, OFHEQ, we reclassified
securities in our LIP that had an amortized cost of

$11.0 billion and a fair value of $11.2 billion from held-to-
maturity to available-for-sale. Prior to September 13, 2002,
Fannie Mae was not subject to a risk-based capital standard.

OFHEO implemented the risk-based standard on that date
and this standard applied to all assets held by Fannie Mae.
FAS 115 specifically identifies “a significant increase in the
risk weights of debt securities used for regulatory risk-based
capital purposes” as a change in circumstance under which a
company may reclassify securities from held-to-maturity to
available-for-sale without calling into question the intent to
hold other securities to maturity in the future. At the time of
this noncash transfer, these securities had gross unrealized
gains and losses of $139 million and $6 million, respectively.
We have presented below a schedule of held-to-maturity
nonmortgage investments at December 31, 2002 and 2001.
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2002

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Dollars in millions Cost Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
Repurchase agreements . .. ............ooiuiuiniiiiiiiinaeo... $20,732 $ — $— $20,732
Eurodollar time deposits . ... 1,398 — — 1,398
Auction rate preferred stock ........ ... oo 402 — — 402
Federalfunds ......... i 150 — — 150
Commercial paper .......... . .. 100 — — 100
Other oo 268 1 — 269
TOAl <ot $23,050 $ 1 $— $23,051
2001
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Held-to-maturity:
Repurchase agreements . . .. .. ..vvuenuentnneneae e, $ 9,380 $ — $— $ 9,380
Eurodollar ime deposits . ............ ... i 11,185 — — 11,185
Auction rate preferred stock ... .o oo 2,127 — — 2,127
Federal funds ...... ... . i 4,904 —_ —_ 4,904
Commercial paper ......... ... 2,844 1 — 2,845
Asset-backed securities . .......... i 6,065 89 (1) 6,153
Other .o 2,166 73 — 2,239
Total o $ 38,671 $163 $(D $ 38,833
The following table shows the amortized cost, fair value, cost, fair value, and yield of our asset-backed securities at
and yield of nonmortgage investments by investment December 31,2002 and 2001.
classification and remaining maturity as well as the amortized
2002 2001
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Dollars in millions Cost Value Yield Cost Value Yield
Available-for-sale:
Due withinoneyear .......................... $ 8,844 $ 8,851 2.31% $10,863 $10,863 2.18%
Due after one year through five years ............ 5,620 5,632 2.42 10,180 10,148 2.49
Due after five through tenyears . ................ — — — — — —
Dueaftertenyears ..., — — — — — —
14,464 14,483 2.35 21,043 21,011 2.33
Held-to-maturity:
Due withinoneyear .......................... 23,016 23,017 1.76 31,327 31,347 2.49
Due after one year through five years ............ 34 34 6.21 1,279 1,333 7.11
Due after five through tenyears . ................ — — — — — —
Dueaftertenyears ..., — — — — — —
23,050 23,051 1.76 32,606 32,680 2.68
Asset-backed securities! .. ... ... ... 22,281 22,311 2.22 20,941 21,025 3.07
Total .o $59,795 $59,845 2.08% $74,590 $74,716 2.69%

I Contractual maturity of asset-backed securities is not a reliable indicator of their expected life because borrowers generally bave the right to repay their obligations at any time.
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5. Debentures, Notes, and Bonds, Net

Borrowings Due Within One Year

Below is a summary of borrowings due within one year at December 31, 2002 and 2001, net of unamortized discount and

premium.
2002
Maximum
Average Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at December 31, During Year at Any
Dollars in millions Amount Cost! Amount Costl Month-end
Short-termnotes ............ ... ... $290,091 1.55% $252,857 1.98% $290,091
Othershort-termdebt . .. ............ ... ... ... 12,522 1.33 18,512 1.70 28,126
Current portion of borrowings due after one year?:
Universal Standard Debt .................... 41,681 2.25
Universal Benchmark Debt ................... 37,376 4.89
Universal Retail Debt .. ...............ooooa 73 9.52
Other ..o 669 3.24
Total due within oneyear .................. $382,412 1.95%
2001
Maximum
Average Outstanding Outstanding
Outstanding at December 31, During Year at Any
Amount Cost! Amount Cost! Month-end
ShOrt=termnotes . ... .....oeeuuuneee e $ 256,905 2.58% $ 247,060 431% $265,953
Othershort-termdebt . . ............. ... .. ... 29,891 1.96 31,479 4.40 43,811
Current portion of borrowings due after one year?:
Universal Standard Debt . ................... 34,413 3.67
Universal Benchmark Debt ................... 21,987 531
Universal Retail Debt . ........................ — —
Other ..o 296 4.96
Total due within oneyear .................. $ 343,492 2.81%

1 Represents weighted-average cost, which includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, issuance costs, bedging results, and the effects of currency and debt swaps. Averages have been calculated on a monthly average

basis.

2 Information on average amount and cost of debt outstanding during the year and maximum amount outstanding at any month-end is not meaningful. See “Borrowings Due After One Year” for additional information.

Amounts payable for federal funds purchased and securities
sold under agreements to repurchase were $9.1 billion and
$6.0 billion at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively,
and are included in the above table under the heading “Other

short-term debt.” These amounts include both secured and

unsecured debt.
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Borrowings Due After One Year

Below is a summary of borrowings due after one year at
December 31, 2002 and 2001, net of unamortized discount
and premium.



2002 2001

Maturity Amount Average Amount Average
Dollars in millions Date Outstanding Cost! Outstanding Cost!
Senior debt:
Universal Benchmark Debt, net of $796 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($886 for2001) . ... 2002-2030 $282,972 5.49% $246,458 5.88%
Universal Standard Debt, net of $311 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($325for2001) .. oo 2002-2038 152,656 4.31 156,495 4.84
Universal Retail Debt, net of $97 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($62 for 2001) ... 2002-2027 10,556 6.10 7,098 5.87
Long-term other, net of $5,809 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($6,998 for 2001) .. ..o 2002-2032 3,681 7.71 3,383 7.23
449,865 5.12 413,434 5.50
Subordinated debt:
Universal Benchmark Debt, net of $43 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($10 for 2001) ..o 2002-2012 8,457 5.58 4,990 5.78
Universal Standard Debt, net of $7 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($7 for2001) ... 2002-2019 244 9.31 243 9.31
Long-term other, net of $5,481 of deferred costs
for 2002 ($5,655 for2001) ...t 2002-2019 1,269 10.01 1,160 9.97
9,970 6.23 6,393 6.67
Total senior and subordinated debt ...................... 459,835 5.14% 419,827 5.52%
Fair value adjustment for FAS 1332 ... ... ... ... .. ... 8,889 1,423
Adjustment for foreign currency translation ............... (154) (1,275)
Total due afteroneyear ............cooiiiiiiiii... $468,570 $419,975

T Represents weighted-average cost, which includes the amortization of discounts, premiums, issuance costs, hedging results, and the effects of currency and debt swaps. Averages have been calculated on a monthly

average basis.
2 Represents change in the fair value of bedged debt in fair value hedges.

We consolidated our outstanding debt agreements for
various funding programs into one comprehensive offering
document, the Universal Debt Facility. This supersedes and
replaces the Global Debt Facility, Medium-Term Notes,
Short-Term Notes, and Debenture Programs.

Debentures, notes, and bonds at December 31, 2002 included
$178 billion of callable debt. We can redeem this debt at our
option any time on or after a specified date in whole or in part.
At December 31, 2002, our debentures, notes, and bonds
were not subject to mandatory redemptions tied to certain
indices or rates after an initial nonredemption period.

We have summarized in the following table the amounts,
call periods, and maturity dates for our option-embedded
financial instruments at December 31, 2002. These
instruments include callable debt, callable swaps, and
receive-fixed swaptions (excluding $9.9 billion of callable
debt that was swapped to variable-rate debt) as well as the
notional amount of pay-fixed swaptions and caps. We also
include universal debt that is redeemable at our option in
the table.

Call Year of Amount Average
Dollars in millions ~ Date Maturity Outstanding Cost!
Callable debt,
callable swaps, and
receive-fixed swaptions:
Currently callable 2004-2020 $ 664 5.08%
2003 2003-2031 192,419 4.82
2004 2004-2022 75,191 5.95
2005 2007-2030 25,831 6.05
2006 2010-2031 22,384 6.25
2007 2011-2032 16,733 6.36
2008 and later 2012-2030 16,611 6.76
349,833 5.41%
Pay-fixed swaptions. .. ........ ... ... 129,225
Caps . oo 122,393
Total option-embedded financial
INSEIUMENTS o\ veve oo e e e eennns $601,451

1 Averages have been calculated on a monthly average basis.

Listed below are the principal amounts of total debt payable
as of December 31, 2002, for the years 2004-2008, assuming
we pay off callable debt at maturity and we redeem callable
debt at the initial call date.
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Total Debt Assuming Callable Debt

by Year Redeemed at Initial

Dollars in millions of Maturity! Call Date!
2004 ... $105,232 $96,020
2005 .o 71,453 46,892
2006 ..o 47,415 29,235
2007 e 67,326 43,317
2008 .o 21,160 15,020

! Includes $9.9 billion of callable debt that was swapped to variable-rate debt.

We repurchased or called $182 billion of debt and swaps with
an average cost of 5.36 percent in 2002, $183 billion of debt
and swaps with an average cost of 6.23 percent in 2001, and
$18 billion of debt and swaps with an average cost of 7.10
percent in 2000. We recorded losses of $710 million in 2002,
losses of $524 million in 2001, and gains of $49 million in
2000 on our debt extinguishments.

As part of our voluntary safety and soundness initiatives, we
began issuing Subordinated Benchmark Notes in the first
quarter of 2001 on a periodic basis to create a new, liquid
class of fixed-income assets for investors. We issued
subordinated debt totaling $3.5 billion and $5.0 billion
during 2002 and 2001, respectively. Outstanding
Subordinated Benchmark Notes totaled $8.5 billion at
December 31, 2002 versus $5.0 billion at the end of 2001.
The total subordinated debt balance at December 31, 2002
and December 31, 2001 includes other subordinated debt
issuances that preceded this initiative.

Pursuant to Fannie Mae’s Charter Act, the Secretary of the
Treasury has the authority to approve Fannie Mae’s issuance
of debt obligations.

6. Income Taxes

"The components of our federal income tax provision for the
years ended December 31,2002, 2001, and 2000 were as
follows:

Dollars in millions 2002 2001 2000
CUITENt oo oo eeas $3,055 $2,231 $1,422
Deferred ... (1,626) (190) 161
1,429 2,041 1,583

Tax expense of cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle ... — 90 —
Net federal income tax provision ... .. $1,429 $2,131 $1,583

The table above does not reflect the tax effects of unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and
derivatives. We record the unrealized gains and losses on
these items in AOCI, net of deferred taxes. The tax expense
associated with these items was a tax benefit of $2.5 billion in
2002 and $3.8 billion in 2001, and a tax expense of $6 million
in 2000.

The tax effects of temporary differences between financial
income and taxable income that gave rise to significant
portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
at December 31, 2002 and 2001 consisted of the following:

Dollars in millions 2002 2001
Deferred tax assets:
Derivatives in loss positions, net ........... $ 9,423 $3,679
Outstanding MBS and REMIC fees . ........ 1,337 915
Allowance for loan losses and guaranty
liability for MBS .................... 325 314
Otheritems,net . .......coovviiieea.. 160 143
Deferred taxassets ................... 11,245 5,051
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on available-
for-sale securities ..................... 2,401 158
Debt-related expenses ................... 446 536
Benefits from tax-advantaged investments ... 214 125
Purchase discountand deferred fees ... ...... 42 356
Other items,net........c.oovieeinnenn.. 89 57
Deferred tax liabilities . . ............... 3,192 1,232
Net deferred taxasset . .........couvuuunnnnnnn. $ 8,053 $3,819

We anticipate it is more likely than not that the results of
future operations will generate sufficient taxable income
to realize the entire balance of deferred tax assets.

Our effective tax rates differed from statutory federal tax
rates for the years ended December 31,2002, 2001, and
2000 as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Statutory corporate taxrate .......... 35% 35% 35%
Tax-exempt interest and dividends
received deductions ............. [©) () )
Equity investments in affordable
housing projects ................ (6) 4) 4)
Effective taxrate ................... 24% 27% 26%

We are exempt from state and local taxes, except for
real estate taxes.

7. Earnings per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic
and diluted earnings per common share.
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Year Ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000

Dollars and shares in millions, except per share amounts Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
Net income before cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle ....... ... ..o oL $4,619 $4,619 $5,726 $5,726 $4,448 $4,448
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . .. ... ... — — 168 168 — —
Preferred stock dividend ................. ... ... ... (99) (99) (138) (138) (121) (121)
Net income available to common stockholders ............. $4,520 $4,520 $5,756 $5,756 $4,327 $4,327
Weighted average common shares ....................... 992 992 1,000 1,000 1,003 1,003
Dilutive potential common shares! ...................... — 5 — 6 — 6
Average number of common shares outstanding

used to calculate earnings per common share ........... 992 997 1,000 1,006 1,003 1,009
Earnings per common share before cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle .................... $ 4.56 $ 4.53 $ 5.58 §5.55 $ 431 $ 429
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ........ — — 17 17 — —
Net earnings per common share ................c...c...... $ 4.56 $ 4.53 $5.75 $ 5.72 $ 431 $ 4.29

I Dilutive potential common shares consist primarily of the dilutive effect from employee stock options and other stock compensation plans.

For additional disclosures regarding our stock compensation
plans and outstanding preferred stock, refer to Notes 8 and
12, respectively.

8. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan that allows us
to issue up to 41 million shares of common stock to qualified
employees at a price equal to 85 percent of the fair market
value of the stock on the grant date. This plan meets the
definition of a noncompensatory plan under APB 25;
therefore, we did not recognize any compensation expense
for grants under the plan. Employees have the option of
either receiving cash or shares through a Cashless Exercise
Program or purchasing shares directly. In 2002,

we granted each qualified employee, excluding certain
officers and other highly compensated employees, the
right to purchase up to 310 shares of common stock at
$68.46 per share in January 2003. Under the 2002 offering,
qualified employees purchased 5,580 shares at $68.46 per
share, compared with purchasing 1,274,396 common
shares at $66.00 per share under the 2001 offering.

Employee Stock Ownership Plan

We have an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for
qualified employees who are regularly scheduled to work at
least 1,000 hours in a calendar year. Participation is not open
to participants in the Executive Pension Plan. We may
contribute to the ESOP each year an amount based on
achievement of defined corporate earnings goals, not to

exceed 4 percent of the aggregate eligible salary for all
participants. The Board of Directors determines the
contribution percentage annually. We may contribute either
shares of Fannie Mae common stock or cash to purchase
Fannie Mae common stock. Such contributions are recorded
as a current period expense. Unless employees elect to
receive cash, ESOP dividends are automatically reinvested in
Fannie Mae stock within the ESOP. Dividends are accrued
four times a year and paid, pursuant to employees’ elections,
once a year in February for the four previous quarters. ESOP
shares are included as outstanding for purposes of our EPS
calculations. Vested benefits are based on years of service.
Eligible employees are 100 percent vested in their ESOP
accounts either upon attainment of age 65 or more than five
years of service. Employees who are at least 55 years of age,
and have at least ten years of participation in the ESOP, may
qualify to diversify vested ESOP shares into the same types
of funds available under the Retirement Savings Plan without
losing the tax deferred status of the value of the ESOP.
Expense recorded in 2002, 2001, and 2000 in connection
with the ESOP was $7.6 million, $6.5 million, and

$6.0 million, respectively. At December 31, 2002, 2001,

and 2000, allocated shares held by the ESOP were

1,450,973 common shares, 1,396,610 common shares, and
1,358,486 common shares, respectively, and committed-to-
be-released shares held by the ESOP were 115,127 common
shares, 80,459 common shares, and 66,495 common shares,
respectively. At December 31,2002, 2001, and 2000, the
ESOP shares held in suspense were 2,105 common shares,
729 common shares, and 7,684 common shares, respectively.
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The fair value of unearned ESOP shares was $1.4 million,
$1.7 million, and $1.8 million at December 31, 2002, 2001,
and 2000, respectively.

Performance Shares

Fannie Mae’s Stock Compensation Plan of 1993 authorizes
eligible employees to receive performance awards. We
generally issue awards with a performance period that can
range from three to five years. The performance shares
become actual awards only if we attain our goals set for the
award period. At the end of the award period, we pay out
common stock in either two or three installments over a
period not longer than three years. For the 2003-2005,
2002-2004, and 2001-2003 performance periods, there
were 466,216 common shares, 505,588 common shares,
and 449,520 common shares, respectively, from outstanding
contingent grants.

Nonqualified Stock Options

Fannie Mae may grant stock options to eligible employees
and nonmanagement members of the Board of Directors.
Employees cannot generally exercise them until at least one
year after the grant date. Nonmanagement directors can
exercise them on the grant date. The stock options generally
expire ten years from the grant date for both groups. The
exercise price of the common stock covered by each option
is equal to the fair value of the stock on the date we grant
the option. Thus, we have not recorded compensation
expense for grants under this plan under APB 25.

Under the Stock Compensation Plan of 1993, our Board

of Directors approved the EPS Challenge Option Grant

in January 2000 for all regular full-time and part-time
employees. At that time, all employees, other than
management group employees, received an option grant of
350 shares at a price of $62.50 per share, the fair market value
of the stock on the grant date. Management group employees
received option grants equivalent to a percentage of their
November 1999 stock grants. We tied vesting for options
granted to the achievement of a core business diluted
earnings per share (EPS) goal of $6.46 by the end of 2003.
Core business earnings is a non-GAAP performance measure
developed by management that ratably allocates the cost of
purchased options over the period they are held instead of
recognizing unrealized gains and losses on purchased options
in earnings. Core business diluted EPS reflects net income
less the after-tax unrealized gain or loss on purchased options
plus the after-tax purchased options amortization expense.

If our core business diluted EPS for 2003 is $6.46 or greater,
then 100 percent of the EPS Challenge options will vest in
January 2004. If we do not reach a core business diluted

EPS of $6.46 by the end of 2003, we delay vesting one year
and then vesting begins at a rate of 25 percent per year.

The Board of Directors has discretion to offset future option
grants or other forms of compensation if the core business
diluted EPS goal is not reached. These options expire
January 18, 2010.

The following table summarizes our nonqualified stock
option activity for the years 2000-2002.

2002 2001 2000

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted- ~ Weighted- Weighted- ~ Weighted-

Average Average Average Average Average Average

Exercise Fair Value Exercise Fair Value Exercise Fair Value

Options in thousands Options Price at Grant Date Options Price at Grant Date Options Price at Grant Date
Balance, January 1, .......... .. ... ... ... 26,234  $57.06 $19.22 25,310  $50.86 $16.90 22,349 $40.90 $12.81
Granted ....... ... 865 78.38 26.23 4,173 80.37 28.07 7,741 66.79 24.11
Exercised ....... ... i (1,484) 29.58 9.37 (2,611) 31.92 9.90 (4,003) 23.88 7.31
Forfeited ...... ... ..o i, (484) 70.61 24.47 (638) 66.93 23.12 (777) 61.98 20.42
Balance, December 31, .................. 25,131 $59.16 $22.76 26,234 $57.05 $19.22 25,310  $50.86 $16.90
Options vested, December 31, ............. 15,619 $51.48 $16.71 13,919  $44.10 $13.92 13,551  $36.83 $11.36
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The following table summarizes information about our nonqualified stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002.

Options
Exercisable

Options
Outstanding

Weighted-Average

Number Remaining  Weighted-Average Number  Weighted-Average

Range of Exercise Prices of Options!  Contractual Life Exercise Price of Options! Exercise Price
$18.00-$35.00 .ot 4,444 1.5 yrs. $22.96 4,444 $22.96
3501—= 53.00 ..o 4,010 4.6 46.14 3,827 45.82
53.01= 70.00 ..o 6,717 6.5 64.06 3,140 66.48
70.01— 87.00 ... 9,960 8.1 77.25 4,208 75.56
Total .. 25,131 6.1 yrs. $59.16 15,619 $51.48

I Options in thousands.

Restricted Stock

In 2002, we awarded, issued, and placed in escrow
85,927 shares of restricted stock under the Stock
Compensation Plan of 1993 (117,447 shares in 2001).
We released 106,062 shares in 2002 as awards vested
(105,560 shares in 2001).

Options Available for Future Issuance

At December 31, 2002, 4,727,809 and 11,569,275 shares
remained available for grant under the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan and the Stock Compensation Plan of 1993,
respectively. The Stock Compensation Plan of 1993
expires in May 2003, at which time we will ask shareholders
to approve a new plan.

9. Employee Retirement Benefits

Retirement Savings Plan

All regular employees of Fannie Mae scheduled to work
1,000 hours or more in a calendar year are eligible to
participate in our Retirement Savings Plan, which includes a
401(k) option. In 2002, employees could contribute up to the
lower of 25 percent of their base salary or the current annual
dollar cap established and revised annually by the Internal
Revenue Service. Fannie Mae matches employee
contributions up to 3 percent of base salary in cash. Under
the plan, employees may allocate investment balances to a
variety of investment options. As of December 31,2002,
there was no option to invest directly in stock of Fannie Mae.
Expense recorded in 2002, 2001, and 2000 in connection
with the Retirement Savings Plan was $10.8 million,

$9.3 million, and $8.5 million, respectively.

Postretirement Benefit Plans

All regular employees of Fannie Mae scheduled to work
1,000 hours or more in a calendar year are covered by a
noncontributory corporate retirement plan or by the
contributory Civil Service Retirement Law. Benefits

payable under the corporate plan are based on years of
service and compensation using the average pay during the
36 consecutive highest-paid months of the last 120 months
of employment. Our policy is to contribute an amount no less
than the minimum required employer contribution under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

We contribute to the corporate plan in cash based on benefits
attributed to employees’ service to date and compensation
expected to be paid in the future. A contribution of

$41 million was made to the corporate plan in 2002.
Corporate plan assets consist primarily of listed stocks,
fixed-income securities, and other liquid assets. Plan assets
do not directly include any shares of Fannie Mae stock.

At December 31,2002 and 2001, the projected benefit
obligations for services rendered were $391 million and

$319 million, respectively, while the plan assets were

$234 million and $237 million, respectively. At December 31,
2002 and 2001, the pension liability (included on the balance
sheet under “Other liabilities”) was $51 million and

$65 million, respectively. Net periodic pension costs were
$27 million, $14 million, and $5 million for the years ended
December 31,2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. We use the
straight-line method of amortization for prior service costs.
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The assumptions we used to determine the net periodic
pension costs and projected benefit obligations were as
follows:

2002 2001 2000

Discount rate used to determine

pension expense . ............... 7.25% 7.75% 8.00%
Discount rate used to determine

projected benefit obligation

atyear-end ......... ... ... 6.75 7.25 7.75
Average rate of increase in

future compensation levels . ... ... 6.50 6.50 6.50
Expected long-term weighted-average

rate of return on plan assets . ...... 8.50 9.50 9.00

Fannie Mae also has an Executive Pension Plan, Supplemental
Pension Plan, and a bonus-based Supplemental Pension Plan,
which supplement the benefits payable under the retirement
plan. We fund accrued benefits under the Executive Pension
Plan through a Rabbi trust. We accrue estimated benefits
under the supplementary plans as an expense over the period
of employment.

We sponsor a post-retirement Health Care Plan that covers
substantially all full-time employees. The plan pays stated
percentages of most necessary medical expenses incurred by
retirees, after subtracting payments by Medicare or other
providers and after meeting a stated deductible. Participants
become eligible for the subsidized benefits as follows: (1) for
employees hired prior to January 1, 1998, if they retire from
Fannie Mae after reaching age 55 with five or more years of
service; or (2) for employees hired January 1, 1998, or later,
if they retire from Fannie Mae after reaching age 55 with ten
or more years of service. Employees hired January 1, 1998
or later who retire with less than ten years of service may
purchase coverage by paying the full premium. The plan is
contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted annually.
We charge the expected cost of these benefits to expense
during the years that the employees render service and we
pay all benefits out of our general assets. We base cost-
sharing percentages on length of service with Fannie Mae,
eligibility for and date of retirement, and a defined dollar
benefit cap.

Our accrued post-retirement health care cost liability for the
years ended December 31,2002 and 2001 was $65 million
and $52 million, respectively. The net post-retirement health
care costs were $15 million, $9 million, and $8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
respectively. In determining the net post-retirement health

care cost for 2002, we assumed a 13.50 percent annual rate

of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care
claims with the rate decreasing over the next five years to
4.50 percent and remaining at that level thereafter. In
determining the net post-retirement health care cost for
2001, we assumed a 4.75 percent annual rate of increase in
the per capita cost of covered health care claims with the rate
decreasing gradually over the next year to 4.50 percent and
remaining at that level thereafter. In determining the net
post-retirement health care cost for 2000, we assumed a

5.00 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of
covered health care claims with the rate decreasing gradually
over the next two years to 4.50 percent and remaining at that
level thereafter. The health care cost trend rate assumption
has a significant effect on the amounts reported. To illustrate,
increasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one
percentage point in each year would increase the
accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of
December 31,2002 by $5 million and the aggregate of the
service and interest cost components of net post-retirement
health care cost for the year by $1 million. Decreasing the
assumed health care cost trend rates by one percentage point
in each year would decrease the accumulated post-retirement
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by $12 million
and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components
of net post-retirement health care cost for the year by

$2 million.

The weighted-average discount rates we used to determine
the health care cost and the year-end accumulated
post-retirement benefit obligation were 6.75 percent at
December 31,2002, 7.25 percent at December 31, 2001,
and 7.75 percent at December 31, 2000.

10. Line of Business Reporting

We have two lines of business that generate revenue. These
business lines also focus on managing our key business risks.
‘We measure the results of our lines of business based on core
business earnings. We evaluate the results of our business
lines as though each were a stand-alone business. Hence, we
allocate certain income and expenses to each line of business
for purposes of business segment reporting. We eliminate
certain inter-segment allocations in our consolidated core
business earnings results.
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Portfolio Investment Business: The Portfolio Investment
business has two principal components: a mortgage
investment portfolio and a liquid investment portfolio (LIP).
The mortgage investment portfolio purchases mortgage
loans, mortgage-related securities, and other investments
from lenders, securities dealers, and other market
participants. The LIP serves as an alternative source of funds
to meet our cash flow needs by investing in high quality,
short-term and medium-term investments that provide an
ongoing supply of funds that can be used as necessary for
liquidity or reinvestment, or readily marketable, high credit
quality securities that can be sold to raise cash. We fund the
purchase of the assets in our Portfolio Investment business
by issuing debt in the global capital markets. The Portfolio
Investment business generates profits by ensuring that the
interest income from the mortgages, MBS, mortgage-related
securities, and liquid investments we purchase is greater
than our borrowing costs. A primary measure of profitability
for the Portfolio Investment business is our net interest
margin. Our net interest margin reflects the difference
between taxable-equivalent income on our mortgage assets
and nonmortgage investments and our borrowing expense,
divided by average interest earning assets.

Our Portfolio Investment business focuses on managing
Fannie Mae’s interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the risk
that changes in interest rates could change cash flows on
our mortgage assets and debt in a way that adversely affects
Fannie Mae’s earnings or long-term value.

Credit Guaranty Business: Our Credit Guaranty business
has primary responsibility for managing all of our mortgage
credit risk. Credit risk is the risk of loss to future earnings
and future cash flows that may result from the failure of

a borrower or counterparty to fulfill their contractual
obligation to Fannie Mae. The Credit Guaranty business
primarily generates income from guaranty fees for
guaranteeing the timely payment of scheduled principal
and interest on mortgage-related securities we guarantee
that are not owned by the Portfolio Investment business.
The primary source of income for the Credit Guaranty
business is the difference between the guaranty fees earned
and the costs of providing this service. Income is also
allocated to the Credit Guaranty business for the
following activities:

* Managing the credit risk on mortgage-related assets
held by the Portfolio Investment business

* Providing capital to the Portfolio Investment business

¢ Temporarily investing principal and interest payments
on loans underlying MBS prior to remittance
to investors

Our Credit Guaranty business manages Fannie Mae’s
mortgage credit risk by managing the profile and quality

of mortgages in the mortgage credit book of business, using
credit enhancements to reduce our losses, assessing the
sensitivity of credit losses to changes in economic conditions,
and aggressively managing problem assets to mitigate losses.

We assign actual direct revenues and expenses among

our two lines of business. We use estimates to apportion
overhead and other corporate items. For example, we allocate
administrative expenses as direct expenses for the line of
business. If we cannot allocate expenses to a particular
business, we base the allocation on revenues, profits, or
volumes as applicable. We allocate capital to the lines of
business through an assessment of the interest rate risk

and credit risk associated with each business.

Core Business Earnings: The difference between core
business earnings and reported net income relates to the
FAS 133 accounting treatment for purchased options. Core
business earnings does not exclude any other accounting
effects related to the application of FAS 133 or any other
non-FAS 133 related adjustments. The guaranty fee income
that we allocate to the Credit Guaranty business for
managing the credit risk on mortgage-related assets

held by the Portfolio Investment business is offset by

a corresponding guaranty fee expense allocation to the
Portfolio Investment business in our line of business results.
Thus, there is no reconciling adjustment between our total
line of business guaranty fee income and our reported
guaranty fee income. We allocate transaction fees received
for structuring and facilitating securities transactions for our
customers primarily to our Portfolio Investment business.
We allocate technology-related fees received for providing
Desktop Underwriter and other online services and fees
received for providing credit enhancement alternatives to
our customers primarily to our Credit Guaranty business.

The following table shows our line of business results for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, and
reconciles total core business earnings to reported

GAAP results.
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20022

Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Items Related to Reported
Dollars in millions Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
Net INtEreSt iNCOME -+« « + v vt e st e e eee e $ 9,869 $ 697 $10,566 $ — $10,566
Purchased options amortization eXpense . .. .............oouuueenn.. (1,814) — (1,814) 1,814¢ —
CoOre NEtINTEreStINCOIME . v vttt e e e et et ie e ie e ieeeenn 8,055 697 8,752 1,814 10,566
Guaranty fee income (EXPense) ... ..........oiiiiuieeiineeeiina... (1,374) 3,190 1,816 — 1,816
Fee and other income (eXpense), et . ..........oeuuueeennunneennnn. 348 (116) 232 — 232
Credit-related expenses® . ........ ... .. ... i i — (92) (92) — (92)
Administrative eXpenses ... ........ouuiiitiiii e (357) (862) (1,219) — (1,219)
Purchased options expenseunder FAS 133 ........... ... ... ... — — — (4,545)d (4,545)
Debt extinguishments,net ............. .. ... . i, (710) — (710) — (710)
Income before federal income taxes . .............oeiiiiiiiiiiiaa... 5,962 2,817 8,779 2,731) 6,048
Provision for federal income taxes .. ..........uuiiiiiiiee i (1,747) (638) (2,385) 956f (1,429)
NEtINCOME .ottt $ 4,215 $2,179 $ 6,394 $(1,775) $ 4,619
20012
Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Ttems Related to Reported
Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
Net INtereSt iNCOME . . « o o v v ettt e e et e eeen $ 7,369 $ 721 $ 8,090 $  — $ 8,090
Purchased options amortization expense ...................o.ioi.a.. (590) — (590) 590¢ —
Core NEtiNtEreStINCOME . o v vttt ettt ettt e ie e ie e eeeenns 6,779 721 7,500 590 8,090
Guaranty fee income (EXPense) . .. .........oooiiiiiieeiiieiin.... (1,109) 2,591 1,482 — 1,482
Fee and other income (expense), net . ............ouuiuiiennunneennnn. 211 (60) 151 — 151
Credit-related expenses® .......... ... .. .. . il — (78) (78) — (78)
Administrative eXpenses . ... .......iiiii i (302) (715) (1,017) — (1,017)
Special contribution . .. ... L L (192) (108) (300) — (300)
Purchased options expense under FAS 133 . ......... . ... oLl — — — (37)d 37
Debt extinguishments, net ...............oiiiiiiiiiiiiaan.. (524) — (524) — (524)
Income before federal income taxes and effect of accounting change . ... ... 4,863 2,351 7,214 553 7,767
Cumulative effect of accounting change, netof taxeffect ................ — — — 168¢ 168
Provision for federal income taxes ........... ... ... oo il (1,374) (473) (1,847) (194)f (2,041)
NELINCOME .« o vttt ettt e et e et e e e e e $ 3,489 $1,878 $ 5,367 $ 527 $ 5,894
2000
Total Core Reconciling
Portfolio Credit Business Items Related to Reported
Investment Guaranty Earnings Purchased Options Results
Net INtEreStiNCOME . . v v vttt ettt ettt ettt et e e ettt ettt eees $ 5,055 $ 619 $ 5,674 $ — $ 5,674
Purchased options amortization expense ................. ... — — — — —
Core Net iNtereStiNCOME . .\ vttt ettt ettt e e et e 5,055 619 5,674 — 5,674
Guaranty fee income (EXPense) . .. ...oouuueeeeiiieee ... (1,079) 2,430 1,351 — 1,351
Fee and other income (expense), net ............. ..., 27 71) “4 — “4
Credit-related expenses® . ........ ... — 94) 94) — 94)
AdminiStrative eXpenses .. ... ...ttt (254) (651) (905) — (905)
Debt extinguishments, net .......... ... ... 49 — 49 — 49
Income before federal income taxes .. .........ccoiiiiiniineinn... 3,798 2,233 6,031 — 6,031
Provision for federal income taxes . ... (1,053) (530) (1,583) — (1,583)
NEtINCOME . .\ttt t ettt e e e e e e e e et $ 2,745 $1,703 $ 4448 $ — $ 4,448

@ Reported net income for 2002 and 2001 includes the effect of FAS 133, which was adopted on January 1, 2001.

b Credit-related expenses include the income statement line items “Provision for losses” and “ Foreclosed property income.”

¢ This amount represents the straight-line amortization of purchased options expense that we allocate to interest expense over the original expected life of the options. We include this amount in core business earnings instead
of recording the unrealized gains and losses on purchased options to make it consi with the accounting for the embedded options in our callable debt and the vast majority of our mortgages.

4 This amount, which is recorded in our income statement under purchased options expense, represents unrealized gains and losses on purchased options recorded in accordance with FAS 133. We exclude this amount from
our core business earnings meastre because it does not reflect our strategy to bold options to maturity or exercise date and it is not our strategy to realize the period-to-period fluctuations in the value of options.

¢ This non-recurring amount represents the one-time transition recorded upon the adoption of FAS 133 on January 1, 2001. We exclude the transition gain from core business earnings because it relates to unrealized gains
on purchased options that were recorded when we adopted FAS 133.

T This amount represents the net federal income tax effect of core business earnings adjustments based on the applicable federal income tax rate of 35 percent.
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The Portfolio Investment business represented

$869 billion, or 98 percent of total assets, at December 31,
2002 and $785 billion, or 98 percent of total assets, at
December 31, 2001.

11. Dividend Restrictions and Regulatory Capital
Ratios

Our ability to pay dividends may be subject to certain

statutory restrictions. We would need approval by the

Director of OFHEO for any dividend payment that would

cause our capital to fall below specified capital levels.

We have exceeded the applicable capital standard since

the adoption of these restrictions in 1992; therefore, we

have been making dividend payments without the need for

director approval. The capital adequacy standard requires

that our core capital equal or exceed a minimum capital

standard and a critical capital standard.

OFHEO published regulations under the Federal Housing
Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992 in
September 2001, as amended on March 15, 2002,
establishing a risk-based capital test to determine the amount
of total capital we must hold under the risk-based capital
standard on a quarterly basis. The risk-based capital standard
was implemented by OFHEO on September 13, 2002.

The following table shows how our capital at December 31,
2002 and 2001 compared with these requirements.

Dollars in millions 2002 2001
Corecapitall .. ... $28,079 $25,182
Required minimum capital®’ .............. 27,203 24,182
Excess of core capital over minimum capital’. .. $ 877 $ 1,000
Total capital’ .. ... o $28,871 $25,976
Required risk-based capital ................ 17,434 NA
Excess of total capital over required

risk-based capital. . ........ .. oL 11,437 NA
Required critical capital®5 . ........ ... ... $13,880 $12,324
Excess of core capital over required

critical capital’. ... oo ool 14,199 12,859

1 The sum of (a) the stated value of common stock; (b) the stated value of outstanding noncumulative
perpetual preferred stock; (c) paid-in capital; and (d) retained earnings, less treasury stock. Core capital
excludes lated other comprebensive income (AOCI).

2 The sum of (a) 2.50 percent of on-balance sheet assets; (b) .45 percent of outstanding MBS; and
(c) 45 percent of other off-balance sheet obligations, which may be adjusted by the Director of OFHEO
under certain circumstances (See 12 CFR 1750.4 for existing adjustments made by the
Director of OFHEO)).

3 The sum of (a) core capital and (b) the total allowance for loan losses and guaranty liability, less (c) the
specific loss allowance. Specific loss allowances totaled $19 million and $13 million for the years ended
Decernber 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001 respectively.

+The sum of (a) 1.25 percent of on-balance sheet assets; (b) .25 percent of outstanding MBS; and
(c) .25 percent of other off-balance sheet obligations, which may be adjusted by the Director of OFHEO
under certain circumstances.

5 These amounts do not reflect the reclassification from our “Allowance for loan losses” to a “Guaranty
liability for MBS” the amount associated with the guaranty obligation for MBS that we own that
occurred in 2002. See Note 1 to the Notes to the Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies—Allowance for Loan Losses and Guaranty Liability for MBS.” The reclassification
will not have a material effect on these amounts.

Payment of dividends on common stock is subordinate to
any payment of dividends on preferred stock outstanding.
Payment of preferred stock dividends is not mandatory.

12. Preferred Stock

The following table presents preferred stock outstanding
as of December 31, 2002.

Shares Issued Stated

Issue and Value Annual Redeemable on

Date Outstanding per Share Dividend Rate or After
SeriesD ... September 30, 1998 3,000,000 $50 5.250% September 30, 1999
SeriesE .. ... April 15,1999 3,000,000 50 5.100 April 15,2004
Series F March 20,2000 13,800,000 50 3.540! March 31, 20023
Series G ..o v v i August 8, 2000 5,750,000 50 1.8302 September 30, 20023
SeriesH .. ... April 6,2001 8,000,000 50 5.810 April 6,2006
Series ..o October 28, 2002 6,000,000 50 5.375 October 28,2007
Series] oo November 26, 2002 14,000,000 50 3.780% November 26, 2004
JOtal L

53,550,000

1 Rate effective March 31, 2002. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the Constant Maturity U.S. Treasury Rate minus .16 percent with a cap of 11 percent per year.

2 Rate effective September 30, 2002. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the Constant Maturity U.S. Treasury Rate minus .18 percent with a cap of 11 percent per year.

3 Represents initial call date. Redeemable every two years thereafier.

# Initial rate. Variable dividend rate that resets every two years thereafter at the two-year U.S. Dollar Swap Rate plus 1.38 percent with a cap of 8 percent per year.

In general, our preferred stock has no par value, has a stated
value and liquidation preference of $50 per share, and is not
convertible into or exchangeable for any of our other stock
or obligations. Holders of preferred stock are entitled to
receive noncumulative, quarterly dividends when, and if,
declared by our Board of Directors, but will have no right
to require redemption of any shares of preferred stock.
Payment of dividends on preferred stock is not mandatory,
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but has priority over payment of dividends on common
stock. After a specified period, we have the option to redeem
preferred stock at its stated value. All outstanding preferred
stock is nonvoting.

We redeemed all 7.5 million of our outstanding Series B
preferred stock on February 28, 2002 and all 5.0 million
shares of our outstanding Series C preferred stock on
July 31,2002.
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13. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Fannie Mae issues various types of debt to finance the
acquisition of mortgages. We typically use derivative
instruments to hedge against the impact of interest rate
movements on our debt costs to preserve mortgage-to-debt
spreads. We do not engage in trading or other speculative
usage of derivative instruments.

We principally use interest-rate swaps, basis swaps,
swaptions, and caps in our hedging activities. Swaps provide
for the exchange of fixed and variable interest payments
based on contractual notional principal amounts. These may
include callable swaps, which give counterparties or us the
right to terminate interest rate swaps before their stated
maturities. Or, these may include foreign currency swaps,
where Fannie Mae and our counterparties exchange
payments in different types of currencies. Basis swaps provide
for the exchange of variable payments that have maturities
similar to hedged debt, but have payments based on different

interest rate indices. Swaptions give us the option to enter
into swaps at a future date, thereby mirroring the economic
effect of callable debt. Interest rate caps provide ceilings on
the interest rates of variable-rate debt.

We formally document all relationships between hedging
instruments and the hedged items, including the risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. We link all derivatives to specific assets
and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific forecasted
transactions and designate them as cash flow or fair value
hedges. We also formally assess, both at the hedge’s inception
and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that we use
in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in the cash flows or fair values of the hedged items.

The following table reflects the hedge classification of the
notional balances of derivatives by type that we held at
December 31,2002 and 2001.

2001
Fair Value Cash Flow Fair Value Cash Flow

Dollars in millions Hedges Hedges Total Hedges Hedges Total
Interest rate swaps:

Pay-fixed .......... ... o oL $ 16,355 $152,157 $168,512 $ 7,063 $206,617 $213,680

Receive-fixedand basis ....................... 29,636 48,259 77,895 10,989 75,134 86,123
Interestratecaps ................ i, — 122,393 122,393 — 75,893 75,893
Swaptions:

Pay-fixed .......... ... . o il — 129,225 129,225 — 69,650 69,650

Receive-fixed ......... ... . i 94,750 51,500 146,250 74,400 — 74,400
Other! .. 4,120 8,200 12,320 8,843 4,550 13,393
Total oo $144,861 $511,734 $656,595 $101,295 $431,844 $533,139

T Includes foreign currency swaps, forward starting swaps, asset swaps, and other derivatives used to hedge anticipated debt issues.

We discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when

* the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting
changes in the cash flows or fair value of a hedged
item;

¢ the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or

exercised;

* the derivative is de-designated as a hedge instrument
because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will
occur; or,

* the designation of the derivative as a hedge
instrument is no longer appropriate.

Cash Flow Hedges

Objectives and Context

We employ cash flow hedges to lock in the interest spread on
purchased assets by hedging existing variable-rate debt and
the forecasted issuances of debt through our Benchmark
Program. The issuance of short-term Discount Notes and
variable-rate long-term debt during periods of rising interest
rates can result in a mismatch of cash flows relative to fixed-
rate mortgage assets. We minimize the risk of mismatched
cash flows by converting variable-rate interest expense to
fixed-rate interest expense in order to lock-in our funding
costs and interest spread.
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Risk Management Strategies and Policies

We enter into interest rate swaps, swaptions, and caps to
hedge the variability of cash flows resulting from changes in
interest rates. We enter into pay-fixed interest rate swaps to
protect against an increase in interest rates by converting the
debt’s variable rate to a fixed rate and to protect against
fluctuations in market prices of anticipated debt issuances.

We enter into pay-fixed interest rate swaps and swaptions as
well as interest rate caps to change the variable-rate cash flow
exposure on our short-term Discount Notes and long-term
variable-rate debt to fixed-rate cash flows. Under the swap
agreements, we effectively create fixed-rate debt by receiving
variable interest payments and making fixed interest
payments. We purchase swaptions that give us the option to
enter into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap at

a future date. Under interest rate cap agreements, we reduce
the variability of cash flows on our variable-rate debt by
purchasing the right to receive cash if interest rates rise above
a specified level.

We continually monitor changes in interest rates and identify
interest rate exposures that may adversely impact expected
future cash flows on our mortgage and debt portfolios.

We use analytical techniques, including cash flow sensitivity
analysis, to estimate the expected impact of changes

in interest rates on our future cash flows. We did not
discontinue any cash flow hedges during the year because it
was no longer probable that the hedged debt would be issued.
We had no open positions for hedging the forecasted
issuance of debt at December 31, 2002.

Financial Statement Impact

Consistent with FAS 133, we record changes in the fair value
of derivatives used as cash flow hedges in AOCI to the extent
they are effective hedges. We amortize fair value gains or
losses in AOCI into the income statement and reflect them
as either a reduction or increase in interest expense

over the life of the hedged item. We recognized the income
or expense associated with derivative instruments as an
adjustment to the effective cost on of the hedged debt.

We will amortize an estimated $4.7 billion, net of taxes,

out of AOCI and into earnings during the next 12 months.
Actual amortization results in 2003 will likely differ from

the amortization estimate because actual swap yields during
2003 will change from the swap yield curve assumptions

at December 31, 2002.

"The reconciliation below reflects the change in AOCI, net
of taxes, from January 1, 2001 through December 31, 2002
associated with FAS 133:

FAS 133

Impact on

Dollars in millions AOCI

Transition adjustment to adopt

FAS 133, January 1, 2001 . .......ooooeeeie e, $ (3,972)
Losses on cash flow hedges,net . ........... ... .. ... ... (5,530)

Reclassifications to earnings,net .......................... 2,143
Balance at December 31,2001 . ..., (7,359)
Losses on cash flow hedges,net................ .. ... ... (14,274)

Reclassifications to earnings,net . ......................... 5,382
Balance at December 31,2002 ......................... $(16,251)

If there is any hedge ineffectiveness or derivatives do not
qualify as cash flow hedges, we record the ineffective portion
in the “Fee and other income, net” line item on the income
statement. We included a pre-tax loss of $.4 million in 2002
and $3 million in 2001 related to the ineffective portion of
cash flow hedges in “Fee and other income, net.”

We include only changes in the intrinsic value of swaptions
and interest rate caps in our assessment of hedge
effectiveness. Therefore, we exclude changes in the time
value of these contracts from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness and recognize them in the “Purchased options
expense” line item on the income statement. We recorded a
pre-tax loss of $2.57 billion in 2002 and $34 million in 2001
in “Purchased options expense” for the change in time value
of options designated as cash flow hedges.

Fair Value Hedges

Objectives and Context

We employ fair value hedges to preserve our mortgage-to-
debtinterest spreads when there is a decline in interest rates
by converting fixed-rate debt to variable-rate debt. A decline
in interest rates increases the risk of mortgage assets
repricing at lower yields while fixed-rate debt remains at
above-market costs. We limit the interest rate risk inherent
in our fixed-rate debt instruments by using fair value hedges
to convert fixed-rate debt to variable-rate debt.

Risk Management Strategies and Policies

We enter into various types of derivative instruments, such
as receive-fixed interest rate swaps and swaptions, to convert
fixed-rate debt to floating-rate debt and preserve mortgage-
to-debt interest spreads when interest rates decline. Under
receive-fixed interest rate swaps, we receive fixed interest
payments and make variable interest payments, thereby
creating floating-rate debt. Receive-fixed swaptions give us
the option to enter into an interest rate swap at a future date.
In this event, we effectively create callable debt that reprices
atalower interest rate because we will receive fixed interest
payments and make variable interest payments.
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Financial Statement Impact

We record changes in the fair value of derivatives used as fair
value hedges in the “Fee and other income, net” line item on
the income statement along with offsetting changes in the
fair value of the hedged items attributable to the risk being
hedged. Our fair value hedges produced hedge
ineffectiveness totaling $.2 million of expense during the
year ended December 31, 2002. Our fair value hedges
produced no hedge ineffectiveness during the year ended
December 31, 2001.

We only include changes in the intrinsic value of swaptions

in our assessment of hedge effectiveness. We exclude changes
in the time value of receive-fixed swaptions used as fair value
hedges from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and record
them in the “Purchased options expense” line item on the
income statement. For the years ended December 31, 2002
and 2001, we recorded pre-tax purchased options expense of
$1.97 billion and $3 million, respectively, in the income
statement for the change in the time value of these contracts.

Foreign Currency Hedges

Fannie Mae uses derivatives to hedge foreign currency
exposure on debt issued in a foreign currency. Because all
of our assets are denominated in U.S. dollars, we enter into
currency swaps to effectively convert the foreign currency
debtinto U.S. dollars. Our foreign denominated debt is not
material, representing .5 percent of total debt outstanding.

14. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet
Risk
We are involved in financial instrument transactions that
create off-balance-sheet risk. We enter into these
transactions to fulfill our statutory purpose of meeting the
financing needs of the secondary residential mortgage
market and to reduce our own exposure to interest rate
fluctuations. These financial instruments include guaranteed
MBS and other mortgage-related securities, commitments
to purchase mortgage portfolio assets or to issue and
guarantee MBS, and credit enhancements. These
instruments involve elements of credit and interest rate risk
in excess of amounts recognized on the balance sheet to

varying degrees.

Guaranteed MBS and Mortgage-Related Securities

As guarantor of MBS, we are obligated to disburse scheduled
monthly installments of principal and interest at the
certificate rate plus the UPB of any foreclosed mortgage to
MBS investors whether or not they have been received. We
are paid a guaranty fee for assuming this credit risk. We also
are obligated to disburse unscheduled principal payments

received from borrowers on MBS. The borrower, lender, or
Fannie Mae may purchase credit enhancements, such as
mortgage insurance, to protect against the risk of loss from
borrower default. Occasionally, lenders may elect to remain
atrisk for the loans underlying MBS through recourse
arrangements. Lenders that keep recourse retain the primary
default risk, in whole or in part, in exchange for a lower
guaranty fee. We may also enter into other credit
enhancement arrangements. Fannie Mae, however, bears
the ultimate risk of default on MBS. To a much more limited
extent, we guarantee the payment of principal and interest
on other mortgage-related securities.

At December 31, 2002, the maximum potential amount of
future principal payments we could be required to make
under our guarantee of MBS and other mortgage-related
securities was $1.029 trillion. We have recognized a liability
of $471 million at year-end 2002 for these guaranty
obligations based on our estimate of probable credit losses
in the loans underlying MBS and other mortgage-related
securities as of December 31, 2002.

In the event we were required to make the maximum amount
of future payments under the guarantees, we would first
pursue recovering these payments by proceeding against the
underlying collateral of the loans. If the value of the collateral
was less than the payments made under our guarantees, then
we would recover payments from third-party providers of
credit enhancements. In the event that the principal amount
of single-family loans exceeds the value of the underlying
properties, then we have credit enhancements with maximum
coverage totaling $66.1 billion in primary mortgage
insurance, $7.0 billion in pool insurance, and $31.5 billion

in full recourse to lenders on single-family loans. If the
collateral proceeds for multifamily loans were insufficient,
then we have credit enhancements totaling $4.2 billion in
recourse to multifamily lenders.

Commitments

We enter into master delivery commitments with lenders on
either a mandatory or an optional basis. Under a mandatory
master commitment, a lender must either deliver loans under
an MBS contract at a specified guaranty fee rate or enter into
a mandatory portfolio commitment with the yield established
upon executing the portfolio commitment.

We will also accept mandatory or lender-option delivery
commitments not issued pursuant to a master commitment.
These commitments may be for purchases for our mortgage
portfolio or for issuances of our MBS. The guaranty fee rate
on MBS lender-option commitments is specified in the
contract, while the yield for portfolio lender-option
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commitments is set at the date of conversion to a mandatory
commitment.

We generally hedge the cost of funding future portfolio
purchases upon issuance of, or conversion to, a mandatory
commitment. Therefore, we largely mitigate the

interest rate risk relating to loans purchased pursuant

to those commitments.

Credit Enhancements

Credit enhancements typically represent credit enhancement
and liquidity support for taxable or tax-exempt housing
bonds issued by state and local governmental entities to
finance multifamily housing for low- and moderate-income
families and for other obligations related to the financing.
We issue MBS, pledge an interest in certain mortgages we
own, or otherwise provide contractual assurance of payment
to a trustee for the bonds or another party in the transaction.
Our direct credit enhancement improves the rating on

the bonds, thus resulting in lower-cost financing for
multifamily housing.

Credit Exposure for Off-Balance-Sheet Financial
Instruments

The following table presents the contractual amount of off-
balance-sheet financial instruments at December 31, 2002
and 2001. Contractual or notional amounts do not
necessarily represent the credit risk of the positions.

Dollars in billions 2002 2001
Contractual amounts:

Outstanding MBS! .......... ... ... .... $1,029 $859
Master commitments:

Mandatory .......... ... oL 41 24

Optional ............ . ... ..o 6 16
Portfolio commitments:

Mandatory .......... .. oo 85 55

Optional ............ ..o o i 3 2
Otherinvestments ............ooveeeeennn... 3 2
Creditenhancements ........................ 12 16

T Includes MBS and other mortgage-related securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and held by investors
other than Fannie Mae.

15. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk exist when a number of
counterparties engage in similar activities and have similar
economic characteristics that make them susceptible to
similar changes in economic conditions that could affect their
ability to meet contractual obligations. In our case, these
counterparties include single-family borrowers, servicers,
mortgage insurers, and derivative counterparties.

Regional economic conditions affect a borrower’ ability

to repay and the value of the collateral underlying a loan.
Geographic concentrations increase the susceptibility of
our portfolio to changes in credit risk. Our single-family
geographic concentrations have been consistently diversified
over the past three years with our largest exposure to the
western region of the U.S. No region or state experienced
negative home price growth. No significant concentration
existed at the state level at December 31, 2002 and 2001
except for California, where 18 percent of the gross UPB of
our conventional single-family mortgage loans in portfolio
and those underlying MBS in portfolio and outstanding MBS
was located at both December 31, 2002 and 2001. The
following table presents the regional geographic distribution
of properties underlying our conventional single-family
mortgage loans in portfolio and those underlying MBS in
portfolio and outstanding MBS at December 31,2002 and
2001. Excluded from this population at December 31, 2002
and 2001 are non-Fannie Mae mortgage securities for which
geographic information is not available.

Geographic Distribution!

Midwest  Northeast Southeast  Southwest West Total
2002 . e 19% 21% 16% 26% 100%
2000 18 21 16 26 100

1 Midwest includes IL, IN, IA, MI, MN, NE, ND, OH, SD, and W1. Northeast includes CT, DE, ME, MA, NH, N7, NY, PA, PR, RI, V'T; and V1. Southeast includes AL, DC, FL, GA, KY, MD, MS, NC, SC, TN,
VA, and WV. Southwest includes AZ, AR, CO, KS, LA, MO, NM, OK, TX, and UT. West includes AK, CA, GU, HI, ID, M'T, NV, OR, WA, and WY.
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"To manage credit risk and comply with legal requirements,
we require primary mortgage insurance or other credit
enhancement if the current UT'V ratio of a single-family
conventional mortgage loan is greater than 80 percent
when the loan is delivered to us. We may also require credit
enhancement if the original I'T'V ratio of a single-family
conventional mortgage loan is less than 80 percent when
the loan is delivered to us.

The primary credit risk associated with mortgage insurers

is that they will fail to fulfill their obligations to reimburse us
for claims under insurance policies. We were the beneficiary
of primary mortgage insurance coverage on $316 billion of
single-family loans in portfolio or underlying MBS at
December 31,2002 and $3 14 billion at December 31, 2001.
Seven mortgage insurance companies, all rated AA or higher
by Standard & Poor’s (S&P), provided approximately 99
percent of the total coverage at the end of 2002 and 2001.

The primary risk associated with mortgage lenders is that
they will fail to fulfill their servicing obligations. Mortgage
servicers collect mortgage and escrow payments from
borrowers, pay taxes and insurance costs from escrow
accounts, monitor and report delinquencies, and perform
other required activities on our behalf. A servicing contract
breach could result in credit losses for us, or we could incur
the cost of finding a replacement servicer, which could be
substantial for loans that require a special servicer. Our ten
largest single-family mortgage servicers serviced 63 percent
of our single-family book of business at both year-end 2002
and year-end 2001. Our fifteen largest multifamily mortgage
servicers serviced 70 percent of our multifamily book of
business at year-end 2002, compared with 67 percent at
year-end 2001.

The primary credit exposure we have on a derivative
transaction is that a counterparty might default on payments
due, which could result in having to replace the derivative
with a different counterparty at a higher cost. Over

99 percent of the $657 billion and $533 billion notional
amount of our outstanding derivative transactions were with
counterparties rated A or better both by S&P and Moody’s
Investors Services (Moody’s) at December 31,2002 and 2001,
respectively (one counterparty was downgraded below an

A rating after the contract was entered into). Our derivative
instruments were diversified among 21 and 23 counterparties
atyear-end 2002 and 2001, respectively, to reduce our credit

risk concentrations. At December 31, 2002, eight
counterparties with credit ratings of A or better represented
approximately 76 percent of the total notional amount of
outstanding derivatives transactions. At December 31,2001,
eight counterparties with credit ratings of A or better
represented approximately 78 percent of the total notional
amount of outstanding derivatives transactions.

Seventy-one percent of our net exposure of $197 million at
December 31, 2002 was with six counterparties rated AA or
better by S&P and Aa or better by Moody’s. The percentage
of our exposure with these six counterparties ranged from

2 to 23 percent. In comparison, five counterparties rated

AA or better by S&P and Aa or better by Moody’s accounted
for 83 percent of our net exposure of $110 million at
December 31, 2001. The percentage of our net exposure
with counterparties rated AA or better by S&P and Aa or
better by Moody’s fell during 2002 because of a change in the
relative mix of our derivative products in response to changes
in market conditions that shifted the relative level of activity
and exposure between individual counterparties.

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The basic assumptions used and the estimates disclosed in
the Fair Value Balance Sheets represent our best judgment
of appropriate valuation methods. These estimates are based
on pertinent information available to us as of December 31,
2002 and 2001. In certain cases, fair values are not subject

to precise quantification or verification and may change as
economic and market factors, and our evaluation of those
factors, change.

Although we use our best judgment in estimating the fair
value of these financial instruments, there are inherent
limitations in any estimation technique. Therefore, these
fair value estimates are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that we would realize in a market transaction. The
accompanying Fair Value Balance Sheets do not represent an
estimate of the overall market value of Fannie Mae as a going
concern, which would take into account future business
opportunities.
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Fair Value Balance Sheets

December 31,2002 December 31,2001
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Dollars in millions Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Assets
Mortgage portfolio, Net . . ..o v vttt $797,693 $826,870 $705,324 $720,174
Nonmortgage iNVEStMENTS . . ... vvvvuuettteeeeeeeeeeeeeaeee... 59,844 59,845 74,554 74,716
Cashand cashequivalents . ......... ... ... ... ... ... L 1,710 1,710 1,518 1,518
OBHET BSSETS - -+« v e e eee et e e e e e e e e e e e e e 24,602 19,316 17,598 13,020
Derivatives in gain positions . ..................... ... 3,666 3,666 954 954
887,515 911,407 799,948 810,382
Off-balance-sheet items:
Guaranty feeincome, net! ...... ... ... o oo — 5,146 — 6,451
Mortgage purchase commitments? ................ ..., — 1,650 — (567)
TOtal ASSELS + + + + v v e e e e e e e e e e $887,515 $918,203 $799,948 $816,266
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Senior debt:
Duewithinoneyear ..., $382,412 $382,453 $343,492 $343,648
Dueafteroneyear ... 458,600 485,297 413,582 427,209
Subordinated debt:
Due withinoneyear ........... ... ... ... . L. — — — —
Dueafteroneyear ..........oouiuiiiiiiiiiiniii .. 9,970 12,424 6,393 7,625
850,892 880,174 763,467 778,482
Other liabilities ... ... oot 14,548 10,202 13,294 10,040
Derivatives in loss positions . ...............ooiiiiiiiiiia... 5,697 5,697 5,069 5,069
Total liabilities . . ... oottt e 871,227 896,073 781,830 793,591
Netassets, netof taxeffect .......... ... i, $ 16,288 $ 22,130 $ 18,118 $ 22,675

T At December 31, 2002 and 2001, total MBS was $1,538 billion and $1,290 billion, respectively. Refer to Note 14, “Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk,” for more information on the nature of this

item.

2 At December 31 , 2002 and 2001, the amount of mandatory mortgage purchase commitments was $85 billion and $55 billion, respectively. Refer to Note 14, “Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk,” for

more information on the nature of this item.

See accompanying Notes to Fair Value Balance Sheets.

Notes to Fair Value Balance Sheets
The following discussion summarizes the significant
methodologies and assumptions we used to estimate the

fair values in the accompanying Fair Value Balance Sheets.

Mortgage Portfolio, Net

The fair value calculations of our mortgage portfolio
considered such variables as interest rates, credit quality,
and loan collateral. Because an active market does not
exist for a portion of mortgage loans in the portfolio, the
portfolio’s unsecuritized mortgages were aggregated into

pools by product type, coupon, and maturity and converted

into notional MBS. A normal guaranty fee that our
securitization business would charge for a pool of loans
with similar characteristics was subtracted from the
weighted-average coupon rate less servicing fees. We
described the method for estimating this guaranty fee
and the credit risk associated with the mortgage portfolio
under “Guaranty fee income.”

We then employed an option-adjusted spread (OAS)
approach to estimate fair values for MBS held in portfolio
and other mortgage-related securities. The OAS approach
represents the risk premium or incremental interest spread
over some market benchmark rates, typically our debt rates,
that is included in a security’s yield to compensate an investor
for the uncertain effects of embedded prepayment options
on mortgages. The OAS was calculated using quoted market
values for selected benchmark securities and provided a
generally applicable return measure that considered the
effect of prepayment risk and interest rate volatility.

Nonmortgage Investments

We based fair values of our nonmortgage investment
portfolio on actual quoted prices or prices quoted for similar
financial instruments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We used the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents
as a reasonable estimate of their fair value.
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Other Assets

Other assets include accrued interest receivable, net currency
swap receivables, and several other smaller asset categories.
The fair value of other assets, excluding certain deferred
items that have no fair value and net currency swap
receivables, approximates their carrying amount. We
estimated the fair value of net currency swap receivables
based on either the expected cash flows or quoted market
values of these instruments.

The fair value amount also includes the estimated effect on
deferred income taxes of providing for federal income taxes
for the difference between net assets at fair value and at cost
at the statutory corporate tax rate of 35 percent.

Derivatives

We enter into interest rate swaps, including callable swaps
that, in general, extended or adjusted the effective maturity of
certain debt obligations. Under these swaps, we generally
pay a fixed rate and receive a floating rate based on a notional
amount. We also enter into interest rate swaps that are linked
to specific investments (asset swaps) or specific debt issues
(debt swaps). We estimated the fair value of interest rate
swaps based on either the expected cash flows or quoted
market values of these instruments, net of tax. We included
the effect of netting under master agreements in determining
swap obligations in a gain position or loss position.

In addition, we enter into swaptions and interest rate caps.
Under a swaption, we have the option to enter into a swap, as
described above, at a future date. We use interest rate caps to
effectively manage our interest expense in a period of rising
interest rates by entering into an agreement whereby a
counterparty makes payments to us for interest rates above a
specified rate. We estimated the fair values of these derivative
instruments based on either the expected cash flows or the
quoted market values of these instruments, net of tax.

Guaranty Fee Income

Guaranteed MBS and other mortgage-related securities are
not assets owned by us, except when acquired for investment
purposes. We receive a guaranty fee calculated on the
outstanding principal balance of the MBS or other mortgage-
related assets held by third parties. The guaranty fee
represents a future income stream for us. Under generally
accepted accounting principles, we recognized this guaranty
fee as income over the life of the securities. The Fair Value
Balance Sheets reflect the present value of guaranty fees, net
of estimated future administrative costs and credit losses,
taking into account estimated prepayments.

We estimated the credit loss exposure attached to the
notional amount of guaranteed MBS and other mortgage-
related securities held by third-party investors. We deducted
estimated credit losses from the projected guaranty fee cash
flows to arrive at fair value. We calculated estimated credit
losses with an internal forecasting model based on our actual
historical loss experience. We then valued the net guaranty
fee cash flows with reference to the pricing of similar assets.

Noncallable and Callable Debt

We estimated the fair value of our noncallable debt using
quotes for selected Fannie Mae debt securities with
similar terms. We estimated the fair value of callable
debt with an OAS model similar to the valuation of the
mortgage portfolio.

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities primarily include accrued interest payable,
amounts payable to MBS holders, estimated losses on
guaranteed MBS, net currency swap payables, and several
other smaller liability categories. The fair value of other
liabilities often approximates their carrying amount;
however, certain deferred liabilities have no fair value. We
included credit loss exposure for guaranteed MBS and other
mortgage-related securities as a component of the net MBS
guaranty fee. We estimated the fair value of net currency
swap payables based on the expected cash flows or quoted
market values of these instruments.

Mortgage Purchase Commitments

Mortgage purchase commitments include mandatory
commitments to purchase MBS and loans. We estimated
their fair value based on the prices for similar MBS that
are being traded in the marketplace.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Fannie Mae:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Fannie Mae as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of Fannie Mae’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Fannie Mae as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

As discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements, Fannie Mae changed its method of accounting for derivative instruments
and hedging activities in 2001 in accordance with the adoption of Financial Accounting Standard No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

We also have audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America the
supplemental fair value balance sheets of Fannie Mae as of December 31,2002 and 2001, included in Note 16 to the financial
statements. As described in Note 16, the supplemental fair value balance sheets have been prepared by management to present
relevant financial information that is not provided by the financial statements and is not intended to be a presentation in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, the supplemental

fair value balance sheets do not purport to present the net realizable, liquidation, or market value of Fannie Mae as a whole.
Furthermore, amounts ultimately realized by Fannie Mae from the disposal of assets may vary significantly from the fair values
presented. In our opinion, the supplemental fair value balance sheets included in Note 16 present fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein.

KPme LLP

Washington, DC
January 14, 2003
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Report of Management

To the Stockholders of Fannie Mae:

The management of Fannie Mae is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair presentation of the accompanying
financial statements and other information appearing elsewhere in this report. In our opinion, the financial statements have
been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America appropriate in the
circumstances, and the other financial information in this report is consistent with such statements. In preparing the financial
statements and in developing the other financial information, it has been necessary to make informed judgments and estimates
of the effects of business events and transactions. We believe that these judgments and estimates are reasonable, that the
financial information contained in this report reflects in all material respects the substance of all business events and
transactions to which the corporation was a party, and that all material uncertainties have been appropriately accounted

for or disclosed.

The management of Fannie Mae is also responsible for maintaining internal control over financial reporting that provides
reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in accordance with appropriate authorization, permits preparation of
financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
establishes accountability for the assets of the corporation.

Internal control over financial reporting includes controls for the execution, documentation, and recording of transactions,
and an organizational structure that provides an effective segregation of duties and responsibilities. Fannie Mae has an internal
Office of Auditing whose responsibilities include monitoring compliance with established controls and evaluating the
corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting. Organizationally, the internal Office of Auditing is independent of
the activities it reviews.

Fannie Mae’s financial statements are audited by KPMG LLP, the corporation’s independent auditors, whose audit is
performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, KPMG LLP
obtained an understanding of our internal controls over financial reporting and conducted such tests and other auditing
procedures as they considered necessary to express the opinion on the financial statements in their report that follows.

The Board of Directors of Fannie Mae exercises its oversight of financial reporting and related controls through an Audit
Committee, which is composed solely of directors who are not officers or employees of the corporation. The Audit Committee
meets with management and the internal Office of Auditing periodically to review the work of each and to evaluate the
effectiveness with which they discharge their respective responsibilities. In addition, the committee meets periodically with
KPMG LLP, who has free access to the committee, without management present. The appointment of the independent
auditors is made annually by the Board of Directors subject to ratification by the stockholders.

Management recognizes that there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control environment. However,
management believes that, as of December 31, 2002, Fannie Mae’s internal control environment, as described herein, provided
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and related financial information.

J N S o

Timothy Howard Leanne G. Spencer
Executive Vice President and Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer Controller
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Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following unaudited results of operations include, in the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair

presentation of the results of operations for such periods.

2002 Quarter Ended
Dollars in millions, except per common share amounts December September June March
NeEt INTEreStINCOIMIE &+« o\ vt ettt e ettt e e et ettt et ettt $ 3,012 $ 2,591 $2,532 $2,431
Guaranty feeincome . ....... ... . 523 463 423 407
Fee and other income (eXpense), Net . ...........o.uuiiiiuiiiniiinennieeaann. 95 91 42 4
Provision forlosses . ... ...ttt 41) (26) (33) (28)
Foreclosed property inCome . ... ..ottt 8 12 9 7
AdmIniStrative EXPENSES . . . ottt 313) (315) (301) (290)
Purchased options expense . ........... ...t (1,881) (1,378) (499) (787)
Debtextinguishments, net ............. ... i (176) (138) (224) (172)
Income before federal income taxes . ... eei i 1,227 1,300 1,949 1,572
Provision for federal income taxes . .........oouuiie et (275) (307) (485) (362)
NETINCOIME « .« v vttt ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e $ 952 $ 993 $1,464 $1,210
Preferred stock dividends .. ... ... (20) (22) (24) (33)
Net income available to common stockholders . ........... ... ... ... ......... $ 932 $ 971 $1,440 $1,177
Diluted earnings per common share . ............. ... . i s 94 s .98 $ 1.44 $ 1.17
Cash dividends per commonshare ........ ... ... ... . . i i 33 33 33 .33
2001 Quarter Ended
December September June March

NEt INTErESt INCOME .+« v v e e ettt et $ 2,404 $ 2,079 $1,900 $1,707
Guaranty feeincome .. ... .. 398 384 357 343
Fee and other income (expense), net ..............oiiiiuuiiniiuneiiinenann. 51 49 24 27
Provision forlosses . ... ... 21 (18) 24) (31)
Foreclosed property income .............oiiiiiiiiiiii 5 3 6 2
Administrative eXPEenses . . ... ...ttt (251) 273) 254 (239)
Special contribution ........ ... (300) — — —
Purchased options income (EXPense) .. .........oouuuuiiiiiiiiiiiaiiiii 578 (413) 36 (238)
Debtextinguishments, net ........... ... i 91) (207) (142) (84)
Income before federal income taxes and cumulative effect of change

inaccounting principle ...... ... . . 2,773 1,604 1,903 1,487
Provision for federal INnCOME taxes . ... .o vvtt it (804) (375) (500) (362)
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ................. 1,969 1,229 1,403 1,125
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of tax effect ............... — — — 168
NETINCOME . o oottt $ 1,969 $1,229 $1,403 $1,293
Preferred stock dividends . ...... ... (39) (35) (35) (33)
Net income available to common stockholders ................................. $ 1,934 $ 1,194 $1,368 $1,260
Diluted earnings per common share:

Earnings before cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............ $ 1.92 $ 1.19 $ 1.36 $ 1.08

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ......................... — — — .17

NEE CATTUNES « « v et ev et ettt et ettt et e e e e e e $ 1.92 $ 1.19 $ 1.36 $ 1.25
Cash dividends per common share ........ ... ... ... . i i $ 30 $ .30 $ 30 $ 30
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Financial and Statistical Summary (Unaudited)

For the Year
Dollars in millions, except per common share amounts 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Summary Statements of Income:
TNEreStinCOME .« o v v v e e e e et $ 50,853 $ 49,170 $ 42,781 $ 35,495 $ 29,995
Interestexpense . ............ il i (40,287) (41,080) (37,107) (30,601) (25,885)
Net interestinCome .. ...ovureretn e neenennnn.. 10,566 8,090 5,674 4,894 4,110
Guaranty feeincome .............. ... .. 1,816 1,482 1,351 1,282 1,229
Fee and other income (expense), net ................... 232 151 “4) 191 275
Provision forlosses . ... (128) 94) (122) (151) (245)
Foreclosed property income (expense) .................. 36 16 28 24 (16)
Administrative eXpenses ... ..........iiiiiiiee.. (1,219) (1,017) (905) (800) (708)
Special contribution ....... .. ... oo oo — (300) — — —
Purchased options expense .. ... (4,545) 37 — — —
Debt extinguishments (loss) gain,net................... (710) (524) 49 (14) (40)
Income before federal income taxes and cumulative effect
of change in accounting principle ................... 6,048 7,767 6,031 5,426 4,605
Provision for federal income taxes ..................... (1,429) (2,041) (1,583) (1,514) (1,187)
Income before cumulative effect of change
inaccounting principle . ... o o oL 4,619 5,726 4,448 3,912 3,418
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle,
netoftaxeffect ...... ... .. . — 168 — — —
Netincome .. ...ooiiiiii i $ 4,619 $ 5,89 $ 4,448 $ 3912 $ 3418
Preferred stock dividends ... ... i (99) (138) (121) (78) (66)
Net income available to common stockholders ........... $ 4,520 $ 5,756 $ 47327 $ 3,834 $ 3,352
Basic earnings per common share:
Earnings before cumulative effect of change
in accounting principle . . .......... . oo $ 4.56 $ 5.58 $ 431 $ 3.75 $ 326
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ... — 17 — — —
NEt €ArNINGS + « v ev et et e et $ 4.56 $ 5.75 $ 431 $ 3.75 $ 326
Diluted earnings per common share:
Earnings before cumulative effect of change
inaccounting principle ........ ... o o o L $ 4.53 $ 5.55 $ 4.29 $ 3.72 $ 323
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ... — .17 — — —
Netearnings ... $ 4.53 $ 5.72 $ 4.29 $ 3.72 $ 323
Cash dividends per common share ..................... $ 1.32 $ 1.20 $ 1.12 $ 1.08 $ 96
Mortgages purchased:
Single-family . ......... .. $ 363,149 $ 262,440 $ 149,674 $ 191,642 $185,863
Multifamily ........ . 7,492 8,144 4,557 3,568 2,585
Total mortgages purchased ................ ... ... $ 370,641 $ 270,584 $ 154,231 $ 195210 $188,448
Average net yield on mortgages purchased .............. 5.92% 6.56% 7.62% 6.88% 6.61%
Debtissued:
Short-termdebt........ ... ... i $1,635,919 $1,756,691 $1,143,131 $1,136,001 $695,495
Long-termdebt......... ... ... i 238,467 249,352 110,215 139,020 147,430
Ol $1,874,386 $2,006,043 $1,253,346 $1,275,021 $842,925
Average costof debtissued ......... ... . o oo i 2.21% 3.97% 6.34% 5.33% 5.49%
MBS issues acquired by others .............. .. ... .. $ 478,260 $ 344,739 $ 105,407 $ 174,850 $220,723
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Financial and Statistical Summary (Unaudited)

At December 31,
Dollars in millions, except per common share amounts 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Summary Balance Sheets:
Mortgage portfolio:
Mortgage-related securities:
Held-to-maturity. . ..., $ 437,932 $ 509,155 $ 443,872 $ 365,749 $ 250,274
Awvailable-for-sale. . .......... ... ... .. ... 173,706 32,900 11,434 8,501 9,021
Total ... 611,638 542,055 455,306 374,250 259,295
Loans held-for-investment . ....................... 185,652 165,917 152,437 149,101 155,774
Allowance for loan losses .. ............... (79) (48) (51) (56) (79)
Unamortized premiums (discounts) and
deferred price adjustments, net. ........... 337 (2,640) (209) (378) 360
Loans held-for-sale. . ........... ... ... ... ...... 145 40 68 4 5
Mortgage portfolio,net. ........... ... ... ..o 797,693 705,324 607,551 522,921 415,355
Other assets. . ...t 89,822 94,624 67,673 52,387 69,791
TOtal aSSELS .« v oo $ 887,515 $ 799,948 $ 675,224 $ 575,308 $ 485,146
Debentures, notes, and bonds, net:
Duewithinoneyear.............................. $ 382,412 $ 343,492 $ 280,322 $ 226,582 $ 205,413
Dueafteroneyear .......... ... ... ..o i 468,570 419,975 362,360 321,037 254,878
Total debentures, notes, and bonds, net. . .......... 850,982 763,467 642,682 547,619 460,291
Guaranty liabilityfor MBS . ... o oL 729 755 755 745 720
Other liabilities . .. ... 19,516 17,608 10,949 9,315 8,682
Total liabilities .. .......... .. ... o i 871,227 781,830 654,386 557,679 469,693
Stockholders’ equity .. .................... ... 16,288 18,118 20,838 17,629 15,453
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .............. $ 887,515 $ 799,948 $ 675,224 $ 575,308 $ 485,146
Corecapital ... $ 28,079 $ 25,182 $ 20,827 $ 17,876 $ 15,465
Excess of core capital over minimum capital . ................ 877 1,000 533 106 131
Excess of core capital over required critical capital. . ........... 14,199 12,859 10,490 8,748 7,602
Yield on net mortgage portfolio . .............. ... ... ... 6.45% 6.95% 7.24% 7.08% 7.12%
Yield on total interest earning assets . ...................... 6.13 6.53 7.21 7.01 6.95
Costof debtoutstanding ................. ... .. ... ... 4.81 5.49 6.47 6.18 6.10
Book value per commonshare. ........... .. ... . ... $ 13.76 $ 1586 $ 1858 $  16.02 $ 1395
Common shares outstanding. .. .......................... 989 997 999 1,019 1,025
Outstanding MBS . ... . $1,029,456 $ 858,867 $ 706,684 $ 679,169 $ 637,143
Bookofbusiness . . .....o.uii i 1,820,256 1,564,034 1,314,083 1,201,949 1,052,366
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Book of business: The total unpaid principal
balance of mortgage loans in Fannie Mae’s net
mortgage portfolio and backing MBS
outstanding.

Callable debt: A debt security whose issuer has
the right to redeem the security at a specified
price on or after a specified date, prior to its
stated final maturity.

Charge-off: The write-off of the portion of
principal and interest due on a loan that is
determined to be uncollectible.

Common stock: A security that represents
ownership in a company but gives no legal claim
to a definite dividend or to a return of capital.

Conventional mortgage: A mortgage loan that
is not insured or guaranteed by the federal
government.

Credit loss ratio: The ratio of credit-related
losses to the total dollar amount of MBS
outstanding and mortgages held in portfolio.

Credit-related expenses: The sum of
foreclosed property expenses plus the provision
for losses.

Credit-related losses: The sum of foreclosed
property expenses plus charge-offs.

Debt security: A security in which the issuing
company agrees to repay the principal (typically,
the original amount borrowed) and make interest
payments according to an agreed-upon schedule.

Default: The failure of a borrower to comply
with the terms of a note or the provisions of a
mortgage or contract.

Delinquency: An instance in which payment on
a mortgage loan has not been made by the due
date.

Derivative: A financial instrument which derives
its value from an underlying index and a notional
amount of principal.

Duration: The weighted-average life of the
present value of a security’s future cash flows. It
measures the sensitivity of a security’s value to
interest rate changes.

Earnings per share (EPS): The net earnings of
a corporation over a period of time, divided by
the average number of shares of its common
stock outstanding during that same period. A
common method of expressing a corporation’s

profitability.

Efficiency ratio: Total administrative expenses
divided by total taxable-equivalent revenues.

A common method of expressing a corporation’s
operating efficiency.

Glossary

Forbearance: The lender’s postponement of
legal action when a borrower is delinquent in
payment. It is usually granted when a borrower
makes satisfactory arrangements to bring
overdue mortgage payments up to date.

Foreclosure: The legal process by which
property that is mortgaged as security for a loan
may be sold to pay a defaulting borrower’s loan.

Guaranty fee income: Compensation paid by a
lender to Fannie Mae for the guarantee of timely
payments of principal and interest to MBS
security holders.

Interest rate swap: A derivative transaction
between two parties in which each agrees to
exchange payments tied to different interest rates
or indices for a specified period of time,
generally based on a notional amount

of principal.

Loan servicing: The tasks a lender performs to
protect a mortgage investment, including
collecting monthly payments from borrowers
and dealing with delinquencies.

Loan-to-value (LTV) ratio: The relationship
between the dollar amount of a borrower’s
mortgage loan divided by the value of

the property.

Loss mitigation: Activities designed to reduce

either the likelihood of the corporation suffering
financial losses on a loan or the final dollar value
of those losses in the event of a borrower default.

Mandatory delivery commitment: An
agreement that a lender will deliver loans
or securities by a certain date at agreed-
upon terms.

Mortgage: A legal document that pledges
property to a lender as security for the
repayment of the loan. The term also is used to
refer to the loan itself.

Mortgage-Backed Security (MBS):

A Fannie Mae security that represents an
undivided interest in a group of mortgages.
Interest payments and principal repayments
from the individual mortgage loans are grouped
and paid out to the MBS holders.

Multifamily housing: A building with more
than four residential rental units, or a group of
such buildings constituting a single property.

Nonperforming asset: An asset such as a
mortgage that is not currently accruing interest
or on which interest is not being paid.

Notional principal amount:

The hypothetical amount on which derivative
transactions are based. The notional principal
amount in a derivative transaction generally is
not paid or received by either party.
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Option-embedded debt: Callable debt or debt
instruments linked with derivatives that create
effectively callable debt.

Outstanding MBS: MBS held by investors
other than Fannie Mae.

Preferred stock: Stock that takes priority over
common stock with regard to dividends and
liquidation rights. Preferred stockholders
typically have no voting rights.

Real Estate Mortgage Investment

Conduit (REMIC): A security that represents a
beneficial interest in a trust having multiple
classes of securities. The securities of each class
entitle investors to cash flows structured
differently from the payments on the underlying
mortgages.

Risk-based capital: The amount of capital
required to absorb losses throughout a
hypothetical ten-year period marked by severely
adverse credit and interest rate conditions, plus
an additional amount for management and
operations risk.

Secondary mortgage market: The market in
which residential mortgages or mortgage
securities are bought and sold.

Security: A financial instrument showing
ownership of equity (such as common stock),
indebtedness (such as a debt security), a group of
mortgages (such as MBS), or potential
ownership (such as an option).

Serious delinquency: A single-family mortgage
that is 90 days or more past due, or a multifamily
mortgage that is two months or more past due.

Stockholders’ equity: The sum of proceeds
from the issuance of stock, accumulated
other comprehensive income (net of tax),
and retained earnings less amounts paid to
repurchase common or preferred shares.

Stripped MBS (SMBS): Securities created by
“stripping” or separating the principal and
interest payments from an underlying pool of
mortgages into two classes of securities, with
each receiving a different proportion of the
principal and interest payments.

Taxable-equivalent revenues: Total revenues
adjusted to reflect the benefits of tax-exempt
income and investment tax credits based on
applicable federal income tax rates.

Underwriting: The process of evaluating a loan
application to determine the risk involved for the
lender. It involves an analysis of the borrower’s
ability and willingness to repay the debt, and of
the value of the property.

UPB: Unpaid principal balance.
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Common Stock Information
(Unaudited)

About Fannie Mae Common Stock
Fannie Mae common stock (FNM) is publicly traded on the
New York, Chicago, and Pacific stock exchanges.

At December 31, 2002, approximately 989 million shares
were outstanding. At December 31, 2002, Fannie Mae had
approximately 26,000 common shareholders of record.
Based on the number of requests for proxies and quarterly
reports, the corporation estimates that approximately
380,000 additional shareholders held shares through the

banks, brokers, and nominees.

Common Stock Performance
(New York Stock Exchange Composite Price)

Quarterly stock performance data for 2002 and 2001 are
provided in the following table.

2002 2001
Quarter High Low High Low
Ist o $83.75  $75.08 $87.94  $72.08
nd oo 84.10  72.00 87.87  74.00
3rd oo 77.55 5885 87.10  73.71
dth oo 72.12 61.45 85.14  75.19

Ten-Year Common Stock Performance
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Dividends

Fannie Mae considers a number of factors when reviewing
its dividend policy, including available capital under
applicable capital requirements, reinvestment
opportunities, market expectations, and the dividend
policies of other large companies with similar growth
prospects. Since 1994, Fannie Mae has increased its
dividend annually in the first quarter.

Shareholder Information

Investors can learn more about Fannie Mae by visiting
www.fanniemae.com/ir where both current and historical
financial information such as annual reports, and quarterly
and monthly financials is available. The Web site includes
a section for investors who are interested in Fannie Mae’s
current issues, Fannie Mae’s executive speeches, and direct
investment in Fannie Mae stock.

Another section of the site enables investors to access
“Fannie Mae at a Glance” which is a presentation that
provides an overview of Fannie Mae’s business and our
industry. Other related links include a calendar of events,
FAS 133 accounting standards, and our seven voluntary
initiatives.

Investor questions about Fannie Mae can be e-mailed
to Fannie Mae’s investor relations department

at investor_relations1@fanniemae.com. For written
correspondence, contact Jayne Shontell, Senior

Vice President, Investor Relations, Fannie Mae,

3900 Wisconsin Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20016.
You also may call 202-752-7000 for more information.

Fannie Mae will provide, without charge, copies of its most
recent Annual Report on Form 10-K upon request. Call
1-800-FNM-2-YOU (1-800-366-2968) for a hard copy

of investor-related material.

Direct Stock Purchase Program

The DirectSERVICE™ Investment Program for Fannie Mae
provides an easy and affordable alternative for current
shareholders and first-time investors to invest in

Fannie Mae stock.

To request program materials, visit our Web site at:
www.fanniemae.com/ir/direct, or call 1-888-BUY-FANNIE.
The DirectSERVICE Investment Program is offered and
administered by Equiserve Trust Company N.A.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Equiserve Trust Company, N.A. serves as our transfer
agent and registrar. Questions from registered shareholders
on dividends, lost or stolen certificates, address changes,
and other account matters should be directed to Equiserve
at 1-800-910-8277 or Fannie Mae Shareholder Services,
c/o Equiserve Trust Company, N.A., P.O. Box 43069,
Providence, RI 02940-3069.

Notice of Annual Meeting

The 2003 Annual Meeting of Fannie Mae shareholders will
take place at the Hotel Monaco Salt Lake City, 15 West
200 South, Salt Lake City, Utah. The meeting is scheduled
for Tuesday, May 20, beginning at 10:00 a.m. (local time).
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